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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which 
statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future 
financial or operating performance. Forward-looking terms such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “plan,” “potential,” 
“intend,” “anticipate,” “project,” “predict,” “target,” “believe,” “continue,” “estimate” or “expect” or the negative of these words or 
other words, terms and phrases of similar nature are often intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-
looking statements contain these identifying words. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
include statements related to:

• our ability to acquire and retain new Customer Partners (as defined below), and to do so in a cost-effective manner;

• our competitive position in the mobility assistance industry and our ability to maintain and grow our market position 
against current and future competitors;

• technological advances in the mobility assistance industry and the impact of artificial intelligence (“AI”);

• our history of losses and expectations regarding operating losses for the foreseeable future;

• our need for additional capital, and the availability of such additional capital on acceptable terms or at all;

• our substantial dependence on a limited number of Customer Partners;

• our failure or the failure of our third-party service providers to protect our website, networks and systems against 
cybersecurity incidents, or otherwise to protect our confidential information or that of our Consumers (as defined below), 
Customer Partners and Service Providers (as defined below);

• our reliance on Amazon Web Services to deliver our platform to Consumers;

• Customer Partners’ willingness to renew their service contracts with us;

• Customer Partners’ willingness to expand their use of our platform beyond their current roadside solutions;

• optimizing and operating our network of Service Providers (as defined below);

• our ability to continue as a going concern;

• our ability to develop and maintain an effective system of internal controls and procedures and accurately report our 
financial results in a timely manner;

• the sustainability of our recent growth rates and future growth;

• our ability to address the service requirements of current and future Consumers;

• our expansion into new roadside assistance solutions, Customer Partners and Service Providers, technologies and 
geographic regions;

• expectations regarding our future prospects in light of our limited operating history and evolving business model;

• the length and variability of our sales cycle with regard to Customer Partners;

• our expectations regarding our pricing model for our platform’s offerings;

• our ability or the ability of Service Providers to meet labor needs;

• adverse economic conditions or reduced automotive usage;

• our ability to hire and retain highly skilled and key personnel;

• our ability to accurately forecast demand for mobility assistance services and appropriately plan our expenses in the 
future;

• expectations regarding the impact of weather events, natural disasters and other events beyond our control, including 
Hamas’ attack against Israel and the ensuing war, on our business;

• our ability to comply with the terms of our existing credit facilities and any new debt obligations; 
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• our history of defaulting on certain financial, reporting and other covenants under our Structural Loan Agreement and the 
Highbridge Loan Agreement (together, the “Loan Agreements”) and our ability to obtain compliance waivers with respect 
to such covenant defaults in the future; 

• our reliance on unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes and know-how;

• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights;

• our ability to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, advertising, and 
consumer protection; 

• our ability to integrate successfully and realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger (as defined below);

• our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”);

• our ability to maintain the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”); and

• our becoming a reporting company by means other than a traditional underwritten initial public offering, which could 
cause our stockholders to face additional risks and uncertainties.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements 
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends 
that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. The outcomes of the events described 
in these forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors, including those described in the section titled 
“Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in our final prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, on October 19, 2023 (the “Final Prospectus”) and in other filings we may 
make from time to time with the SEC. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and 
uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on 
the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that the results, events, and 
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could 
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements 
are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We 
may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place 
undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future 
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These 
statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such 
information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should 
not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. 
These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to (a) the business 
of Urgent.ly Inc. and its subsidiaries prior to the October 19, 2023 merger with Otonomo Technologies Ltd. or (b) Urgent.ly Inc. 
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, after the consummation of that merger.

Overview

We are a leading connected mobility assistance software platform, matching vehicle owners and operators with service professionals 
who deliver traditional roadside assistance, proactive maintenance and repair services. The traditional experience of a vehicle 
breakdown is often stressful and inconvenient for stranded drivers, compounded by processes that lack transparency and lead to long 
wait times. We offer an innovative alternative to this traditional experience, leveraging our digitally native software platform to match 
supply and demand in our network and deliver exceptional mobility assistance experiences at scale.

At the time of our founding in 2013, we were an early technology innovator in the roadside assistance industry, offering a software 
platform to individual drivers enabling a digitized alternative for obtaining roadside assistance on a direct-to-consumer basis. 
However, we quickly discovered a significant opportunity to work with enterprise customers and offer bundled services to their fleet 
and retail consumers. We have since focused on developing the business-to-business (“B2B”) and business-to-business-to-consumer 
(“B2B2C”) mobility assistance markets.

Our ecosystem participants include:

• Customer Partners. Our Customer Partners include original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), automotive insurance 
companies, ride-hailing services, rental car companies and fleet operators. Our Customer Partners offer roadside 
assistance as a service to their customers, our end-users or Consumers, and typically partner with third parties to fulfill 
these services. The Urgently platform is the B2B and B2B2C white label or co-branded platform that enables our 
Customer Partners to provide roadside assistance to Consumers.

• Service Providers. Our Service Providers include experienced service professionals who provide roadside assistance. 
Services include, but are not limited to, repair, maintenance, towing, mobile repair, jump starts, lockouts and related 
services to keep people and vehicles moving.

• Consumers. Our Consumers are vehicle owners/operators or individuals driving vehicles that need assistance. Consumers 
are the ultimate recipients of the roadside assistance from our Service Providers.

Since our founding we have:

• become a recognized market leader in the roadside assistance space with a track record of growth and innovation.

• facilitated approximately 5.6 million service requests as of December 31, 2023.

• established our North American Service Provider Partner network, which was comprised of approximately 12,000 Service 
Providers as of December 31, 2023.

• established a scalable service platform achieving a monthly post-service CSAT average of 4.6 out of 5 stars in 2023. 

On October 19, 2023, we completed the acquisition of Otonomo Technologies Ltd. (“Otonomo”) in accordance with the terms of the 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 9, 2023 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, Otonomo, and 
U.O Odyssey Merger Sub Ltd., a company organized under the laws of the State of Israel and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which and subject to the terms and conditions thereof, Merger Sub merged with and into 
Otonomo, with Otonomo surviving as a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company that will continue to be governed by Israeli 
law (the “Merger”). 

Industry Overview and Our Market Opportunity

Traditional roadside assistance and the broader mobility assistance sector are undergoing a transformation, driven by the convergence 
of technological innovation, electrification, connectivity, autonomous and new forms of mobility. The roadside assistance industry has 
historically been dominated by legacy providers who have not capitalized on the optimization benefits available from technological 
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advancements including the widespread adoption of GPS, mapping and mobile phones. As a result, the roadside assistance industry 
has faced various pre-digital challenges:

High Consumer frustration driven by lack of data and transparency. A vehicle breakdown is already a stressful experience for 
stranded drivers. That distress is often compounded by anachronistic legacy roadside processes that provide sub-optimized Service 
Provider routing and job processing, leading to long wait times, non-standard service and opaque experiences. However, as 
digitization has improved Consumer experiences in other sectors, Consumers have become accustomed to data-driven benefits like 
real-time updates with visual cues and estimates on arrivals.

Fragmentation of supply. There is not a single dominant Service Provider network in North America. The roadside service market has 
traditionally been comprised of small owner-operators that concentrate on serving limited geographic areas. We believe digital 
coordination and aggregation of many independent providers is essential to the creation of a reliable, scalable network of Service 
Providers.

Inefficient matching of supply with demand. The management of any network of Service Providers across geographies, vehicle types 
and service types is complex and can be impacted by a variety of operational factors. Roadside assistance industry participants have 
traditionally relied upon high-touch call center interactions between the stranded driver, the dispatcher and the Service Provider. To 
reduce downtime in service vehicles and mismatched jobs, machine learning algorithms and data science engines can efficiently 
optimize across a multitude of stakeholder-related, environmental, geographic and other exogenous variables.

Inability to adequately service new mobility modes. Mobility is expanding to include more connected, electric, shared and eventually 
autonomous vehicles. As a result, the roadside assistance industry will need to adapt to meet mobility assistance needs. A 
technologically-enabled platform can offer the ability to proactively diagnose a wide spectrum of breakdown problems and match 
those to service networks at scale.

The market for roadside assistance is primarily driven by two key factors: vehicle miles traveled (“VMT”) and the size of the car parc 
(i.e., total number of vehicles on the road). Other than a temporary COVID-19 related decrease in 2020, the national VMT has 
increased every year since 2011 (source: U.S. Energy Information Administration (Jan. 2024)). Other factors impacting the demand 
for roadside or mobility assistance include vehicle age, inclement weather and the type of vehicle driven, as well as the vehicle’s 
technological capabilities, including whether the vehicle is an electric vehicle (“EV”), a connected vehicle or an autonomous vehicle 
(“AV”) . The global vehicle roadside assistance market is currently valued at $25 billion (Vehicle and Roadside Market, FactMR 
(2023)), and it is estimated that the broader mobility economy—encompassing transport infrastructure, vehicle manufacturing, 
vehicle-related services, transportation services and enabling services—will grow to more than $100 billion by 2030 (Ptolemus 
Consulting Group, May 2022).

Additionally, while mobility assistance is still rapidly evolving, several trends indicate that the needs of the sector will evolve beyond 
the services offered by traditional roadside assistance. For example:

• EVs have different needs. EV sales are expected to reach over 30 million in 2025 and over 70 million in 2030 (IEA 
(2023), Global EV Outlook 2023, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2023, License: CC BY 4.0), 
and broken down EVs cannot be towed by traditional towing trucks and instead require specialized flatbed trucks for 
roadside assistance services. Similarly, mobile charging is a new service specific to EVs.

• Connected Vehicles unlock value-added proactive and preventive forms of assistance. For connected vehicles, vehicle 
health, service needs, and potential problems can be algorithmically detected and service preemptively dispatched. That 
could lead to an increase in software service and subscription opportunities.

• AVs and other new forms of mobility demand new mobility assistance services. While AVs may reduce the chances of 
accidents caused by human error, they will still be susceptible to the same mechanical breakdowns and other roadside 
events as traditional vehicles but will require specialized mobility assistance.

Our Solutions

Our platform dynamically matches stranded drivers with service professionals, enabled by proprietary technology, algorithms and data 
ecosystems to address a growing end-to-end roadside and mobility assistance market. The key capabilities of our mobility assistance 
platform include:

• Real-time tracking, connecting the Customer Partner, Consumer, Service Provider and repair facility via digital and analog 
communication channels from dispatch to final disposition.

• Live job management and actionable data from dispatch to completion, both on a per-job basis and in the aggregate.
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• Multi-channel Consumer and Service Provider accessibility, including a fully digitized experience via our mobile 
application, live customer service representatives, and a SaaS software layer.

• Broad mobility assistance capabilities, including towing solutions, mobile repair services (e.g., flat tire, jump start, 
lockout, fuel delivery, electric vehicle charging, tire and battery replacement), collision and impound-related towing and 
onward mobility services that enable a Consumer to continue their journey following a roadside event.

Our Platform

Our solutions are delivered through a three-tier architected software platform, including: (1) an intuitive, digital front-end interface, 
(2) a data-processing middle tier driven by optimization and pricing algorithms, and (3) a back-end featuring a comprehensive 
operations platform, with data connectivity to our Customer Partners and network of Service Providers. Each of the elements of our 
platform relies upon and fuels a powerful data ecosystem containing proprietary and/or proprietarily-aggregated data generated from 
our internal system and external sources.

Our platform collects raw data from many sources, including telematic sources that provide statistical vehicle information, vehicular 
error codes, GPS vehicle information and platform usage data. We have distributed computing to process data and provide early 
collision detection, dead battery detection, early repair detection and provide discounts for safe driving. Connected vehicle data also 
supports optimization of mobility assistance, vehicle quality, customer intervention and service.

Our proprietary technology, machine learning and data analytics models optimize our supply models, calibrate our pricing, streamline 
our operational processes and enable a better experience for Consumers and Service Providers alike. We generate and aggregate a 
significant amount of data relating to demand (e.g., customer and service event data), supply (e.g., service network data) and the 
broader marketplace (e.g., pricing, weather and traffic data). This aggregation and cross-section of data continuously informs and 
updates our machine learning algorithms.

Our data-processing middle tier uses AI, which analyzes historical transactions to help automate future marketplace decisions 
including pricing, routing and optimizing service delivery, leveraging real-time data and predictive analytics. With algorithms that 
forecast demand by service type and at a regional or local level, we can optimize pricing based on a variety of variables that bring 
efficiency to the network.

Benefits of Our Platform

The combination of our technological investments, our partnerships and our service network have resulted in an integrated platform 
that we believe would be difficult to replicate. Our platform applies digital solutions to the legacy roadside assistance market and the 
emerging mobility assistance market, increasing efficiency, transparency and safety to create exceptional assistance experiences. We 
believe our platform benefits from a technology and data-driven intelligence advantage, including algorithmic machine-learning-
enabled pricing and scheduling functions. In an industry that has historically relied on intuition and basic industry-wide data to drive 
strategy and decision-making, we offer an AI-based approach. The benefits we provide across our ecosystem support our continued 
growth. We believe the comprehensiveness of our asset-light, scalable platform, which we built strategically to both define and expand 
the mobility assistance ecosystem, will enable us to effectively address the industry’s historical challenges, as well as capitalize on 
future automotive needs that may arise through continued innovation across mobility and technology.

Our platform is designed to provide our Customer Partners with real-time, detailed information about Consumers’ service needs and 
experiences, and to provide those Consumers with exceptional service. A breakdown event can cause reputational harm if roadside 
assistance is offered but not provided on an efficient and reliable basis. Further, we believe there is a benefit to Customer Partners 
having real-time access to breakdown event information. Among other efficiencies, our platform optimizes “dispatch time,” or the 
time required to connect a Consumer with a Service Provider. By reducing dispatch time, our platform enables our Customer Partners 
to offer minimal disruption to the Consumer in the event of a breakdown event, thereby turning a potential source of reputational harm 
into a value-creating opportunity.

We offer our Service Providers the opportunity for increased service event volume and revenue, service event transparency and 
relationships built upon mutual respect. We send targeted, digital service requests to Service Providers in the geographical vicinity of a 
breakdown event, significantly reducing the Service Provider’s travel time and helping to optimize Service Providers’ fleets and 
revenue. Our platform also provides many of our Service Providers with real-time visibility into the location and capabilities of their 
service vehicles. We also offer electronic, hassle-free payment infrastructure to remit per-job fees on a transparent schedule. We 
believe that by offering our Service Providers these digitized benefits, we help to bolster their performance and the success of our 
platform.
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Our Growth Strategies

We believe the emerging ecosystem encompassing our digital platform, our service network and our diverse base of Customer Partners 
presents significant opportunities for future growth. Leveraging the power of the network effect, our growth strategy is to continue to 
expand our foundational fast-growing B2B offerings, expand beyond reactive assistance and develop our services capabilities for 
connected vehicles, launch a B2C offering, and continue expanding into new geographies.

Win new logos and increase wallet share for existing revenue streams. We employ a “land and expand” strategy, where we win new 
Customer Partners and grow revenue over time by acquiring additional service event volume and building complementary products. 
For example, our relationship with one premier European OEM began in 2018. Then, in 2019 we integrated our technology platform 
into the OEM’s dealer service systems to enhance the customer service experience for the OEM’s Consumers and expanded our 
partnership to include a B2B subscription service for Consumers whose vehicles were aging out of their new-car warranties. In 2020, 
we were rewarded with an early contract renewal and territory expansions to cover North America.

In recent years, we expanded into additional adjacent markets that have mobility assistance needs, including ride-hailing and fleet 
businesses. The rise of independent contractor drivers as part of ride-hailing, food delivery and last-mile delivery services has created 
a pool of vehicles with a higher-than-average VMT and whose operators’ and owners’ income from providing these services depends 
on getting their vehicle back in operation quickly.

We believe connected vehicle assistance services will help unlock the revenue generating potential of preventive and proactive 
maintenance services to complement our current reactive assistance capabilities. Our platform supports the connection of vehicle 
telematics, in partnership with OEMs, to enable the transfer of important information used to automate roadside service and provide 
customer and dealers insights. The mobility sector has reached an inflection point, bridging such historically siloed industries as 
insurance, logistics, collision, vehicle sales and services. For example, crash detection technology has not only enabled faster response 
time by emergency services, but it can also reduce expense and processing time for insurance companies as the First Notice or Loss 
(“FNOL”) process can be initiated the moment an accident is detected. We plan to explore revenue-generating potential in new use 
cases, continuing our track record of innovation and execution.

Launch B2C subscription offering. Our internal studies indicate that younger demographics are receptive to purchasing mobility 
assistance subscriptions from technology companies, and that they are particularly interested in programs that provide the premium 
service we currently provide for our Customer Partners. As a result, we believe offering our services directly to Consumers in a B2C 
subscription revenue model is a potential area for future growth.

Expand into new geographies. While we currently offer our platform solutions in North America, our existing European OEM 
Customer Partners have asked us to bring our incident-based capabilities to their Consumers in international markets, including 
Europe and South America. These markets are fragmented, and we believe we have the potential to become a leading player in these 
markets by leveraging our existing relationships and acquiring local competitors that have existing Service Provider networks.

Our Ecosystem Participants

In recent years, nearly all our revenue is derived from incidents through transaction and service fees. We earn incident revenue when 
one of our Customer Partners sends us a roadside assistance service request for a Consumer’s breakdown event and we complete the 
service. We connect Customer Partners’ Consumers who need roadside assistance to nearby Service Providers, who then provide 
roadside assistance for the breakdown event.

Customer Partners

Our Customer Partners drive the demand for our services. Customer Partners choose us because we deliver exceptional assistance 
experiences. We believe that our record of success in retaining existing Customer Partners reinforces the attractiveness of our solution 
and our focus on delivering exceptional Consumer experiences.

We typically enter into multi-year, non-exclusive contracts with Customer Partners to provide mobility assistance and data on a per-
service request basis to their Consumers. The initial terms of our contracts with Customer Partners vary in length, but are often 
between three and five years and in some cases automatically renew for one or more periods of 12 months. Our contracts with 
Customer Partners are also typically terminable on 90 days’ advance written notice by the Customer Partner. We do not generally 
include guaranteed volume or revenue achievement during the term of the contract, and our Customer Partners have no obligation to 
renew their contract following expiration.
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We have a broad base of Customer Partners, including automotive OEMs, automotive insurers and fleet companies. As of December 
31, 2023, we had 57 active Customer Partners in North America, with our top three Customer Partners representing 64% of our 
revenue in 2023. As of December 31, 2022, we had 58 active Customer Partners in North America. Over the past four years, our 
Customer Partner base has significantly diversified as our largest customer has declined from 35% of revenue in 2019 to 26% of 
revenue in 2023.

Automotive OEMs

We currently have partnerships with many of the largest global OEMs to provide roadside assistance to customer cars under warranty 
in North America. We are currently the sole third-party source of roadside assistance services for many OEMs which is possible 
because of the breadth and reliability of our technological capabilities and scale to service their customers throughout the United 
States.

Automotive Insurers

Automotive insurance companies bundle our roadside assistance services to their Consumers with car insurance. Unlike OEMs, 
insurance companies typically have multiple Service Providers for their Consumers.

Fleets

Our fleet customers include car rental firms and ride-hailing companies. Large rental companies offer roadside assistance to their 
Consumers as an add-on service offering. Ride-hailing companies provide our service to their top-performing drivers as an additional 
benefit to their platform and to help reduce downtime due to vehicle distress.

Service Providers

The roadside Service Provider market has traditionally included principally small and medium-sized businesses (“SMBs”) that 
concentrate on serving limited geographic areas. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had active contracts with 12,182 and 14,215 
Service Providers, respectively, to provide our Customer Partners with national roadside service coverage.

We contract with SMBs as independent contractors on a non-exclusive basis. SMBs often contract with multiple motor clubs and other 
roadside service aggregators, and will choose which jobs to take based on a number of factors including the rates offered, the usability 
of the interface and the support services offered. We believe that our software and future data investments can help bring scalable 
solutions to the fragmented SMB market, ultimately to the benefit of these smaller providers.

Competition

The markets in which we compete are competitive and characterized by rapid changes in technology, vehicle requirements, Customer 
Partner requirements, Service Provider network capabilities, and industry standards, in part driven by the shift to mobility assistance. 
A number of companies have developed or are developing products and services that compete with some or all of our products or have 
functionalities similar to those of our solution. However, many of these competing products and services do not offer algorithmically-
enabled roadside assistance solutions focused on exceptional Consumer experiences.

We primarily compete with legacy roadside assistance providers, including large motor clubs, smaller and emerging providers of 
roadside assistance services, and technologically-driven platforms offering mobility assistance services. We expect competition to 
increase as other established and emerging companies enter our market, as customer requirements evolve, and as new offerings and 
technologies are introduced into the automotive, roadside assistance and adjacent markets. These competitive offerings may be 
complimentary as Customer Partners make our solution available alongside competitors.

We believe the primary factors of competition in our markets include:

•  platform functionality, including dispatch agility, flexibility and performance at scale;

• consistency of Consumer experience;

• Consumer safety, transparency, and security;

• algorithmic dispatching to ensure the best provider for every service;

• rich data and analytics;
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• Service Provider response time;

• digital engagement paths;

• ability to address a variety of evolving Customer Partner and Consumer needs, requirements and use cases; and

• brand awareness and reputation.

We believe we compete favorably on these factors.

We plan to continue to innovate and evolve our platform and technology to provide exceptional Consumer experiences. However, we 
could face significant risks to our business, financial condition and results of operations as a result of competition. For additional 
information, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—We face significant competition in the 
mobility assistance industry and may be unsuccessful in maintaining and growing our market position against current and future 
competitors.”

Our Team

Our leadership team brings decades of experience to drive our continued growth. The executive team has considerable strategy, 
business development, and financial leadership experience at other prominent public and private technology businesses.

As of December 31, 2023, we had 349 full-time employees, including 83 engaged in customer support and operations, 144 employees 
engaged in research and development, and product development, 53 employees in sales, partner engagement and marketing and 69 
employees in general management, administration and finance. We had approximately 404 personnel employed through contracts with 
outsourced staffing providers, primarily to provide call center services. None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and 
we consider our relations with our employees to be in good standing.

Research and Development

Technology and data science are foundational to our sales, operations, product strategy, partner engagement and strategic decision 
making. We have assembled a team of engineers, data scientists, designers and product managers whose expertise spans a broad range 
of technical areas to build our proprietary technology to support our platform and the day-to-day operations of our business.

Our research and development activities are largely conducted at our headquarters, with support from developers in various other 
locations. Our ability to compete in our industry depends in part on continued innovation through continued research and development 
activities.

Sales and Partner Management

Our Sales and Partner Management department focuses on retaining our current Customer Partners and developing new Customer 
Partner opportunities. The Partner Management team optimizes program performance across key operational and financial metrics 
using the full suite of Urgently products and solutions, focusing on value-enhancing Customer Partner integrations. Efforts include 
focus on product market fit, onboarding requirements, and ultimately developing good relationships with our Customer Partners by 
delivering exceptional quality which leads to retention and expansion of program revenue. The Partner Management team maintains a 
multi-level engagement strategy for each Customer Partner, including daily/weekly/monthly touchpoints with day to day program 
owners and key leadership.

Service Provider Network Management

Our Network Management team builds and manages our network of Service Providers in alignment with the Urgently mission and 
brand. The Network Management team’s primary responsibility is to ensure that our network of Service Providers is appropriately 
sized for the volume of events generated through our Customer Partners. The Network Management team also drives digital 
engagement within our network of Service Providers, which ultimately provides a highly efficient and quality Consumer experience, 
and market engagement and management through data-driven performance dashboards, Service Provider training and proactive 
outreach, among others.

Our Culture

As an organization, we define ourselves by our commitment to outstanding leadership, innovative solutions, and domain expertise. 
Our team members pride themselves on using their diverse talents to invent new solutions, meet new demands, and offer the most 
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effective mobility assistance service in the industry. With each person’s active involvement, creativity, and ideas, we continuously 
drive towards achieving our goals, together.

Our core values are a shared set of beliefs and commitments about how we all behave at work and partner together. They embody our 
culture and serve as a guidepost for our decision making. Overall, they are our compass as to how we are always moving forward, 
together. Our six core values are:

• We are of service. Our primary purpose is to be of assistance. We are devoted to our customers, partners, and service 
providers and are obsessed with delivering stellar service and value to them.

• Humility. We deeply value the critical role we get to play in our customers’ lives at challenging times and are grateful they 
and our partners trust us with this responsibility. We humbly work to earn their trust every day.

• Diversity. We value diverse backgrounds and experiences and believe they improve our business results and culture.

• Respect. We value our people as the foundation for our success and respect each other as colleagues. We assume positive 
intent and are honest and respectful in our work together.

• Curiosity. We embrace the courage to try new things that expand our expertise and improve our outcomes.

• Accountability. We strive for excellence in everything we do and hold ourselves accountable to every outcome.

We believe that our corporate culture and our relationships with our employees meaningfully contribute to our success. We strive to 
empower, engage, and celebrate diversity, authenticity, and inclusion – regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, identity, age, religion, or 
culture. Our goal is to maximize the impact of the Urgently team by attracting, engaging, and retaining the most talented, dedicated, 
and passionate people. Our success will require inclusive collaboration.

As a result of our efforts, we have earned recognition for our innovation and growth, including rankings on Deloitte Technology Fast 
500 (2021, 2020, 2019), Financial Times’ The Americas’ Fastest-Growing Companies (2021, 2020), the Inc. 5000 (2021, 2020, 2019), 
and Forbes’ List of America’s Best Startup Employers (2021).

Our Intellectual Property

Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with respect to our technology, inventions, 
improvements, proprietary rights and other assets. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in the 
United States and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality and other contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary rights, 
including our proprietary technology, software, know-how and brand. However, intellectual property laws and contractual restrictions 
provide only limited protection. For example, we do not have any issued patents related to our products, technology, processes and 
systems, and we rely upon unpatented trade secrets, confidential know-how and confidentiality agreements to protect such proprietary 
rights. We require our employees, consultants and other third parties to enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements and 
we control and monitor access to our software, proprietary technology and documents and other confidential information. Our policy 
is to require all employees and independent contractors to sign agreements assigning to us any inventions, trade secrets, developments, 
processes and other intellectual property generated by them on our behalf and under which they agree to protect our confidential 
information.

We also have registered domain names for websites that we use in our business, including www.geturgently.com. Information 
contained on, or accessible through, our website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and inclusions of our 
website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are inactive textual references only. You should not consider information 
contained on our website to be part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in deciding whether to purchase shares of Common Stock.

We cannot assure you that the steps taken by us will prevent misappropriation of our technology. Despite our efforts to protect our 
proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our offerings or obtain and use information that we regard as 
proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our technology is difficult and time consuming. Third parties may independently develop the 
same or similar proprietary information or may otherwise gain access to our proprietary information. The laws, procedures, and 
restrictions on which we rely may provide only limited protection, and any of our intellectual property rights may be challenged, 
invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary 
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many foreign countries do not enforce these laws as diligently as 
government agencies and private parties in the United States. From time to time, third parties may assert claims of infringement, 
misappropriation, and other violations of intellectual property against us, our customers, or our channel partners, with whom our 
agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business 
and Industry—Legal and Regulatory Risks—Our inability or failure to protect our intellectual property rights, or any claim that we 
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have infringed upon third-party intellectual property rights, could have a negative impact on operating results” for additional 
information.

Compliance with Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our business. 
These laws and regulations may involve privacy, data protection, security, rights of publicity, content regulation, intellectual property, 
competition, consumer protection, credit card processing, taxation, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and corruption, economic or 
other trade prohibitions or sanctions or securities law compliance or other subjects. Many of these laws and regulations are still 
evolving and being tested in courts and could be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from country to country or 
state to state and inconsistent with our current policies and practices and in ways that could harm our business. In addition, the 
application and interpretation of these laws and regulations often are uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industry in 
which we operate. The costs of complying with these laws and regulations are high and likely to increase in the future, particularly as 
the degree of regulation increases, our business grows, and our geographic scope expands. Further, the impact of these laws and 
regulations may disproportionately affect our business in comparison to our peers in the technology sector that have greater resources. 
Any failure on our part to comply with these laws and regulations may subject us to significant liabilities or penalties, or otherwise 
adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.

We are also subject to U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy and data protection, including with 
respect to the storage, sharing, use, processing, transfer, disclosure, and protection of personal data. For example, the California 
Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) went into effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA requires covered companies to, among other 
things, provide new disclosures to California consumers, and afford such consumers new abilities to opt-out of the sale of personal 
information. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”) went into effect on January 1, 2023 and, among other 
things, gives California residents the ability to limit the use of their sensitive information, provides for penalties for CPRA violations 
concerning California residents under the age of 16, and establishes a new agency to implement and enforce the law. The CPRA 
significantly modifies the CCPA, potentially resulting in further uncertainty and requiring us to incur additional costs and expenses in 
an effort to comply. The CCPA has prompted similar legislative developments in other states. For example, Virginia, Colorado, Utah, 
and Connecticut have adopted legislation similar to the CCPA that became effective in 2023, Texas, Montana, Oregon, and Florida 
have adopted such legislation that will become effective in 2024, Delaware, Iowa, New Jersey, and Tennessee have adopted such 
legislation that will become effective in 2025, and Indiana has adopted such legislation that will become effective in 2026.  Broad 
federal privacy legislation has also been proposed. The potential effects of new and evolving legislation relating to privacy, data 
security, and data protection are far-reaching, create the potential for a patchwork of overlapping but different laws, and may require 
us to modify practices and policies, incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply, or restrict our operations.

We take a variety of technical and organizational security measures and other measures designed to protect our data, including data 
pertaining to our employees, Customer Partners, Service Providers and Consumers. Despite measures we put in place, we may be 
unable to anticipate or prevent unauthorized access to such data.

Non-compliance with any applicable laws and regulations could result in penalties or significant legal liability. Further, even the 
perception of such noncompliance may result in reputational damage, and our business may be seriously harmed. Although we take 
reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, there can be no assurance that we will not be subject to 
regulatory action, including fines, in the event of an incident. We or our Service Providers could be adversely affected if legislation or 
regulations are expanded to require changes in our or our Service Providers’ business practices or if governing jurisdictions interpret 
or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our or our Service Providers’ business, results of operations 
or financial condition.

For additional information, please see the section titled “Risk Factors—Legal and Regulatory Risks—Failure to comply with laws and 
regulations relating to privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, advertising, and consumer protection, or the expansion of current or the 
enactment of new laws or regulations relating to such matters, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.”

Corporate Information

Incorporated in 2013, we have devoted substantial capital resources to development and we have incurred losses since inception. 

Our headquarters and principal executive offices are located at 8609 Westwood Center Drive, Suite 810, Vienna, VA 22182, telephone 
(571) 350-3600. Our website address is: www.geturgently.com. The contents of our website are not deemed to be incorporated by 
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed 
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC are available free of 
charge on our website at https://investors.geturgently.com/ when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains 
an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically 
with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The information contained on the websites referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not 
incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual references only.

We announce material information to the public through filings with the SEC, the investor relations page on our website, press 
releases, public conference calls and webcasts in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public and 
for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. We encourage investors, the media, and others to follow the 
channels listed above and to review the information disclosed through such channels. Any updates to the list of disclosure channels 
through which we will announce information will be posted on the investor relations page on our website.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should fully consider before investing in our company, as fully 
described below. The following is a summary of the principal risks we face:

• If we fail to retain existing Customer Partners and acquire new Customer Partners, or fail to do so in a cost-effective 
manner, we may be unable to improve margins and achieve profitability and our business, financial condition and results 
of operations may be adversely affected;

• We face significant competition in the roadside assistance and mobility assistance industries and may be unsuccessful in 
maintaining and growing our market position against current and future competitors, which could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations;

• We have a history of losses and may continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future;

• We may require additional capital, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all;

• We are substantially dependent on a limited number of Customer Partners;

• Our failure or the failure of our third-party service providers to protect our website, networks and systems against 
cybersecurity incidents, or otherwise to protect our confidential information or that of our Consumers, Customer Partners 
and Service Providers, could damage our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations;

• If we are unable to successfully implement AI on our platform, our business, financial condition and results of operations 
could be adversely affected;

• We rely on Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) to deliver our platform to Consumers, and any disruption of, or interference 
with, our use of AWS could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;

• If Customer Partners terminate or do not renew their service contracts with us or reduce their use of our platform, our 
revenue will decline and our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected;

• If Customer Partners do not expand their use of our platform beyond their current roadside solutions, our ability to grow 
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected;

• We face risks related to successfully optimizing and operating our network of Service Providers and call center operations;

• For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, our independent registered public accounting firm included an 
explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern in its report on our audited financial 
statements;

• We previously identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. If we are unable to develop 
and maintain an effective system of internal controls and procedures required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, 
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which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our stock price, business and 
operating results;

• Our recent growth rates may not be sustainable or indicative of our future growth and we may not be able to successfully 
manage the challenges to our future growth;

• If we are unable to address the service requirements of our current and future Consumers, our business, financial condition 
and results of operations could be adversely affected;

• Failure to offer high-quality Consumer support may harm our relationships with Consumers and Customer Partners, and 
could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations;

• Our expansion into new roadside assistance solutions, Customer Partners and Service Providers, technologies and 
geographic regions subjects us to additional risks;

• Our ability to provide connected vehicle services will depend on our ability to access data from external providers at 
reasonable terms and prices. Our data providers might restrict the use of, or refuse to license, data, which could lead to our 
inability to access certain data or provide certain services and, as a result, materially and adversely affect our operating 
results and financial condition;

• If we are unable to maintain existing relationships with insurance companies or establish new relationships with insurance 
companies, our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth potential could be adversely affected;

• Our limited operating history and evolving business model makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks 
and challenges we may encounter;

• We have a rapidly evolving business model, which, in a similarly rapidly evolving industry, subject us to increased risks 
that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;

• Our sales cycle with Customer Partners may be lengthy and variable, which may make it difficult for us to forecast 
revenue and other operating results;

• We may need to change our pricing model for our platform’s offerings, which in turn could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations;

• We and our Service Providers may face difficulties in meeting labor needs, which could adversely impact our business, 
financial condition and results of operations;

• Adverse economic conditions or reduced automotive usage may adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations;

• The loss of key senior management personnel or the failure to hire and retain highly skilled and other key personnel could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;

• Our management team has limited experience managing a public company;

• We may be unable to accurately forecast demand for mobility assistance services and appropriately plan our expenses in 
the future;

• Weather events, natural disasters and other events beyond our control could adversely affect our business;

• The terms of our existing Loan Agreements require us to meet certain operating and financial covenants and place 
restrictions on our operating and financial flexibility. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any 
new debt could further restrict our ability to operate our business;

• We have in the past defaulted on certain financial, reporting and other covenants under each Loan Agreement. While we 
have to date been successful in obtaining compliance waivers with respect to such covenant defaults, we may not be able 
to do so in the future on terms advantageous to us or at all;

• Service Providers that have not complied with our insurance, licensure and other requirements may subject us to a number 
of risks;

• We rely on unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes and know-how; 

• We may be unable to integrate successfully and realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger;

• The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our 
ability to attract and retain qualified board members;
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• As a private company, we had not endeavored to establish and maintain a public-company-quality internal control over 
financial reporting. If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting as a 
public company, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose 
confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our Common Stock may decline;

• We will incur increased costs and obligations as a result of being a public company; and

• Our stock price may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating performance.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry 

If we fail to retain existing Customer Partners and acquire new Customer Partners, or fail to do so in a cost-effective manner, we 
may be unable to improve margins and achieve profitability and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
adversely affected. 

Our success depends on our ability to retain existing Customer Partners and acquire new Customer Partners and to do so in a cost-
effective manner. Our ability to grow our revenue depends on our ability to maintain relationships with current Customer Partners and 
attract new Customer Partners. We may be unsuccessful in future attempts to establish and maintain relationships with Customer 
Partners, including as a result of our higher prices, our financial position and Customer Partners hesitancy around our ability to 
provide the necessary roadside services at scale. If we are unable to maintain relationships with current Customer Partners and attract 
new Customer Partners, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be significantly harmed, and we may fail to 
capture a material portion of the mobility services assistance market opportunity. 

In order to expand our Customer Partners base, we must appeal to, and acquire, new Customer Partners, some of which have 
historically purchased their roadside assistance from legacy roadside service providers, the websites of our digital competitors, other 
third-party mobility assistance service providers, or our Service Providers’ websites directly. We have made significant investments 
related to Customer Partner acquisition and expect to continue to spend significant amounts to acquire additional Customer Partners. 
We cannot assure you that the total revenue from any new Customer Partners that we acquire will ultimately exceed the cost of 
acquiring those Customer Partners. If we fail to deliver and market a robust product and service selection that matches Consumer 
preferences, or if our existing and potential Customer Partners do not perceive the products and services we offer to be of high value 
and quality, we may be unable to retain our existing Customer Partners or acquire new Customer Partners. If we are unable to retain or 
acquire Customer Partners who subscribe to services offered on our platform in volumes sufficient to grow our business, we may be 
unable to generate the scale necessary to achieve operational efficiency and drive beneficial network effects with our Service 
Providers. Consequently, our prices may increase, or may not decrease to levels sufficient to generate Customer Partners interest, and 
total revenue may decrease and margins and profitability may decline or not improve. As a result, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be adversely affected. 

We face significant competition in the roadside assistance and mobility assistance industries and may be unsuccessful in 
maintaining and growing our market position against current and future competitors, which could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The market for roadside assistance and the growing market for mobility assistance is highly competitive, rapidly evolving and 
fragmented, and is subject to rapid changes, including as a result of technological developments, vehicle requirements, Customer 
Partner requirements, Service Provider network capabilities, and industry standards. If we fail to keep up with such rapid changes and 
the evolving needs of our ecosystem participants, or if we fail to otherwise positively differentiate our product offerings or platform 
experience from our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

We primarily compete with legacy roadside assistance providers, including large motor clubs, smaller and emerging providers of 
roadside assistance services, and technologically-driven platforms offering mobility assistance services. A number of companies have 
developed or are developing products and services that compete with some or all of our products or have functionalities similar to 
those of our platform. 

Our competitors may also engage in more extensive research and development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing 
campaigns, or adopt more aggressive partnerships and pricing strategies, including but not limited to predatory pricing policies and the 
provision of substantial discounts. These factors may allow our competitors to build or maintain larger customer bases, derive greater 
revenue and profits from their existing customer base, retain and acquire customers at lower costs, or respond more quickly than we 
can to new or emerging technologies and changes in Consumer preferences or habits. 

In addition, we currently compete and may compete in the future for partnerships with large OEM, fleet management, automotive 
insurance, ride hailing and other companies in the automotive industry. We believe that companies in the automotive and adjacent 
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industries with a combination of technical expertise, brand recognition and financial resources may pose a significant threat of 
developing competing mobility assistance capabilities. Our competitors may also be better capitalized or better positioned to acquire, 
invest in or partner with other recognized brands. Additionally, some of our competitors offer competing services, and they may 
devote greater resources than we have available, have a more accelerated time frame for deployment and leverage their existing 
customer base and proprietary technologies to provide services or a user experience that Consumers may view as superior.

If we are unable to offer, develop and innovate new features, technology, products and services, or if we are unable to monetize new 
features and services in a timely manner, we may lose our position in the market. Our ability to maintain our competitive advantage 
depends on a number of factors, including: 

• platform functionality, including dispatch agility, flexibility and performance at scale;

• consistency of Consumer experience;

• Consumer safety, transparency, and security;

• algorithmic dispatching to ensure the best Service Provider for each job;

• rich data and analytics;

• Service Provider response time;

• digital engagement paths;

• our ability to address a variety of evolving Customer Partner and Consumer needs, requirements and use cases; and

• brand awareness and reputation. 

Adverse developments with respect to one or more of the foregoing factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

We have a history of losses and may continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. 

We incurred operating losses of $46.1 million, $53.6 million and $49.8 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 
and 2021, respectively, and, as of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $154.8 million. We expect our losses to 
continue as we continue to make investments to grow our business and operate as a public company. We expect to incur significant 
additional legal, accounting and other expenses as a newly public company and as we invest in expanding our general and 
administrative infrastructure. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, substantial financial and other resources in 
developing our platform, including expanding platform offerings, broadening our service provider network, developing or acquiring 
new platform features and services, including our merger with Otonomo and expenses associated with integrating Otonomo’s legacy 
business into our platform, expanding into new markets and geographies, and increasing sales efforts. These expenditures make 
achieving and maintaining profitability more difficult, and these efforts may also be more costly than we expect and may not result in 
increased revenue or growth in our business. Any failure to increase revenue sufficiently to keep pace with investments and other 
expenses could prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability or positive cash flow on a consistent basis. As a result, we can 
provide no assurance as to whether or when we will achieve profitability, and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. As a 
result, the value of our Common Stock could decline significantly and you could lose some or all of your investment. See “Risk 
Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, our independent 
registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern in its 
report on our audited financial statements.” 

We may require additional capital, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.

We cannot guarantee that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our capital investment requirements 
or other liquidity needs. To support our growing business, we must have sufficient capital to continue to make significant investments 
in our platform and scale our ability to support our customers. We intend to continue to make investments to support our business and 
may require additional funds. In particular, we may seek additional funding to support ongoing operations, to undertake capital 
expenditures or to undertake any acquisitions or other merger transactions. We cannot be certain that additional financing will be 
available to us on favorable terms, or at all. Accordingly, we may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure 
additional funds. If we raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership 
interests and the market price of our Common Stock could decline. Additionally, any new equity securities we issue could have rights, 
preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of Common Stock. If we engage in additional debt financing, the holders of 
such debt may have payment priority over the holders of Common Stock, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict our 
operations or our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to take other actions that would otherwise be in the interests of the debt 

12



 

holders. This could also make it difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. Any of the above 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, if we are unable to obtain adequate 
financing on satisfactory terms when required, our ability to continue to support our business growth and respond to business 
challenges could be significantly limited, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Disruptions or declines in the global capital markets and/or a decline in our financial performance, outlook, or credit ratings (or other 
factors of creditworthiness) could cause us to incur higher borrowing costs and experience greater difficulty accessing public and 
private markets for debt. There can be no assurance that our liquidity will not be affected by changes in the financial markets and the 
global economy or that our capital resources will at all times be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs. Our inability to raise 
financing, on reasonable terms or at all, may adversely affect our ability to fund operations, meet contractual commitments, make 
future investments or desirable acquisitions, or respond to competitive challenges and may have a material adverse effect upon our 
business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

We are substantially dependent on a limited number of Customer Partners. 

Our customer base is concentrated with our top Customer Partners representing 64% and 69% of our revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, with three and four Customer Partners each accounting for over 10% of our revenue for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Most of our significant Customer Partners are able to terminate their 
agreements with us for convenience on limited notice, and in January 2024 one of these Customer Partners, accounting for 
approximately 25% of our revenue in 2023, did not renew its agreement with us when their existing contract expired by its terms on 
January 31, 2024. Additionally, most of our agreements with Customer Partners are non-exclusive and do not generally include 
guaranteed volume or revenue achievement during the contract period. If we were to lose any other significant Customer Partners, or 
experience further reduced volume from any of our significant Customer Partners, our business, financial condition and results of 
operations could be adversely affected.  Our reliance upon a limited number of Customer Partners may also be exacerbated by factors 
beyond our control, including the consolidation of Customer Partners, changes in the mandates for technologies or solutions provided 
by Customer Partners to Consumers, changes in demand for our solutions, selection by our Customer Partners of our competitors, 
Customer Partner bankruptcies or pricing competition. Any of these factors may result in increased dependence on fewer Customer 
Partners, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If we were to lose any of our significant Customer Partners, or experience reduced volume from any of our significant Customer 
Partners, revenue could decline and our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. These negative 
effects could be exacerbated by consolidation of Customer Partners, changes in the mandates for technologies or solutions provided by 
Customer Partners to Consumers, changes in demand for our solutions, selection by our Customer Partners of our competitors, 
Customer Partner bankruptcies or pricing competition, any one of which may result in even fewer Customer Partners accounting for a 
large percentage of our revenue.

Our failure or the failure of our third-party service providers to protect our website, networks and systems against cybersecurity 
incidents, or otherwise to protect our confidential information or that of our Consumers, Customer Partners and Service Providers, 
could damage our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

Our business involves the collection, storage, transmission and other processing of certain personal data and other sensitive and 
proprietary data of our Customer Partners, Service Providers and Consumers. Additionally, we maintain sensitive and proprietary 
information relating to our business, such as our own proprietary information and personal data relating to our employees. Although 
we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect the personal data of our Customer Partners, Service Providers 
and Consumers that utilize our platform and our other proprietary and confidential information, protect our systems, prevent data loss, 
and prevent other security breaches and security incidents, we cannot guarantee security in the future. The IT and infrastructure used 
in our business may be vulnerable to breakdowns, disruptions, and cyberattacks or security breaches and incidents from various 
sources, including inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, contractors, and/or other third parties, or from cyber-attacks by 
malicious third parties (including supply chain cyber-attacks or the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, denial-of-service 
attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of 
information), which may compromise our system infrastructure or lead to the loss, destruction, alteration, prevention of access to, 
disclosure, or dissemination of, or damage or unauthorized access to or other processing of, our data (including trade secrets or other 
confidential information, intellectual property, proprietary business information, and personal information) or data that is processed or 
maintained on our behalf, including personal data and other sensitive and proprietary data of our Customer Partners, Service 
Providers, Consumers, employees’ personal data, or other sensitive and proprietary data, accessible through those systems. Employee 
error, malfeasance, or other errors in the storage, use, or transmission of any of these types of data could result in an actual or 
perceived privacy or security breach or other security incident. Although we have policies restricting access to the personal 
information we store, these policies may not be effective in all cases. Geopolitical conflicts and other events may increase the 
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cybersecurity risks we and our Service Providers face. We also have incorporated, and may continue to incorporate, AI technologies 
into our platform and otherwise in our business, which may result in security incidents or otherwise increase cybersecurity risks. 
Further, AI technologies may be used in connection with certain cybersecurity attacks, resulting in heightened risks of security 
breaches and incidents.

Any breach of privacy, or any security breach, disruption or other incidents, could interrupt our operations, result in our platform being 
disrupted or unavailable, result in loss of or improper access to, or acquisition, modification, unavailability, disclosure, or other 
processing of, data, and result in fraudulent transfer of funds. Further, any such incident, or the perception it has occurred, could harm 
our reputation, brand, and competitive position, damage our relationships with third-party partners, and result in claims, demands, and 
litigation, regulatory investigations and proceedings, and significant legal, regulatory, and financial exposure, including ongoing 
monitoring by regulators, and any such incidents or any perception that our security measures are inadequate could lead to loss of 
Customer Partner, Service Provider or Consumer confidence in, or decreased use of, our platform, any of which could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Any actual or perceived breach of privacy or security, or other security incident, impacting any entities with which we share or 
disclose data or that otherwise process data on our behalf (including, for example, our third-party technology providers and our 
Service Providers) could have similar effects. Further, any cyberattacks or actual or perceived security or privacy breaches or other 
incidents directed at, or suffered by, our competitors could reduce confidence in the industry as a whole and, as a result, reduce 
confidence in us. We also expect to incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent privacy and security breaches and other 
privacy- and security-related incidents, and we may face increased costs and requirements to expend substantial resources in the event 
of an actual or perceived privacy or security breach or other incident.  

Additionally, defending against claims or litigation based on any security breach or incident, regardless of their merit, could be costly 
and divert management’s attention. We cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data 
security costs or liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at 
all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us 
that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the 
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect on our reputation, brand, business, financial 
condition, and results of operations. 

If we are unable to successfully implement AI on our platform, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
adversely affected.

We have incorporated and may continue to incorporate additional AI technology into our platform and otherwise within our business, 
and AI technology may become more important to our operations or to our future growth over time. We expect to rely on AI to help 
drive future growth in our business, but there can be no assurance that we will realize the desired or anticipated benefits from our use 
of AI technology or at all. We may also fail to properly implement or market our use of AI technology. Our competitors or other third 
parties may incorporate AI technology into their products, offerings, and solutions more quickly or more successfully than us, which 
could impair our ability to compete effectively and adversely affect our results of operations. Additionally, our use of AI technology 
may expose us to additional claims, demands, and proceedings by private parties and regulatory authorities and subject us to legal 
liability as well as brand and reputational harm. For example, if the outputs that our AI technology assists in producing are or are 
alleged to be deficient, inaccurate, or biased, or if such outputs or their development or deployment, including the collection, use, or 
other processing of data used to train or create such AI technology, are held or alleged to infringe upon or to have misappropriated 
third-party intellectual property rights or to violate applicable laws, regulations, or other actual or asserted legal obligations to which 
we are or may become subject, our business, operating results, financial condition, and growth prospects could be adversely affected. 
The legal, regulatory, and policy environments around AI technology are evolving rapidly, and we may become subject to new and 
evolving legal and other obligations. These and other developments may require us to make significant changes to our use of AI 
technology, including by limiting or restricting our use of AI technology, and which may require us to make significant changes to our 
policies and practices, which may necessitate expenditure of significant time, expense, and other resources, the use of AI technology 
also presents emerging ethical issues that could harm our reputation and business if our use of AI technology becomes controversial.

We rely on AWS to deliver our platform to Consumers, and any disruption of, or interference with, our use of AWS could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our Consumers need to be able to access our platform at any time, without interruption or degradation of performance. Our platform 
depends, in part, on the virtual cloud infrastructure hosted by AWS. Although we have disaster recovery plans that utilize multiple 
AWS locations, any incident affecting their infrastructure that may be caused by fire, flood, severe storm, earthquake or other natural 
disasters, power loss, telecommunications failures, cyber-attacks, terrorist or other attacks, and other similar events beyond our 
control, could adversely affect our cloud-native platform. Additionally, AWS may experience threats or attacks from computer 
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malware, ransomware, viruses, social engineering (including phishing attacks), denial of service or other attacks, employee theft or 
misuse and general hacking have become more prevalent, particularly against cloud-native services and vendors of security solutions. 
Any of these security incidents could result in unauthorized access to, damage to, disablement or encryption of, use or misuse of, 
disclosure of, modification of, destruction of, or loss of our data or Consumers’ data or disrupt our ability to provide our platform or 
service. A prolonged AWS service disruption affecting our cloud-native platform for any of the foregoing reasons could interrupt or 
degrade the performance of our platform and adversely impact our ability to serve Consumers and could damage our reputation with 
current and potential Customer Partners and Consumers, expose us to liability, result in substantial costs for remediation, cause us to 
lose Customer Partners, or otherwise harm our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We may also incur significant 
costs for using alternative hosting sources or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the AWS 
services we use. 

We have entered into AWS’s standard twelve-month contract. In the event that our AWS contract is terminated, or there is a lapse of 
service, elimination of AWS services or features that we utilize, or damage to such facilities, we could experience interruptions in 
access to our platform as well as significant delays and additional expense in arranging for or creating new facilities or re-architecting 
our platform for deployment on a different cloud infrastructure service provider, which would adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations. 

If Customer Partners terminate or do not renew their service contracts with us or reduce their use of our platform, our revenue 
will decline and our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected. 

The initial terms of our service contracts with Customer Partners are typically three years, often on a non-exclusive basis, and are 
terminable by either party on 90 days’ advance written notice. Our service contracts with Customer Partners also do not generally 
include guaranteed volume or revenue achievement during the contract period, and our Customer Partners have no obligation to renew 
their contract following expiration. For example, in January 2024 one of our Customer Partners, accounting for approximately 25% of 
our revenue in 2023, did not renew its agreement with us when their existing contract expired by its terms on January 31, 2024. In 
some cases, the contracts automatically renew (with each party having the option to elect not to renew), but in circumstances where 
that is not the case, our Customer Partners may unilaterally elect not to renew, may seek to renew for lower service pricing or for 
shorter contract lengths, or may choose to renew for the same or fewer roadside solutions over time. Further, most of our Customer 
Partners are able to terminate their agreements with us for convenience on limited notice. As a result, there can be no assurance that 
our existing Customer Partners will maintain or renew our service contracts, or that future service contracts with existing Customer 
Partners will include the same package of roadside solutions. Even if Customer Partners do not terminate their agreements, there can 
be no assurance that Customer Partners will not reduce their use of our platform, which could negatively impact our business and 
results of operations. 

Our renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including, among others, leadership changes within our 
Customer Partners resulting in loss of sponsorship, limited Customer Partner resources, pricing changes by us or our competitors, and 
Consumer satisfaction with our platform, procurement or budgetary decisions. Deteriorating general economic conditions including, 
among other things, inflationary pressure, supply chain challenges and the impacts of increased interest rates, impact the affordability 
of buying a car for the average Consumer. Any reduction in vehicular sales may negatively impact Customer Partners’ financial 
condition and their willingness to renew or maintain contracts with us. 

Additionally, OEMs, automotive insurance companies and other Customer Partners typically require potential mobility assistance 
providers to participate in a competitive request for proposal (“RFP”) process at the end of each contract term. If we fail to 
consistently win renewals of existing Customer Partner business, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected. 

To the extent our base of Customer Partners continues to grow, contract renewals, including the selection of additional roadside 
solutions, by renewing Customer Partners will become an increasingly important part of our results. If our Customer Partners 
terminate or do not renew their service contracts, or decrease the amount they spend, revenue will decline and our business will be 
harmed. 

If Customer Partners do not expand their use of our platform beyond their current roadside solutions, our ability to grow our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Our ability to grow our business depends in part on our ability to encourage current and future Customer Partners to subscribe to 
higher priced services, expand into packages with more extensive features, or to purchase greater capacity. If we fail to achieve market 
acceptance of our pricing and new features, or if a competitor establishes a more widely adopted, less expensive platform, our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
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We face risks related to successfully optimizing and operating our network of Service Providers and call center operations. 

Our failures to adequately forecast Consumer demand or otherwise optimize and operate our network of Service Providers 
successfully could result in excess or insufficient Service Provider availability, increased costs and impairment charges, any of which 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. As we continue to add Service Provider capability 
and offer new services with different requirements, our network of Service Providers will become increasingly complex and 
challenging to operate. There can be no assurance that we will be able to operate our network effectively.  

Our ability to optimize and operate our Service Provider network may also be limited by the working capital deficit that we have 
maintained since inception. If we are unable to pay our Service Providers in a timely fashion for completed jobs as a result of the 
mismatch between the billing cycles for our Customer Partners and Service Providers, we may lose participation by Service Providers 
on our platform, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

During periods of high Consumer demand, or in geographical regions with fewer participating Service Providers, we may be required 
to fulfill requests from Consumers by leaving our network of Service Providers to source roadside assistance. Leaving our network of 
Service Providers is both time consuming and costly because an out-of-network job is sourced by our call centers, and we absorb any 
incremental out-of-network costs resulting from pricing negotiations with the prospective roadside assistance provider. We are also 
unable to implement our typical screening criteria and procedures when sourcing out-of-network roadside assistance providers, which 
may expose us to additional risks.  

We are also dependent on digital dispatch vendors to connect Service Providers with requesting Consumers. Our agreements with 
these vendors are non-exclusive and subject to renewal by the vendor. Digital dispatch vendors could decide to stop working with us, 
modify their agreement terms in a cost prohibitive manner during renewal negotiations or enter into exclusive or more favorable 
relationships with our competitors. In addition, acquisitions of digital dispatch vendors by competitors could result in a reduction in 
our volume capacity and/or geographic reach, as these vendors may no longer facilitate the connection of our Service Providers to 
Consumers. The loss of any digital dispatch vendors would affect our ability to process service requests, and if we are unable to 
replace these vendors for any reason, our revenue could decline and our business, financial condition and results of operations could 
be adversely affected.  

In addition, we may be unable to adequately staff our customer service centers as the business expands. Currently, our customer 
service centers are located in Belize and Colombia, and virtually domestically. During periods of limited platform outage our call 
centers have had to manually dispatch Service Providers. In the future, our call centers may be unable to handle manually dispatching 
Service Providers in an efficient and cost-effective way, which could impact Customer Partner and Consumer satisfaction levels with 
our services. Also, as we grow, optimizing call center operations may become both more challenging and more expensive. Any 
reduction in Customer Partner or Consumer satisfaction levels with our services as a result of our call center operations could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, our independent registered public accounting firm included an 
explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern in its report on our audited financial statements. 

The report from our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 included an 
explanatory paragraph stating that we have incurred losses from operations since inception and are dependent on debt and equity 
financing to fund operating shortfalls, raising substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our audited financial 
statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of 
this uncertainty. 

Future reports from our independent registered public accounting firm could contain statements expressing substantial doubt about our 
ability to continue as a going concern. If there remains substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, investors or 
other financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional funding to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and our 
business may be harmed. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less 
than the value at which those assets are carried on our audited financial statements, and it is likely that investors would lose part or all 
of their investment. 

We previously identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. If we are unable to develop and 
maintain an effective system of internal controls and procedures required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we may not 
be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and 
materially and adversely affect our stock price, business and operating results. 
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Effective internal controls over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports in a timely manner. In 
connection with the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, management identified 
one material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that has not been remediated. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

The material weakness is related to a lack of evidence of segregation of duties within the accounting and finance function. 

In order to address the identified material weakness, we are in the process of increasing resources within our finance department, 
including the expansion of our accounting, control and compliance functions to develop and implement continued improvements and 
enhancements to address the overall deficiencies that led to the material weakness. Our management believes that these actions will 
enable us to address the material weakness that was identified in a timely manner and maintain a properly designed and effective 
system of internal control over financial reporting and provide appropriate segregation of duties. However, these remediation measures 
may be time consuming and costly and there is no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects. 

We plan to continue to assess our internal controls and procedures and intend to take further action as necessary or appropriate to 
address any other matters we identify. We cannot assure you that the measures we has taken to date and may take in the future, will be 
sufficient to remediate the control deficiencies that led to our material weakness in internal control over financial reporting or that 
these measures will prevent or avoid potential future material weaknesses. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting is subject to various inherent limitations, including cost limitations, judgments used in decision making, assumptions about 
the likelihood of future events, the possibility of human error and the risk of fraud. If we are unable to remediate our current material 
weakness or any material weaknesses in the future, our ability to record, process and report financial information accurately, and to 
prepare financial statements within the time periods specified by the forms of the SEC, could be adversely affected which, in turn, may 
adversely affect our reputation and business and the market price of our Common Stock. In addition, any such failures could result in 
litigation or regulatory actions by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, loss of investor confidence, delisting of our securities and 
harm to our reputation and financial condition, or diversion of financial and management resources from the operation of our business. 

In addition, it is possible that control deficiencies could be identified in the future by our management or our independent registered 
public accounting firm or may occur without being identified. Such a failure could result in regulatory scrutiny and cause investors to 
lose confidence in our reported financial condition, lead to a default under future indebtedness and otherwise have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, cash flow or results of operations. 

As a public company, we are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to furnish a report by management on, 
among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for annual reports on Form 10-K that we will file 
with the SEC beginning with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K. Future assessments will need to include disclosure of any 
material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. Eventually, it is possible that our 
independent registered public accounting firm will also be required to audit the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting in future annual reports on Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC. We are also required to disclose changes made to our 
internal control over financial reporting on a quarterly basis. Failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could potentially subject 
us to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, the applicable stock exchange or other regulatory authorities, which would require 
additional financial and management resources. We have begun the process of compiling the system and processing documentation 
necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply with Section 404 in the future, but may not be able to complete our evaluation, 
testing and any required remediation in a timely fashion.

Our recent growth rates may not be sustainable or indicative of our future growth and we may not be able to successfully manage 
the challenges to our future growth. 

We have experienced significant growth in recent periods. This rate of growth may not be sustainable or indicative of our future rate of 
growth. Our results of operations also may fluctuate from period to period as a result of a number of factors, many of which are 
outside of our control and may be difficult to predict. Our business is subject to seasonality and generally experiences lower 
engagement on the platform, and correspondingly lower revenue, during the spring and fall. Our sales cycle for new engagements and 
contract renewals can vary substantially from Customer Partner to Customer Partner. Our limited experience marketing and selling in 
the B2B and B2B2C mobility assistance markets may affect our ability to predict the length of our sales cycle or the anticipated size of 
potential engagements. We believe that our continued growth in total revenue will depend upon, among other factors, our ability to: 

• attract new Customer Partners, Service Providers and Consumers who purchase products and services from us at the same 
rate and of the same type as our existing customer base;
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• retain current Customer Partners, Service Providers and Consumers who continue to purchase products and services from 
us at rates and in a manner consistent with their prior purchasing behavior;

• build existing and new Customer Partner, Service Provider and Consumer trust in us and otherwise maintain our 
reputation;

• establish brand recognition with Consumers;

• establish ourselves as a default platform for the provision of mobile assistance services;

• encourage Customer Partners to expand the categories of products and services they purchase;

• enter into new joint ventures and attract new Customer Partners and Service Providers;

• provide a superior Consumer experience;

• respond to changes in Consumer access to and use of the internet and mobile devices;

• react to challenges from existing and new competitors;

• develop a scalable, high-performance technology and Service Provider network infrastructure that can efficiently and 
reliably handle increased demand, as well as the deployment of new features and the sale of new products and services;    

• provide roadside assistance in a timely way and in accordance with Customer Partner, Service Provider and Consumer 
expectations, which may change over time;

• respond to macroeconomic trends and their impact on Consumer spending patterns;

• hire, integrate and retain talented personnel;

• leverage technological and operational efficiencies; and

• invest in the infrastructure underlying our connected services platform, including with respect to data protection and 
cybersecurity. 

Our ability to improve margins and achieve profitability will also depend on the factors described above. We cannot provide assurance 
that we will be able to successfully manage any of the foregoing challenges to future growth. Any of these factors could cause total 
revenue growth to decline and may adversely affect margins and profitability. Failure to continue total revenue growth or improve 
margins could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. You should not rely on our historical rate of 
total revenue growth as an indication of our future performance.

If we are unable to address the service requirements of our current and future Consumers, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be adversely affected. 

As demand for EVs grows and EVs continue to gain market share in the automotive industry, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be adversely affected if our Service Provider network is unable to meet the demand for EV-capable 
assistance. Service requirements for EVs are different than service requirements for traditional internal combustion engines or hybrid 
vehicles, and necessitate specialized skills, including high voltage training and servicing techniques. Additionally, EVs cannot be 
towed by traditional towing rigs, and instead must be retrieved by flatbed trucks. There can be no assurance that our Service Providers 
will be able to satisfactorily address the service requirements of Consumers with EVs, or that we and our Service Providers will have 
sufficient resources, experience, or capacity to meet these service requirements in a timely manner, including as the volume of EVs on 
the road increases. 

Failure to offer high-quality Consumer support may harm our relationships with Consumers and Customer Partners, and could 
adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to attract and retain Customer Partners, Service Providers and Consumers is dependent in part on the ease of use and 
reliability of our offerings, including our ability to provide high-quality Consumer support. Users of our platform depend on our 
support organization to resolve issues relating to platform offerings, including, among others, being overcharged for collision 
assistance, leaving a personal item in a towing service’s vehicle or reporting a safety incident. Our ability to provide effective and 
timely support is largely dependent on our ability to attract and retain reliable Service Providers to our platform and otherwise 
maintain our Consumer support team, including individuals who are qualified to support Consumers and are sufficiently 
knowledgeable regarding our offerings, as well as our ability to maintain our call center functionality. As we continue to grow our 
business and improve our offerings, we will face challenges related to providing quality support services at scale. Any failure to 
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provide efficient user support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could adversely affect our 
reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our expansion into new roadside assistance solutions, Customer Partners and Service Providers, technologies and geographic 
regions subjects us to additional risks. 

Our growth strategy involves investments in new product and service offerings, new technologies and expanded geographic reach. We 
may have limited or no experience in certain of these offerings, technologies and geographic regions, and as a result, our activities 
may not meet our expectations, and we may not be successful enough in these newer activities to recoup our investments in them. 
These offerings can present new and difficult logistical and technological challenges, which may frustrate our Customer Partners, 
Service Providers and Consumers, harm our business relationships and result in a loss of revenue and business opportunities. Such 
challenges may also subject us to claims if Customer Partners, Service Providers or Consumers experience service disruptions or 
failures or other quality issues. Additionally, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in geographic expansion or that such 
expansion will efficiently increase our subscriber growth or improve the experience for our Customer Partners, Service Providers and 
Consumers. 

In addition, our introduction of new products, services or software, the expansion of our business into certain jurisdictions or highly 
regulated industries, and any acquisitions of other businesses that operate in highly regulated industries may subject us to additional 
laws, regulations or other government or regulatory scrutiny. Many of these laws and regulations were adopted prior to the advent of 
our industry and related technologies and, as a result, do not contemplate or address the unique issues faced by roadside and mobility 
assistance providers. For example, we contract with our Service Providers, which are independent contractor entities, to dispatch 
service professionals that provide roadside assistance services to Consumers. Nevertheless, and although the Service Provider entities 
commit to complying with applicable laws, we could be subject to litigation claims from the individual employees of our Service 
Providers. We have previously been the subject of threatened litigation, notwithstanding that we do not employ individuals as Service 
Providers, and we expect these types of claims to increase as we expand to new jurisdictions and the laws relating to the use of 
independent contractors evolve in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

In connection with our expansion, additional requirements may also arise related to processing of payments, the collection and storage 
of data and systems infrastructure design, all of which could increase the costs associated with our offerings. 

The expansion of our business—including by increasing the number of Customer Partners and Service Providers, expanding the 
variety of roadside assistance solutions offered (e.g., the expectation that the increased demand for flatbed trucks that are required to 
tow EVs will outpace supply of such trucks), and improving the technologies used to power our platform—requires substantial capital 
expenditures. Our ability to fund our expansion is dependent upon the timing and extent of spending on research and development, as 
well as other growth initiatives. Failure to realize the benefits of investments in these areas of our business and geographic reach could 
result in the value of those investments being written down or written off. 

Our ability to provide connected vehicle services will depend on our ability to access data from external providers at reasonable 
terms and prices. Our data providers might restrict the use of, or refuse to license, data, which could lead to our inability to access 
certain data or provide certain services and, as a result, materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial 
condition. 

Any connected vehicle offerings will rely extensively upon vehicle data from a variety of external providers. These data providers 
could increase restrictions on the use of such data, increase the price they charge for data, or refuse altogether to license the data to us. 
In addition, during the term of any data supply contract, providers may fail to adhere to our data quality control standards or fail to 
deliver data. Several states have proposed or enacted laws relating to the “right to repair” certain devices or hardware, and we 
anticipate that new laws addressing these matters may continue to be proposed and enacted, with uncertainty regarding their 
interpretation and enforcement. Certain of these laws may create uncertainty regarding rights to access, use, retain, and otherwise 
process data, including vehicle data, and impose, or be argued to impose, relevant limitations or restrictions on us or other companies. 
Any such limitations and restrictions potentially could impede our business and operations, require us to change our policies and 
practices, and materially adversely impact our ability to provide services to our Customer Partners and Consumers. Further, although 
no single individual data provider is material to our business, if a number of providers collectively representing a significant amount of 
data that we use for one or more of our services were to impose additional contractual restrictions on our use of or access to data, fail 
to adhere to our quality-control standards, repeatedly fail to deliver data or refuse to provide data, now or in the future, our ability to 
provide those services to Customer Partners and Consumers could be adversely impacted, which could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
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If we are unable to maintain existing relationships with insurance companies or establish new relationships with insurance 
companies, our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth potential could be adversely affected. 

In connection with our merger with Otonomo, we acquired 100% of the share capital of The Floow Limited (“The Floow”), a United 
Kingdom SaaS provider of connected insurance technology for major carriers globally which had been a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Otonomo since April 14, 2022. The Floow’s revenue depends, in large part, on revenue associated with its data refinery platform and 
telematics services, each of which primarily comes from insurance company customers. Our inability to maintain these existing 
relationships with the Floow’s insurance company customers or establish new relationships with insurance companies could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Changes in the practices of insurance companies in the markets in which we provide The Floow’s telematics services could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Floow’s business depends, in part, on the existing practices of insurance companies in the markets in which we provide The 
Floow’s data refinery platform and sell telematics services. Among other factors, we rely on insurance companies’ continued practice 
of (a) requiring or providing a premium discount for using location and recovery services and products and (b) accepting vehicle 
location as a preferred security product, thereby mandating or encouraging the use of telematics services, or similar services and 
products, for drivers. 

If any or all of these policies or practices change, revenues from The Floow’s data refinery platform and sales of telematics services 
could decline, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Failure to effectively combine vehicle and mobile data and The Floow could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

We may experience technical and operational challenges in combining vehicle and mobile data and The Floow and/or the ultimate 
results may not be as predictive of risk as anticipated. In the event that we experience these challenges or the results are not as 
predictive as anticipated, we may not realize the full benefits we anticipate from the combination of vehicle and mobile data and The 
Floow and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

The Floow relies, in part, on strategic relationships to grow its business. These partnerships may not produce the financial or 
operating results we expect. 

The Floow currently has long-standing strategic partnerships, such as its strategic partnership with Munich Re, that are important to 
growing its business. There is no guarantee that these partnerships will continue in the future or that such partnerships will continue on 
favorable terms. In addition, it is possible that such strategic partners may instead engage with its competitors. These partnerships may 
not produce the expected financial or operating results we expect and could disrupt ongoing business or increase expenses, which 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our issuance of additional shares of Common Stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, or otherwise will 
dilute all other common stockholders. 

We expect to issue additional shares of Common Stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other common stockholders. We 
may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in 
complementary companies, products, or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or investment. Any 
such issuances of additional shares of Common Stock may cause common stockholders to experience significant dilution of their 
ownership interests and the per share value of Common Stock to decline. 

Risks Relating to Our Operations 

Our limited operating history and evolving business model makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and 
challenges we may encounter. 

We have been focused on the roadside and mobility assistance markets since our founding in 2013, and we continue to develop our 
operating strategy as our business has evolved. Our relatively limited operating history, especially with respect to the development of 
B2B and B2B2C mobility assistance markets, which we launched in 2016, may make it difficult to evaluate our current business and 
future prospects. The markets for our platform are in relatively early stages of development, and it is uncertain whether these markets 
will grow, and if they do grow, how rapidly they will grow, how much they will grow, or whether our platform will be widely adopted 
and whether we can scale to capture growth in these markets. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and 
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difficulties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries such as the roadside and mobility assistance 
industries, including our ability to: 

• accurately forecast our revenue and plan our operating expenses;

• attract new and retain existing Customer Partners and Service Providers in a cost-effective manner;

• successfully compete with current and future competitors, some of whom may offer competing products and services; 

• successfully expand our business in existing markets and enter adjacent markets and new geographies;

• successfully execute strategic acquisitions and partnerships;

• develop a scalable, high-performance technology infrastructure that can efficiently and reliably handle increased demand, 
as well as the deployment of new features and services;

• comply with existing and new laws and regulations applicable to our business;

• anticipate and respond to macroeconomic changes and changes in the markets in which we operate; 

• establish and maintain our brand and reputation; 

• adapt to rapidly evolving trends in the ways Customer Partners, Service Providers, and Consumers interact with 
technology; 

• effectively manage our rapid growth; 

• avoid interruptions or disruptions on our platform; and

• hire, integrate, and retain key personnel. 

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those 
described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely 
affected. Further, because we have limited historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about 
future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a longer operating history or operated in a more 
predictable market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced 
by growing companies with limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and 
uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, 
our results of operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition, and results of operations 
could be adversely affected. 

We have a rapidly evolving business model, which, in a similarly rapidly evolving industry, subject us to increased risks that could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We have a rapidly evolving business model, which may be volatile in a rapidly evolving industry. As the automotive industry evolves 
and EVs and connected vehicles gain market share, , the mobility assistance industry must similarly grow and adapt to the growing 
capabilities of automotives, including with data driven solutions, to meet these new and complex technological needs and demands as 
they arise. In order to stay current with the automotive industry, our business model may need to evolve as well. From time to time, we 
may modify aspects of our business relating to our models and strategies. We cannot offer any assurance that these or any other 
modifications will be successful or will not result in harm to our business. We may not be able to manage growth effectively, which 
could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We cannot provide any assurance that we will successfully identify all emerging trends and growth opportunities in the mobility 
assistance industry, and we may fail to capture these opportunities. Such failures could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. While we expect that there will be a move to subscription offerings to support Consumer desire for 
data driven solutions there is no guarantee that will occur and Consumer appetite for additional data driven solutions may fail to gain 
traction.  

Our sales cycle with Customer Partners may be lengthy and variable, which may make it difficult for us to forecast revenue and 
other operating results. 

As a function of our business model, the collection cycle for most of our Customer Partners is lengthy and can vary based on 
Customer Partner. In contrast, we generally pay our Service Providers within several days of completing a job. If we are unable to pay 
our Service Providers in a timely manner for completed jobs as a result of the mismatch between the billing cycles for Customer 
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Partners and Service Providers, we may lose participation by Service Providers on our platform. Additionally, Customer Partner 
contract renewal is not guaranteed, and the RFP process required by many Customer Partners is lengthy, often spanning months. As a 
result of these factors, we may experience fluctuations in total revenue on a period-to-period basis which may make it difficult for us 
to forecast revenue and other operating results. 

We may need to change our pricing model for our platform’s offerings, which in turn could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

As the mobility assistance industry continues to mature, and as new competitors introduce competitive applications or services, we 
may be unable to attract new Customer Partners or Service Providers at the same price or based on the same pricing models we have 
historically used, or for contract lengths consistent with our historical averages. In addition, as we develop and roll out new products 
and services, or improve existing ones, we will need to develop pricing and contract models for these products that appeal to Customer 
Partners and Service Providers over time, and we may not be successful in doing so. Pricing and contract length decisions may also 
impact the rate of subscription and overall subscription mix among our products, which could adversely impact our total revenue. 
Competition may also require us to make substantial price concessions, especially as larger and more established industry participants 
with more financial resources introduce competing services. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
adversely affected by any of the foregoing, and we may have increased difficulty achieving or maintaining profitability. 

We and our Service Providers may face difficulties in meeting labor needs, which could adversely impact our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

We and our Service Providers are heavily dependent upon our respective labor workforces. Our employee compensation packages are 
designed to provide benefits commensurate with the level of expected service. However, we face the challenge of filling many 
positions at wage scales that are appropriate to the industry and competitive factors. We also face other risks in meeting labor needs, 
including competition for qualified personnel and overall unemployment levels. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a 
labor shortage, which increased, and may in the future increase, labor costs incurred by us and our Service Providers as a result of 
limited applicants for jobs requiring on-site work. Changes in any of these factors, including a shortage of available workforce, could 
interfere with our ability to provide adequate customer service and could result in increasing labor costs. If we suffer attrition and 
shortages with respect to certain of our customer service personnel, such as our call centers or Service Providers, our ability to 
maintain compliance with our service level commitments to our Customer Partners may be impacted, and our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Currently, none of our employees are represented by a union. However, our employees have the right under the National Labor 
Relations Act to choose union representation. If all or a significant number of our employees become unionized and the terms of any 
collective bargaining agreement were significantly different from current compensation arrangements, it could increase our costs and 
adversely impact our profitability. Moreover, if a significant number of employees participate in labor unions, it could put us at 
increased risk of labor strikes and disruption of our operations or adversely affect our growth and results of operations. We could face 
future union organization efforts or elections, which could lead to additional costs, distract management or otherwise harm our 
business. 

Adverse economic conditions or reduced automotive usage may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Our business, financial condition and results of operations depend significantly on worldwide macroeconomic conditions and their 
impact on demand for mobility assistance. Recessionary economic cycles, higher interest rates, volatile fuel and energy costs, 
inflation, levels of unemployment, decreases in discretionary consumer spending, conditions in the new and used automotive markets, 
access to credit, consumer debt levels, unsettled financial markets and other economic factors could dramatically reduce automotive 
activity and demand for mobility assistance. 

Economic factors such as increased commodity prices, inflation, higher costs of labor, insurance and healthcare, and changes in or 
interpretations of other laws, regulations and taxes may also increase our cost of sales, mobility assistance costs and administrative 
costs, and otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any significant increases in costs may 
affect our Service Providers and Customer Partners, and therefore our business, disproportionately to that of our competitors. In 
addition, negative national or global economic conditions may materially and adversely affect our Customer Partners’ and Service 
Providers’ financial performance, liquidity and access to capital. Customer Partners may be unable to maintain their inventories, 
production levels, product quality and/or services, and could cause them to raise prices, terminate or reduce their service contracts 
with us, lower automotive production levels or cease their operations. 
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In addition, various market trends we anticipate may not develop, or may not develop at the speed which we expect, which could 
result in costs and capacity outpacing demand. 

The loss of key senior management personnel or the failure to hire and retain highly skilled and other key personnel could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We depend on the continued services and performance of our senior management team, key technical employees, and other key 
personnel. Although we have entered into employment agreements with certain senior management team members, each of them may 
terminate their employment at any time or be unable to perform the services we require in the future. Third parties may also attempt to 
encourage our senior management team or other key employees to leave for other employment. The loss of one or more of the 
members of our senior management team or other key personnel for any reason could disrupt our operations, create uncertainty among 
investors, adversely impact employee retention and morale and significantly harm our business. 

We also rely on other highly skilled personnel who may have critical but inadequately documented business knowledge. Competition 
for qualified personnel in the logistics, technology and automobile industries, including in Israel, where certain of our operations are 
located, has historically been intense, particularly for software engineers, computer scientists, other technical staff and marketing and 
brand managers. The loss of any executive officers or other key employees or the inability to hire, train, retain and manage qualified 
personnel could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Additionally, for our hourly employees, including those in our call centers, wages recently increased with the rise in inflation. This 
increase in the cost of hiring hourly employees, or our inability or unwillingness to keep up with rising wages, could result in a labor 
shortage that makes it difficult for us to operate our business and to provide the high level of service to which Customer Partners and 
Consumers have become accustomed, which could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company. 

Most of our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors 
and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or 
efficiently manage their new roles and responsibilities and may not be fully integrated as a team due to their short tenure with us. In 
addition, our transition to being a public company subjects us to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the 
federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These obligations and constituents require 
significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our 
business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. 

We may be unable to accurately forecast demand for mobility assistance services and appropriately plan our expenses in the future. 

We depend on our Service Provider network, and their digital acceptance of Consumers’ job requests, to provide mobility assistance 
services that adequately meet Customer Partners’ and Consumers’ needs. Occasionally, we replace or end relationships with Service 
Providers, and could face logistical difficulties that could adversely affect the provision of mobile assistance services. In addition, we 
could incur costs and expend resources in connection with such change and fail to add a new Service Provider that can meet a high-
quality standard of service. If we experience significant increases in demand, or need to replace existing Service Providers, there can 
be no assurance that our Service Providers would allocate sufficient capacity to us in order to meet our requirements. Additionally, 
Service Providers’ unwillingness to digitally accept a job, either as a result of the fee generated on our platform by our pricing model 
or for any other reason, and any performance problems or other difficulties experienced by Service Providers or by our platform could 
negatively impact operating results and Consumer experience. 

Any service delays or disruptions caused by, among other things, increases in fuel prices, inclement weather or natural disasters, labor 
activism, health epidemics, bioterrorism, wars and other armed conflicts or catastrophic events or systems failures, or delays or 
disruptions caused by our Service Providers’ internal operational capabilities, may affect our ability to fulfill our contractual 
commitments to Customer Partners. For example, adverse weather conditions typically cause reductions in Service Provider capacity. 
In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to recent vehicle supply disruptions and driver-labor market dislocation in the 
United States, which led to a shortage of both vehicle inventory and Service Providers. This disrupted, and may in the future disrupt, 
our ability to source sufficient Service Providers to meet Consumer demand, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 
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Weather events, natural disasters and other events beyond our control could adversely affect our business. 

Our business and operations, and the business and operations of our Customer Partners and Service Providers, could be materially and 
adversely affected in the event of earthquakes, floods, fires, inclement weather, other weather events, telecommunications failures, 
blackouts, or other power losses, break-ins, acts of terrorism, wars and other armed conflicts, including Hamas’ attack against Israel 
and the ensuing war, political or geopolitical crises, public health crises, pandemics or endemics, or other catastrophic events. Our 
business would be especially adversely impacted if such events were to occur during peak automotive travel periods in the United 
States, particularly if such events were to prevent Service Providers from reaching Consumers. 

Weather events have in the past had, and may continue to have, an adverse impact on our business and ability to complete requests for 
roadside assistance. We consider potential risks related to weather as part of our operations strategy and have business continuity and 
disaster recovery plans in place. However, they may not adequately protect us from serious disasters and adverse impacts, including 
the ability of our network of Service Providers to remain operational during such events. In addition, climate change events could have 
an impact on critical automotive infrastructure in the United States and internationally, which has the potential to disrupt our business, 
our Service Providers, or the business of our Customer Partners. During weather events we may be unable to maintain full operations 
in the affected area, and following such events we experience surges in demand that our network of Service Providers may be unable 
to meet. As a result, we may experience increased out-of-network costs during weather events to complete requests for roadside 
assistance, and in the future we may incur additional costs to bolster operations in often-impacted areas. 

We have operations all over North America, and our operations in California, Texas and Florida have recently been exposed to 
extreme weather events. For example, in 2021 our network of Service Providers in Texas was unable to meet Consumer demand for 
roadside assistance during a significant power outage caused by a winter storm. The recent trends in hurricanes over the Gulf Coast 
has increased the volume of totaled vehicles, and we are often unable to meet the surges in demand for roadside and mobility 
assistance that follow such extreme weather events. Our network of Service Providers in California has also been impacted during 
recent historic wildfires, during which Service Providers cannot access Consumers in need of roadside assistance and after which there 
is a surge in demand relating to abandoned cars. 

We are also limited, from time to time, in our ability to complete Consumer requests as a result of restrictions placed on certain 
roadways in the United States, which prohibit non-police vehicles from responding to requests for roadside assistance. Any disruptions 
as a result of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to cost-effectively attract and retain Service Providers, our business, financial condition and results of operations could 
be adversely affected. 

Our continued growth depends in part on our ability to both cost-effectively attract and retain Service Providers who satisfy screening 
criteria and procedures and increase the use of the platform by existing Service Providers. To attract and retain Service Providers, our 
Service Provider network management team reaches out directly via the telephone, digital marketing and by attending conferences and 
tow shows. If we do not continue to attract and provide Service Providers with the flexibility and efficiency of our platform, including 
our digital accept offering, compelling opportunities to earn income, and other incentive programs that are comparable or superior to 
those of competitors, we may fail to attract new Service Providers or retain existing Service Providers or increase their use of our 
platform. Additionally, if Customer Partners and Consumers choose to use competing offerings, we may lack sufficient opportunities 
for Service Providers to earn income, which may reduce the perceived utility of our platform and impact our ability to attract and 
retain Service Providers. 

In addition, changes in certain laws and regulations, including immigration, motor vehicle safety and labor and employment laws, may 
result in a decrease in the pool of Service Providers, which may result in increased competition for Service Providers or higher costs of 
recruitment and engagement. Other factors outside of our control, such as increases in the price of gasoline, vehicles or insurance, may 
also reduce the number of Service Providers that utilize our platform or the use of our platform by Service Providers. Our agreements 
are non-exclusive, and Service Providers may choose not to use our platform regularly or at all. If we fail to attract Service Providers 
or retain existing Service Providers, if we fail to increase the use of our platform by existing Service Providers, or if Service Providers 
terminate their agreements with us, we may not be able to meet the demand of Customer Partners and Consumers and our business, 
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

We may seek to grow our business through acquisitions of, or investments in, new or complementary businesses, facilities, 
technologies or products, or through strategic alliances, and the failure to manage these acquisitions, investments or strategic 
alliances, or to effectively integrate them with our existing business, could have a material adverse effect. 

From time to time we will consider opportunities to acquire or make investments in Customer Partners, Service Providers, businesses, 
facilities, technologies or offerings, or enter into strategic alliances that may enhance our capabilities, expand our Customer Partner 
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and Service Provider network, complement current products or expand the breadth of our markets. Acquisitions, investments and other 
strategic alliances involve numerous risks, including: 

• loss of the value of investments and alliances in businesses with which we partner;

• problems integrating the acquired products, services, business, facilities, or technologies, including issues maintaining 
uniform standards, procedures, controls and policies;

• unanticipated costs associated with acquisitions, investments or strategic alliances;

• the assumption of the liabilities and exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies, including liabilities for 
failure to comply with regulations;

• potential divestitures or other requirements imposed by antitrust regulators; 

• diversion of management’s attention from other Service Providers, Customer Partners, products and services;

• adverse effects on existing business relationships with Customer Partners and Service Providers; 

• the need to obtain additional required regulatory approvals, licenses and permits;

• conflicts of interest with respect to our equity interests in investors and partners;

• risks associated with entering new markets in which we may have limited or no experience; 

• potential loss of key employees of acquired businesses; and

• increased legal and accounting compliance costs. 

Our ability to successfully grow through strategic transactions depends upon our ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate 
suitable target products, businesses, facilities and technologies and to obtain any necessary financing. These efforts could be expensive 
and time-consuming and may disrupt our ongoing business and prevent management from focusing on our operations, and while we 
employ several different methodologies to assess potential business opportunities, the new businesses may not meet or exceed our 
expectations. If we are unable to identify suitable acquisitions or strategic relationships, or if we are unable to integrate any acquired 
businesses, facilities, technologies, products and services effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations could 
be adversely affected. 

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce 
timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired, which may adversely affect 
investor confidence in us and, as a result, lead to a decline in the market price of our Common Stock. 

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the listing 
standards of the Nasdaq. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other 
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file with the SEC is recorded, 
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be 
disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We 
are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to 
expend, significant resources in order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures and internal 
control over financial reporting. Specifically, we will continue to expand our accounting, control and compliance functions and 
increase resources within our finance and legal department with public company experience. We are also focusing on our disclosure 
controls and procedures in the short term, including creating an internal control framework to assess key process and controls. 

Our current controls and any new controls that are developed may become inadequate because of changes in the conditions in our 
business, including increased complexity resulting from any international expansion, such as our merger with Otonomo. Further, 
weaknesses in our disclosure controls or internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. For example, our 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 that was declared effective on July 14, 2023 failed to disclose our material weakness in internal 
control over financial reporting, which was previously identified for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022. While our 
management is not yet required and has not conducted a full evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control 
over financial reporting, management concluded that an effective system of disclosure controls at a reasonable assurance level was not 
in place as of December 31, 2023 as a result of the material weakness discussed above in “We previously identified a material 
weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal 
controls and procedures required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we may not be able to accurately report our financial 
results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our stock price, 
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business and operating results.” Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their 
implementation or improvement, could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may 
result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control 
over financial reporting could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered 
public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting that we will 
eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures 
and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other 
information, which would likely adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to 
meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on Nasdaq. As a public company, we are required, pursuant to Section 
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting for annual reports on Form 10-K that we will file with the SEC beginning with our second Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting until after we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” At such time, our independent registered public 
accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over 
financial reporting is documented, designed, or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control 
over financial reporting could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations, and could cause a decline in 
the market price of our Common Stock. 

Our insurance coverage may not be adequate. 

We believe we maintain insurance customary for businesses of our size and type. However, there are losses we may incur that cannot 
be insured against or that we believe are not economically reasonable to insure, and there can be no assurance that we can obtain or 
maintain adequate insurance coverage for the risks we face. Such losses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Parties with whom we do business may be subject to insolvency risks or may otherwise become unable or unwilling to perform 
their obligations. 

We are a party to contracts, transactions and business relationships with various third parties, particularly Customer Partners, Service 
Providers and lenders, pursuant to which such third parties have performance, payment and other obligations to us. In some cases, we 
depend upon third parties to provide essential products, services or other benefits, including with respect to software development and 
support, logistics, other agreements for goods and services in order to operate our business in the ordinary course, extensions of credit, 
credit card accounts and other vital matters. Economic, industry and market conditions could result in increased risks to us associated 
with the potential financial distress or insolvency of such third parties. If any of these third parties were to become subject to 
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, our rights and benefits in relation to our contracts, transactions and business 
relationships with such third parties could be terminated, modified in a manner adverse to us, or otherwise impaired. We cannot make 
any assurances that we would be able to arrange for alternate or replacement contracts, transactions or business relationships on terms 
as favorable as existing contracts, transactions or business relationships, if at all. Our inability to do so could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our international operations subject us to additional costs and risks, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

We have a limited history of marketing, selling, and supporting our platform internationally, and generate nearly all of our revenue in 
the United States. Our growth strategy depends, in part, on continued international operations. 

Additionally, international sales and operations are subject to a number of risks, including the following: 

• greater difficulty in enforcing contracts and managing collections in countries where our recourse may be more limited, as 
well as longer collection periods; 

• higher costs of doing business internationally, including costs incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and 
equipment for international operations; 

• differing labor regulations; 

• challenges inherent to efficiently recruiting and retaining talented and capable employees in foreign countries and 
maintaining company culture and employee programs; 
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• fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies in markets where we do business; 

• management communication and integration problems resulting from language and cultural differences and geographic 
dispersion; 

• costs associated with language localization of our platform;

• risks associated with trade restrictions and foreign legal requirements, including any importation, certification, and 
localization of our platform that may be required in foreign countries;

• greater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and tax laws, trade laws, export quotas, customs 
duties, treaties, and other trade restrictions; 

• costs of compliance with foreign laws and regulations and the risks and costs of non-compliance with such laws and 
regulations, including, but not limited to data privacy, data protection, and data security regulations, particularly in the 
EU; 

• risks relating to the implementation of exchange controls, including restrictions promulgated by the OFAC, and other 
similar trade protection regulations and measures; 

• heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales 
arrangements that may impact our financial condition and result in restatements of, or irregularities in, financial 
statements; 

• the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; 

• general economic and political conditions in these foreign markets, including political and economic instability in certain 
regions; 

• foreign exchange controls or tax regulations that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned outside the United States;

• risks associated with securing and complying with debt agreements relative to such foreign operations; and 

• double taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in the tax laws of 
the United States or the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. 

These and other factors could harm our ability to generate revenue outside of the United States and, consequently, adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Failure to comply with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws, could subject us to 
penalties and other adverse consequences. 

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “FCPA”), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 
U.S.C. § 201, the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010, and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money 
laundering laws in countries outside of the United States where we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws have been 
enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies, their employees, agents, 
representatives, business partners, and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, 
improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. 

We sometimes leverage third parties to sell our products and conduct our business abroad. We, our employees, agents, representatives, 
business partners and third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government 
agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these employees, 
agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. 

We cannot assure you that all of our employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries will not take 
actions in violation of applicable law for which we may be ultimately held responsible. As we increase international sales and 
business, our risks under these laws may increase. 

These laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed 
to prevent any such actions. While we have policies and procedures to address compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that 
none of our employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries will take actions in violation of our 
policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. 
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Any allegations or violation of the FCPA or other applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws 
could result in whistleblower complaints, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages, adverse media 
coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, or suspension or debarment from government 
contracts, all of which may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, and prospects. Responding to any 
investigation or action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant 
defense costs and other professional fees. 

Our ability to use net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited in connection with the Merger 
and other ownership changes. 

We have incurred significant net losses during our history and our ability to become profitable in the near future is uncertain. To the 
extent that we continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such 
unused losses expire (if at all). As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $391.3 million, $113.3 million and $222.2 million of 
federal, state and foreign NOLs, respectively. 

Federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the 
five tax years preceding such loss, and NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. 
Moreover, federal NOLs generated in taxable years ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely, but the 
deductibility of such federal NOLs may be limited to 80% of our taxable income annually for tax years beginning after December 31, 
2020. Our NOL carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the IRS and state tax authorities. In addition, in 
general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1896, as amended (the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an 
“ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or tax credits to offset future taxable income 
or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders 
or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases their ownership by more than 50 percentage points 
over their lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. Our existing NOLs or credits may be subject to limitations 
arising from previous ownership changes, and we have undergone an ownership change in connection with the Merger, which may 
further limit our ability to utilize NOLs or credits under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. In addition, future changes in our stock 
ownership, many of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. 
Our NOLs or credits may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, we do not expect to be able to utilize any portion of our 
NOLs or credits and have recorded a full valuation allowance against the related NOL deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023. 

If we determine that an ownership change has occurred and our ability to use our historical NOLs or credits is materially limited, it 
would harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations. Section 382 and 383 of the Code would 
apply to all net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, whether the carryforward period is indefinite or not. If we earn taxable 
income, such limitations could result in increased future tax liability to us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected. 

Legal and Regulatory Risks 

The terms of our existing Loan Agreements require us to meet certain operating and financial covenants and place restrictions on 
our operating and financial flexibility. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any new debt could 
further restrict our ability to operate our business. 

We are party to the Structural Loan Agreement and the Highbridge Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2023, we had an aggregate 
amount of (i) $27.5 million in stated principal amount of term loans outstanding under the Structural Loan Agreement and (ii) $40.0 
million in stated principal amount of term loans outstanding under the Highbridge Loan Agreement. Our payment obligations under 
each Loan Agreement reduce cash available to fund working capital, product development and general corporate needs. In addition, 
the principal amount of outstanding advances under the Structural Loan Agreement accrues interest at a floating per annum rate equal 
to (x) for $14.0 million of the outstanding loans, a per annum rate of interest equal to the greater of (i) 14.0%, and (ii) 7.5% plus the 
prime rate then in effect, and (y) for $13.5 million of the outstanding loans, a per annum rate of interest equal to the greater of (i) 
13.5%, and (ii) 7.0% plus the prime rate then in effect, making us vulnerable to increases in market interest rates. If market rates 
increase, we will have to pay additional interest on this indebtedness under the Structural Loan Agreement, which would further 
reduce cash available for our other business needs. The principal amount of outstanding term loans under the Highbridge Loan 
Agreement accrues interest at a fixed rate of interest of 12.0% per annum through and including June 15, 2023 and then 13.0% per 
annum from June 16, 2023 thereafter. 

Our obligations under each Loan Agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets and the assets of each of our subsidiaries 
party to each Loan Agreement. The security interest granted over such assets could limit our ability to obtain additional debt 
financing. In addition, each Loan Agreement contains certain specified affirmative and negative covenants restricting our activities, 
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including limitations on: dispositions; mergers or acquisitions; incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividends or redeeming stock or 
making other distributions; making certain investments; and engaging in certain other business transactions. 

Both Loan Agreements contain a financial covenant requiring minimum unrestricted cash of at least $5.0 million, and the Structural 
Loan Agreement contains a positive contribution margin requirement tested monthly. Failure to comply with the covenants in each 
Loan Agreement could result in the acceleration of our obligations under such Loan Agreement, and, if such acceleration were to 
occur, it would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to make 
scheduled payments or to refinance such debt obligations depends on numerous factors, including the amount of our cash balances and 
our actual and projected financial and operating performance. We may not have sufficient funds, and may be unable to arrange for a 
refinancing or additional financing, to pay the amounts due under each Loan Agreement. The obligations under each Loan Agreement 
are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including payment default, change in control, 
bankruptcy, insolvency, certain defaults under other material debt (including a cross-default to each other Loan Agreement) and 
certain other specified events. If for any reason we become unable to service our debt obligations under either Loan Agreement, or any 
new debt obligations that we may enter into from time to time, holders of Common Stock would be exposed to the risk that their 
holdings could be lost in an event of a default under such debt obligations and a foreclosure and sale of our assets for an amount that is 
less than the outstanding debt. Our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness, combined with our other financial 
obligations, could increase our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions, limit our 
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry and impose a competitive disadvantage compared to 
our competitors.

We have in the past defaulted on certain financial, reporting and other covenants under each Loan Agreement. While we have to 
date been successful in obtaining compliance waivers with respect to such covenant defaults, we may not be able to do so in the 
future on terms advantageous to us or at all. 

The agreements governing our indebtedness include certain financial, reporting and other covenants that we must satisfy. In previous 
years, we have defaulted on certain covenants under each Loan Agreement and have received compliance waivers with respect to such 
covenant defaults from the applicable lenders. We cannot provide any assurance that the lenders under either Loan Agreement or any 
other indebtedness would provide us with a waiver or forbearance should we not be in compliance in the future. A failure to maintain 
compliance would cause the outstanding borrowings to be in default and payable on demand which would have a material adverse 
effect on us and our ability to continue as a going concern. 

Service Providers that have not complied with our insurance, licensure and other requirements may subject us to a number of 
risks. 

We are not able to control or predict the actions of platform users and third parties, either during their use of our platform or otherwise, 
and we may be unable to ensure or protect a safe environment for Service Providers and Consumers. Actions by Service Providers, 
Consumers and others may result in injuries, property damage or loss of life for such parties, or business interruption, brand and 
reputational damage and other significant liabilities for us. Although we administer certain qualification processes for users of our 
platform, including requiring background checks to be performed by Service Providers on their employees, these qualification 
processes and background checks may not expose all potentially relevant information and are limited in certain jurisdictions according 
to national and local laws, and Service Providers may fail to conduct such background checks adequately on their drivers/employees 
or disclose information that could be relevant to a determination of eligibility. In addition, we do not independently test Service 
Providers’ employees’ mobility assistance skills. Consequently, we have received in the past, and expect to continue to receive, 
complaints from Consumers, as well as actual or threatened legal action against us related to Service Provider conduct. 

If Service Providers, or individuals impersonating Service Providers, engage in criminal activity, misconduct or inappropriate conduct 
or use our platform as a conduit for criminal activity, Consumers may not consider our products and offerings safe, and we may 
receive negative press coverage as a result of our business relationship with such Service Providers, which would adversely impact our 
brand, reputation and business. Furthermore, if Consumers engage in criminal activity or misconduct while using our platform, 
Customer Partners and Service Providers may be unwilling to continue using our platform. In addition, certain regions where we 
operate have high rates of violent crime, which has impacted Service Providers and Consumers in those regions. If other criminal, 
inappropriate or other negative incidents occur due to the conduct of platform users or third parties, our ability to attract Customer 
Partners, Service Providers and/or Consumers may be harmed, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
adversely affected. 

Public reporting or disclosure of reported safety information, including information about safety incidents reportedly occurring on or 
related to our platform, whether generated by us or third parties such as media or regulators, may also adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
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Further, we may be subject to claims of significant liability based on traffic accidents, deaths, injuries or other incidents that are 
caused by Service Providers, Consumers or third parties while using our platform, or even when Service Providers, Consumers or 
third parties are not actively using our platform. On a smaller scale, we may face litigation related to claims by Service Providers for 
the actions of Consumers or third parties. Our insurance policies may not cover all potential claims to which we are exposed and may 
not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability. These incidents may subject us to liability and negative publicity, which would 
increase our operating costs and adversely affect our business, operating results and future prospects. We received a demand for 
indemnification from a partner in October 2020, but have not been named as a defendant in this case and are being represented by 
counsel appointed by the insurance carrier. The plaintiff is unresponsive to requests for discovery in this matter. Even if these claims 
do not result in liability, we will incur significant costs in investigating and defending against them. As we expand our products and 
offerings, this insurance risk will grow. 

We rely on unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes and know-how.

We rely on trade secret and confidentiality obligations to protect proprietary assets that may not be patentable or subject to other 
intellectual property protection or that we believe is best protected by means that do not require public disclosure. 

We generally seek to protect our proprietary information by entering into confidentiality agreements, or consulting, services or 
employment agreements that contain non-disclosure and non-use provisions with employees, consultants, contractors and third parties. 
However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if entered into, these agreements may be breached or may 
otherwise fail to prevent disclosure, third-party infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary information, may be limited as to 
our term and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure or use of proprietary information. We have 
limited control over the protection of trade secrets used by our current or future manufacturing partners and suppliers and could lose 
future trade secret protection if any unauthorized disclosure of such information occurs. In addition, our proprietary information may 
otherwise become known or be independently developed by our competitors or other third parties. To the extent that employees, 
consultants, contractors, advisors and other third parties use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may 
arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to 
enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain protection for our proprietary information 
could harm our competitive  position in the market, and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our inability or failure to protect our intellectual property rights, or any claim that we have infringed upon third-party intellectual 
property rights, could have a negative impact on operating results. 

Our business depends on intellectual property, the protection of which is critical to our success. We rely on a combination of 
intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, domain names and trademarks, to protect our competitive advantage, which offers 
only limited protection. The steps we take to protect our intellectual property, including physical, operational, and managerial 
protections of confidential information, contractual obligations of confidentiality, assignment agreements with employees and 
contractors and license agreements, require significant resources and may be inadequate. We will not be able to protect our 
competitive advantage if we are unable to establish, protect, maintain, or enforce our rights or if we do not detect or are unable to 
address unauthorized use of our intellectual property. We may be required to use significant resources to monitor and protect these 
rights. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy portions or all of our platform and use 
information that we regard as proprietary to create services that compete with our platform. Some license provisions protecting against 
unauthorized use, copying, transfer, and disclosure of our proprietary information may be unenforceable under the laws of certain 
jurisdictions. 

In addition, we have registered domain names for websites that we use in our business, such as www.geturgently.com and some other 
variations. Competitors may adopt service names or domain names similar to ours, thereby harming our ability to build brand identity 
and possibly leading to user confusion. In addition, our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names could be declared 
generic, and there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other trademarks that are 
similar to our trademarks. If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build and 
maintain name recognition in markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected. Effective trademark protection may not 
be available or may not be sought in every country in which our products are made available, in every class of goods and services in 
which we operate, and contractual disputes may affect the use of marks governed by private contract. Litigation or proceedings before 
governmental authorities and administrative bodies in the United States and abroad may be necessary in the future to enforce 
intellectual property rights and to determine the validity and scope of our rights and the proprietary rights of others. Further, we may 
not timely or successfully apply for a patent or register our trademarks or otherwise secure rights in our intellectual property. We 
expect to continue to expand internationally and, in some foreign countries, the mechanisms to establish and enforce intellectual 
property rights may be inadequate to protect our technology, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 
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Additionally, we may from time to time be subject to opposition or similar proceedings with respect to applications for registrations of 
our intellectual property, including trademarks. While we aim to acquire adequate protection of our brand through trademark 
registrations in key markets, occasionally third parties may have already registered or otherwise acquired rights to identical or similar 
marks for services that also address our market. We rely on our brand and trademarks to identify our platform and to differentiate our 
platform and services from those of our competitors, and if we are unable to adequately protect our trademarks, third parties may use 
our brand names or trademarks similar to ours in a manner that may cause confusion in the market, which could decrease the value of 
our brand and adversely affect our business and competitive advantages. 

Our intellectual property rights and the enforcement or defense of such rights may be affected by developments or uncertainty in laws 
and regulations relating to intellectual property rights. Moreover, many companies have encountered significant problems in 
protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain 
developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property protection, which could 
make it difficult for us to stop the infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our intellectual property or marketing of 
competing products in violation of our intellectual property rights generally. 

Policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property and misappropriation of our technology and trade secrets is difficult and we may 
not always be aware of such unauthorized use or misappropriation. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, 
unauthorized third parties may attempt to use, copy, or otherwise obtain and market or distribute our technology or otherwise develop 
services with the same or similar functionality as our platform. If our competitors infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate our 
intellectual property rights and we are not adequately protected, or if our competitors are able to develop a platform with the same or 
similar functionality as ours without infringing our intellectual property, our competitive advantage and results of operations could be 
harmed. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time consuming, and distracting to 
management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. As a result, we may be aware of 
infringement by our competitors but may choose not to bring litigation to protect intellectual property rights due to the cost, time, and 
distraction of bringing such litigation. 

Furthermore, if we do decide to bring litigation, our efforts to enforce intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, 
counterclaims, and countersuits challenging or opposing our right to use and otherwise exploit particular intellectual property, 
services, and technology or the enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology 
against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could 
delay further sales or the implementation of our solutions, impair the functionality of our platform, prevent or delay introductions of 
new or enhanced solutions, result in us substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or injure our reputation. 
Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors may have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to 
developing and protecting their technology or intellectual property rights than we do. 

The holders of patents and other intellectual property rights potentially relevant to our service offerings may make claims that we 
infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in 
defending against these allegations or reaching a satisfactory business resolution. Any intellectual property claims, with or without 
merit, could be very time-consuming and expensive to settle or litigate, could cause us to incur significant expenses, pay substantial 
amounts in damages, ongoing royalty or license fees, or other payments, require us to cease making, licensing or using offerings that 
incorporate or use the challenged intellectual property, require us to re-engineer all or a portion of our business or require that we 
comply with other unfavorable terms. The costs of litigation are considerable, and such litigation may divert management and key 
personnel’s attention and resources, which might seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Third 
parties making infringement claims may make it difficult for us to enter into royalty or license agreements which may not be available 
on commercially acceptable terms. Also, we may be unaware of intellectual property registrations or applications relating to our 
services that may give rise to potential infringement claims. There may also be technologies licensed to and relied on by us that are 
subject to infringement or other corresponding allegations or claims by third parties which may damage our ability to rely on such 
technologies. 

Parties making infringement claims may be able to obtain substantial damages for the infringement and an injunction to prevent us 
from delivering services or using technology involving the allegedly infringing intellectual property. If, as a result of a successful 
infringement claim, we are required to develop non-infringing technology or rebrand our name or cease making, licensing or using 
products that have infringed a third party’s intellectual property rights, all of these actions may be time-consuming and expensive. 
Protracted litigation could also result in existing or prospective clients deferring or limiting their purchase or use of our software 
product development services or solutions until resolution of such litigation or could require us to indemnify our clients against 
infringement claims in certain instances. Any intellectual property claims or litigation in this area, whether or not we ultimately win or 
lose, could damage our reputation and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our use of open source software may lead to possible litigation, negatively affect sales and create liability. 

We often incorporate software licensed by third parties under so-called “open source” licenses, which may expose us to liability and 
have a material impact on our business and offerings. Use of open source software may entail greater risks than use of third-party 
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide support, warranties, indemnification, or other contractual 
protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, the public availability of such software may make it 
easier for others to compromise our services. Although we monitor our use of open source software in an effort both to comply with 
the terms of the applicable open source licenses and to avoid subjecting software offerings to conditions we do not intend, the terms of 
many open source licenses have not been interpreted by courts in relevant jurisdictions, and there is a risk that these licenses could be 
construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our clients’ ability to use the software that we develop 
for them and operate their businesses as they intend. Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling use of open 
source software in our products will be effective, and we may inadvertently use third-party open source software in a manner that 
exposes us to claims of non-compliance with the applicable terms of such license, including claims for infringement of intellectual 
property or for breach of contract. We may face claims challenging the ownership of open source software against companies that 
incorporate it into our products. 

Additionally, some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative 
works we create based upon the type of open source software used. If we combine certain open source software with other software in 
a specific manner, we could, under open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the 
public, including authorizing further modification and redistribution, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of such software. 
Additionally, if a third-party software provider has incorporated open source software into software that we license from such 
provider, we could be required to disclose source code that incorporates or is a modification of such licensed software. Disclosing 
proprietary source code could allow our clients’ competitors to create similar products with lower development effort and time and 
ultimately could result in a loss of sales for our clients. Furthermore, if the license terms for the open source code change, we may be 
forced to re-engineer our software or incur additional costs. 

We may be involved from time to time in claims, lawsuits, government investigations and other proceedings that could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

We may be involved in litigation matters from time to time, such as matters incidental to the ordinary course of our business, including 
intellectual property, privacy, commercial, services, transportation, employment, class action, whistleblower, accessibility, securities, 
tax, and other litigation and claims, and governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. The number and 
significance of these disputes may increase as we grow larger, our businesses expand in scope and geographic reach, and our products 
and platform increase in complexity. 

The outcome and impact of such claims, lawsuits, government investigations and other proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. 
Such matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources, cause us to incur significant expenses or liability, 
or require us to change our business practices. In addition, the expense of litigation and the timing of these expenses from period to 
period are difficult to estimate, subject to change, and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Because 
of the potential risks, expenses, and uncertainties of litigation, we may, from time to time, settle disputes, even where we have 
meritorious claims or defenses, by agreeing to settlement agreements. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. 

Unanticipated changes in tax laws may affect future financial results. 

We are a U.S. corporation and thus are subject to U.S. corporate income tax on our worldwide operations. Our principal operations and 
certain potential customers are located in the United States, and as a result, we are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local taxes. 
New U.S. laws and policy relating to taxes may have an adverse effect on our business and future profitability. Further, existing U.S. 
tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. 

In recent years, the federal government has made significant changes to U.S. tax laws, including through the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 
2017 (the “Tax Act”) and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act. In addition, beginning in January 2022, the Tax 
Act eliminated the right to deduct research and development expenditures for tax purposes in the period the expenses were incurred 
and instead requires all U.S. and foreign research and development expenditures to be amortized over five and fifteen tax years, 
respectively. 

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law, with tax provisions primarily focused on implementing 
a 15% minimum tax on global adjusted financial statement income, effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022, and a 
1% excise tax on share repurchases occurring after December 31, 2022. 
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Further, the current administration had previously set forth several tax proposals that would, if enacted, make further significant 
changes to U.S. tax laws (including provisions enacted pursuant to the Tax Act). Such proposals include, but are not limited to, (i) an 
increase in the U.S. income tax rate applicable to corporations from 21% to 28%, (ii) an increase in the maximum U.S. federal income 
tax rate applicable to individuals and (iii) an increase in the U.S. federal income tax rate for long-term capital gain for certain 
taxpayers with income in excess of a threshold amount. Congress may consider some or all of these proposals in connection with 
additional tax reform to be undertaken by the current administration. It is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted and, 
if enacted, how soon any such changes could take effect. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals and other similar 
changes in U.S. federal income tax laws could adversely affect our business and future profitability. Investors are urged to consult with 
their legal and tax advisors with respect to any such legislation and the potential tax consequences of holding our securities. 

In addition, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”), issued final action items or proposals related to 
its initiative to combat base erosion and profit shifting (“BEPS”). The OECD urged its members to adopt the proposals to counteract 
the effects of taxpayers’ use of tax havens and preferential tax regimes globally. One BEPS proposal redefines a “permanent 
establishment” under treaty tax law, and changes how profits would be attributed to the permanent establishment. Some countries have 
incorporated the BEPS proposals into their laws, and we expect other countries to follow suit, including the adoption of market-based, 
income sourcing provisions that assign a greater share of taxable income of a non-resident taxpayer to the country of our customer’s 
location than do traditional “arm’s length” income sourcing provisions. Some of the BEPS and related proposals, if enacted into law in 
the U.S. and in the foreign countries where we do business, could increase the burden and costs of our tax compliance. Moreover, such 
changes could increase the amount of taxes we incur in those jurisdictions, and in turn, increase our global effective tax rate. 

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrangements are subject to the tax laws of various jurisdictions, and we could be 
obligated to pay additional taxes, which would harm our results of operations. 

We are expanding our international operations and staff to support our business in international markets. We generally conduct our 
international operations through wholly owned subsidiaries and are or may be required to report our taxable income in various 
jurisdictions worldwide based upon our business operations in those jurisdictions. Our intercompany relationships are subject to 
complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The amount of taxes we pay in 
different jurisdictions may depend on the application of the tax laws of the various jurisdictions, including the United States, to our 
international business activities, changes in tax rates, new or revised tax laws or interpretations of existing tax laws and policies, and 
our ability to operate our business in a manner consistent with our corporate structure and intercompany arrangements. The relevant 
taxing authorities may disagree with our determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a 
disagreement were to occur, and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, 
which could result in one-time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of our 
operations. 

We are subject to federal, state, and local income, sales, and other taxes in the United States and income, withholding, transaction, and 
other taxes in numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and our worldwide 
provision for taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many activities and transactions for which the ultimate tax 
determination may be uncertain. In addition, our tax obligations and effective tax rates could be adversely affected by changes in the 
relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations, principles and interpretations, including those relating to income tax nexus, by 
recognizing tax losses or lower than anticipated earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory rates and higher than 
anticipated earnings in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, or by 
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. We may be audited in various jurisdictions, and such jurisdictions 
may assess additional taxes, sales taxes and value added taxes against us. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the 
final determination of any tax audits or litigation could be materially different from our historical tax provisions and accruals, which 
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in the period or periods for which a determination is made. 

Failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, advertising, and consumer 
protection, or the expansion of current or the enactment of new laws or regulations relating to such matters, could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

We rely on a variety of techniques when marketing to Customer Partners, and we are subject to various laws and regulations that 
govern such marketing and advertising practices. Additionally, our business relies on our ability to collect, receive, store, process, use, 
generate, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, share, and otherwise process personal data and other sensitive information (such 
as personal data that identifies or is identifiable to actual or prospective customers, suppliers, personnel, or others), proprietary and 
confidential business information, trade secrets, intellectual property, and sensitive third-party information. As a result, we are, or may 
become, subject to numerous federal, state, local and foreign data laws, regulations, industry standards, policies, contracts and other 

33



 

actual and asserted obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and cybersecurity, particularly in the context of online advertising. 
For example, we are or may become subject to the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy 
Rights Act of 2020, numerous other state laws, the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, the UK Data Protection Act 
and UK General Data Protection Regulation, the Privacy and Electronic Communications Directive (2002/58/EC), and other national 
legislation. 

Laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, marketing and advertising and consumer protection are evolving and subject 
to potentially differing interpretations. These requirements may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one 
jurisdiction to another or may conflict with other rules or our practices. We may publish privacy policies, notices, and other 
documentation and statements regarding our collection, processing, use and disclosure of personal data and/or other data. Although we 
endeavor to comply with our published policies, notices, documentation, and statements, we may at times fail to do so or may be 
perceived to have failed to do so. Despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving compliance if our personnel, Customer 
Partners or Service Providers fail to comply with our published policies and documentation. Although we endeavor to comply with 
our published policies and notices, other statements and documentation, and all applicable laws and regulations, and certain other 
guidance, industry standards, policies, contracts and other actual and asserted obligations, relating to privacy, data protection, 
cybersecurity, advertising, and consumer protection, we may at times fail to do so or may be perceived to have failed to do so. If we 
fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address or comply with any actual or asserted obligations related to data privacy and security, 
we could face private claims, demands, and litigation, including class action litigation; government enforcement actions and 
proceedings that could include investigations, fines, penalties, audits and inspections; additional reporting requirements and/or 
oversight; temporary or permanent bans on all or some processing of data; requirements to change the manner in which we process 
data; and orders to destroy or not use data. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business or 
financial condition, and could lead to a loss of actual or prospective Customer Partners, Service Providers or Consumers; result in an 
inability to process data or to operate in certain jurisdictions; limit our ability to sell or distribute our products; or require us to revise 
or restructure our policies and other aspects of our operations, which we may be unable to do in a commercially reasonable manner or 
at all. Moreover, such claims or other proceedings, even if not resulting in liability, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend 
and could result in diversion of management’s attention and adverse publicity that could harm our business or have other material 
adverse effects. We may also be contractually required to indemnify and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences 
relating to any such matter or to any actual or perceived of inadvertent or unauthorized use, disclosure, or other processing of data that 
is stored or handled as part of operating our business. 

In addition, various federal and state legislative and regulatory bodies, or self-regulatory organizations, may expand current laws or 
regulations, enact new laws or regulations or issue revised rules or guidance, regarding privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, 
consumer protection and advertising. Each of these laws and regulations, and any other such changes or new laws or regulations, or 
other actual or asserted obligations, including regulatory guidance and industry standards, could impose significant limitations, require 
changes to our business, impose fines and other penalties or restrict our use or storage of personal data and other data, which may 
increase our compliance expenses and make our business more costly or less efficient to conduct. Moreover, Customer Partners and 
Service Providers may stop or limit their sharing of data with us. Any such changes could compromise our ability to develop an 
adequate marketing strategy and pursue our growth strategy effectively, may hinder our research and development efforts, and 
otherwise disrupt operations, which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are subject to governmental export and import control laws and regulations. Our failure to comply with these laws and 
regulations could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our products and solutions are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration 
Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations and various economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury 
Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls as well as similar controls established in the countries in which we do business. 
Export control laws and regulations and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to embargoed or 
sanctioned countries, governments and persons. In addition, complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular 
geography may be time-consuming and result in the delay or loss of revenue opportunities. Exports of our products and technology 
must be made in compliance with these laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we and certain of 
our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export or import privileges, 
fines, which may be imposed on us and responsible employees or managers and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of responsible 
employees or managers. 

In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology, including through import permit and license 
requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products or could limit Consumers’ ability to 
implement our products in those countries. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation, shift 
in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such 
regulations could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products and solutions to, 
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existing or potential end customers with international operations or create delays in the introduction of our products and solutions into 
international markets. Any decreased use of our products and solutions or limitation on our ability to export or sell products and 
solutions could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Risks Related to Being a Public Company 

We may be unable to integrate successfully and realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger. 

We may fail to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of the Merger if the integration process takes longer than expected or is 
more costly than expected. 

Potential difficulties we may encounter in the integration process include the following: 

• the inability to successfully combine our historical business and Otonomo’s business in a manner that permits us to 
achieve the anticipated benefits from the Merger;

• challenges related to the creation of uniform standards, controls, procedures, policies and information systems;

• our historical customers and Otonomo’s customers may view the combination of the two businesses unfavorably and as a 
result take their business to alternative service providers; and

• potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory considerations associated with the 
Merger. 

In addition, it is possible that the integration process also could result in the diversion of management’s attention, the disruption or 
interruption of, or the loss of momentum in, our ongoing business or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies, 
any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain our business relationships or achieve the anticipated benefits of the Merger, 
or could otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our ability to 
attract and retain qualified board members. 

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and any rules promulgated thereunder, as 
well as the rules of Nasdaq. The requirements of these rules and regulations increase legal and financial compliance costs, make some 
activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls for financial 
reporting. In order to maintain and, if required, improve disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 
reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight are required, and, as a result, management’s attention 
may be diverted from other business concerns. These rules and regulations can also make it more difficult to attract and retain 
qualified independent members to our board of directors (the “Board”). Additionally, these rules and regulations make it more difficult 
and more expensive to obtain director and officer liability insurance. We may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur 
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. The increased costs of compliance with public company reporting requirements and the 
potential failure to satisfy these requirements could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. 

As a private company, we had not endeavored to establish and maintain a public-company-quality internal control over financial 
reporting. If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting as a public company, 
our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in our financial 
reporting and the trading price of our Common Stock may decline. 

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, commencing with our second annual report on Form 10-K, the report by 
management on internal control over financial reporting will be on our financial reporting and internal controls (as accounting 
acquirer), and when we are no longer an emerging growth company an attestation of the independent registered public accounting firm 
will also be required. The rules governing the standards to assess internal control over financial reporting are complex and require 
significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. We have not historically had to comply with all of these rules. To comply 
with the requirements of being a reporting company under the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and any complex accounting 
rules in the future, we may need to upgrade our legacy information technology systems, implement additional financial and 
management controls, reporting systems and procedures, and hire additional accounting and finance staff. 

If we are unable to hire the additional accounting and finance staff necessary to comply with these requirements, we may need to 
retain additional outside consultants. If we or, if required, our independent registered public accounting firm, are unable to conclude 
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that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could 
negatively impact the price of our securities.

We will incur increased costs and obligations as a result of being a public company. 

As a privately held company, we were not required to comply with certain corporate governance and financial reporting practices and 
policies required of a publicly traded company. As a publicly traded company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant 
legal, accounting and other expenses that we were not required to incur in the recent past, particularly after we are no longer an 
“emerging growth company” as defined under the JOBS Act. In addition, new and changing laws, regulations and standards relating to 
corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules 
and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, as well as under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the JOBS Act, and the rules 
and regulations of the SEC and national securities exchanges have created uncertainty for public companies and increased the costs 
and the time that the Board and management must devote to complying with these rules and regulations. We expect these rules and 
regulations to increase legal and financial compliance costs and lead to a diversion of management time and attention from revenue 
generating activities. 

Furthermore, the need to establish the corporate infrastructure demanded of a public company may divert management’s attention 
from implementing our growth strategy, which could prevent us from improving our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. We will need to rely on third party consultants or increase our headcount to address the additional obligations of being a 
public company, and our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage the transition to being a public company 
subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of 
securities analysts and investors. We have made, and will continue to make, changes to our internal controls and procedures for 
financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations as a publicly traded company. However, the measures 
taken by us may not be sufficient to satisfy our obligations as a publicly traded company. 

Changes in laws, regulations or rules, or a failure to comply with any laws, regulations or rules, may adversely affect our business, 
investments and results of operations. 

We are subject to laws, regulations and rules enacted by national, regional and local governments and Nasdaq. In particular, we are 
required to comply with certain SEC, Nasdaq and other legal or regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, 
applicable laws, regulations and rules may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws, regulations or rules and their 
interpretation and application may also change from time to time and those changes could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, investments and results of operations. In addition, a failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or rules, as 
interpreted and applied, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities 

Our stock price may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating performance. 

The market price of our Common Stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors and may continue to fluctuate for 
these and other reasons, many of which are beyond our control, including: 

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in revenue and results of operations of the Company; 

• the financial projections provided to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these projections; 

• failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of the Company, changes in financial estimates or ratings by any 
securities analysts who follow the Company or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

• announcements by the Company or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic 
partnerships, joint ventures, results of operations or capital commitments;

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other retail or technology companies generally, or those 
in the roadside and mobility assistance industry in particular;

• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;

• trading volume of Common Stock of the Company;

• the inclusion, exclusion or removal of our Common Stock from any indices;

• changes in the Board or management;
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• transactions in our Common Stock by directors, officers, affiliates and other major investors;

• lawsuits threatened or filed against the Company; 

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to our business;

• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of debt or equity securities;

• short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions involving our capital stock;

• general economic conditions in the United States;

• pandemics or other public health crises, including, but not limited to, the COVID-19 pandemic (including additional 
variants);

• other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events; and

• the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section. 

The stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. The market prices of securities of companies have 
experienced fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to their operating results. In the past, stockholders have 
sometimes instituted securities class action litigation against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their 
securities. Any similar litigation against the Company could result in substantial costs, divert management’s attention and resources, 
and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

An active trading market for our Common Stock may not be sustained, which would adversely affect the liquidity and price of our 
Common Stock. 

Our Common Stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “ULY.” We cannot assure you that an active trading market for our Common 
Stock will be sustained. In addition, the price of our Common Stock can vary due to general economic conditions and forecasts, our 
general business condition and the release of financial reports. Accordingly, we cannot assure you of the liquidity of any trading 
market, your ability to sell your shares of our Common Stock when desired or the prices that you may obtain for your shares. 

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and we cannot be certain if the reduced 
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Common Stock less attractive to investors and 
make it more difficult to compare our performance to the performance of other public companies. 

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act. As 
such, we are eligible for, and intend to take advantage of, certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other 
public companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, including, 
but not limited to, (a) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 
(b) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and (c) exemptions 
from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden 
parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem 
important. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market 
value of our shares of the Common Stock that are held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year, (ii) the 
last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed for 
inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period, or (iv) the 
last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of October 19, 2023. We cannot predict whether investors will find our 
securities less attractive because we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of our 
reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of the securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less 
active trading market for the securities and the trading prices of the securities may be more volatile. 

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised 
financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared 
effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised 
financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and 
comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have 
elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different 
application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the 
time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with another public 
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company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended 
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used. 

As an emerging growth company, we also plan to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are 
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to 
obtain an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting from our independent registered public 
accounting firm pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation 
in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on 
executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if 
investors will find shares of our Common Stock less attractive because we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find shares of 
our Common Stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active market for our shares of Common Stock and our share price 
may be more volatile. 

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline. 

If our stockholders sell or indicate an intention to sell substantial amounts of Common Stock in the public market, the trading price of 
the Common Stock could decline. In addition, shares underlying any options or RSUs will become eligible for sale if exercised or 
settled, as applicable, and to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting agreements and Rule 144 of the Securities Act. 
All the shares of Common Stock subject to stock options outstanding and reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans are 
registered on the Registration Statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act and such shares are eligible for sale in the public 
markets, subject to Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be 
sold in the public market, the trading price of the Common Stock could decline. 

If securities or industry analysts either do not publish research about us or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, 
our business or our market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our Common Stock adversely, the trading price or 
trading volume of the Common Stock could decline. 

The trading market for our Common Stock is influenced in part by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts may 
publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If one or more of the analysts initiate research with an unfavorable 
rating or downgrade the Common Stock, provide a more favorable recommendation about our competitors, or publish inaccurate or 
unfavorable research about our business, the trading price of our Common Stock would likely decline. In addition, we currently expect 
that securities research analysts will establish and publish their own periodic projections for our business. These projections may vary 
widely and may not accurately predict the results actually achieved by us. Our stock price may decline if our actual results do not 
match the projections of these securities research analysts. While we expect research analyst coverage of us, if no analysts commence 
coverage of it, the trading price and volume for our Common Stock could be adversely affected. If any analyst who may cover us were 
to cease coverage or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause 
the trading price or trading volume of our Common Stock to decline. 

Delaware law and provisions in our Charter and Bylaws could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest difficult, thereby 
depressing the trading price of our Common Stock. 

Our Charter and Bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our Common Stock by acting to discourage, delay, 
or prevent a change of control or changes in our management that our stockholders may deem advantageous. These provisions include 
the following: 

• a classified board of directors such that not all members of the Board are elected at one time;

• the right of the Board to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorships; 

• director removal by stockholders solely for cause and with the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the voting power 
of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; 

• “blank check” preferred stock that the Board could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

• the right of the Board to issue authorized but unissued Common Stock and Preferred Stock without stockholder approval; 

• no ability of the stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

• no right of the stockholders to act by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of the 
stockholders; 

• limitations on the liability of, and the provision of indemnification to, our directors and officers;
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• the right of the Board to make, alter, or repeal our Bylaws; and

• advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the Board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by 
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings. 

Any provision of our Charter or Bylaws that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for 
our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of Common Stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are 
willing to pay for Common Stock. 

Our Charter provides that the Court of Chancery of the state of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes 
between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with 
us or our directors, officers or employees. 

Our Charter provides that the Court of Chancery of the state of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or 
proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising 
pursuant to the DGCL, our Charter or Bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs 
doctrine. These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable 
for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees and may discourage these types of lawsuits. This provision does not 
apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have 
exclusive jurisdiction. Our Charter provides further that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal district courts of the United 
States are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. However, 
Section 22 of the Securities Act provides that federal and state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over lawsuits brought under the 
Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. To the extent the exclusive forum provision restricts the courts in which claims 
arising under the Securities Act may be brought, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a provision as investors 
cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, the enforceability of 
similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is 
possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have 
determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue 
other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions, and there can be no assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a 
court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find the exclusive-forum provision contained in our Charter to be inapplicable or 
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could 
harm our business. 

Our ability to timely raise capital in the future may be limited, or may be unavailable on acceptable terms, if at all. Our failure to 
raise capital when needed could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Debt or equity issued to raise 
additional capital may reduce the value of our Common Stock. 

We cannot be certain when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fund our ongoing operations or the growth of our 
business. We currently intend to continue to make investments to support our current business and may require additional funds to 
respond to business challenges, develop new features or enhance our software, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire 
complementary businesses and technologies. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. If adequate funds 
are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invest in future growth opportunities, which could harm our business, 
operating results and financial condition. If we incur additional debt, the new and existing debt holders could have rights senior to 
holders of Common Stock to make claims on our assets or cash flows. The terms of any additional debt could further restrict our 
operations. If we issue additional equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have 
rights senior to those of Common Stock. Because the decision to issue securities in the future offering will depend on numerous 
considerations, including factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of any future 
issuances of debt or equity securities. As a result, stockholders will bear the risk of future issuances of debt or equity securities 
reducing the value of their Common Stock or diluting their interest, as applicable. 

We may issue additional shares of Common Stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute your 
ownership interests and may depress the market price of our Common Stock. 

We may issue additional shares of Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank in the future in connection with, 
among other things, future acquisitions or repayment of outstanding indebtedness, without stockholder approval, in a number of 
circumstances. 

Our issuance of additional shares of Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank would have the following effects: 
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• existing stockholders’ proportionate ownership interest would decrease; 

• the amount of cash available per share, including for payment of dividends (if any) in the future, may decrease; 

• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of Common Stock may be diminished; and

• the market price of our Common Stock may decline. 

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. 

We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business and do not expect to declare or pay any 
dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our Loan Agreements contain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends, and any 
additional debt incurred by the Company or any of our subsidiaries in the future may include similar restrictions. As a result, 
stockholders must rely on sales of their Common Stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their 
investment.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

At Urgently, we understand the paramount importance of cybersecurity in safeguarding our operational integrity, customer 
information, and proprietary data. Our commitment to cybersecurity excellence involves a comprehensive approach to risk 
management and the continual enhancement of our cybersecurity protocols to address the dynamic nature of cyber threats.

Board Oversight and Cybersecurity Governance 

Our cybersecurity strategy is anchored in a governance structure with board-level oversight. The Board of Directors plays a critical 
role in guiding our corporate governance, our cybersecurity posture, ensuring that cybersecurity risks are adequately evaluated and 
managed in alignment with our business objectives. To this end, the Board will receive periodic updates on our cybersecurity 
initiatives, risk management practices, and incident response measures. This oversight ensures that cybersecurity remains a top priority 
at the executive level and that strategic decisions reflect our commitment to safeguarding our digital assets. 

The Board is supported by and will receive reports from the Cybersecurity Risk Committee, a specialized group that includes senior 
executives and departmental representatives from information technology, legal, human resources, and operations. This committee is 
charged with the development of cybersecurity policies, evaluation of defense mechanisms, and oversight of the company’s response 
to cyber incidents. 

Our Cybersecurity Risk Committee is led by our CISO and our Director of Cyber Security and Compliance. These two individuals 
have decades of experience in designing, implementing, and managing cyber security risk programs. They are experts in the 
assessment, identification, and management of cybersecurity risk. Our Cybersecurity Risk Committee members receive updates about 
our security from our information technology and security teams, stay abreast of industry trends and regulations, and regularly inform 
management of various cybersecurity risks, trends, threats, and countermeasure techniques.  

Cybersecurity Risk Management Program

Our Cybersecurity Risk Management Program is informed by the Center for Internet Security (CIS) Controls version 18. The CIS 
Controls offer a strategic framework that directs our implementation of effective cybersecurity defenses across 18 critical areas, 
ranging from asset management to data protection and network security. 

A cornerstone of our cybersecurity governance is the annual performance of comprehensive cybersecurity risk assessments. These 
assessments evaluate our defenses against the latest cyber threats and vulnerabilities and support our preparedness to respond to 
evolving cyber risks. The insights gained from these assessments inform our ongoing efforts to review and refine our cybersecurity 
strategies, policies and defense mechanisms. As a core component of our risk management process, all employees are required to 
participate in annual information security training. 
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We engage third parties annually to evaluate our information security posture, risks, and third-party service provider solutions as part 
of our overall enterprise risk management activities. The company maintains an inventory of vendors and third-party providers and 
evaluates those providers for risks annually at a minimum. 

Cybersecurity Incidents and Responses

We have not experienced cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected our company, our business strategy, our results of 
operations, or our financial condition. However, we continue to face cybersecurity risks and recognize that we must remain vigilant 
against known and evolving threats. For additional detail about our cybersecurity risks and whether any such risks are reasonably 
likely to materially affect our company, please see the discussion in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Our commitment to cybersecurity resilience includes an ongoing monitoring program and a well-defined incident response plan that 
provides clear guidelines for mitigating the impact of any future cyber threats and incidents. These processes are periodically reviewed 
and updated to address emerging threat intelligence.

Future Directions

Urgently will continue to invest in cybersecurity technologies, enhance our staff training programs, and foster collaborations with 
cybersecurity experts. Our board-driven, proactive approach to cybersecurity risk management is integral to our mission of delivering 
value to our customers, employees, and shareholders, safeguarding our reputation, and ensuring the long-term success of our company.

Item 2. Properties.

Our headquarters are located in Vienna, Virginia, where we have approximately 8,417 square feet of leased office space. This facility 
houses our principal executive offices, research and development, design, business development, finance, information technology, and 
other administrative activities. The lease for this facility expires in August 2027, and we have the option to extend our lease for an 
additional three years beyond the current term.

In addition, we lease call center space in San Diego, California and Reno, Nevada. The San Diego space, the lease of which expires in 
December 2024, is 13,983 square feet. Our Reno space, the lease of which expires in October 2027, consists of 14,000 square feet. 
Given that most of our employees continue to work from home, we have offered our San Diego and Reno spaces for sublet. We 
entered into a sublease for the San Diego space in October 2021 that expires in December 2024.

We also lease 7,891 square feet of office space in Herzliya, Israel and 10,615 square feet in Sheffield, United Kingdom. The Israel 
space is subject to a lease agreement that expired in December 2022; however, the lease automatically renews on a quarterly basis. The
United Kingdom spaces are subject to two leases expiring in September 2027 and December 2029, respectively.

We believe that our facilities meet our needs for the immediate future and expect that, should it be needed, additional space will be 
available to accommodate any future expansion of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may become involved in actions, claims, suits and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our 
business, including assertions by third parties relating to breaches of contract, employment-related matters or intellectual property 
infringement as well as governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. We are not currently a party to any actions, 
claims, suits or other legal proceedings the outcome of which, if determined adversely, would individually or in the aggregate have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Future litigation may be necessary to defend 
ourselves, our partners, and our customers by determining the scope, enforceability, and validity of third-party proprietary rights, or to 
establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the 
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and 
other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information and Holders

Our Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ULY.”

As of March 25, 2024, we had 70 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of holders is greater than this number of 
record holders and includes holders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other 
nominees.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. We intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate 
paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any determination to pay cash 
dividends will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend upon a number of factors, including our results of operations, financial 
condition, future prospects, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors the Board deems relevant.

Performance Graph

The performance graph included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” for 
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or incorporated by reference into any filing of Urgent.ly Inc.’s under the Securities Act, 
except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

The following graph shows a comparison from October 19, 2023 through December 31, 2023 of the cumulative total stockholder 
return on our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq 100 Technology Index. Such returns are based on historical 
results and are not intended to suggest future performance. Data for the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq 100 Technology 
Index assume reinvestment of dividends. The graph uses the closing market price on October 19, 2023 of $5.709 per share as the 
initial value of our common stock. As discussed above, we have never declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do 
not anticipate declaring or paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.
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Issuer Purchases of Securities

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
The following discussion and analysis contains historical financial information and forward-looking statements regarding our 
expectations of future performance, liquidity and capital resources, our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated or implied 
in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed in the sections titled “Risk Factors” and 
“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to (a) the business 
of Urgent.ly Inc. and its subsidiaries prior to the October 19, 2023 merger with Otonomo Technologies Ltd. or (b) Urgent.ly Inc. 
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, after the consummation of that merger.

A discussion of the changes in our results of operations between the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
has been omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such omitted disclosure can be found in the section titled “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Final Prospectus.

Overview 

We are a leading connected mobility assistance software platform, matching vehicle owners and operators with service professionals 
who deliver traditional roadside assistance, proactive maintenance and repair services. The traditional experience of a vehicle 
breakdown is often stressful and inconvenient for stranded drivers, compounded by processes that lack transparency and lead to long 
wait times. We offer an innovative alternative to this traditional experience, leveraging our digitally native software platform to match 
supply and demand in our network and deliver exceptional mobility assistance experiences at scale. 

We offer a digitally native software platform that combines location-based services, real-time data, AI and machine-to-machine 
communication to deliver quick, safe and innovative roadside assistance services for leading brands across the automotive and 
insurance industries, and other transportation-focused verticals. We collect signals from distressed vehicles and match those needs 
with local roadside assistance professionals to create a connected service network. Our platform enables our partners to deliver 
exceptional user experiences that drive high customer satisfaction and loyalty. With 57 Customer Partners and more than 67,900 
participating Service Provider vehicle drivers in our network as of December 31, 2023, we deliver innovative, transparent and 
exceptional connected mobility assistance experiences at scale. 

We generate substantially all of our revenue from our Customer Partners, who contract with us to fulfill roadside assistance service 
requests for Consumers. We connect Consumers with nearby Service Providers who provide the requested roadside assistance. We 
enter into multi-year contracts with our Customer Partners, which are typically three years, and we generate revenue on a per-incident 
basis, including negotiated rates customized for each Customer Partner. We also generate revenue from Customer Partner membership 
programs, which are typically offered to Consumers through an out-of-warranty vehicle maintenance program or bundled with other 
subscription membership offerings, on a fixed fee basis. We recognize subscription revenue from our Customer Partner membership 
programs ratably over the term of service, which is typically one year. We also offer our platform as a SaaS solution to enable certain 
of our Customer Partners’ roadside assistance services. We anticipate that the Merger and anticipated integration of Otonomo’s 
Mobility Platform will further enhance the customer service experience for Consumers on our platform by improving data capabilities, 
features, and data ingest capacity. We recognize revenue from our SaaS offering ratably over the life of the contract, which is typically 
one to three years. We make payments to our Service Providers on a per-job basis, typically within three weeks from job completion. 

Our Sales and Partner Management Department works closely with our Customer Partners to ensure that Consumers receive an 
exceptional assistance experience, and we have a strong track record in Customer Partner retention, Consumer satisfaction with our 
platform and the reliability of our service. Prospective Customer Partners typically engage us for a pilot program and enter into a 
multi-year contract once they are satisfied with our platform’s performance. As Customer Partner contracts expire, we typically 
undergo a request-for-proposal process for each contract renewal. While we employ a targeted marketing program, many of our new 
Customer Partners are referred to us by satisfied existing Customer Partners. 

Otonomo Merger

On October 19, 2023, we completed the Merger with Otonomo. At the time at which the Merger became effective pursuant to the 
terms of the Merger Agreement (the “Effective Time”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger 
Agreement, we issued an aggregate of 5,435,568 shares of our Common Stock to former Otonomo shareholders, based on an 
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exchange ratio of 0.51756 shares of Common Stock for each Otonomo ordinary share (excluding shares owned by Otonomo 
subsidiaries and shares to be canceled pursuant to the Merger Agreement) (the “Exchange Ratio”).  

In addition, each outstanding restricted share unit award relating to Otonomo ordinary shares (an “Otonomo RSU”) granted under 
Otonomo’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Otonomo Plan”) was assumed by the Company on the same terms and conditions as 
applied to the Otonomo RSU award immediately prior to the Effective Time and settled into a number of shares of Common Stock 
equal to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the number of Otonomo ordinary shares subject to the Otonomo RSU award 
immediately prior to the Effective Time by (ii) the Exchange Ratio. Such assumed Otonomo RSUs continue to be governed by the 
terms and conditions of the Otonomo Plan. Upon the closing of the Merger, the Company assumed the Otonomo Plan. 

Immediately following the Merger, our existing securityholders owned 60.3% of the combined company on a fully diluted basis and 
Otonomo’s securityholders owned 39.7% of the combined company on a fully diluted basis.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

New Customer Partner Acquisition

Our ability to add and retain Customer Partners is a key factor in our ability to generate new revenue, grow existing accounts, improve 
margins and push towards profitability. We attract enterprises seeking frictionless, digital roadside assistance solutions for Consumers 
with our emphasis on a well-designed and easy-to-use interface. Due to the relative concentration of the mobility assistance market, 
new Customer Partner acquisition can result in significant expansion of our footprint within the market.

We believe the continued focus on exceptional Consumer experiences will continue to drive demand for our platform and broaden our 
number of Customer Partners. Historically, our ability to engage new Customer Partners has been limited primarily by our ability to 
effectively service the existing demand. However, as our Service Provider network grows and our support capabilities are streamlined 
and automated, we anticipate that our platform capabilities will also grow to meet the demands of new Customer Partners. We have 
historically been successful in retaining our Customer Partners once they have initially adopted our platform, other than with respect 
to one Customer Partner that accounted for approximately 25% of our revenue in 2023, which did not renew its agreement with us 
when the existing contract expired by its terms on January 31, 2024.

Continued Investment in Innovation

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to sustain innovation and maintain a competitive advantage in the verticals in which we 
operate and expand to meet new and evolving needs in roadside and mobility assistance. We believe that the emerging need for 
mobility assistance is a transformational opportunity that will bridge historically siloed and fragmented industries including insurance, 
collision, vehicle sales and service, the automotive aftermarket and logistics. These market transformations are creating new 
opportunities for roadside assistance providers to extend services into adjacent markets to increase revenue opportunities. We believe 
that our platform is differentiated from other offerings and has broad applicability to a variety of use cases, and we will continue to 
invest in developing and enhancing platform features and functionality to further extend adoption of our platform. We expect to 
continue to invest in research and development efforts to broaden the functionality of our platform, improve the value of our offering 
to our Customer Partners, and incorporate additional offerings. We will also continue to evaluate from time to time, strategic 
opportunities to acquire or invest in businesses, offerings, technologies or talent that we believe could complement or expand our 
platform, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise provide potential growth opportunities.

Investing in Business Growth 

Our ability to support our existing Customer Partners and engage with new Customer Partners is impacted by our ability to rapidly 
scale and expand. Historically, we have been resource constrained and unable to commit to technology improvements because of our 
incremental funding history. We are now focused on investing in our proprietary technology, machine learning and data analytics 
models in order to streamline and digitize the high-touch aspects of our operations. These investments will enable us to optimize our 
Service Provider supply models, calibrate Service Provider pricing and streamline our operational processes. Our ability to manage 
expenses, and to effectively invest our resources to enable a better Consumer experience, will impact our operating results and future 
profitability. While we embarked on an aggressive growth plan in early 2022, as a result of the adverse macro-economic environment 
we pivoted to a more judicious staffing model. In addition, due to staffing challenges in the United States caused by the pandemic and 
government stimulus payments coupled with remote work, and to maintain reliable and high-quality service, we migrated portions of 
our customer support representatives to more cost-effective alternatives (this migration together with our judicious staffing model, the 
“Realignment”). As we maintain our priorities, we expect our operating expenses to decrease in the short term relative to historical 
periods but increase over the longer term as we continue our targeted investments in growth. Although operating expenses will 
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increase, based on the Realignment actions, we expect leverage with our operating expenses, resulting in a lower operating expense as 
a percentage of revenue metric. 

Seasonality 

We experience seasonality in monetization on our platform. Historically, we generate higher levels of roadside assistance service 
requests during the summer and winter, when a greater proportion of Consumers are traveling for holidays. Particularly as we continue 
to adjust to the travel patterns in the post COVID-19 pandemic era, such seasonality may be more pronounced in the future or different 
altogether. 

We have also experienced increased roadside assistance service requests during periods of economic downturn. During these times 
Consumers may be less likely to allocate resources to vehicle maintenance, and we have observed that delaying vehicle maintenance 
typically increases the likelihood of a vehicle breakdown. 

Key Business Metrics 

We regularly monitor a number of operating metrics, including the following key metrics, in order to measure our current performance 
and estimate our future performance. 

Consumer Ratings 

Exceptional Consumer service is a cornerstone of our business. We measure Consumer sentiment through a variety of surveys but 
primarily measure completed jobs on a 1-to-5-star scale, with a 5 star being the highest. We have historically averaged 4.5 out of 5 
stars. We are proud of how highly Consumers rate their service experiences with us given the fact that no one aspires to have a 
breakdown. It’s often stressful, nearly always unexpected, and often unsafe. Our aspirational goal is 100% Consumer satisfaction. We 
use Consumer ratings to improve the service experience by improving networks, technology, and training. For the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, our CSAT was 4.6 and 4.5, respectively. 

Number of Dispatches 

We believe that our ability to increase the number of dispatches is an indicator of our Customer Partner penetration, the growth of our 
business and potential future business opportunities. We define the number of dispatches as the number of completed service requests 
in a given period. Number of dispatches has increased over time as we have added new Customer Partners, retained and expanded 
usage by existing Customer Partners and expanded complimentary product offerings. As our Customer Partner base grows and usage 
of our platform expands, we do not expect to continue to grow at the same year-over-year rate. Additionally, we expect the number of 
dispatches to fluctuate as seasonality is reflected on a period-over-period basis, as the summer and winter months typically contain 
more Consumer travel and roadside assistance events. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we completed approximately 1.1 million dispatches and 1.3 million dispatches, 
respectively. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

In addition to our financial information presented in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP financial measures 
are useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance. We use the following non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate our 
ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe that the non-GAAP financial measures, when taken 
together with the corresponding GAAP financial measures, may be helpful to investors because they provide consistency and 
comparability with past financial performance and meaningful supplemental information regarding our performance by excluding 
certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations, or outlook. The non-GAAP financial measures are 
presented for supplemental informational purposes only, have limitations as analytical tools, and should not be considered in isolation 
or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP and may be different from similarly-titled non-GAAP 
financial measures used by other companies. In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate 
similarly-titled non-GAAP financial measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could 
reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as a tool for comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for each non-
GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP. Investors are 
encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to our most 
directly comparable GAAP financial measures, and not to rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business. 
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Non-GAAP Operating Expenses 

We define non-GAAP operating expenses as operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization expense, stock-based 
compensation expense, and non-recurring charges (or income) such as transaction and restructuring costs. We use non-GAAP 
operating expenses in conjunction with GAAP financial measures as part of our overall assessment of our performance, including the 
preparation of our annual operating budget and quarterly forecasts, to evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies, and to 
communicate with the Board concerning our financial performance. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of non-GAAP operating expenses to the most comparable GAAP measure, operating 
expenses, for each of the periods presented: 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  
   (in thousands)  
Operating expenses   $ 83,985     $ 73,699  
Less: Depreciation and amortization expense     (990 )     (297 )
Less: Stock-based compensation expense     (2,473 )     (494 )
Less: Non-recurring transaction costs     (21,338 )     (2,921 )
Less: Restructuring costs     (340 )     (1,216 )

Non-GAAP operating expenses   $ 58,844     $ 68,771  
 

Non-GAAP Operating Loss 

We define non-GAAP operating loss as operating loss, excluding depreciation and amortization expense, stock-based compensation 
expense, and non-recurring charges (or income) such as transaction and restructuring costs. We use non-GAAP operating loss in 
conjunction with GAAP financial measures as part of our overall assessment of our performance, including the preparation of our 
annual operating budget and quarterly forecasts, to evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies, and to communicate with the 
Board concerning our financial performance. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of non-GAAP operating loss to the most comparable GAAP measure, operating loss, for 
each of the periods presented: 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  
   (in thousands)  

Operating loss   $ (46,104 )   $ (53,552 )
Add: Depreciation and amortization expense     990       297  
Add: Stock-based compensation expense     2,473       494  
Add: Non-recurring transaction costs     21,338       2,921  
Add: Restructuring costs     340       1,216  

Non-GAAP operating loss   $ (20,963 )   $ (48,624 )
 

Components of Results of Operations 

Revenue 

We generate substantially all of our revenues from roadside assistance services (“RAS”) initiated through our software platform 
primarily in the United States and Canada. We contract with Customer Partners to provide the outsourced delivery for all or portions 
of their roadside assistance plans for Consumers. We manage the entire RAS process after receiving the initial motorist distress call or 
web-based request through final disposition. We currently operate under two different service models for our Customer Partners: (i) 
full-service outsourcing RAS-flat rate and (ii) full-service outsourcing RAS-claim cost pass-through. 

• Full-service outsourcing of RAS-flat rate. In connection with our full-service flat-rate arrangements, we negotiate fixed 
rates with subcontract Service Providers and charge Customer Partners or Consumers fixed rates based on each service 
provided (per tow, per jump start, etc.) As a result, we record these revenues on a gross basis and the costs related are 
recorded as part of cost of service. We recognize these revenues over time. 

• Full-service outsourcing of RAS-claim cost pass-through. In connection with our full-service claim cost pass-through 
arrangements, we negotiate a flat dispatch fee directly with our Customer Partners which is combined with the variable 
cost of subcontracted services. We act as an agent in these transactions and record only the flat dispatch fee as revenue. 
We recognize these revenues over time. 
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For additional discussion related to our revenue, see Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Revenue Recognition” and 
Note 4 “Revenue” to our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 contained 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Cost of revenue 

Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, consists primarily of fees paid to Service Providers. Other costs included 
in cost of revenue are specifically the technology hosting and platform-related costs, certain personnel costs related to direct call 
center support to Consumers as part of platform authentication, and amortization of costs to fulfill. 

Gross profit and Gross margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our gross 
margin may fluctuate from period to period as our revenue fluctuates and has been and will continue to be affected by various factors, 
including mix of services provided, Customer Partner pricing and Service Provider costs. We expect our gross profit to increase and 
our gross margin to increase modestly over the long term due to platform enhancements resulting in more cost effective and 
competitive Service Provider costs, although our gross margins could fluctuate from period to period depending on the interplay 
between the factors described above. 

Research and development 

Research and development expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, for 
engineering, product development, product management and design employees, expenses associated with ongoing improvements to, 
and maintenance of, our platform offerings and other technology. Research and development expense also includes software expenses 
and technology consulting fees. 

Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, in support of new 
business capture, partner management and marketing such as commissions, salaries, and related benefits. Sales and marketing expense 
also includes expenses associated with advertising, promotions of our services, Partner advocacy management and brand-building. 

Operations and support 

Operations and support expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, in support of 
customer support operations such as salaries, related benefits, contractors we use to manage customer support workload and related 
technology costs to support such operations. Operations and support expenses also include expenses associated with Service Provider 
network management. 

General and administrative 

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation and related 
benefits for our executive, finance, human resources, information technology, legal and other personnel performing administrative 
functions. General and administrative expense also includes corporate office rent expense, third-party professional fees, public 
company readiness expenses and any other cost or expense incurred not deemed to be related to cost of revenue, sales and marketing 
expense, research and development expense, or operations and support expense. 

Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization expenses primarily consist of depreciation of capitalized property, equipment and software and 
amortization of acquired finite-lived intangible assets. 

Other income (expense), net 

Other income (expense), net primarily includes the following items: 

• Interest expense, which consists primarily of interest expense associated with our outstanding debt, including accretion of 
debt discount and lender fees and amortization of debt financing costs. 
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• Interest income, which consists primarily of interest earned on cash equivalents, short-term deposits and marketable 
securities. 

• Change in fair value of derivative liability, which represents gains or losses resulting from fluctuations in the fair value of 
embedded derivative liabilities associated with convertible notes. 

• Change in fair value of warrant liability, which represents gains or losses resulting from fluctuations in the fair value of 
warrant liabilities. 

• Change in fair value of accrued purchase consideration, which represents gains or losses resulting from fluctuations in the 
fair value of accrued purchase consideration.

• Warrant expense, which represents the fair value of warrants issued during the period for warrants classified as liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheets. 

• Foreign currency exchange gains (losses), net, which relate primarily to the exchange rate differences arising from the 
settlement of transactions in foreign currencies other than our Canadian subsidiary’s functional currency of the U.S. dollar.

Provision for income taxes

Income tax expense or benefit is related to the provision for federal, state, and foreign taxes imposed upon our results of operations.

Results of Operations 

The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations data for the periods indicated: 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  
   (in thousands)  

Total revenue   $ 184,653     $ 187,589  
Cost of revenue     146,772       167,442  
Gross profit     37,881       20,147  

Operating expenses:            
Research and development     16,907       16,733  
Sales and marketing     5,065       5,647  
Operations and support     24,355       36,893  
General and administrative     36,668       14,129  
Depreciation and amortization     990       297  

Total operating expenses     83,985       73,699  
Operating loss     (46,104 )     (53,552 )

Other income (expense), net     118,693       (42,430 )
Income (loss) before income taxes     72,589       (95,982 )

Provision for income taxes     (2,140 )     —  

Net income (loss)     74,729       (95,982 )
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The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of revenue for the 
periods indicated: 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  

Total revenue     100 %    100 %
Cost of revenue     79 %    89 %
Gross margin     21 %    11 %

Operating expenses:            
Research and development     9 %    9 %
Sales and marketing     3 %    3 %
Operations and support     13 %    20 %
General and administrative     20 %    8 %
Depreciation and amortization     1 %    0 %

Total operating expenses     45 %    39 %
Operating loss     (25 )%    (29 )%

Other income (expense), net     64 %    (23 )%
Income (loss) before income taxes     39 %    (51 )%

Provision for income taxes     (1 )%    0 %
Net income (loss)     40 %    (51 )%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenue 

Revenue decreased by $2.9 million, or 2%, to $184.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from $187.6 million in the year 
ended December 31, 2022. This was primarily driven by a decrease in dispatch volumes from one auto manufacturer Customer Partner 
(due to lower sales by the manufacturer) and one insurance Customer Partner along with our decision to shift away from less 
profitable revenue, which collectively accounted for a $22.0 million decrease in revenue. This was offset by an increase in rates 
charged to existing Customer Partners that resulted in an increase of $17.7 million in revenue and additional revenue of $1.4 million 
contributed from the Otonomo business acquired on October 19, 2023. Our fleet management (including car rental companies) and 
auto manufacturer Customer Partners generated both volume and rate increases driven by business growth and higher dispatch 
allocations. 

Cost of Revenue 

Cost of revenue decreased by $20.7 million, or 12%, to $146.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from $167.4 million in 
the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily related to an overall decline in dispatch volume resulting in a $18.4 
million reduction in Service Provider fees and a reduction in first call and platform costs in the amount of $6.5 million as the business 
shifted away from partnerships that required first call support. The decrease was offset by an increase in higher average Service 
Provider fees for the year ended December 31, 2023 of $3.5 million. The increase in average Service Provider fees is consistent with 
overall inflation and industry experiences. Approximately $0.7 million of cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
attributed to Otonomo.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $37.9 million, compared to $20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 
2022. The increase was primarily driven by rate increases applied to Customer Partners, the decrease in Service Provider fees resulting 
from lower dispatch volumes, and the decrease in first call costs, all contributing to gross profit growth of 88% despite a revenue 
decline of 2%. 

Operating Expenses 

Research and Development 

Research and development expense increased by $0.2 million, or 1%, to $16.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
$16.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The variance was primarily driven by a reduction in employee and employee-
related expenses of $1.3 million and lower IT infrastructure costs of $0.1 million offset by $0.2 million in stock-based compensation.  
Approximately $1.4 million of research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was attributed to Otonomo. 
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Research and development employees were 144 (of which 64 were related to Otonomo) and 82 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

As a percentage of total revenue, research and development expense remained flat at 9% in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022.

Sales and Marketing 

Sales and marketing expense decreased by $0.6 million, or 10%, to $5.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from $5.6 
million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in employee and employee-related 
expenses of $1.5 million and lower overall sales and marketing-related activities of $0.1 million. Approximately $1.1 million of sales 
and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was attributed to Otonomo. Sales and marketing employees were 53 (of 
which 30 were related to Otonomo) and 32 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

As a percentage of total revenue, sales and marketing expense remained flat at 3% in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Operations and Support 

Operations and support expense decreased by $12.5 million, or 34%, to $24.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
$36.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily related to the continued migration of a portion of 
customer support representative resources from the United States to business process organizations located in Central and South 
America, resulting in a cost reduction of $8.4 million; a reduction of employee-related costs resulting in a cost reduction of $2.5 
million; and lower net operating costs due to the Realignment and reduction in overall spending related to business and information 
technology tools, resulting in cost reductions of $1.5 million. Operations and support employees were 83 and 110 as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively, and customer support representative full-time employees were 404 and 608 as of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.  

As a percentage of total revenue, operations and support expense decreased by 7% to 13% in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
20% in the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by customer support center transformation initiatives 
consistent with the Realignment.
 

General and Administrative 

General and administrative expense increased by $22.5 million, or 159%, to $36.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
$14.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily related to an increase in transaction-related expenses 
of $18.4 million in connection with the Merger, an increase in stock-based compensation of $1.9 million, higher business insurance 
costs of $0.6 million based on the external insurance markets and enhanced coverage, an increase in other professional services in the 
amount of $0.6 million, an increase in bad debt expense of $0.4 million, an increase in board fees and related expense of $0.2 million, 
and an increase in rent expense of $0.2 million. These increases were offset by lower employee-related expenses of $0.6 million.  
Approximately $0.8 million of general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was attributed to Otonomo. 
General and administrative employees were 69 (of which 14 related to Otonomo) and 62 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

As a percentage of total revenue, general and administrative expense increased by 12% to 20% in the year ended December 31, 2023 
from 8% in the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by transaction-related expenses in connection with 
the Merger. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $0.7 million, or 233%, to $1.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
$0.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to amortization on intangible assets acquired in the 
Otonomo merger in October 2023.

Other Income (Expense), net 

Other income (expense), net increased by $161.1 million, or 380%, to income of $118.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 
from expense of $42.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 due primarily to: a $73.4 million bargain purchase gain from the 
Otonomo merger; $46.9 million in gains on the extinguishment of the Structural Loan Agreement in the second quarter of 2023 and 
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the outstanding convertible promissory notes in the third quarter of 2023; $0.5 million in interest income; and $54.8 million in net 
gains resulting from changes in the fair values of derivative, warrant, and purchase consideration liabilities; offset by an increase in 
interest expense of $15.3 million.

Provision for Income Taxes

The income tax benefit of $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was due primarily to a reduction in the deferred tax 
liability established in connection with the application of the acquisition method of accounting for the Otonomo merger.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Due to our history of recurring losses from operations, negative cash flows from operations, and our dependency on debt and equity 
financing to fund operating shortfalls, management concluded that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of twelve months from the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 1 
“Organization” of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, our 
independent registered public accounting firm has included an explanatory paragraph in their audit report for the year ended December 
31, 2023 as to the substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with GAAP, which contemplates that we will continue to operate as a going concern. Our consolidated 
financial statements do not contain any adjustments that might result if we are unable to continue as a going concern. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had a total of $69.6 million in liquid assets consisting of cash, cash equivalents, short-term deposits and 
marketable securities. Our principal sources of liquidity have historically consisted of financing activities, including proceeds from the 
issuance of preferred stock, borrowings under debt financing arrangements and credit facilities, and operating activities. As of 
December 31, 2023, our principal debt balance totaled $71.8 million with maturity dates through January 2025. In January 2024, we 
used a portion of our $69.6 million in liquid assets to pay $17.5 million in term loans, and $6.1 million in related fees, with Structural 
Capital.

On January 19, 2024, we amended and restated our Structural Loan Agreement to, among other things, permit the partial prepayment 
of term loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to $17.5 million, together with certain fees applicable thereto, and allow for the 
joinder of Otonomo and certain of its material subsidiaries as guarantors. Following the prepayment of term loans, there was $10.0 
million in aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding under the Structural Loan Agreement. 

On January 19, 2024, we entered into an amendment to our Highbridge Loan Agreement to, among other things, allow for the joinder 
of Otonomo and certain of its material subsidiaries as guarantors.

We completed our acquisition of Otonomo on October 19, 2023. The transaction consisted of the acquisition of the Otonomo business, 
employees, revenue contracts, technology and net assets, including approximately $100.0 million of cash, cash equivalents, and short-
term investments, net of estimated transaction costs. The additional cash is expected to fund strategic growth initiatives and daily 
operations for the combined Company, and to pay down debt as required. Although we continue to define the final details related to 
the Otonomo business integration and assess our capital asset plans related to the current outstanding debt, we believe that the current 
cash on hand may not be sufficient to fund operations beyond twelve months from the date of issuance of these consolidated financial 
statements. Accordingly, we believe there continues to be substantial doubt about the Company continuing as a going concern. 

Since inception, we have consistently maintained a working capital deficit, in which our current liabilities exceed our current assets. 
This is due to the nature of our business model, in that we pay our Service Providers generally within two to three weeks of 
performance, but our collection cycle is longer for most of our Customer Partners. Our cash needs vary from period to period 
primarily based on our growth: in periods of fast growth our cash needs are accelerated as we invest into the operations and servicing 
of new Customer Partners. Our cash needs can also vary from period to period depending upon the gross margin performance we are 
able to attain. Our primary liquidity needs are to fund working capital requirements, invest into our growth through spending on 
technology and people, and fund our debt service obligations. We believe factors that could affect our liquidity include our rate of 
revenue growth, changes in demand for our services, competitive pricing pressures, the timing and extent of spending on research and 
development and other growth initiatives, our ability to achieve further reductions in operating expenses, and overall economic 
conditions. 

In 2024, we plan to extend terms on our existing debt or seek refinance our debt. In the event that additional financing is required from 
outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or 
generate cash flows necessary to expand our operations and invest in new technologies, our competitive position could weaken, and 
our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. The incurrence of additional debt financing would result in debt 
service obligations, and any future instruments governing such debt could provide for operating and financing covenants that could 
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restrict our operations. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even 
if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. To the extent that our current liquidity is insufficient to 
fund future activities, we may need to raise additional funds. In the future, we may attempt to raise additional capital through the sale 
of equity securities or through debt financing arrangements. 

For additional detail, see Note 9 “Debt Arrangements” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

Material Cash Requirements

Our material cash requirements arising from known contractual and other obligations primarily relate to our obligations under our 
term loans, convertible notes, contingent purchase consideration, and leases for our office locations. As of December 31, 2023, our 
principal contractual cash obligations consisted of the following:
 

   Next 12 Months     Beyond 12 Months     Total  
   (in thousands)  

Term loans - principal   $ —     $ 67,500     $ 67,500  
Term loans - interest     9,533       448       9,981  
Term loans - fees     —       17,338       17,338  
Convertible notes - principal     4,257       —       4,257  
Convertible notes - interest     1,225       —       1,225  
Contingent purchase consideration     2,600       —       2,600  
Operating lease obligations     950       2,374       3,324  

    $ 18,565     $ 87,660     $ 106,225  
 
(1) We repaid $17.5 million in term loans, and $6.1 million in related fees, with Structural Capital in January 2024.

Cash Flows 

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods presented: 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  
   (in thousands)  

Net cash provided by (used in):            
Operating activities   $ (65,145 )   $ (54,237 )
Investing activities     81,767       (208 )
Financing activities     14,405       30,646  

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 31,027     $ (23,799 )
 

Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $65.1 million primarily due to net income of $74.7 
million, excluding the impact of non-cash income totaling $123.5 million; an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.0 
million related primarily to prepaid directors and officers insurance costs and our Service Provider virtual credit card program; a 
decrease in accounts payable of $5.3 million and accrued expenses of $15.0 million resulting primarily from the payment of 
transaction expenses and service provider payments; a decrease in deferred revenue of $0.1 million; and a decrease in lease liabilities 
of $0.7 million. Sources of cash from operating activities resulted primarily from a decrease in accounts receivable of $0.6 million and 
an increase in long-term liabilities of $6.2 million resulting from the accretion of lender fees. 

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $54.2 million, primarily due to a net loss of $96.0 
million, excluding the impact of non-cash expenses totaling $36.4 million; an increase in accounts receivable of $0.9 million; an 
increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $0.1 million; and a decrease in lease liabilities of $0.8 million. Sources of cash from 
operating activities resulted primarily from increases in accounts payable of $3.1 million, accrued expenses of $3.8 million, and 
deferred revenue of $0.2 million. 
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Investing Activities 

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $81.8 million due to $44.7 million in cash and 
equivalents acquired from the Merger with Otonomo and proceeds of $37.2 million from the sale of marketable securities, offset by 
$0.1 million in purchases of equipment and software.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $0.2 million due to purchases of equipment and 
software.

During 2024, we expect to capitalize software costs associated with internal development and Customer Partner implementations 
between $4.0 million and $6.0 million.

Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $14.4 million due to $4.7 million in proceeds 
from the 2023 Convertible Notes and $10.0 million in proceeds on the Structural Loan Agreement, offset by $0.3 million in payments 
of deferred financing fees.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $30.6 million, which primarily consisted of $30.0 
million in proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes payable and a $0.6 million refund of financing costs paid in 2021. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Our principal commitments consist of contractual cash obligations under our credit facilities, long-term debt, and operating leases. Our 
obligations under our credit facilities and long-term debt are described in Note 9 “Debt Arrangements” and for further information on 
our leases, see Note 18 “Leases” of the consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Emerging Growth Company Status 

As an “emerging growth company,” the JOBS Act allows us to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements 
applicable to public companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. We have elected to use this 
extended transition period under the JOBS Act. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to the 
financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are 
applicable to public companies, which may make our Common Stock less attractive to investors. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as 
the reported revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. We base our estimates on assumptions, both 
historical and forward-looking, that are believed to be reasonable. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. 
These estimates are inherently subject to judgment and actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
 
We believe that the following critical accounting policies reflect the more significant judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For additional information, see Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies” of the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Fair Value Measurements

We measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the exit price that would be received 
from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair 
value is estimated by applying the following hierarchy:
 

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
   

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated 
by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
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Level 3 - Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimate of assumptions that market 

participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Level 3 financial liabilities consist of the derivative liability and the warrant liability for which there is no current market, such that the 
determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation. Changes in fair value measurements categorized within Level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy are analyzed each period based on changes in estimates or assumptions and recorded as appropriate. 

Our derivative liability at December 31, 2022 represents embedded share-settled redemption and contingent fee features bifurcated 
from the underlying convertible notes and term loans and is carried at fair value. The changes in the fair value of the derivative 
liability have been recorded as Change in fair value of derivative liability in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss). 

Estimating fair values of derivative financial instruments requires the development of significant and subjective estimates that may, 
and are likely to, change over the duration of the instrument with related changes in internal and external market factors. Since 
derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently carried at fair value, our income will reflect the volatility in these 
estimate and assumption changes. The fair value of the share-settled redemption derivative liability was estimated based on the present 
value of the redemption discounts applied to the principal amount of each of the respective convertible promissory notes, adjusted to 
reflect the weighted probability of exercise. 

We estimated the fair value of the warrant liability at December 31, 2022 using the projected future cash flows and discounting the 
future amounts to a present value using market-based expectations for interest rates and the contractual terms of the warrants. Changes 
in the fair value of the warrant liability have been recorded as Change in the fair value of the warrant liability in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

See Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for a description of new accounting standards.  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our 
financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of 
fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. 

Interest Rate Risk 

As of December 31, 2023, the principal balance of our debt totaled $71.8 million. Interest on our borrowings under one of the term 
loans accrues at a variable rate based on the prime rate and is therefore subject to interest rate risk. A hypothetical 10% relative change 
in interest rates would have increased interest expense in 2023 by approximately $2.4 million and projected 2024 interest expense by 
approximately $1.1 million. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, and the functional currency of our foreign subsidiary is also the U.S. dollar. Transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the 
transaction. Exchange differences arising upon settlement of a transaction are reported as gains or losses and are included in other 
income or expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

The volatility of exchange rates depends on many factors that we cannot forecast with reliable accuracy. We have experienced and will 
continue to experience fluctuations in foreign exchange gains and losses related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In the 
event our foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, revenue, or expenses increase, our results of operations may be more greatly 
affected by fluctuations in the exchange rates of the currencies in which we do business. We have not engaged in the hedging of 
foreign currency transactions to date, although we may choose to do so in the future. 

A hypothetical 10% change in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other currencies during any of the periods presented would not 
have had a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Our consolidated financial statements appear in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the 
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, and as a result of the material weakness in internal 
control over financial reporting described below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of 
December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level. In light of this fact, 
our management has performed additional analyses, reconciliations, and other post-closing procedures and has concluded that, 
notwithstanding the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, the consolidated financial statements for the 
periods covered by and included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly state, in all material respects, our financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with GAAP.

Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. 

In connection with the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, management 
identified one material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that has not been remediated as of December 31, 
2023. The material weakness is related to a lack of evidence of segregation of duties within the accounting and finance function.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial 
reporting or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm as permitted in this transition period under the 
rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Remediation Plan

We have made progress toward remediation of the control deficiencies described above. We are in the process of reorganizing our 
finance department, including the expansion of our accounting, control and compliance functions to develop and implement continued 
improvements and enhancements to address the overall deficiencies that led to the material weakness. 

Our management believes that these actions will enable us to address the material weakness that was identified in a timely manner and 
maintain a properly designed and effective system of internal control over financial reporting and provide appropriate segregation of 
duties. However, this material weakness cannot be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient 
period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Other than the material weakness remediation efforts underway, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the 
year ended December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting. 
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal control over financial reporting were designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. 
However, management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will 
prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact 
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent 
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of 
fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented 
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of 
any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no 
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Due to 
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information.

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, the following director, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act, adopted a 
“Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K, as follows:

On November 20, 2023, Mr. Benjamin Volkow, a member of our board of directors, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement 
providing for the sale from time to time of an aggregate of up to 568,629 shares of common stock. The trading arrangement is 
intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until November 19, 2025, or 
earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed. 

No other officers or directors, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 
10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K, during the three months ended December 31, 2023.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 in connection with our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)(1) Financial Statements
 
  Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (CohnReznick LLP, Auditor Firm ID: 596) F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) F-3
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 

   

Balance at 
beginning of 

period    
Charged to 

earnings    

Charged to 
other 

accounts     Deductions    
Balance at 

end of period  
    (in thousands)  
Allowance for expected credit losses:                              
Year ended December 31, 2023   $ 338     $ 194     $ —     $ 505     $ 27  
Year ended December 31, 2022     662       (269 )     —       55       338  
Year ended December 31, 2021     321       341       —       —       662  

 
(1) Includes a reduction in the allowance for expected credit losses due to the write-off of trade accounts receivable.
 

59

(1)



 

(3) Exhibits.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

2.1†   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 9, 2023, by and among Urgent.ly Inc., O.U Odyssey Merger Sub 
Ltd., and Otonomo Technologies Ltd (incorporated by reference from Annex A of the registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-4 (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023). 

3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Urgent.ly Inc., as currently in effect (incorporated by reference 
from Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-41841) filed with the SEC on October 24, 
2023).

3.2   Bylaws of Urgent.ly Inc., as amended, as currently in effect (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023).

3.3   Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Urgent.ly Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.5 to the registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

4.1*   Description of Securities of Urgent.ly, Inc.
4.2†   Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement by and among Urgent.ly Inc. and certain of its stockholders, dated 

October 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 
001-41841) filed with the SEC on October 24, 2023).

4.3   Form of 2018 Warrant Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain affiliates of Structural Capital, as amended 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41841) filed 
with the SEC on October 18, 2023).

4.4   Form of 2019 Warrant Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain affiliates of Structural Capital, as amended 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41841) filed 
with the SEC on October 18, 2023).

4.5   Form of 2019 Convertible Note Warrant between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain investors (incorporated by reference from 
Exhibit 4.6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 
22, 2023).

4.6   Form of Warrant Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain affiliates of Highbridge, as amended (incorporated by 
reference from Exhibit 4.5 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41841) filed with the SEC on 
October 18, 2023).

4.7   Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock between Urgent.ly Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated May 8, 2020 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.9 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-
271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

4.8   Form of 2021 Warrant Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain affiliates of Structural Capital, as amended 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41841) filed 
with the SEC on October 18, 2023).

4.9   Form of 2023 Warrant Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and certain affiliates of Structural Capital, as amended 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41841) filed 
with the SEC on October 18, 2023).

10.1†   CEOF Holdings LP, Ocean II PLO LLC as administrative and collateral agent, Urgent.ly Inc., and certain subsidiaries of 
Urgent.ly Inc. party thereto from time to time (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.2   Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2023, by and among Urgent.ly Inc., certain 
subsidiaries of Urgent.ly Inc., Alter Domus (US) LLC as administrative and collateral agent, and each of the lenders from 
time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.3†   Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May  18, 2023, by and among Urgent.ly Inc., certain 
subsidiaries of Urgent.ly Inc., Alter Domus (US) LLC as administrative and collateral agent, and each of the lenders from 
time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.4#   Urgent.ly Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.5#   Form of Indemnification Agreement between Urgent.ly Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated 
by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with 
the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.6#†   Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 9, 2023, between Urgent.ly Inc. and Matthew Booth (incorporated by 
reference from Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the 
SEC on June 22, 2023).
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10.7#†   Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 9, 2023, between Urgent.ly Inc. and Timothy 

Huffmyer (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 
333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.8#†   Separation Agreement, dated July 19, 2022, as amended, between Urgent.ly Inc. and Christopher Spanos (incorporated by 
reference from Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the 
SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.9†   Deed of Lease between Urgent.ly Inc. and P6/ Griffith 809 Westwood LLC (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 
to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023).

10.10#   Form of Stock Option Agreement under Urgent.ly Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from 
Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 
22, 2023).

10.11#   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under Urgent.ly Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference 
from Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on 
June 22, 2023).

10.12#   Urgent.ly Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agreements (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to 
the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.13#   Urgent.ly Inc. 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related form agreements (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 
10.13 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 
2023).

10.14#   Urgent.ly Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-271937) filed with the SEC on June 22, 2023).

10.15#   Urgent.ly Inc. Outside Director Compensation Policy (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-273463) filed with the SEC on October 13, 2023).

10.16*†   Third Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2024, among Urgent.ly, Inc., the 
other loan parties party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Ocean II PLO LLC, as administrative and collateral agent.

10.17*†   Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2024, among Urgent.ly, Inc., the other loan 
parties party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Alter Domus (US) LLC, as administrative and collateral agent.

21.1*   Subsidiaries of Urgent.ly Inc.
23.1*   Consent of CohnReznick LLP, independent registered public accounting firm for Urgent.ly Inc.
24.1*   Power of Attorney (included on the signature page hereto).
31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*^  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*^  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97.1*   Compensation Recovery Policy.
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags 

are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document with Embedded Linkbases Document
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

† Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The 
registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
* Filed herewith.
^ The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Urgent.ly Inc. under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly 
caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
   URGENT.LY INC.
    
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Matthew Booth
   Matthew Booth
   Chief Executive Officer
     (Principal Executive Officer)
       
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer
      Timothy C. Huffmyer
      Chief Financial Officer
      (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned, whose signature appears below, hereby constitutes and appoints each of Matthew Booth and Timothy C. 
Huffmyer, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him or her and 
in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any or all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and 
to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing necessary or 
appropriate to be done with respect to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any amendments hereto in the premises, as fully to all 
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents, or any of them, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/ Matthew Booth  Chief Executive Officer and Director   March 29, 2024
Matthew Booth  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     

/s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer  Chief Financial Officer   March 29, 2024
Timothy C. Huffmyer  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   

     

/s/ Gina Domanig  Director   March 29, 2024
Gina Domanig     

     

/s/ Suzie Doran  Director   March 29, 2024
Suzie Doran     

     

/s/ Andrew Geisse  Director   March 29, 2024
Andrew Geisse     

     

/s/ James M. Micali  Director   March 29, 2024
James M. Micali     

     

/s/ Ryan Pollock  Director   March 29, 2024
Ryan Pollock     

     

/s/ Benjamin Volkow  Director   March 29, 2024
Benjamin Volkow     
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Urgent.ly Inc.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Urgent.ly Inc. as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ 
equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and Schedule 
II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Urgent.ly Inc. as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations 
since inception, has a net capital deficiency and is dependent on debt and equity financing to fund operating shortfalls in the absence 
of another source of financing.  These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any 
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial 
reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015. 

/s/ CohnReznick LLP

Tysons, Virginia
March 29, 2024
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and par value data)

 
    December 31, 2023     December 31, 2022  

Assets            
Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 37,699     $ 6,357  
Restricted cash     557       1,050  
Short-term deposits     10,539       —  
Marketable securities     20,816       —  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected losses of $27 and $338 in 2023 and 
2022, respectively     33,905       33,966  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     4,349       2,102  

Total current assets     107,865       43,475  
Right-of-use assets     2,437       2,485  
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,825 and $1,843 in 2023 
and 2022, respectively     871       414  
Intangible assets, net     9,283       31  
Other non-current assets     738       538  

Total assets   $ 121,194     $ 46,943  
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity 
(Deficit)            
Current liabilities:            
Accounts payable   $ 4,478     $ 7,536  
Accrued expenses     21,367       13,122  
Accrued interest     907       6,689  
Deferred revenue, current     456       349  
Current lease liabilities     710       740  
Current portion of long-term debt, net     3,193       —  

Total current liabilities     31,111       28,436  
Long-term lease liabilities     2,045       2,120  
Long-term debt, net     66,076       99,443  
Derivative liability     —       32,765  
Warrant liability     —       13,957  
Other long-term liabilities     12,358       5,059  

Total liabilities     111,590       181,780  
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, Series C, par value $0.001; 160,000 shares 
authorized, 157,395 issued and outstanding in 2022     —       46,334  
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):            
Common stock, par value $0.001; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 13,311,927 and 
154,786 issued and outstanding in 2023 and 2022, respectively     13       —  
Additional paid-in capital     164,920       48,327  
Accumulated deficit     (154,769 )     (229,498 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (560 )     —  

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)     9,604       (181,171 )
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity 
(deficit)   $ 121,194     $ 46,943  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 
    Year Ended December 31,  
    2023     2022     2021  

Revenue   $ 184,653     $ 187,589     $ 148,508  
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)     146,772       167,442       140,095  
Gross profit     37,881       20,147       8,413  

Operating expenses:                  
Research and development     16,907       16,733       12,252  
Sales and marketing     5,065       5,647       4,122  
Operations and support     24,355       36,893       28,680  
General and administrative     36,668       14,129       12,875  
Depreciation and amortization     990       297       242  

Total operating expenses     83,985       73,699       58,171  
Operating loss     (46,104 )     (53,552 )     (49,758 )

Other income (expense), net:                  
Interest expense     (46,800 )     (31,454 )     (3,712 )
Interest income     509       7       5  
Change in fair value of derivative liability     32,562       (4,077 )     —  
Change in fair value of warrant liability     10,731       (5,809 )     (2,232 )
Change in fair value of contingent purchase consideration     1,615       —       —  
Warrant expense     (1,047 )     (1,009 )     (705 )
Gain on debt extinguishment     46,947       —       —  
Bargain purchase gain     73,410       —       —  
Foreign exchange gain (loss)     766       (88 )     63  

Total other income (expense), net     118,693       (42,430 )     (6,581 )
Income (loss) before income taxes     72,589       (95,982 )     (56,339 )
Provision for income taxes     (2,140 )     —       —  

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders   $ 74,729     $ (95,982 )   $ (56,339 )
Other comprehensive income (loss):                  
Foreign currency translations adjustments     (630 )     —       —  
Unrealized gains on marketable securities     70       —       —  

Other comprehensive loss     (560 )     —       —  

Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 74,169     $ (95,982 )   $ (56,339 )
                  
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:                  

Basic   $ 26.98     $ (949.36 )   $ (1,061.64 )

Diluted   $ 25.36     $ (949.36 )   $ (1,061.64 )
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share data)

 
  Redeemable Convertible   Redeemable Convertible   Redeemable Convertible   Redeemable Convertible   Redeemable Convertible  

  Preferred Stock Series B-1   Preferred Stock Series B   Preferred Stock Series A  
Preferred Stock Series 

Seed   Preferred Stock Series C  
 Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount  

Balance, December 31, 2020   55,532   $ 16,917     30,896   $ 10,900     60,693   $ 10,218     12,260   $ 996     42,436   $ 19,924  
Issuance of preferred stock   7,199     1,802     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Issuance of common stock   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption value   —     326     —     25     —     —     —     —     —     16  
Issuance of warrants on common stock   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Balance, December 31, 2021   62,731   $ 19,045     30,896   $ 10,925     60,693   $ 10,218     12,260   $ 996     42,436   $ 19,940  
Exercise of stock-based awards   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption value   —     143     —     12     —     —     —     —     —     8  
Conversion of preferred stock in connection with 
equity recapitalization   (62,731 )   (19,188 )   (30,896 )   (10,937 )   (60,693 )   (10,218 )   (12,260 )   (996 )   114,959     26,386  
Issuance of common stock warrants for services   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Balance, December 31, 2022   —   $ —     —   $ —     —   $ —     —   $ —     157,395   $ 46,334  
Exercise and vesting of stock-based awards, net 
of shares withheld for taxes   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Common shares issued in connection with the 
Otonomo merger   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Conversion of convertible notes and warrants to 
common shares in connection with the Otonomo 
merger   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     (157,395 )   (46,334 )
Issuance of common stock for services   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  

Balance, December 31, 2023   —   $ —     —   $ —     —   $ —     —   $ —     —   $ —  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) (continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

 

  Redeemable Convertible       Additional      
Accumulated 

Other   Total  
  Preferred Stock Series C-1   Common Stock   Paid-In   Accumulated   Comprehensive   Stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Equity (Deficit)  

Balance, December 31, 2020   49,732   $ 18,732     52,458   $ —   $ 78   $ (71,393 ) $ —   $ (71,315 )
Issuance of preferred stock   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —  
Issuance of common stock   —     —     782     —     68     —     —     68  
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption value   —     —     —     —     (367 )   —     —     (367 )
Issuance of warrants on common stock   —     —     —     —     6,684     —     —     6,684  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     698     —     —     698  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     (56,339 )   —     (56,339 )
Balance, December 31, 2021   49,732   $ 18,732     53,240   $ —   $ 7,161   $ (127,732 ) $ —   $ (120,571 )
Exercise of stock-based awards   —     —     195     —     17     —     —     17  
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption value   —     —     —     —     (163 )   —     —     (163 )
Conversion of preferred stock in connection with 
equity recapitalization   (49,732 )   (18,732 )   101,351     —     40,726     (5,784 )   —     34,942  
Issuance of common stock warrants for services   —     —     —     —     92     —     —     92  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     494     —     —     494  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     (95,982 )   —     (95,982 )
Balance, December 31, 2022   —   $ —     154,786   $ —   $ 48,327   $ (229,498 ) $ —   $ (181,171 )
Exercise and vesting of stock-based awards, net 
of shares withheld for taxes   —     —     178,067     —     (392 )   —     —     (392 )
Common shares issued in connection with the 
Otonomo merger   —     —     5,435,568     5     31,027     —     —     31,032  
Conversion of convertible notes and warrants to 
common shares in connection with the Otonomo 
merger   —     —     7,487,841     8     82,542     —     —     82,550  
Issuance of common stock for services   —     —     55,665     —     943     —     —     943  
Stock-based compensation expense   —     —     —     —     2,473     —     —     2,473  
Comprehensive income (loss)   —     —     —     —     —     74,729     (560 )   74,169  

Balance, December 31, 2023   —   $ —     13,311,927   $ 13   $ 164,920   $ (154,769 ) $ (560 ) $ 9,604  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

 
    Year Ended December 31,  
    2023     2022     2021  
Cash flows from operating activities:                  
Net income (loss)   $ 74,729     $ (95,982 )   $ (56,339 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating 
activities:                  

Depreciation and amortization     990       297       242  
Amortization of right-of-use assets     670       675       —  
Amortization of contract costs to obtain     91       697       443  
Amortization of contract costs to fulfill     46       116       187  
Amortization of deferred financing fees     1,193       1,388       755  
Stock-based compensation     2,473       494       698  
Deferred income taxes     (2,293 )     —       —  
Bad debt expense (recoveries)     194       (269 )     341  
Foreign currency loss     197       —       —  
Investments interest receivable, amortization and accretion     (493 )     —       —  
Gain on debt extinguishment     (46,947 )     —       —  
Bargain purchase gain     (73,410 )     —       —  
Loss on disposal of property, equipment and software     61       —       —  
Change in fair value of derivative, warrant, and contingent consideration 
liabilities     (44,908 )     9,886       2,232  
Warrant expense     1,047       1,009       705  
Noncash interest expense     36,667       22,002       329  
Issuance of common stock or warrants for services     943       92       —  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                  

Accounts receivable     576       (944 )     (8,488 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (1,974 )     3       (1,348 )
Other assets     (26 )     (135 )     (705 )
Accounts payable     (5,259 )     3,146       1,649  
Accrued expenses     (15,034 )     3,812       2,225  
Deferred revenue     (127 )     222       113  
Lease liabilities     (727 )     (756 )     —  
Long-term liabilities     6,176       10       (253 )
Net cash used in operating activities     (65,145 )     (54,237 )     (57,214 )

Cash flows from investing activities:                  
Purchases of property, equipment and software     (149 )     (208 )     (340 )
Acquisition of intangible asset     —       —       (16 )
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities     37,199       —       —  
Cash acquired from the Otonomo merger     44,717       —       —  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     81,767       (208 )     (356 )
Cash flows from financing activities:                  
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount     10,000       —       56,700  
Proceeds from revolving line of credit     —       —       41,075  
Repayment of revolving line of credit and term loan     —       —       (55,325 )
Refunds (payments) of deferred financing fees     (291 )     629       (4,424 )
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable     4,696       30,000       39,957  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants     —       17       69  

Net cash provided by financing activities     14,405       30,646       78,052  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted 
cash     (178 )     —       —  

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     30,849       (23,799 )     20,482  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year     7,407       31,206       10,724  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year   $ 38,256     $ 7,407     $ 31,206  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(in thousands)

 
   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                  
Cash paid for interest   $ 10,055     $ 6,863     $ 985  

Cash paid for income taxes   $ 191     $ —     $ —  
                  
Supplemental noncash investing and financing activities:                  
Common stock consideration for Otonomo merger   $ 31,032     $ —     $ —  

Net assets acquired from the Otonomo merger, excluding cash   $ 63,449     $ —     $ —  

Conversion of convertibles notes to common stock   $ 31,943     $ —     $ —  

Conversion of warrants to common stock   $ 4,273     $ —     $ —  

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations   $ —     $ 3,160     $ —  

Derivative liability resulting from term loan amendment   $ 773     $ —     $ —  

Derivative liability resulting from issuance of convertible notes   $ 55     $ 28,688     $ —  

Warrants issued in connection with issuance of long-term debt   $ —     $ 7,041     $ 7,004  

Issuance of common stock for services   $ 943     $ —     $ —  

Issuance of common stock warrants for services   $ —     $ 92     $ —  

Exercise of warrants into Series B-1 preferred stock   $ —     $ —     $ 1,801  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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URGENT.LY INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Organization and Description of Business

Urgent.ly Inc. (collectively along with other wholly-owned subsidiaries, “Urgent.ly” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the State 
of Delaware in May 2013. Urgent.ly is a leading connected mobility assistance software platform that matches vehicle owners and 
operators with service professionals who deliver traditional roadside assistance, proactive maintenance and repair services.

Urgent.ly is headquartered in Vienna, Virginia. On September 1, 2017, Roadside Innovation Inc. was incorporated in the State of 
Delaware as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Urgent.ly for the purpose of obtaining and holding motor club licenses in support of certain 
services provided by Urgent.ly. On July 23, 2020, Roadside Innovation (Arkansas) Inc. was incorporated in the State of Arkansas as a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Urgent.ly for the purpose of obtaining and holding motor club licenses in support of certain services 
provided by Urgent.ly. On September 3, 2020, Urgently Canada Technologies ULC was incorporated in British Columbia, Canada as a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Urgent.ly for the purpose of providing roadside assistance services in Canada.  

On July 28, 2023, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to effect a 1-for-90 reverse stock split (the “Reverse Stock 
Split”) of its common stock (“Common Stock”) and Series C preferred stock. The Company has adjusted all periods presented for the 
effects of the stock split. 

On October 19, 2023, the Company completed its acquisition of Otonomo Technologies Ltd. (“Otonomo”) in accordance with the 
terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 9, 2023 (the “Merger Agreement”) (see Note 3). Otonomo provides 
an automotive data service platform enabling car manufacturers, drivers, insurance carriers and service providers to be part of a 
connected ecosystem as well as mobility intelligence which transforms vast amounts of anonymized data and activity signals into 
actionable, impactful, and valuable insights. As part of the Merger on October 19, 2023, Otonomo’s shares ceased to be publicly 
traded and the Company completed a direct listing of the combined company’s Common Stock (Urgent.ly Inc.) on the Nasdaq  
(together with Merger, referred to as the “Combined Transaction”). 

As part of the Combined Transaction, all pre-existing Common Stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock of the Company was 
converted under their contractual terms on a one-to-one basis to Common Stock of the surviving entity (Urgent.ly Inc.). Substantially 
all of the warrants for Common Stock that had previously been issued to various nonemployees of the Company and classified within 
equity were automatically settled in Common Stock pursuant to their contractual terms (see Note 11). Liability classified warrants that 
had been issued to Structural Capital and Highbridge Capital in conjunction with debt arrangements were also automatically settled in 
Common Stock (see Notes 9 and 11). 

Additionally, as part of the Combined Transaction, pursuant to their contractual terms, all principal and accrued interest underlying the 
2021 Convertible Notes and 2023 Convertible Notes were automatically settled in Common Stock, while principal and accrued 
interest of $30,400 underlying the 2022 Convertible Notes were automatically settled in Common Stock. Certain of the 2022 
Convertible Notes remain outstanding subsequent to the Combined Transaction (see Note 9).

Recapitalization

In July 2022, the Company initiated a recapitalization in which all outstanding series of existing convertible preferred stock were 
converted into shares of Common Stock (the “Recapitalization”). Each share class of the existing convertible preferred stock was 
converted into one share of Common Stock. The Company also had certain warrants outstanding for convertible preferred stock which 
also converted into warrants for Common Stock on a one-to-one basis. 

In connection therewith, the Company offered convertible promissory notes to stockholders that held convertible preferred stock at the 
time of the Recapitalization. Those stockholders that purchased convertible notes in 2022 had a portion of their newly converted 
Common Stock exchanged for shares of Series C convertible preferred stock using a formula stipulated in the arrangement. As the 
exchange transaction and the convertible note were entered into at the same time, the Company accounted for both as part of the 
Recapitalization. The Recapitalization, which included the conversion of the existing preferred stock into Common Stock, and 
issuance of Series C convertible preferred stock resulted in the de-recognition of the carrying value of the legacy preferred stock to 
zero, and the difference in value of $32,773 was recorded in Additional paid-in capital. The carrying amount of the convertible notes 
was fully discounted due to the bifurcation of certain embedded features. The carrying amount of the convertible notes were fully 
discounted due to incentives provided under the Recapitalization.
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Liquidity Risk and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue to operate as a going 
concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

The Company has a history of recurring operating losses and has required debt and equity financing to finance its operations. The 
Company reported an accumulated deficit of $154,769 as of December 31, 2023 and an operating loss of $46,104 for the year ended 
December 31, 2023.

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding for the Company’s business activities may not be available. The Company has 
a planning and budgeting process to monitor operating cash requirements including amounts projected for capital expenditures which 
are adjusted as input variables change. These variables include, but are not limited to, operating cash flows and the availability of 
other sources of debt and capital. As these variables change, the Company may be required to seek funding through additional equity 
issuances and/or additional debt financings.

As further described in Note 3, the Company completed its acquisition of Otonomo on October 19, 2023. The transaction consisted of 
the acquisition of the Otonomo business, employees, revenue contracts, technology and net assets, including approximately $100,000 
of cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, net of estimated transaction costs. Additionally, approximately $70,400 of 
Company debt was converted to Common Stock in connection with the Merger, leaving approximately $71,800 in principal debt 
outstanding at December 31, 2023. Our liquid assets at December 31, 2023 consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits 
and marketable securities totaling $69,611 and are expected to fund strategic growth initiatives and daily operations for the combined 
Company and pay down debt as required. Although this cash is available to the Company, as the Company continues to define the 
final details related to the Otonomo business integration and assess its capital asset plans related to the current outstanding debt, the 
Company believes that the current cash on hand may not be sufficient to fund operations beyond twelve months from the date of 
issuance of these consolidated financial statements. This has led management to conclude that substantial doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern exists. 

In the event the Company is unable to successfully raise additional equity or debt or refinance its existing debt during the next twelve 
months from the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements, the Company will not have sufficient cash flows and 
liquidity to finance its business operations as currently contemplated. The consolidated financial statements do not include any 
adjustments of the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. Such adjustments could be material.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Urgent.ly Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries 
Roadside Innovation Inc., Roadside Innovation (Arkansas) Inc., Urgently Canada Technologies ULC, and Otonomo and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which, due to their short-term nature, approximates fair value. All highly-liquid 
investments with an original or remaining maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase are considered to be cash 
equivalents.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents amounts held as collateral required under the Company’s credit card program.  

Short-term Deposits

Short-term deposits consist of bank deposits with an original maturity of greater than three months at the date of purchase. Short-term 
bank deposits are presented at their cost, including accrued interest.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of commercial paper, corporate bonds, and U.S. government agency securities. The Company considers 
all of its marketable securities as available for use in current operations, including those with maturity dates beyond one year, and 
therefore classifies these securities within current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Securities are classified as available for 
sale and are carried at fair value, with the change in unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component on the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses on sales of 
marketable securities are included in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss). The amortized cost of marketable securities is adjusted for amortization of premium and accretion of discount to 
maturity, both of which, together with interest, are included in Other income (expense), net.

For any available-for-sale debt securities, if the Company does not intend to sell and it is not more likely than not that they will be 
required to sell the available-for-sale debt security prior to recovery of its amortized cost basis, the Company will determine whether a 
decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis is due to credit-related factors. The credit loss is measured as the amount by which 
the debt security’s amortized cost basis exceeds the estimate of the present value of cash flows expected to be collected, up to the 
difference between the amortized cost basis and the fair value. Impairment will be assessed at the individual security level. Credit-
related impairment is recognized as an allowance on the consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding adjustment to Other income 
(expense), net on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable result from service performed for which payment has yet to be received and include amounts invoiced and 
accrued amounts to be invoiced. Accounts receivable are charged to bad debt expense when they are determined to be uncollectible 
based upon a periodic review of the accounts by management. The Company records an allowance for expected losses based on 
historical experience and management’s expectation for future expected losses. The Company may consider an account past due when 
payment has not been received under the terms of the contract. The Company bases its estimates on historical experiences and on 
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the allowance for expected losses is $27 and $338, respectively. The balance of accounts receivable at January 1, 2022 
amounted to $32,753, net of an allowance for expected losses of $662.

Property, Equipment and Software

Property, equipment and software are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated asset lives, between 15 and 60 months. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or term of the respective lease on a straight-line basis.

Maintenance, repairs, and minor replacements are charged to expense as incurred. Major renovations and replacements are capitalized 
to appropriate property and equipment accounts. Upon sale or retirement of property, the cost and accumulated depreciation are 
eliminated from the accounts and the related gain or loss is recognized in results of operations.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that carrying amounts of its long-lived 
assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances occur, the Company assesses the recoverability of long-
lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through their undiscounted expected future 
cash flows. If the future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of these assets, the Company recognizes an 
impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. No impairment charges on long-lived 
assets were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Software Development Costs

The Company incurs software development costs to enhance, improve, expand and/or upgrade certain proprietary software in an agile 
software environment with releases broken down into several iterations called sprints. Such software development costs and any new 
product development costs are considered research and development costs and are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets consist primarily of technology acquired through the Otonomo merger and two domain names. Acquired 
Otonomo technology is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 2 to 4 years. The 
domain names are deemed to have an indefinite life and are measured for impairment annually. The Company reviews the carrying 
value of long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when an asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value as calculated using a discounted 
future cash flow analysis. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, no impairment loss was recognized in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Deferred Financing Fees

Fees paid in connection with the Company’s debt arrangements are amortized using the effective interest method over the life of the 
related debt. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred and capitalized financing fees of $291 and 
$11, respectively, in connection with the issuance of convertible promissory notes and term loans (see Note 9). Amortization of 
deferred financing fees related to the convertible promissory notes and term loans totaled $1,194, $1,388 and $755 during the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Modification of Debt Instruments

Modifications or exchanges of debt, which are not considered a troubled debt restructuring, are considered extinguishments if the 
terms of the new debt and the original instrument are substantially different. The instruments are considered substantially different 
when the present value of the cash flows under the terms of the new debt instrument are at least 10% different from the present value 
of the remaining cash flows under the terms of the original instrument. If the original and new debt instruments are substantially 
different, the original debt is derecognized and the new debt is initially recorded at fair value, with the difference recognized as an 
extinguishment gain or loss. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company amended its term loans (see Note 9). 

Income Taxes

In accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC Topic 740”), income taxes are reported utilizing the asset and liability 
method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the 
tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each period-end, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax 
rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. ASC Topic 740 requires that deferred tax 
assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

ASC Topic 740 provides a comprehensive model for the recognition, measurement, and disclosure in financial statements of uncertain 
income tax positions that a company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. A company can recognize the benefit of an income 
tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based 
solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit can be recognized. Additionally, companies are required to 
accrue interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with 
jurisdictional tax laws.

The Company determined that its income tax positions did meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold and, therefore, 
required no reserve. In the event uncertain positions are employed in the future, additional interest and penalty charges associated with 
tax positions would be classified as income tax expense.

The Company's primary tax jurisdiction is in the United States. Generally, federal, state and local authorities may examine the 
Company's tax returns for three years from the date of filing.
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Accounting for Derivative Instruments

The Company recognizes all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities and measures them at fair value. The accounting for 
changes in fair value depends upon the purpose of the derivative instrument and whether it is designated and qualifies for hedge 
accounting. To the extent derivative instruments qualify and are designated as hedges of the variability in cash flows associated with 
forecasted transactions, the effective portion of the gain or loss on such derivative instruments will generally be reported in other 
comprehensive income (loss) and the ineffective portion, if any, will be reported in net income (loss). Such amounts recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will be reclassified into net income (loss) when the forecasted transaction affects 
earnings. To the extent derivative instruments qualify and are designated as hedges of changes in the fair value of an existing asset, 
liability or firm commitment, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument will be recognized currently in earnings along with changes in 
the fair value of the hedged asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk. See Note 11.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenues from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606) as well as other clarifications and technical guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) related to this revenue standard (“ASC 606”) and ASC Subtopic 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs Contracts with 
Customers (“ASC 340-40”).

The core principle of ASC 606 is that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 
Company determines revenue recognition through the following five step model:

• Identification of the contract, or contracts with a Customer Partner

• Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

• Determination of the transaction price

• Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied

The Company recognizes revenue when there is evidence of a contract, probable collection of the consideration to which the Company 
expects to be entitled to receive, and completion of the performance obligations. 

The Company generates substantially all its revenues from roadside assistance services (“RAS”) initiated through its software 
platform primarily in the United States and Canada. The Company’s platform enables its customers (Partners, Customer Partners) to 
outsource delivery for all or portions of their roadside assistance programs. The Company manages the RAS process after receiving 
the initial distress call or web-based request through final disposition. 

The Company also offers RAS directly to motorists via pay per use or direct membership offerings. In addition, revenue is earned 
from platform license fees, whether delivered via cloud or traditional license delivery, professional services, and memberships.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, consists primarily of fees paid to Service Providers. Other costs included 
in cost of revenue are specifically the technology hosting and platform-related costs, certain personnel costs related to direct call 
center support to Consumers as part of platform authentication, and amortization of costs to fulfill. 

Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, for 
engineering, product development, product management and design employees, expenses associated with ongoing improvements to, 
and maintenance of, the Company’s platform offerings and other technology. Research and development expense also includes 
software expenses and technology consulting fees. Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, in support of new 
business capture, Partner management and marketing such as commissions, salaries, and related benefits. Sales and marketing expense 
also includes expenses associated with advertising, promotions of the Company’s services, Partner advocacy management and brand-
building. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $181, $420 and $359 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 
and 2021, respectively.

Operations and Support

Operations and support expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation, in support of 
customer support operations such as salaries, related benefits, contractors used to manage customer support workload and related 
technology costs to support such operations. Operations and support expenses also include expenses associated with Service Provider 
network management.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of compensation expenses, including equity-based compensation and related 
benefits for the Company’s executive, finance, human resources, information technology, legal and other personnel performing 
administrative functions. General and administrative expense also includes corporate office rent expense, third-party professional fees, 
public company readiness expenses and any other cost or expense incurred not deemed to be related to cost of revenue, sales and 
marketing expense, research and development expense, or operations and support expense.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from Customer Partners or Motorists in advance of fulfillment of the promised 
performance obligations related to professional services, membership and bundled license arrangements.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes the compensation cost associated with its equity awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The 
fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company recognizes stock-based 
compensation on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the award.

The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, 
Compensation - Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). Under ASC 718, compensation cost is determined on the date of the grant and then 
amortized over the vesting period. The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model using the following assumptions: Common Stock value on the grant date, risk-free interest rate, expected term, 
expected volatility and dividend yield.

Due to a lack of company-specific historical and implied volatility data, the Company has based its estimate of expected volatility on 
the historical volatility of a group of similar companies that are publicly traded. The historical volatility is calculated based on a period 
of time commensurate with the expected term assumption. The computation of expected volatility is based on the historical volatility 
of a representative group of companies with similar characteristics to the Company, including stage of product development and 
technology industry focus. The Company uses the simplified method as allowed by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 
107, Share-Based Payment, to calculate the expected term for options granted to employees as it does not have sufficient historical 
exercise data of its own to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. The risk-free interest rate is based on 
a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected term of the stock options. The expected dividend yield is assumed to 
be zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no current plans to pay any dividends on its common stock.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The 
Company places its cash and cash equivalents in an accredited financial institution and the balances are above federally insured limits. 
Management monitors the creditworthiness of its customers and believes that it has adequately provided for any exposure to potential 
credit losses.

F-13



 

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 64%, 69% and 62%, respectively, of revenue was earned from three, four 
and four customers, respectively. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, 56% and 34% of accounts receivable was due from three and two 
customers, respectively. 

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments and Transaction Gains (Losses)

The reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar, and the functional currency of the Company’s Canadian 
subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies other than a subsidiary’s functional currency are recorded 
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange differences arising upon settlement of a transaction are 
reported as gains or losses and are included in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss). 

The functional currency of the Company’s United Kingdom subsidiary is the British Pound. Accordingly, the translation to U.S. 
dollars is based on the balance sheet date exchange rates for assets and liabilities, historical rates of exchange for equity, and average 
exchange rates in the period for revenues and expenses. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments are included in 
stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.

Segment Reporting

The Company has determined that its Chief Executive Officer is its chief operating decision maker. The Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of assessing performance and making decisions 
on how to allocate resources. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it operates in a single reportable segment: Mobility 
Assistance Services. The Mobility Assistance Services segment includes all products, services and software used to generate revenue 
under the Company’s commercial agreements. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses 
on Financial Instruments. This updated guidance sets forth a current expected credit loss model based on expected losses. Under this 
model, an entity recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses based on historical experience, current conditions and forecasted 
information rather than the current methodology of delaying recognition of credit losses until it is probable a loss has been incurred. 
The Company adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2023, and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures. The ASU expands public entities’ segment disclosures by requiring disclosure of significant segment expenses that are 
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, an 
amount and description of its composition for other segment items, and interim disclosures of a reportable segment’s profit or loss and 
assets. All disclosure requirements under ASU 2023-07 are also required for public entities with a single reportable segment. The ASU 
is effective for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and subsequent interim periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company 
is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which 
provides for improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. 
This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and the adoption of this standard is not anticipated to 
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements other than adding new disclosures, which the Company 
is currently evaluating.

The Company has evaluated all other issued and unadopted accounting standards updates and believes the adoption of these standards 
will not have a material impact on its consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), or cash 
flows.

3. Business Combinations

On October 19, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Otonomo in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, by 
and among the Company, Otonomo, and U.O Odyssey Merger Sub Ltd., a company organized under the laws of the State of Israel and 

F-14



 

a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which and subject to the terms and conditions thereof, 
Merger Sub merged with and into Otonomo, with Otonomo surviving as a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company that will 
continue to be governed by Israeli law (the “Merger”).  

At the time at which the Merger became effective pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement (the “Effective Time”), upon the 
terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, the Company issued an aggregate of 5,435,568 shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock to former Otonomo shareholders, based on an exchange ratio of 0.51756 shares of Common Stock for 
each Otonomo ordinary share (excluding shares owned by Otonomo subsidiaries and shares to be canceled pursuant to the Merger 
Agreement) (the “Exchange Ratio”). 

The Merger added valuable assets and connected vehicle technology platforms to benefit the Company with its existing business and 
future growth.

Management, with the assistance of a third-party valuation firm, estimated the fair value of the assets and liabilities of Otonomo as of 
the date of the acquisition, which was accounted for as a business combination. The following table summarizes the purchase 
consideration and preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of October 19, 2023 for the Otonomo 
acquisition. The following purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to adjustments within the acquisition measurement 
period, which may be material:
 

Assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 44,717  
Short-term deposits     10,415  
Marketable securities     57,577  
Accounts receivable     694  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     883  
Right-of-use assets     622  
Property and equipment, net     662  
Intangible assets     9,940  
Other non-current assets     306  
Total assets acquired     125,816  
      

Liabilities:      
Accounts payable     5,618  
Accrued expenses and other payables     8,800  
Deferred revenue     225  
Lease liabilities     622  
Deferred tax liability     2,385  
Total liabilities assumed     17,650  
      

Bargain purchase gain     (73,410 )

Total purchase consideration   $ 34,756  
      
Components of purchase price:      
Common stock   $ 31,032  
Contingent consideration     3,724  

Total purchase consideration   $ 34,756  
 

The identifiable intangible assets consist of acquired technology with an average estimated useful life of three years. Since the Merger 
was a stock transaction, none of the assets are written up to fair market value for tax purposes; therefore, amortization of the intangible 
assets recorded through purchase accounting will not be deductible for tax purposes.

Contingent consideration consists of cash and an estimated amount of Company stock to be issued to certain shareholders of 
Otonomo.

The excess of the aggregate net fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the fair value of consideration transferred 
(purchase price) has been recorded as a bargain purchase gain. When it became apparent there was a potential for a bargain purchase 
gain, management reviewed the Otonomo assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as the assumptions utilized in estimating 
their fair values. Upon completion of this reassessment, the Company concluded that the Merger was not orderly as defined in ASC 
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820 and it was appropriate to recognize a bargain purchase gain since the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeded the fair value of the consideration transferred. The bargain purchase gain is presented within Other income 
(expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Otonomo contributed revenues of $1,370 and net income of $298 to the Company for the period from October 19, 2023 to December 
31, 2023. Unaudited pro forma results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are included below as if the 
acquisition of Otonomo occurred on January 1, 2022. This summary of the unaudited pro forma results of operations is not necessarily 
indicative of what the Company’s results of operations would have been had Otonomo been acquired at the beginning of 2022, nor 
does it purport to represent results of operations for any future periods. 
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  

Revenues   $ 189,993     $ 194,581  
Net loss     (83,709 )     (158,070 )

In 2023, the Company incurred $21,338 in acquisition-related costs. These expenses are included in General and administrative 
expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023 and are 
reflected in pro forma net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 in the table above.

4. Revenue

The Company generates substantially all its revenues from roadside assistance services (“RAS”) initiated through its software 
platform primarily in the United States and Canada. The Company’s platform enables its customers (“Customer Partners”) to 
outsource delivery for all or portions of their roadside assistance programs. The Company manages the RAS process after receiving 
the initial distress call or web-based request through final disposition. Urgent.ly contracts with original equipment manufacturers 
(“OEM”), insurance companies, fleet management companies (including car rental companies) and aftermarket companies, which 
collectively represent the Company’s Customer Partners. These Customer Partners, who are our direct customers, in turn, offer 
roadside assistance plans to their customers (the “Consumers”). 

The Company recognizes revenue when there is evidence of a contract, probable collection of the consideration to which the Company 
expects to be entitled to receive, and completion of the performance obligations. 

The Company recognizes revenue on a gross basis (as the principal) or net basis (as the agent) depending on the nature of the 
Company’s role with respect to the Customer Partner to deliver roadside assistance services.

Full-service Outsourcing - Flat Rate 

In connection with these service arrangements, the Company negotiates fixed rates with subcontract service providers and charges its 
Customer Partners fixed rates based on each service provided (per tow, per jump start, etc.) to their motorist. Both the Company and 
subcontract service providers are involved in the transfer of services to the motorist. The Company considers the nature of each 
specific promised service and applies judgment to determine whether the Company controls the service before it is transferred to the 
motorist or whether the Company is acting as an agent for the Customer Partner. To determine whether the Company controls the 
service before it is transferred to the motorist, the Company assesses indicators including which party is primarily responsible for 
fulfillment and has discretion in determining pricing for the service, as well as other considerations. The Company has concluded that 
in connection with the Company’s flat rate service arrangements, the Company’s promise to its Customer Partners to provide the 
services is not distinct from the services provided by the subcontract service providers. The Company has the ability to direct the use 
of and obtain substantially all of the benefits and risks of the services provided by the subcontract service providers before those 
services are transferred to the Customer Partner. On that basis, the Company controls the services prior to the transfer to the Customer 
Partner. Further, the nature of the Company’s promise to provide the Company’s Customer Partners with roadside assistance services 
encompasses various tasks that may differ on any given day; however, these represent activities to fulfill the overall RAS process and 
not separate promises in the contract. In that regard, each increment of the promised service (i.e., each dispatch service, emergency 
assistance service) is distinct and part of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of 
transfer to the customer, which the Company accounts for as a single performance obligation. As a result, the Company records 
revenues from flat rate service arrangements on a gross revenue basis and the costs are recorded as part of the cost of service. The 
Company has applied the right to invoice practical expedient in recognizing these revenues. The Company recognizes these revenues 
over time, and substantially all of the Company’s revenue is generated through this type of arrangement.
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Full-service Outsourcing - Claim Cost Pass-through

Under the claim cost pass-through arrangement, the Company’s performance obligation is solely to arrange the dispatch of the 
roadside assistance services. The Company does not control all roadside assistance services. The Customer Partner controls all other 
RAS services prior to the transfer to the motorist, the ultimate consumer. The Company acts as an agent in this transaction and, as a 
result, the Company records only its flat dispatch fee as revenue from its claim cost pass-through arrangements, net of the costs 
incurred from the subcontract service providers. The Company recognizes these revenues over time.

Membership

The Company also derives revenues from membership offerings for roadside assistance services, for which the Company’s 
performance obligation is to provide roadside assistance services primarily to its Customer Partners’ members. The Customer Partner 
pays the Company an upfront fee per member or covered vehicle. The Company applied the right to invoice practical expedient, 
reflecting the Company’s right to payment for the fixed fee that corresponds directly to the value provided for the Company’s 
performance. Accordingly, these fees are recognized over time when the related fee is invoiced. The cost of providing services is 
charged to cost of revenue as incurred.

Software Licensing Arrangements

The Company occasionally enters into licensing arrangements with Customer Partners to provide access to its standard software 
platform. The Company customarily provides the Customer Partner with standard maintenance on licensed software which includes 
technical support and when-and-if available updates. The Company considers this a service of standing-ready to the customer to 
provide technical support and upgrades as needed, and unspecified upgrades are provided on a when-and-if available basis for the 
duration of the maintenance period. The license revenue and the maintenance bundled in the arrangement are considered a single 
performance obligation that is recognized over the term of the agreement.

Some licensing arrangements also include a fixed maintenance management fee, as well as a range of fees that are dependent on the 
volume of end users that utilize the application. The variable fee is structured in bands for which the price per user, per month 
decreases as the volume of end users increases. Therefore, there is a portion of the fees that varies depending on the volume of end 
users as well as embedded discounts. The Company has applied the right to invoice practical expedient in recognizing these revenues 
and recognizes the maintenance and management fee over time, and the variable fee is recognized monthly. 

Professional Services

The Company sells professional services either on a stand-alone basis or as services bundled with software. Professional services 
include customization and design, integration, training and consulting services. Professional services performed by the Company 
represent distinct performance obligations, not highly interdependent or highly interrelated with the Company’s platform license and 
SaaS arrangements. These services are not highly interdependent or highly interrelated with the Company’s platform license and SaaS 
arrangements such that a customer would be able to use the Company’s platform without the professional service. The standalone 
selling prices are determined based on contracted terms on a contract by contract basis. Revenue for customization and design services 
represents the transfer to the customer for the right to access the customized software and therefore is recorded over time. Revenues 
for integration services, training and consulting services are separate performance obligations recognized over time as these and the 
SaaS arrangements can be purchased separately from the platform and SaaS arrangements.

Revenue on a disaggregated basis is as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Full-service outsourcing—flat rate   $ 181,818     $ 183,715     $ 145,457  
Full-service outsourcing—claim cost pass-through     38       40       59  
Membership     1,021       3,495       2,361  
Software licensing arrangements     1,539       119       416  
Professional services     237       220       215  

    $ 184,653     $ 187,589     $ 148,508  
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Contract Assets

The Company capitalizes costs to obtain contracts with Customer Partners, primarily employee sales commissions. At contract 
inception, the Company capitalizes such costs that it expects to recover and that would not have been incurred if the contract had not 
been obtained. Sales commissions earned by the Company’s sales team are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining 
a contract and are deferred as other non-current assets and amortized on a straight-line basis over the initial contract term with an 
amortization period that exceeds one year. Commission expenses are included in sales and marketing expense on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The expected period of benefit is determined using the initial contract 
term.

In connection with certain contracts, the Company capitalizes costs to fulfill contracts with Customer Partners, primarily costs to 
customize and integrate its platform in support of the contract requirements. Costs to fulfill are considered incremental and 
recoverable costs and are deferred as other non-current assets and amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit 
for contracts with an amortization period that exceeds one year and included in cost of revenue on the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss). The expected period of benefit is determined using the initial contract term.
 

   2023     2022  
Contract assets as of January 1   $ 370     $ 1,048  
Additional contract costs to obtain     —       135  
Amortization of contract costs to obtain     (91 )     (697 )
Amortization of contract costs to fulfill     (46 )     (116 )

Contract assets as of December 31   $ 233     $ 370  
 

5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the exit price that would 
be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. Fair value is estimated by applying the following hierarchy:
 

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
   

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated 
by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

   

Level 3 - Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimate of assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

 
The Company’s population of financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis are as follows:
 

   Fair Value as of December 31, 2023  
Recurring fair value measurements   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Money market funds (1)   $ 6,920     $ —     $ —     $ 6,920  
Corporate bonds (1)     —       9,154       —       9,154  
Commercial paper (1)     —       2,488       —       2,488  
U.S. government agency securities (1)     —       2,175       —       2,175  
Contingent purchase consideration (2)     —       —       (4,617 )     (4,617 )

    $ 6,920     $ 13,817     $ (4,617 )   $ 16,120  

 
   Fair Value as of December 31, 2022  

Recurring fair value measurements   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Derivative liability (3)   $ —     $ —     $ (32,765 )   $ (32,765 )
Warrant liability (3)     —       —       (13,957 )     (13,957 )

   $ —     $ —     $ (46,722 )   $ (46,722 )
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(1) The following table summarizes the composition of marketable securities as of December 31, 2023:
 

    Amortized Cost    
Unrealized Gain 

(Loss)     Fair Value  
Money market funds   $ 6,920     $ —     $ 6,920  
Available-for-sale debt securities:                  
Corporate bonds     9,170       (16 )     9,154  
Commercial paper     2,488       —       2,488  
U.S. government agency securities     2,177       (2 )     2,175  
      13,835       (18 )     13,817  

   $ 20,755     $ (18 )   $ 20,737  
 

The following table summarizes the fair value and amortized cost of the available-for-sale debt securities by contractual maturity as of 
December 31, 2023:
 

    Amortized Cost     Fair Value  

Due within one year   $ 13,835     $ 13,817  
 

(2) Contingent purchase consideration represents a liability recorded at fair value in connection with the Otonomo merger, and thus 
represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the contingent purchase consideration:
 

Acquisition of Otonomo, October 19, 2023 (Note 3)   $ 6,232  
Change in fair value     (1,615 )

Fair value as of December 31, 2023   $ 4,617  
 

(3) Level 3 financial liabilities also consist of the derivative liability and the warrant liability for which there is no current market for 
the securities such that the determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation. Changes in fair value measurements 
categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are analyzed each period based on changes in estimates or assumptions and 
recorded as appropriate. 

The Company’s derivative liability represents embedded share-settled redemption and contingent fee features bifurcated from the 
underlying convertible notes and term loans and is carried at fair value. The changes in the fair value of the derivative liability are 
recorded as Change in fair value of derivative liability in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Estimating fair values of derivative financial instruments requires the development of significant and subjective estimates that may, 
and are likely to, change over the duration of the instrument with related changes in internal and external market factors. Since 
derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently carried at fair value, the Company’s income will reflect the volatility in 
these estimate and assumption changes.

The fair value of the share-settled redemption derivative liability was estimated based on the present value of the redemption discounts 
applied to the principal amount of each of the respective convertible promissory notes, adjusted to reflect the weighted probability of 
exercise. The fair value of the contingent fee derivative liability was estimated based on its total value, adjusted to reflect the weighted 
probability of the occurrence of the contingent event.

The Company estimates the fair value of the warrant liability using the projected future cash flows and discounting the future amounts 
to a present value using market-based expectations for interest rates and the contractual terms of the warrants. Changes in the fair 
value of the warrant liability are recorded as Change in the fair value of the warrant liability in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss).
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the changes in fair value of the beginning and ending balances for the Company’s 
derivative liability and warrant liability at fair value using inputs classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy:
 

   
Derivative
Liability    

Warrant
Liability     Total  

Fair value as of December 31, 2021   $ —     $ 7,084     $ 7,084  
Issuances     28,688       1,009       29,697  
Adjustments due to recapitalization     —       55       55  
Change in fair value     4,077       5,809       9,886  
Fair value as of December 31, 2022   $ 32,765     $ 13,957     $ 46,722  
Issuances     1,320       1,047       2,367  
Extinguishments     (1,523 )     (4,273 )     (5,796 )
Change in fair value     (32,562 )     (10,731 )     (43,293 )

Fair value as of December 31, 2023   $ —     $ —     $ —  
 
The carrying values for cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt approximated fair value for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following as of the periods presented:
 

  
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment   $ 1,809     $ 1,364  
Software for internal use     887       887  
Vehicles     —       6  
     2,696       2,257  
Less accumulated depreciation     (1,825 )     (1,843 )

Property and equipment, net   $ 871     $ 414  

Depreciation expense was $302, $297 and $242 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following as of the periods presented:
 

  
Life (in 
years)   December 31, 2023     December 31, 2022  

       

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated 
Amortization    

Net Carrying 
Amount    

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated 
Amortization    

Net 
Carrying 
Amount  

Acquired technology   2-4   $ 10,134     $ (882 )   $ 9,252     $ 194     $ (194 )   $ —  
Domain name   Indefinite     31       —       31       31       —       31  

       $ 10,165     $ (882 )   $ 9,283     $ 225     $ (194 )   $ 31  

Amortization expense was $688, $0 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table sets forth the remaining estimated amortization expense for intangible assets for the next five years:
 

For the year ending December 31,      
2024   $ 3,410  
2025     3,037  
2026     1,560  
2027     1,245  
2028     —  
   $ 9,252  
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8. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following as of the periods presented:
 

  
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Accrued service provider costs   $ 4,988     $ 5,461  
Accrued compensation     4,888       1,054  
Accrued contract labor     548       2,400  
Credit card liabilities     —       100  
Contingent purchase consideration     4,617       —  
Accrued VAT and income taxes     1,754       —  
Other accrued liabilities     4,572       4,107  

    $ 21,367     $ 13,122  
 

9. Debt Arrangements

The Company’s debt arrangements consist of the following as of the periods presented:
 

 
 

December 31,

2023  

 
December 31,


2022  

2021 convertible promissory notes with an interest rate of

   10.0% per annum maturing June 30, 2024   $ —     $ 39,957  

Structural Capital term loan with an interest rate at the greater

   of 14.0% or the prime rate plus 7.5% per annum for the first

   $14,000, 13.5% or the prime rate plus 7.0% for the remaining


   $13,500; maturing on January 1, 2025 (see Note 20)     27,500       17,500  
Highbridge Capital term loan with an interest rate ranging


   from 12%-13% per annum maturing on January 31, 2025     40,000       40,000  
2022 convertible promissory notes with an interest rate of


   15.0% per annum maturing June 30, 2024     4,257       30,000  
Total principal debt     71,757       127,457  
Less: current portion     (4,257 )     —  
Less: debt issuance costs and discounts, long-term     (1,424 )     (28,014 )

Total long-term debt, net   $ 66,076     $ 99,443  

Structural Term Loan

On October 13, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “2021 Structural Term Loan”) with Structural 
Capital with an initial commitment amount of $14,000. Borrowings under the 2021 Structural Term Loan accrued interest at the 
greater of 10.75% or the prime rate plus 7.5% per annum with a scheduled maturity date on October 1, 2024. Interest was payable in 
advance on the first day of each month. Upon repayment, the loan required a fee equal to 5% of the drawn amount and a success fee 
equal to 10% of the drawn amount. The 2021 Structural Term Loan was secured by substantially all assets of the Company.

On December 16, 2021, the Company amended the 2021 Loan and Security Agreement (the “2021 Amended Structural Term Loan”) 
with Structural Capital. An additional $3,500 was funded at closing, bringing the total term loan with Structural Capital to $17,500, 
and reducing the remaining commitment amount by $2,500. Borrowings under the 2021 Amended Structural Term Loan accrued 
interest at the greater of 10.75% or the prime rate plus 7.5% per annum with an amended scheduled maturity date on November 1, 
2023. Upon repayment, the loan required a payment of $840, an exit fee equal to an amount sufficient to increase the minimum return 
to 1.20:1.0 if payable on or before April 1, 2022, 1.25:1.0 if payable between April 2, 2022 and October 1, 2022, or 1.30:1.0 if payable 
after October 1, 2022, and a success fee equal to 10% of the drawn amount. In addition, the Company paid $175 upon execution of the 
amendment. These fees were accreted to interest expense over the term of the loan. The 2021 Amended Structural Term Loan was 
secured by certain assets of the Company pursuant to an intercreditor agreement with Highbridge Capital Management, LLC. 

In connection with the 2021 Amended Structural Term Loan, the Company issued 464 warrants to purchase Series C-1 preferred stock 
with an exercise price of $0.90 per share and expiring on December 16, 2031. The fair value of these warrants of $320 was recorded as 
a discount against the loan. The discount was amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method. 
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In July 2022, the Company executed the Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) which 
eliminated any additional tranches available for future borrowing and created a single term loan facility in the amount of $17,500 
which had previously been funded. The interest rate and maturity date were not changed as part of the Second Amendment. The 
Second Amendment added an incremental amendment fee of $1,014 to be paid at maturity and a restructuring fee of $2,029 which was 
payable upon the occurrence of certain contingent events. The Company concluded that the payment of the restructuring fee was 
probable; therefore, both fees are accreting to interest expense over the term of the agreement. The warrants that were outstanding as 
part of the 2021 Amended Structural Term Loan were amended as part of the Recapitalization (see Note 11) and became exercisable 
for Common Stock. The Second Amendment was accounted for as a debt modification and, accordingly, no gain or loss was 
recognized.    

The Second Amendment contained certain covenants such as receipt of at least $5,000 in convertible debt proceeds, maintaining 
unrestricted cash of at least $5,000 and maintaining a positive contribution margin from December 31, 2022 onward. As of December 
31, 2022, the effective interest rate was approximately 31%.

On February 9, 2023, the Company executed the First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the “First 
Amendment”) with Structural Capital. Borrowings under the First Amendment accrued interest monthly at the greater of 14.0% or 
7.5% plus the prime rate (which can be no less than 3.25%) for the first $14,000 outstanding, and the greater of 13.5% or 7.0% plus 
the prime rate (which can be no less than 3.25%) for the remaining $3,500 outstanding. The scheduled maturity was November 1, 
2024 as a result of the merger with Otonomo. Upon repayment, the First Amendment required a final payment fee of $840, a success 
fee of $2,406, a restructuring fee of $2,232, and an amendment fee of $1,014. The Company is accreting these fees to interest expense 
over the term of the loan. 

Under the First Amendment, the success fee would be increased by $656 upon the occurrence of certain contingent events, including a 
merger transaction. The Company concluded that this feature was not clearly and closely associated with the risk of the debt host 
instrument and was therefore bifurcated and separately accounted for as a derivative financial instrument. The fair value of the 
derivative liability of $492 was recorded separately from the term loan with an offsetting amount recorded as a debt discount. The debt 
discount was amortized over the remaining term of the term loan using the effective interest method. The First Amendment was 
accounted for as a debt modification and, accordingly, no gain or loss was recognized.

On May 18, 2023, the Company executed the Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the 
“Structural Second Amendment”) which increased the term loan amount by $10,000 (“Tranche 2”). Tranche 2 borrowings under the 
Structural Second Amendment accrue interest monthly at the greater of 13.5% or 7.0% plus the prime rate (which can be no less than 
3.25%). Upon repayment, the Structural Second Amendment added $400 to the repayment fee. All other terms remain unchanged 
from the First Amendment. In connection with the amendment, the $492 derivative liability resulting from the First Amendment was 
written off and a new derivative liability of $773 was established. The Structural Second Amendment was accounted for as a debt 
extinguishment and, accordingly, a $4,913 gain was recognized. The gain resulted from the write-off of accrued lender fees, deferred 
financing fees, debt discounts, and a derivative liability, all related to the Structural term loan. As of December 31, 2023, the effective 
interest rate was approximately 24%.

In connection with the Structural Second Amendment, the Company issued warrants to purchase Common Stock in an aggregate 
amount of $500 with an exercise price of $0.90 per share expiring on May 18, 2033. The number of shares issued is based on Warrant 
Coverage, which is defined as a dollar value divided by the price factor at the time the warrant is exercised, as defined in the 
agreement. The fair value of these warrants was determined to be de minimis. 

On October 19, 2023, as part of the Combined Transaction (see Note 1), all liability classified warrants issued to Structural Capital 
automatically converted into shares of Common Stock, and as a result, no such warrants are outstanding as of December 31, 2023. 
Immediately prior to their settlement, the Company marked these liability-classified warrants to fair value and recognized a gain on 
the change in fair value of warrant liability of $2,516. Amortization of the discount totaled $782, $167 and $14 during the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Highbridge Term Loan

On December 16, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “2021 Highbridge Term Loan”) with a 
consortium led by Highbridge Capital Management, LLC and included Whitebox Advisors, LLC and Onex Capital Solutions 
Holdings, LP. The Company received $30,000 upon closing with an additional $10,000 funding on December 20, 2021. As described 
further below, additional loan commitments were reduced to $0 in July 2022. Borrowings under the 2021 Highbridge Term Loan 
accrue interest at 10.0% for the first six months, increasing by 1% for each six-month period thereafter, with a maximum rate of 
13.0%. Interest is payable quarterly, in arrears, on the last business day of the calendar quarter and on the scheduled maturity date of 
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December 15, 2023. The 2021 Highbridge Term Loan is secured by substantially all assets of the Company pursuant to an 
intercreditor agreement with Structural Capital.  

In connection with the funding on December 16, 2021 of the 2021 Highbridge Term Loan, the Company issued 16,881 warrants to 
purchase Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.90 per share expiring on December 16, 2031. In connection with the funding on 
December 20, 2021, the Company issued an additional 5,695 warrants to purchase Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.90 per 
share expiring on December 20, 2031. The fair value of these warrants of $6,685, plus an additional $800 discount, was recorded as a 
discount against the loan. The total discount is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method. 

Additional Common Stock warrants up to 0.72% of the fully diluted Common Stock of the Company were to be issued upon funding 
of the 2021 Highbridge Bridge Funding. If issued, these warrants will be automatically exercised prior to the close of a Qualified 
Public Trade Trigger (either IPO or SPAC merger). Upon the achievement of the Qualified Public Trade Trigger, the 2021 Highbridge 
Term Loan can be exchanged for a convertible note that would convert to Common Stock with terms to be determined. 

In July 2022, the Company executed the Waiver and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “First Highbridge 
Amendment”) which decreased the amount available under the term loan agreement by $20,000.  As a result, there were no further 
amounts available to be borrowed under the revised arrangement. The interest rate and maturity date were not changed as part of the 
First Highbridge Amendment. The First Highbridge Amendment removed any covenants present in the original agreement and added 
a financial covenant in which the Company must maintain unrestricted cash as of the end of each calendar month in an amount above 
$5,000. The First Highbridge Amendment included an amendment fee in the amount of $2,319 which is accreting to interest expense 
over the term of the loan. As of December 31, 2022, the effective interest rate was approximately 27%.

The First Highbridge Amendment also added an incremental sale fee of $4,639 payable upon the occurrence of certain contingent 
events. The Company determined that the sale fee was not probable of occurring. The First Highbridge Amendment was accounted for 
as a debt modification and, accordingly, no gain or loss was recognized.

The warrants to purchase 16,881 shares of Common Stock were amended to become warrants to purchase a variable number of 
common shares based on a certain percentage of the fully diluted capitalization of the Company at the time of the warrant exercise. 
The warrants to purchase 5,695 shares of Common Stock were canceled as part of this transaction.

On February 9, 2023, the Company executed the Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Highbridge Second 
Amendment”) with a consortium led by Highbridge Capital Management, LLC. The Highbridge Second Amendment limits the 
commitment amount to $40,000. Borrowings under the 2023 Amended Highbridge Term Loan accrue interest at a rate of 12.0% 
through June 2023, increasing to 13.0% through maturity, and payments are made quarterly in arrears. The scheduled maturity is 
January 31, 2025 as a result of the merger with Otonomo. Upon repayment, the loan requires a first amendment fee of $2,319, a 
second amendment fee of $3,000, and a consent fee of $4,639. The Company is accreting these fees to interest expense over the term 
of the loan. The Highbridge Second Amendment was accounted for as a debt modification and, accordingly, no gain or loss was 
recognized.

On May 18, 2023, the Company executed the Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) with a 
consortium led by Highbridge Capital Management, LLC. The Third Amendment amended the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness” 
as a result of the Structural Second Amendment and added an amendment fee of $400.

On October 19, 2023, as part of the Combined Transaction (see Note 1), all liability classified warrants issued to Highbridge Capital 
automatically converted into shares of Common Stock and as a result, no such warrants are outstanding as of December 31, 2023. 
Immediately prior to their settlement, the Company marked these liability classified warrants to fair value and recognized a gain on the 
change in fair value of warrant liability of $4,690. Amortization of the discount totaled $2,546, $3,593 and $299 during the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2023, the effective interest rate was approximately 
21%.

Convertible Promissory Notes

2021 Convertible Notes

From March 2021 through December 2021, the Company issued convertible promissory notes in the amount of $39,957 (“2021 
Convertible Notes”). The 2021 Convertible Notes accrued interest at the rate of 10% per annum, and all unpaid interest and principal 
was due and payable on June 30, 2024. 
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The 2021 Convertible Notes could be settled as follows: 

(i) Automatic conversion into Common Stock upon a qualified transaction. Upon the consummation of a qualified business 
combination, an initial public offering with gross proceeds of at least $50.0 million or a direct listing of the Company’s 
Common Stock, the 2021 Convertible Notes will convert to Common Stock at the lesser of (i) $380,000 divided by the 
fully diluted capitalization of the Company immediately prior to the transaction (“Cap Price”), and (ii) 0.75 multiplied by 
the per share price paid in the transaction. 

(ii) Optional conversion into convertible preferred stock in an Equity Financing. If the Company sells shares of preferred 
stock in an equity financing transaction while the notes are outstanding (“Equity Financing”), then the holders have the 
option to convert the outstanding principal amount and any unpaid accrued interest into shares of the series of convertible 
preferred stock issued in the Equity Financing at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) 0.75 multiplied by the per share 
price paid by the cash investors in the Equity Financing, or (ii) the Cap Price.

(iii) Maturity. Upon or after maturity of the 2021 Convertible Notes, the notes can be settled in cash at the outstanding accrued 
interest and principal amount or converted to Common Stock at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) 0.75 multiplied 
by the per share price paid by the cash investors in the Equity Financing, or (ii) the Cap Price.

The Company concluded that certain settlement features of the 2021 Convertible Notes were determined to not be clearly and closely 
associated with the risk of the debt-type host instrument and were required to be separately accounted for as derivative financial 
instruments. The Company determined its derivative liabilities to be a Level 3 fair value measurement during the year based on 
management’s estimate of the expected future cash flows required to settle the liabilities. The Company determined the fair value of 
the derivative liability related to the 2021 Convertible Note to be immaterial at issuance and as such no debt discount was recorded 
related to the derivative.

On October 19, 2023, all of the principal and accrued interest underlying the 2021 Convertible Notes were automatically settled in 
Common Stock in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1). While certain noteholders held an economic interest in the 
Company prior to the Combined Transaction, many were not considered significant shareholders, and, in addition, there was a large 
population of noteholders that were not involved in the structure or negotiation of the Merger and accepted the same terms on 
settlement of their convertible notes. Given the difference in the book value of the total convertible notes that were settled and their 
reacquisition price on the date of the Combined Transaction, a gain on debt extinguishment of $30,322 was recognized on October 19, 
2023 in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Immediately prior to the settlement of the 2021 
Convertible Notes, the associated derivative liability was remeasured a final time. The Company determined the fair value to be $0 
since the features were significantly out of the money and, therefore, had no value. As a result, the derivative liability was written to 
$0 on October 19, 2023, and a gain on the change in the fair value of derivative liability of $14,016 was recognized in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2023, no 2021 Convertible Notes remain outstanding.

2022 Convertible Notes

In July 2022 and in connection with the Recapitalization, the Company issued $30,000 in convertible promissory notes (“2022 
Convertible Notes”) to several stockholders who previously held convertible preferred stock prior to the Recapitalization. The 2022 
Convertible Notes accrue interest at the rate of 15% per annum, and all unpaid interest and principal is due and payable on June 30, 
2024. No payments can be made under the 2022 Convertible Notes unless the noteholders provide written demand. The Company may 
prepay the 2022 Convertible Notes prior to the maturity date only with the consent of the majority 2022 Convertible Note holders. 

In connection with the issuance of the 2022 Convertible Notes, the Company issued warrants exercisable for 1,032,636 shares of 
Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.09 per share to the noteholders. The fair value of the warrants at issuance of the 2022 
Convertible Notes was determined to be $9,201, of which $7,041 was recorded as a debt discount based upon a relative fair value 
allocation. The debt discount is being amortized over the estimated life of the debt using the effective interest method. 

The 2022 Convertible Notes may be settled as follows:

(i) Optional conversion into Series C preferred stock. At any time upon the election of the noteholders, the outstanding 
principal of the 2022 Convertible Notes and any unpaid accrued interest shall convert into shares of the Company’s Series 
C convertible preferred stock at a conversion price per share equal to the lesser of $329.5719, or the Cap Price. 

(ii) Optional conversion in an Equity Financing. If the Company sells shares of preferred stock in an equity financing (as such 
term is defined in the 2022 Convertible Notes agreement), then the holders have the option to convert the outstanding 
principal amount and any unpaid accrued interest into shares of the series of convertible preferred stock issued in the 
Equity Financing at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) 0.70 multiplied by the per share price paid by the cash 
investors in the Equity Financing, or (ii) the Cap Price.
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(iii) Company Sale. If the Company consummates a sale of the company while the 2022 Convertible Notes are outstanding, it 
is to repay the holders in cash in an amount equal to 300% of the outstanding principal amount of the notes plus any 
unpaid accrued interest. A Company Sale includes (i) the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, (ii) a 
merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity, (iii) a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Company, (iv) other change of control type transaction as defined in the 2022 Convertible Notes agreement.

(iv) Maturity. Upon or after maturity of the 2022 Convertible Notes, the notes can be settled in cash at the outstanding accrued 
interest and principal amount.

The Company concluded that certain settlement features of the 2022 Convertible Notes were determined to not be clearly and closely 
associated with the risk of the debt host instrument and have therefore been bifurcated and separately accounted for as derivative 
financial instruments. The Company determined the measurement of its derivative liabilities to be a Level 3 fair value measurement 
based on management’s estimate of the expected future cash flows required to settle the liabilities. The Company determined the fair 
value of the derivative liability related to the 2022 Convertible Note to be $28,688 upon issuance. The fair value of the derivative 
liability was recorded separately from the convertible notes with an offsetting amount of $22,959 recorded as a debt discount. The 
separation of the derivative liability caused the debt discount to reduce the net balance on the convertible notes to $0. The excess value 
of the derivative liability at issuance was recognized as part of the Recapitalization (see Note 1) through equity since the 2022 
Convertible Notes were with shareholders of the Company. The debt discount is amortized over the term of the debt using the effective 
interest method. 

On February 9, 2023, the Company executed amendments with twelve holders of the 2022 Convertible Notes. The amendments 
include an additional settlement feature that provides for automatic conversion of the notes upon consummation of an approved 
acquisition and related public listing of Common Stock on a nationally recognized exchange at a price per share equal to 65% of the 
total equity value, as defined in the amendment, divided by the Company capitalization immediately prior to the acquisition. The 
amendments were accounted for as a modification and, accordingly, no gain or loss was recognized.

On October 19, 2023, $30,400 of the total principal and accrued interest underlying the 2022 Convertible Notes was automatically 
settled in Common Stock in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1). While certain noteholders held an economic 
interest in the Company prior to the Combined Transaction, many were not considered significant shareholders, and, additionally, 
there was a large population of noteholders that were not involved in the structure or negotiation of the Merger and accepted the same 
terms on settlement of their convertible notes. Given the difference in the book value of the total convertible notes that were settled 
and their reacquisition price on the date of the Combined Transaction, a gain on debt extinguishment of $8,771 was recognized on 
October 19, 2023 in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2023, principal 
and accrued interest of $5,164 remain outstanding on the 2022 Convertible Notes which will continue to be liability classified and 
accrue interest over time until they are repaid on their maturity date of June 30, 2024. Amortization expense on the debt discount was 
$12,440 and $7,500 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

2023 Convertible Notes

In April and May 2023, the Company issued approximately $4,700 in convertible promissory notes (“2023 Convertible Notes”). 
Simple interest accrued on the 2023 Convertible Notes at the rate of 15% per annum, and all principal and unpaid interest was due and 
payable on June 30, 2024. 

The 2023 Convertible Notes could be settled as follows:

(i) Optional conversion into Series C preferred stock. At any time upon the election of the noteholder, the outstanding 
principal of the 2023 Convertible Notes and any unpaid accrued interest shall convert into shares of the Company’s Series 
C convertible preferred stock at a conversion price per share equal to the lesser of $329.5719, or the Cap Price (defined as 
$380,000 divided by the Company’s capitalization). 

(ii) Optional conversion in an Equity Financing. If the Company sells shares of preferred stock (“Equity Financing”, as such 
term is defined in the 2023 Convertible Notes agreement), then the holders have the option to convert the outstanding 
principal amount and any unpaid accrued interest into shares of the series of convertible preferred stock issued in the 
Equity Financing at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) 0.70 multiplied by the per share price paid by the cash 
investors in the Equity Financing, or (ii) the Cap Price.

(iii) Approved Acquisition and Direct Listing. Upon an Approved Acquisition and a Direct Listing, as defined in the 2023 
Convertible Notes agreement, the outstanding principal and interest will automatically convert into Common Stock at a 
price per share equal to 80% of the quotient obtained by dividing the (i) Total Equity Value by (ii) the Company 
capitalization immediately prior to the consummation of the Approved Acquisition. The Total Equity Value means the 
lesser of (i) $271,000, plus the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and less certain debt (as defined in the agreement), 
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and (ii) the Aggregate Valuation in the Approved Acquisition, plus the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and less 
certain debt (as defined in the agreement).

(iv) Company Sale. If the Company consummates a sale of the Company while the 2023 Convertible Notes are outstanding, 
the Company will repay the holders in cash in an amount equal to 300% of the outstanding principal amount of the notes 
plus any unpaid accrued interest.

The Company concluded that certain settlement features of the 2023 Convertible Notes were determined to not be clearly and closely 
associated with the risk of the debt host instrument and have therefore been bifurcated and separately accounted for as derivative 
financial instruments. The Company determined the measurement of its derivative liabilities to be a Level 3 fair value measurement 
based on management’s estimate of the expected future cash flows required to settle the liabilities. The Company determined the fair 
value of the derivative liability related to the 2023 Convertible Notes to be $55 upon issuance. The fair value of the derivative liability 
was recorded separately from the convertible notes with an offsetting amount recorded as a debt discount to be amortized to interest 
expense using the effective interest method. 

On October 19, 2023, all of the principal and interest underlying the 2023 Convertible Notes was automatically settled in Common 
Stock in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1). While certain noteholders held an economic interest in the Company 
prior to the Combined Transaction, many were not considered significant shareholders, and, in addition, there were a large population 
of noteholders that were not involved in the structure or negotiation of the Merger and accepted the same terms on settlement of their 
convertible notes at an arm’s length. Given the difference in the book value of the total convertible notes that were settled and their 
reacquisition price on the date of the Merger, a gain on debt extinguishment of $2,940 was recognized on October 19, 2023 in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Immediately prior to the settlement of the 2023 Convertible 
Notes, the associated derivative liability was remeasured a final time. The Company determined the fair value of the associated 
derivative liability to have zero value given the features were significantly out of the money and therefore had no value. As a result, 
the derivative liability was written to $0 on October 19, 2023, and a gain on the change in the fair value of derivative liability of 
$1,075 was recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2023, no 
2023 Convertible Notes remain outstanding.  

10. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In July 2022, the Company initiated the Recapitalization (see Note 1), in which all outstanding series of existing convertible preferred 
stock were converted into shares of Common Stock. Each share class of the existing convertible preferred stock was converted into 
one share of Common Stock. The Company also had certain warrants outstanding for convertible preferred stock that converted into 
warrants for Common Stock on a one-to-one basis. 

On October 19, 2023, in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1), all of the outstanding redeemable convertible 
preferred stock was converted on a one-to-one basis into Common Stock.

11. Warrants to Purchase Preferred and Common Stock

Liability Classified Warrants

In conjunction with certain debt financing transactions, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of preferred stock. These 
warrants were exercisable upon issuance and are not subject to any vesting or restrictions on timing of exercise. The Company 
classified the warrants as liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet as the warrants were free-standing financial instruments that may 
require the Company to transfer assets upon exercise or have anti-dilution features which made their settlement variable. Changes in 
the fair value at each reporting period were included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) 
under the caption Change in fair value of warrant liabilities. The initial value of the warrants issued with debt were recorded as a 
discount to the related debt and amortized as interest expense.
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As part of the Recapitalization, the warrants exercisable for preferred stock became exercisable for Common Stock. The liability 
classified warrants consisted of and were exercisable for the following:
 

December 31, 2022  

Issuance Date  
Contractual 

Term   Class of Stock  
Balance Sheet 
Classification  

Shares 
Issuable 

Upon 
Exercise    

Exercise 
Price     Fair Value  

May 2018   10 years   Common   Liability     30,915     $ 0.90     $ 9,037  
May 2019   10 years   Common   Liability     514       0.90       287  
December 2021 (Structural Debt)   10 years   Common   Liability     464       0.90       198  
December 2021 (Highbridge 
Debt)   10 years   Common   Liability     71,104       0.90       4,435  

                 102,997           $ 13,957  

On October 19, 2023, in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1), all of the liability classified warrants were converted 
into Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the related warrant agreements.

Equity Classified Warrants

In connection with certain debt financing transactions, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock. These 
warrants are exercisable upon issuance and are not subject to any vesting or restrictions on timing of exercise. The Company classifies 
the warrants as equity as they are exercisable for a fixed number of shares at a fixed exercise price and do not meet any of the criteria 
to be considered liability classified. The equity classified warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: 
 

December 31, 2023  

Issuance Date  
Contractual 

Term   Class of Stock  
Balance Sheet 
Classification  

Shares 
Issuable 

Upon 
Exercise    

Exercise 
Price  

May 2020   10 years   Common   Equity     573     $ 89.10  

 
December 31, 2022  

Issuance Date  
Contractual 

Term   Class of Stock  
Balance Sheet 
Classification  

Shares 
Issuable 

Upon 
Exercise    

Exercise 
Price  

September 2018   10 years   Common   Equity     5,759     $ 0.09  
November-December 2019   10 years   Common   Equity     9,796       84.60  
May 2020   10 years   Common   Equity     573       89.10  
September 2022   10 years   Common   Equity     1,032,636       0.09  
September 2022   10 years   Common   Equity     10,207       0.09  
                  1,058,971        

On October 19, 2023, in connection with the Combined Transaction (see Note 1), substantially all of the equity classified warrants 
were converted into Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the related warrant agreements.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

Urgent.ly Inc. 401(k) Plan

The Company has maintained a qualified 401(k) plan for regular full or part-time U.S. employees since January 1, 2019. All 
employees who are at least 18 years of age are immediately eligible upon the date of hire. Under the plan, employees may contribute a 
percentage of their annual salary, subject to statutory limitations, and the Company will make a Safe Harbor match of the employees’ 
contributions up to 4% of their salary during that pay period. The Company made matching contributions with immediate vesting of 
$528, $625 and $449 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

13. Stock-based Compensation

Equity Plans

On June 16, 2023, the Board approved the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2023 Plan”), which became effective upon the filing of a 
Form 8-A with the SEC on October 18, 2023. The 2023 Plan provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, restricted 
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stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to employees, directors and consultants and any of 
the Company’s future subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants. 1,383,197 shares of Common Stock were reserved for 
issuance pursuant to the 2023 Plan and will be subject to an annual increase. As of December 31, 2023, 1,061,298 shares of Common 
Stock were reserved under the 2023 Plan for future equity award grants.

In connection with the Merger, the Company assumed 66,931 outstanding restricted stock units under the Otonomo 2021 Share 
Incentive Plan.

The Company’s 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) was adopted in September 2013 and most recently amended in February 
2023 to increase in the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Plan by 698,675 shares. The 2013 Plan 
was terminated on October 18, 2023, and no additional awards can be granted under the plan. However, the 2013 Plan will continue to 
govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted under the plan.

On June 16, 2023, the Company’s Board approved the 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which was effective upon 
approval. The ESPP allows for the sale of 221,311 shares of Common Stock to eligible employees within established offering periods 
with certain limitations on participation by individual employees and is subject to an annual increase.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company accounts for all stock-based payment awards made to employees, directors and advisors based on their fair values and 
recognizes compensation expense over the vesting period using the straight-line method over the requisite service period for each 
award as required by FASB ASC Topic No. 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. 

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units were recorded in the financial 
statements as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Research and development   $ 363     $ 170     $ 218  
Sales and marketing     194       102       112  
Operations and support     103       50       89  
General and administrative     1,813       172       279  

   $ 2,473     $ 494     $ 698  
 
As of December 31, 2023, there was $4,507 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested stock options and 
restricted stock units granted under the 2023 Plan and 2013 Plan that are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
2.6 years.

Stock Options

A summary of the Company's stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 follows:
 

   Options    
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price  
Outstanding at December 31, 2020     53,446     $ 85.50  
Granted     18,508       124.20  
Exercised     (192 )     93.60  
Forfeited or expired     (2,269 )     99.90  
Outstanding at December 31, 2021     69,493       96.36  
Exercised     (192 )     85.81  
Forfeited or expired     (22,087 )     100.36  
Outstanding at December 31, 2022     47,214       94.53  
Exercised     (5 )     50.40  
Forfeited or expired     (11,263 )     82.39  
Outstanding at December 31, 2023     35,946       98.34  
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A summary of the Company's non-vested stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 follows:
 

   Options    
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price  
Outstanding at December 31, 2020     30,819     $ 99.00  
Granted     18,508       124.20  
Vested     (14,271 )     99.90  
Forfeited or expired     (1,740 )     105.30  
Outstanding at December 31, 2021     33,316       112.52  
Vested     (11,510 )     109.63  
Forfeited or expired     (10,320 )     110.49  
Outstanding at December 31, 2022     11,486       117.25  
Vested     (5,435 )     112.39  
Forfeited or expired     (1,127 )     113.21  
Outstanding at December 31, 2023     4,924       123.50  

The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $286, $2,166 
and $770, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, stock options outstanding and exercisable have a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 5.3 years.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of stock options. The fair value of each option grant is 
estimated on the date of the grant. 

Prior to the Combined Transaction, the Company utilized significant estimates and assumptions in determining the fair value of its 
common stock, which is a significant input in the Black-Scholes model used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted. The 
Company utilized various valuation methodologies in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, to estimate the 
fair value of its common stock. The common stock valuation is based on the Company’s enterprise value determined utilizing various 
methods including the option-pricing method (“OPM”) or a hybrid of the probability-weighted expected return method and the OPM. 
Each valuation methodology includes estimates and assumptions that required the Company’s judgment. These estimates and 
assumptions include a number of objective and subjective factors, including external market conditions, the prices at which the 
Company sold shares of preferred stock, the superior rights and preferences of securities senior to the Company’s common stock at the 
time of, and the likelihood of, achieving a liquidity event, such as a direct listing on a public market or sale. 

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted and the range of assumptions using the model for stock options granted 
in 2021 are as follows:
 

Risk-free interest rate   0.70-1.29%
Dividend yield   0%
Volatility   65%
Expected term of options   5-6.44 years

 
There were no stock options granted in 2023 or 2022.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table sets forth a summary of restricted stock units and related information for the periods presented:
 

   Awards    
Weighted Average Fair 

Value  
Outstanding at December 31, 2022     —       —  
Granted     1,157,207       5.26  
Acquired     66,931       5.71  
Vested     (261,939 )     5.71  
Forfeited or expired     (8,554 )     5.71  
Outstanding at December 31, 2023     953,645       5.16  
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14. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The Company calculates earnings per share (“EPS”) as required by FASB ASC Topic No. 260, Earnings Per Share. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the period, excluding common stock equivalents. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net income available to 
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, plus the weighted average 
number of dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock method. For periods with 
a net loss, the dilutive common stock equivalents are excluded from the diluted EPS calculation. For purposes of this calculation, 
common stock subject to repurchase by the Company, options, warrants, and convertible notes are considered to be common stock 
equivalents, and are only included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share when their effect is dilutive. 

The following table sets forth the details of basic and diluted earnings per share:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Net income (loss)   $ 74,729     $ (95,982 )   $ (56,339 )
                  
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic     2,770,190       101,102       53,068  
Effect of dilutive stock options, RSUs, and warrants     176,257       —       —  

Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted     2,946,447       101,102       53,068  
                  
Earnings (loss) per share, basic   $ 26.98     $ (949.36 )   $ (1,061.64 )

Earnings (loss) per share, diluted   $ 25.36     $ (949.36 )   $ (1,061.64 )
                  
Anti-dilutive shares excluded     45,400       1,209,182       118,785  

 

15. Income Taxes

The Company’s loss before income taxes was generated from the following sources:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Domestic   $ 75,799     $ (92,479 )   $ (51,062 )
Foreign     (3,210 )     (3,503 )     (5,277 )

Loss before incomes taxes   $ 72,589     $ (95,982 )   $ (56,339 )

The following table sets forth the components of the provision for income taxes:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Current income taxes:                  
Federal   $ 153     $ —     $ —  
State     —       —       —  
Foreign     —       —       —  
Total current income taxes     153       —       —  

Deferred income taxes:                  
Federal     (1,915 )     —       —  
State     (378 )     —       —  
Foreign     —       —       —  
Total deferred income taxes     (2,293 )     —       —  

Provision for income taxes   $ (2,140 )   $ —     $ —  
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation between the federal statutory income tax rate and the effective tax rate:
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  

Federal statutory rate     21.00 %    21.00 %    21.00 %
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit     (3.27 )%    2.50 %    1.26 %
Foreign taxes     (0.58 )%    0.99 %    0.00 %
Permanent differences     (36.95 )%    (6.52 )%    (1.71 )%
Changes in tax rates     0.03 %    0.06 %    (0.19 )%
Foreign rate differential     (0.53 )%    0.00 %    2.53 %
Change in valuation allowance     16.81 %    (18.43 )%    (22.99 )%
Other     0.54 %    0.40 %    0.10 %

Effective tax rate     (2.95 )%    0.00 %    0.00 %
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of net operating loss carryforwards and the temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant 
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
 

    As of December 31,  
   2023     2022  

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):            
Depreciation and amortization   $ (857 )   $ 17  
Stock-based compensation     349       43  
Unrealized gain (loss)     98       —  
Accrued expenses     607       68  
Charitable contributions     24       24  
Capitalized R&D expenditures     3,450       938  
Right of use assets / lease liability     76       90  
Interest expense     10,170       3,783  
State taxes     2       —  
Federal and state net operating loss carryforward     94,121       42,663  

Total net deferred tax assets     108,040       47,626  
Less valuation allowance     (108,040 )     (47,626 )

Net deferred tax assets   $ —     $ —  

As of December 31, 2023, the Company maintains a full valuation allowance against its U.S. and foreign deferred tax assets 
(“DTAs”). In accordance with ASC Topic 740, the Company considered all available evidence, both positive and negative, in 
assessing the need for an amount to which a valuation allowance should be applied to its net DTAs. Based upon this analysis, 
including the Company’s historical three-year cumulative loss (pre-tax income adjusted for permanent differences), management 
concluded that it is more-likely-than-not that all federal deferred tax assets attributable to net operating losses are expected to expire 
unused as well as state net operating losses (“NOL”) that are not expected to be used prior to expiration and other state non-
attributable DTAs that are not expected to be realized.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had U.S. federal and state NOL carryforwards of $391,317 and $113,273, respectively, which 
will begin to expire in 2033. Utilization of these carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership 
change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation 
may result in the expiration of net operating loss carryforwards before utilization.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 amended IRC Section 174 to require capitalization of all research and developmental (“R&D”) 
costs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2021. These costs are required to be amortized over five years if the R&D 
activities are performed in the United States or over 15 years if the activities were performed outside the United States. The Company 
capitalized approximately $8,514 and $4,331 of R&D expenses incurred during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company also had a foreign NOL carryforward of $222,241 generated by the foreign subsidiaries 
which will begin to expire in 2040. 
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has not recognized any amounts for uncertain tax positions. The Company files 
U.S. federal and state returns and is no longer subject to examination for years prior to 2019. The Company’s policy is to recognize 
interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

16. Related Party Transactions

The shareholders in the following disclosures ceased to be considered related parties upon the Merger and Direct Listing of the 
Company on October 19, 2023 since their investment in the Company dropped to less than 10% of the voting interests of the Company 
at that time. Accordingly, the disclosures for 2023 reflect only those related party transactions with such shareholders through 
September 30, 2023.

During 2018, the Company entered into a service agreement with a shareholder to provide scheduled long-distance towing or transport 
services under a recall program for vehicles not in warranty of the shareholder’s roadside assistance program in the United States. In 
2019, the Company entered into a separate agreement with the same shareholder to provide emergency roadside assistance for the 
shareholder’s customers related to its four vehicle brands in the United States. Total revenue recognized for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2023 and the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 amounted to $21,865, $25,275 and $22,368, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2022, $4,151 of revenue related to these agreements was included in accounts receivable on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.

During 2018, the Company entered into a service agreement with a shareholder to provide services to its managed fleet maintenance 
customers. The services include primary towing roadside assistance and non-tow services including jump starts, tire change, lockout 
services and emergency fuel delivery. Total revenue recognized under the fleet agreement for the nine months ended September 30, 
2023 and the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 amounted to $9,073, $11,636 and $7,942, respectively. Also in 2019, the 
Company entered into a separate service agreement with the same shareholder. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will 
provide emergency roadside assistance for the shareholder’s customers related to its car rental brands in the United States. Total 
revenue recognized for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 under the rental 
agreement amounted to $22,377, $29,038 and $12,484, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, $5,924 of revenue related to these 
agreements was included in accounts receivable on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During 2020, the Company entered into a service agreement with a shareholder. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will 
provide emergency roadside assistance for the shareholder’s customers related to its two vehicle brands in the United States and 
Canada. Total revenue recognized for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 
was $6,939, $11,930 and $15,403, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, $2,882 of revenue related to these agreements was included 
in accounts receivable on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company from time to time may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. 
There are no unresolved claims and litigation in which the Company is currently involved that are expected to materially affect the 
financial position or operations of the Company.

18. Leases

The Company leases office space, equipment and furniture, and certain office space is subleased. Management determines if a contract 
is a lease at the inception of the arrangement and reviews all options to extend, terminate, or purchase its right-of-use assets at the 
inception of the lease and accounts for these options when they are reasonably certain of being exercised.

Leases with an initial term of greater than twelve months are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. Lease expense is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Company’s lease contracts generally do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. For these contracts, the estimated 
incremental borrowing rate is based on information available at the inception of the lease.

F-32



 

Operating lease cost consists of the following:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022  
Lease cost   $ 1,204     $ 1,200  
Sublease income     (275 )     (255 )

   $ 929     $ 945  

The maturity of operating lease liabilities is presented in the following table as of December 31, 2023:
 

2024     950  
2025     810  
2026     828  
2027     618  
2028     59  
Thereafter     59  
Total lease payments     3,324  
Less imputed interest     (569 )

Present value of lease liabilities   $ 2,755  

Additional information relating to the Company’s operating leases follows:
 

    December 31,
2023  

 
December 31,

2022  

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)     3.8       4.2  
Weighted average discount rate     10.1 %    8.6 %

 

19. Geographical Information

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company operated in three geographic locations: the Americas; Europe, 
Middle East and Africa (EMEA); and Asia Pacific (APAC). 

Revenues attributed to the geographic location of the customers’ bill-to address were as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2023     2022     2021  
Americas   $ 183,957     $ 187,589     $ 148,508  
EMEA     665       —       —  
APAC     31       —       —  

    $ 184,653     $ 187,589     $ 148,508  
 
The Company does not separately allocate specific assets to these geographic locations.

20. Subsequent Events

The Company considers events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued to 
provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional disclosure. The following events 
were noted:

In January 2024, the Company repaid $17,500 of its term loan, and $6,053 in related fees, with Structural Capital. The Company also 
amended its Loan and Security Agreement which extends the maturity date on the remaining $10,000 to January 1, 2025.

In January 2024, one of the Company’s Customer Partners, accounting for approximately 25% of its 2023 revenue, notified the 
Company that it was not going to renew its contract for 2024 when the existing contract expired by its terms on January 31, 2024.
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Exhibit 4.1
 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES 
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 
The following description of the capital stock of Urgent.ly Inc. (“us,” “our,” “we” or the “Company”) is a summary 
of the rights of our capital stock and summarizes certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation (our “Charter”) and our bylaws (our “Bylaws”). This summary does not purport to be complete and is 
qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our Charter, our Bylaws and our Amended and Restated Investors’ 
Rights Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2023 (our “Rights Agreement”), copies of which have been filed as 
exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as to the applicable provisions of the general corporation law 
of the state of Delaware (“DGCL”). We encourage you to read our Charter, Bylaws and the applicable provisions of 
the DGCL carefully.
 
Description of Capital Stock
 
Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock consisting of 1,000,000,000 shares of 
common stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Common Stock”) and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 
par value per share (“Preferred Stock”).
 

Common Stock 
Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of our 
stockholders and do not have cumulative voting rights. Each election of directors by our stockholders will be 
determined by a plurality of the votes cast by stockholders entitled to vote in the election. Holders of our Common 
Stock will be entitled to receive any dividends as may be declared by our board of directors (the “Board”), subject to 
any preferential dividend or other rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock. 
 
In the event of our liquidation or dissolution, the holders of our Common Stock will be entitled to receive all assets 
available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior 
rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock. Holders of our Common Stock will have no pre-emptive, 
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of our Common 
Stock will be subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of our 
Preferred Stock that we may designate and issue in the future. 

Preferred Stock 
The Board will have the authority, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue shares of authorized 
but unissued Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to fix the designations, powers, preferences and rights, and 
the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders. 
These powers, rights, preferences and privileges could include dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, 
voting rights, rights and terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price(s) and 
liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all 
of which may be greater than the rights of the Common Stock. The issuance of Preferred Stock could adversely 
affect the voting power of holders of Common Stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive dividend 
payments and payments upon liquidation. In addition, the issuance of Preferred Stock could have the effect of 
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in our control or other corporate action. 
 
 
Registration Rights 
 

Demand Registration Rights 
 

The holders of Registrable Securities (as defined in our Rights Agreement) are entitled to certain demand 
registration rights. At any time after April 16, 2024, the holders of at least 40% of the Registrable Securities then 
outstanding can request that we file a Form S-1 registration statement to register the offer and sale of their 
Registrable Securities. We are only obligated to effect up to two such registrations. Each such request for registration 
must cover Registrable Securities the anticipated aggregate gross proceeds of which is at least $5 

 



 

million. These demand registration rights are subject to specified conditions and limitations, including the right of 
the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such registration under certain circumstances. If we 
determine that it would be materially detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such a demand registration, we 
have the right to defer such registration on either Form S-1 or Form S-3 (as discussed below), not more than once in 
any 12-month period, for a period of up to 60 days. 
 

Form S-3 Registration Rights 
 

The holders of Registrable Securities are entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. At any time when we are 
eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3, the holders of at least 25% of the Registrable Securities then 
outstanding can request we register the offer and sale of their Registrable Securities on a registration statement on 
Form S-3, so long as the request covers Registrable Securities the anticipated aggregate public offering price of 
which, net of selling expenses, is at least $1 million. These stockholders may make an unlimited number of requests 
for registration on a registration statement on Form S-3. However, we will not be required to effect a registration on 
Form S-3 if we have effected two such registrations within the twelve-month period preceding the date of the 
request. These Form S-3 registration rights are subject to specified conditions and limitations, including the right of 
underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such registration under certain circumstances. 
Additionally, if we determine that it would be seriously detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such a 
demand registration, we have the right to defer such registration on either Form S-1 or Form S-3, not more than once 
in any twelve-month period, for a period of up to 60 days. 
 

Piggyback Registration Rights 
 
The holders of Registrable Securities are entitled to certain “piggyback” registration rights. If we propose to register 
any of our securities under the Securities Act, all holders having “piggyback” registration rights then outstanding 
can request that we include their Registrable Securities in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other 
limitations, including the right of the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such registration 
statement under certain circumstances. As a result, whenever we propose to file a registration statement under the 
Securities Act, other than with respect to (1) a registration relating to the sale of securities to our employees or a 
subsidiary pursuant to a stock option, stock purchase, or similar plan, (2) a registration relating to a transaction 
governed by Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act, (3) a registration on any form that does not include 
substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a registration statement covering such 
shares of Common Stock or (4) a registration in which the only Common Stock being registered is Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion of debt securities that are also being registered, the holders of Registrable Securities are 
entitled to notice of the registration and have the right, subject to certain limitations, to include their shares in the 
registration. 
 

Expenses of Registration 
 
We will pay all expenses relating to any demand registrations, Form S-3 registrations and piggyback registrations, 
subject to specified limitations. 
 

Termination 
 
The registration rights under the Rights Agreement will terminate as to a given holder of registration rights, when 
such holder of registration rights can sell all of such holder’s Registrable Securities during any three-month period 
pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act. 
 
Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Charter and Our Bylaws 
 
Certain provisions of Delaware law, our Charter and our Bylaws, which are summarized below, may have the effect 
of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from acquiring control of us. They are also designed, in part, 
to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with the Board. We believe that the benefits 
of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the 
disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an 
improvement of their terms. 

 



 

 
Delaware Law 

 
We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. Section 203 generally prohibits a publicly held 
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with any “interested stockholder” for a period of 
three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless: 
 

 •  the business combination or transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder 
was approved by the board of directors prior to the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder; 

 

 

•  upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the 
interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the 
transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (1) shares 
owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares owned by employee stock plans in which 
employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan 
will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or 

 

 
•  on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors 

and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative 
vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder. 

 
Section 203 defines a business combination to include: 
 

 
•  mergers or consolidations involving the corporation, or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the 

corporation, and the interested stockholder or any other entity if the merger or consolidation is caused by the 
interested stockholder; 

 

 •  any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets 
of the corporation or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the corporation; 

 

 
•  subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation, or any direct or 

indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the corporation, of any stock of the corporation or such subsidiary to the 
interested stockholder; 

 

 
•  any transaction involving the corporation, or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the corporation, 

that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the corporation or 
such subsidiary beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; and 

 

 •  the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other 
financial benefits provided by or through the corporation. 

 
These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing changes in control of the Company. 
 

Charter and Bylaws Provisions 
 
Provisions of our Charter and our Bylaws include a number of provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delay 
or prevent changes in control of the Board or management. Among other things, our Charter and our Bylaws: 
 

 •  permit the Board to issue shares of Preferred Stock with any powers, rights, preferences and privileges as they 
may designate; 

 

 •  provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the Board; 
 

 
•  provide that all vacancies and newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, our 

governing documents or resolution of the Board and subject to the rights of holders of our Preferred Stock, only 
be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum; 

 

 •  divide the Board into three classes, each of which stands for election once every three years; 
 

 •  for so long as the Board is classified, and subject to the rights of holders of our Preferred Stock, provide that a 
director may only be removed from the Board by the stockholders for cause; 

 

 



 

 •  require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special 
meeting of stockholders and not be taken by written consent; 

 

 
•  provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate 

candidates for election as directors at a meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely 
manner, and also meet specific requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice; 

 

 
•  do not provide for cumulative voting rights (therefore allowing the holders of a plurality of the shares of 

Common Stock entitled to vote in any election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if 
they should so choose); 

 

 

•  provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the Board, the chairperson of the Board, 
our chief executive officer or president; and 
 
 

  
•  provide that stockholders will be permitted to amend certain provisions of our Charter and our Bylaws only upon 

receiving at least two-thirds of the voting power of the then outstanding voting securities, voting together as a 
single class. 

 
Exclusive Forum 

 
Our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive 
forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of 
a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, stockholders, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, 
(3) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our Charter or our Bylaws or (4) any other action 
asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal 
district court for the District of Delaware), except for, as to each of (1) through (4) above, any claim as to which 
such court determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of such court (and the 
indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of such court within ten days following such 
determination), which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than such court or for which 
such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction. This provision would not apply to any action brought to enforce 
a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Our Bylaws also provide 
that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United 
States will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the 
Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding or owning (or continuing to hold 
or own) any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing bylaw 
provisions. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and 
the rules and regulations thereunder as a result of our exclusive forum provisions. 
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
The transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent and 
registrar’s address is 6021 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219.
 
Exchange Listing

Our Common Stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “ULY.”
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THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED 
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

 
	 This Third Amended And Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of 
January 19, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), by and among Structural Capital Investments III, LP (“SCI”), Series 
Structural DCO II series of Structural Capital DCO, LLC (“DCO”), and CEOF HOLDINGS LP (“CEOF” and 
together with SCI and DCO, “Lenders” and each a “Lender”), Ocean II PLO LLC, a California limited liability 
company, as administrative and collateral agent for Lenders (“Agent”) and Urgent.ly Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Urgent.ly” or “Borrower”).
 

Recitals

 
	 WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agent were party to that certain Loan and Security Agreement (the  
“Original Loan Agreement”), dated as of October 13, 2021, as amended and restated pursuant to that certain 
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 16, 2021 (the “First Amended and 
Restated Loan Agreement”), as amended and restated pursuant to that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan 
and Security Agreement dated as of July 12, 2022 (the “Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security 
Agreement”), as further amended; 
 
	 WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agent have agreed to amend and restate the Second Amended and  
Restated Credit Agreement on the terms set forth herein and this Agreement shall supersede the Second Amended 
and Restated Credit Agreement.
 
	 Agreement

 
	 For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, parties  
agree as follows:
 

1. Definitions and Construction 
 

1.1. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions:

 “2022 Convertible Debt” means the principal amount of $4,257,224 of the convertible 
debt issued under the form of convertible note attached as Exhibit I to this Agreement.

“2022 Convertible Notes” means the promissory notes issued pursuant to the 2022 
Convertible Debt. 
 
	 	 	 “Account” is any “account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter 
be made, and includes, without limitation, all accounts receivable and other sums owing to any Loan Party.
 
	 	 	 “Account Debtor” is any “account debtor” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as 
may hereafter be made.
 
	 	 	 “ ACH Debit Consent” means any Loan Party’s authorization to allow Agent to debit such Loan 
Party’s Deposit Accounts to satisfy the Obligations in substantially the form of Exhibit H attached hereto. 
	 	 	
	 	 	 “Advance” means each extension of credit by a Lender to Borrower under this Agreement.
 
	 	 	 “Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any Person that owns or controls directly or indirectly 
thirty percent (30%) or more of the outstanding stock of such Person, any Person that controls or is controlled by or 
is under common control with such Person or any Affiliate of such Person or each of such Person’s senior executive 
officers, directors, members or partners.
 
	 	 	 “Amendment Fee” means $1,014,492.67.
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	 	 	 “Amortization Date” means the Maturity Date.
 
	 	 	 “Anti-Corruption Laws” means the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the Bribery 
Act of 2010, the Israeli Penal Law, 1977, as amended, and all other applicable laws and regulations or ordinances 
concerning or relating to bribery, money laundering or corruption in any jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or any 
of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is incorporated, located or is doing business.
 
	 	 	 “Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means the applicable laws, statutes, regulations or rules in any 
jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is incorporated, located or is doing 
business that relates to money laundering, any predicate crime to money laundering, or any financial record keeping 
and reporting requirements related thereto, including, but not limited to, the Bank Secrecy Act (31 U.S.C. § 5311 et 
seq.), the USA Patriot Act and the Prohibit on Money Laundering Law, 2000.
 
	 	 	 “ Approved Acquisitions” means acquisition by Borrower of all or substantially all of the assets, or a 
majority of the capital stock (or membership interests) of, or an exclusive license or right to use the Intellectual 
Property or other assets of, a non-affiliated entity (the “New Target”), where all of the following criteria are satisfied: 
(i) Urgent.ly or another Loan Party obtains full operating, voting and management control of the New Target or the 
assets or rights acquired, (ii) prior to the acquisition, the New Target had positive EBITDA for the twelve (12) 
month period immediately prior to the acquisition date (based on reviewed or audited financial statements of the 
New Target as of the close of such period) , (iii) no Loan Party or Subsidiary  is required to assume or guarantee any 
Indebtedness other than Permitted Indebtedness in connection with the transaction or the ownership or operation of 
the New Target or any of New Target’s assets, (iv) the New Target is not party to any pending litigation or regulatory 
inquiry, or the subject of a judgment or arbitration award, or other regulatory decree which would, in each case, 
constitute an Event of Default, (v) the Borrower and New Target shall comply with Section 6.10; (vi) the business 
and operations of the New Target is substantially similar to that of any Loan Party; and (vii) the cash consideration 
(including any earnout, deferred payments or management/employee compensation) payable by any Loan Party or 
Subsidiary in connection with such transaction (or series of related transactions) does not exceed (x) $3,000,000 in 
any single transaction (or series of related transactions) and (y) $5,000,000 in any twelve month calendar period 
commencing on the Closing Date.
 
	 	 	 “Approved Bank” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the definition of “Cash Equivalents” contained 
herein.
 
	 	 	 “Approved Budget” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 6.3. The Approved Budget 
includes all updates and modifications in the projections provided to Agent on the Closing Date.
 
	 	 	 “Bank Services” mean any products, credit services, and/or financial accommodations previously, 
now, or hereafter provided to Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries by SVB or its Affiliates or any other third party 
bank, including, without limitation, any letters of credit, cash management services (including, without limitation, 
merchant services, direct deposit of payroll, business credit cards, and check cashing services), interest rate swap 
arrangements, and foreign exchange services as any such products or services may be identified in SVB’s or such 
other applicable third party bank’s various agreements related thereto. 
 
	 	 	 “Basic Rate” means (x) for $14,000,000 of the outstanding Advances under the Tranche 1 Loan, for 
any day, a per annum rate of interest equal to the greater of (i) Fourteen percent (14.0%), and (ii) Seven and One-
Half percent (7.5%) plus the Prime Rate then in effect, (y) for $3,500,000 of the outstanding Advances under the 
Tranche 1 Loan, for any day, a per annum rate of interest equal to the greater of (i) Thirteen and One Half percent 
(13.5%), and (ii) Seven percent (7.0%) plus the Prime Rate then effect, and (z) for Advances under the Tranche 2 
Loan, for any day, a per annum rate of interest equal to the greater of (i) Thirteen and One Half percent (13.5%), and 
(ii) Seven percent (7.0%) plus the Prime Rate then in effect. 
 
	 	 	 “Board” means each Loan Party’s board of directors (or equivalent management or oversight body).
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	 	 	 “ Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto and shall include any 
Person that has executed and delivered a Joinder Agreement pursuant to Section 6.10 and is identified as a 
“Borrower” therein.
 
	 	 	 “Borrower’s Books”  means all of the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ books and records 
including: ledgers; records concerning the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiary’s assets or liabilities, the Collateral, 
business operations or financial condition; and all computer programs, or data storage, and the related devices and 
equipment, containing such information.
 
	 	 	 “Business Day”  means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or other day on which banks in the 
State of California are authorized to close under the laws of, or are in fact closed in, California. 
 
	 	 	 “Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other 
amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a 
combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance 
sheet of such Person under GAAP (consistently applied), and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized 
amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP (consistently applied); provided that any lease that would 
properly be recognized as an “operating lease” prior to the adoption of ASC 842 shall continue to be treated as an 
operating lease and shall not constitute a Capital Lease Obligation for purposes of this Agreement.
 

“CARES Act - Title I” means Title I of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic 
Security Act, as amended (including any successor thereto), and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and 
directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof, regardless of the date enacted, 
adopted, issued or implemented.

 
“CARES Debt” means any loan by (i) any Governmental Authority (including the Small 

Business Administration) or any other Person acting as a financial agent of a Governmental Authority or (ii) any 
other Person to the extent such loan is guaranteed by a Governmental Authority (including the Small Business 
Administration), in each case pursuant to the CARES Act - Title I.

 
	 	 	 “ Cash Equivalents” means, as to any Person:  (a) securities issued or directly and fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof (but only so 
long as the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than 
twelve months from the date of acquisition; (b) securities issued by any state of the United States or any political 
subdivision of any such state or any public instrumentality thereof having maturities of not more than 180 days from 
the date of acquisition and having one of the two highest ratings from either Standard & Poor’s, a division of The 
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.; (c) certificates of deposit, denominated solely in 
U.S. Dollars, maturing within two years after the date of acquisition, issued by any commercial bank organized 
under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia or that is a U.S. subsidiary of a 
foreign commercial bank; in each of the foregoing cases, solely to the extent that:  (i) such commercial bank’s short-
term commercial paper is rated at least A-1 or the equivalent by Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill 
Companies, Inc., or at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (any such commercial 
bank, an “Approved Bank”); or (ii) the par amount of all certificates of deposit acquired from such commercial bank 
are fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; (d) commercial paper issued by any Approved Bank 
(or by the parent company thereof), in each case maturing not more than twelve months after the date of the 
acquisition thereof; or (e) in the case of any Foreign Subsidiary, (x) substantially similar investments of the type 
described in clauses (a) through (d) above denominated in foreign currencies and from similarly capitalized and 
rated foreign banks in the jurisdiction in which such Foreign Subsidiary is organized or operates and (y) such local 
currencies held by it from time to time in the ordinary course of business. 
 
	 	 	 “Closing Date” has the meaning given to such term in the preamble hereto.
	 	 	
	 	 	 “Code” means the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted and in effect in the State of California, as 
amended from time to time, provided, that, to the extent that the Code is used to define any term herein or in any 
Loan Document and such term is defined differently in different Articles or Divisions of the Code, the definition of 
such term contained in Article or Division 9 shall govern; provided further, that in the event that, by reason of 
mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection, or priority of, or remedies with respect 
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to, Agent’s Lien on any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in a jurisdiction other than 
the State of California, the term “Code” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such 
other jurisdiction solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment, perfection, priority, or 
remedies and for purposes of definitions relating to such provisions.
 
	 	 	 “Collateral” means the property described on Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
	 	 	 “ Collateral Pledge Agreement” means any pledge agreement or Debenture relating to the Equity 
Interests or evidence of Indebtedness of any Subsidiary owned directly or indirectly by a Loan Party. 
 
	 	 	 “Commercial Tort Claim” means any “commercial tort claim” as defined in the Code.
 
	 “Commitment” means (a) with respect to all Lenders, $27,500,000, and (b) with respect to each Lender, the 
amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.1 attached hereto.
 

“Compliance Certificate” has the meaning given to such term in Section 6.4.
 
	 	 	 “Contingent Obligation”  means, as applied to any Person, any direct or indirect liability, contingent 
or otherwise, of that Person with respect to (i) any indebtedness, lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligation 
of another; (ii) any obligations with respect to undrawn letters of credit, corporate credit cards, or merchant services 
issued or provided for the account of that Person; and (iii) all obligations arising under any agreement or 
arrangement designed to protect such Person against fluctuation in interest rates, currency exchange rates or 
commodity prices; provided, however, that the term “Contingent Obligation” shall not include endorsements for 
collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.  The amount of any Contingent Obligation shall be deemed 
to be an amount equal to the stated or determined amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such 
Contingent Obligation is made or, if not stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in 
respect thereof as determined by Agent in good faith; provided, however, that such amount shall not in any event 
exceed the maximum amount of the obligations under the guarantee or other support arrangement.
 
	 	 	 “Contribution Margin” means Direct Margin minus Operations and Support 
where:
 

Direct Margin means Revenue minus Cost To Provider; 
 
Cost to Provider means all costs of services and fees Borrower or any Subsidiary pays to service providers, 
including all related costs associated with providing roadside assistance and other services to end users, 
computed using the same methodology employed in the Current Financial Statements to report such 
matters; and
 
Operations and Support means all operating costs related to network operations and customer support, 
including call center service departments, computed using the same methodology employed in the Current 
Financial Statements to report such matters.
 

	 	 	
	 	 	 “Contribution Notice” means a contribution notice issued by the Pensions Regulator under section 38 
or section 47 of the Pensions Act 2004.
 
	 	 	 “Control Agreement” means an agreement, the terms of which are satisfactory to Agent, which is 
executed by Agent, the applicable Loan Party and the applicable financial institution and/or securities/investment 
intermediary, and which perfects Agent’s (for itself and for the benefit of the Lenders) first priority security interest 
in such Loan Party’s accounts maintained as such financial institution or securities/investment intermediary. For the 
purposes of any account maintained outside of the United States, a debenture, in form and substance satisfactory to 
Collateral Agent, together with any ancillary documentation (e.g., a bank acknowledgement), shall be used in place 
of and shall constitute a “Control Agreement.” If an agreement of a different character than a Control Agreement or 
debenture is needed to perfect or charge Agent’s security interest in an account located outside of the United States, 
such agreement shall constitute a “Control Agreement.”
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	 	 	 “Copyrights” means any and all copyright rights, copyright applications, copyright registrations and 
like protections in each work or authorship and derivative work thereof, whether or not filed with the United States 
Copyright Office or foreign equivalent. 
 
	 	 	 “Current Financial Statements” has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.9.
 
	 	 	 “Customer” means a Person that purchases a Loan Party’s products in the ordinary course of business 
that is not an Affiliate of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.
 
	 	 	 “Debenture” means any agreement governed by the laws of a country other than the United States or 
a state other than a state within the United States pursuant to which a Loan Party incurs one or more obligations to 
Agent or Lenders relating to an Advance, whether or not such agreement is called a debenture, including, without 
limitation, the ISR Debentures. 
 
	 	 	 “Default”  means any event which with the passing of time or the giving of notice or both would 
become an Event of Default hereunder.
 
	 	 	 “Default Rate” means the per annum rate of interest equal to (i) the then applicable Basic Rate of 
interest, plus (ii) 5% per annum.
 
	 	 	 “Deposit Account” means any “deposit account” as defined in the Code. 
 
	 	 	 “ Disclosure Schedules” mean the disclosure schedules attached at the end of the Perfection 
Certificate.
	 	 	
	 	 	 “Disqualified Stock” means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into 
which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event, (a) matures (excluding
any maturity as the result of an optional redemption by the issuer thereof) or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to 
a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, or 
requires the payment of any cash dividend or any other scheduled payment constituting a return of capital, in each 
case at any time on or prior to the date that is one year and one day following the Maturity Date; or (b) is convertible 
into or exchangeable (unless at the sole option of the issuer thereof) for (i) debt securities or (ii) any Equity Interest 
referred to in clause (a) above, in each case at any time on or prior to the date that is one year and one day following 
the Maturity Date.
 
	 	 	 “Domestic Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary organized under the laws of the United States or any state 
or territory thereof or the District of Columbia.
 
	 	 	 “ EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, 
Liechtenstein, and Norway.
 
	 	 	 “ Eligible Accounts” means Accounts receivable arising in the ordinary course of a Loan Party’s 
business.  Agent reserves the right at any time and from time to time to adjust any of the criteria set forth below and 
to establish new criteria in its good faith credit judgment.  Unless otherwise agreed by Agent, Eligible Accounts 
shall not include (a) Accounts owing by an Account Debtor whose principal place of business is not in the United 
States, (b) Accounts owing by any  Loan Party Affiliates, (c) Accounts owing by an Account Debtor that any Loan 
Party owes money, goods or services or is obligated in any other way, but only to the extent of the possible amount 
owed, (d) Accounts owing by an Account Debtor, including any Affiliate, 25% of whose Accounts the Account 
Debtor has failed to pay within 90 days of the date of the invoice, (e) Accounts owing by an Account Debtor (other 
than Mercedes-Benz, BMW USA, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company or Volvo), including any Affiliate, whose 
total obligations to the Loan Parties exceed 75% of all Accounts, to the extent those obligations exceed that 
percentage, (f) Accounts where payment by the Account Debtor is or may be conditional, or is subject to the 
fulfillment of any condition whatsoever, or that the Loan Parties are not able to sue or otherwise enforce its right to 
receive payment, (g) Accounts that are the obligation of an Account Debtor that is the United States government or a 
political subdivision thereof, or any state, county or municipality or department, agency or instrumentality thereof, 
(h) Accounts related to or arising out of deferred Revenue, (i) Accounts that the Account Debtor has failed to fully 
pay within 120 days of the invoice date, and (j) any other Account that Agent reasonably determines the collection 
of which is doubtful.
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	 	 	 “ English Loan Party” means a Loan Party incorporated or formed under the laws of England and 
Wales. 
 
	 	 	 “English Security Documents” means each Debenture governed by English law. 
 
	 	 	 “ Equity Interests” mean shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a 
limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity interests in any Person, and any option, 
warrant or convertible debt, provided that in the case of any convertible debt, such convertible debt shall be required
to be Subordinated Debt.
	
	 	 	 “ ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to 
time.
 
	 	 	 “ ERISA Affiliate” means any entity, trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common 
control with the Borrower or any of its Affiliates within the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Internal Revenue 
Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code).
 
	 	 	 “Event of Default” has the meaning given to such term in Section 8.
 

	 	 	 “Excluded Taxes” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.7(d).

 
“Exit Fee” shall mean a fee in an amount sufficient, if needed, to increase the Minimum 

Return to 1.20:1.00 if payable on or before April 1, 2022, 1.25:1.00 if payable after April 1, 2022 but on or before 
October 1, 2022, or 1:30:1.00 if payable after October 1, 2022.
 
	 	 	 “Facility Fee” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.5(a).
	 	
	 	 	 “FATCA” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.7(d).
 
	 	 	 “Final Payment Fee” means $1,240,000.
 
	 	 	 “ Financial Support Direction” means a financial support direction issued by the Pensions Regulator 
under section 43 of the Pensions Act 2004.
 
	 	 	 “ Floow Disposition” means (i) the sale, conveyance, abandonment, Transfer or other disposition of 
all or substantially all of the assets and/or Equity Interests in and/or (ii) the unwinding or dissolution of, each of The 
Floow Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales with registered 
number 07968005, and The Floow North America Inc., a Delaware corporation; provided, however, that (a) such 
sale, conveyance, Transfer, or other disposition or unwinding or dissolution, as applicable, is approved by the Board 
of Urgent.ly, (b) the net proceeds, if any, from such sale, conveyance, abandonment, Transfer, or other disposition or 
unwinding or dissolution, as applicable (the “Floow Net Proceeds”), are remitted to an Account of a Loan Party that 
is subject to a Control Agreement,  and (c) if the Floow Net Proceeds exceed $2,500,000, the Floow Net Proceeds in 
excess of $2,500,000 shall be promptly remitted to Agent to reduce the amount of the then outstanding Advances or 
other Obligations.
 
	 	 	 “Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary which is not a Domestic Subsidiary.
	 	 	
	 	 	 “Funding Date”  means any date on which an Advance is made to or on account of Borrower under 
this Agreement.
 
	 	 	 “GAAP” means, as of any date of determination, generally accepted accounting principles as then in 
effect in the United States of America set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles 
Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board.
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	 	 	 “GDPR” means the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, Regulation (EU) 2016/679 
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 of the European Parliament and the Council of the 
European Union and all regulations promulgated thereunder.
 
	 	 	 “ Government Grant” shall mean any grant, funds, subsidy, award, or other benefit (including, tax 
benefits) from the government of the State of Israel or any other Governmental Authority (including the IIA, the 
Investment Center of the Israeli Ministry of Economy, the BIRD Foundation, any other Israeli or foreign bi/multi-
national grant programs).
 
	 	 	 “Governmental Authority”  means (a) any United States federal, state, county, municipal or foreign 
government (including, without limitation, the government of the State of Israel and of England and Wales), or 
political subdivision thereof, (b) any governmental or quasi‑governmental agency, authority, board, bureau, 
commission, department, instrumentality or public body, (c) any court or administrative tribunal or (d) with respect 
to any Person, any arbitration tribunal or other similar non‑governmental authority to whose jurisdiction that Person 
has consented.
 
	 	 	 “ Guaranty” means each agreement entered into by and among a Loan Party, Agent and Lenders 
whereby such Loan Party agrees, inter alia, to guaranty any of Urgent.ly’s or another Loan Party’s obligations to 
Agent and/or Lenders.	 	 	
 
	 	 	 “Hedging Agreement” means any interest rate protection agreement, foreign currency exchange 
agreement, commodity price protection agreement or other interest or currency exchange rate or commodity price 
hedging arrangement. 
 
	 	 	  “IIA” means the Israel Innovation Authority of the Israeli Ministry of the Economy.
 
	 	 	 “Immaterial Subsidiary”  means any Subsidiary of Borrower with book value of assets less than 
$250,000. As of the Closing Date, the only Immaterial Subsidiaries of the Borrower are Roadside Innovation 
(Arkansas) Inc., an Arkansas corporation, and Otonomo GmbH, a company formed under the laws of Germany. 
 
	 	 	 “Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for 
borrowed money (including interest whether charged at the applicable Basic Rate or otherwise) or with respect to 
deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar 
instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid, (d) all obligations 
of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property or assets purchased by 
such Person, including any earn-out obligations, (e) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred 
purchase price of property or services (excluding trade accounts payable and accrued obligations incurred in the 
ordinary course of business and not more than 50 days past due), (f) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for 
which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on 
property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed, (g) 
all Contingent Obligations of such Person including indebtedness of others, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations and 
Synthetic Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all obligations of such Person as an account party in respect of letters 
of credit, (j) all obligations of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances, (k) obligations in respect of 
Disqualified Stock, and (l) all obligations of such Person in respect of any exchange traded or over the counter 
derivative transaction, including any Hedging Agreement, in each case, whether entered into for hedging or 
speculative purposes or otherwise. The amount of any Indebtedness of any Person in respect of a Hedging 
Agreement shall be the amount determined in respect thereof as of the end of the then most recently ended fiscal 
quarter of such Person, based on the assumption that such Hedging Agreement had terminated at the end of such 
fiscal quarter. In making such determination, if any agreement relating to such Hedging Agreement provides for the 
netting of amounts payable by and to such Person thereunder or if any such agreement provides for the simultaneous 
payment of amounts by and to such Person, then in each such case, the amount of such obligation shall be the net 
amount so determined, in each case to the extent that such agreement is legally enforceable in Insolvency 
Proceedings against the applicable counterparty thereof.  The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the 
Indebtedness of any partnership or joint venture in which such Person is a general partner or joint venturer. For the 
avoidance of doubt, ordinary course operating leases shall not constitute Indebtedness.
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	 	 	 “Insolvency Proceeding” means any proceeding commenced by or against any Person or entity under 
any provision of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, the UK Insolvency Act, the Israeli Companies 
Ordinance 5743-1983, the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999, and the Israeli Insolvency and Economic 
Rehabilitation Law 5788-2018, or under any other bankruptcy or insolvency law (domestic or foreign), including 
assignments for the benefit of creditors, formal or informal moratoria, compositions, extensions generally with its 
creditors, or proceedings seeking reorganization, arrangement, or other relief.
 
	 	 	 “Insolvent” means, with respect to any Person (except in respect of an English Loan Party) as of any 
date of determination, that (a) at fair valuations, the sum of such Person’s debts (including contingent liabilities) is 
greater than all of such Person’s assets, (b) such Person is engaged or about to engage in a business or transaction for 
which the remaining assets of such Person are unreasonably small in relation to the business or transaction or for 
which the property remaining with such Person is an unreasonably small capital, (c) such Person has incurred, or 
reasonably believes that it will incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they generally become due 
(whether at maturity or otherwise), or (d) such Person is not “solvent” or is “insolvent”, as applicable within the 
meaning given those terms and similar terms under applicable laws relating to fraudulent transfers and conveyances, 
or, under the Israeli Companies Ordinance 5743-1983, the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999, the Israeli Insolvency 
and Economic Rehabilitation Law 5788-2018 or any other applicable law. In respect of an English Loan Party, it 
means, that as of any date of determination, (x) (i) it is unable or admits inability to pay its debts as they fall due, (ii) 
is deemed to or is declared to, be unable to pay its debts under applicable law, (iii) suspends or threatens to suspend 
making payments on any of its debts, or (iv) by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties, commences 
negotiations with one or more of its creditors (excluding Agent or Lenders) with a view to rescheduling any of its 
Indebtedness, (y) the value its assets is less than its liabilities (taking into account contingent and prospective 
liabilities), or (z) a moratorium is declared in respect of any of its indebtedness, provided that if a moratorium 
occurs, the ending of the moratorium will not remedy any Event of Default caused by that moratorium.
 
	 	 	 “Intellectual Property” means all of a Person’s right, title, and interest in and to the following: 
domain names; Copyrights, Trademarks and Patents (including registrations and applications therefor prior to 
granting, and whether or not filed, recorded or issued); all trade secrets and related rights, including without 
limitation rights to unpatented inventions, know-how and manuals; all design rights; claims for damages by way of 
past, present and future infringement of any of the rights included above; all amendments, renewals and extensions 
of any Copyrights, Trademarks or Patents. 
 
	 	 	 “Intellectual Property Security Agreement” means any agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit 
D hereto or such other form as approved by Agent. 
	 	 	
	 	 	 “ Intercreditor Agreement” means that certain Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of December 16, 
2021, by and between the Agent, the Lenders, the Junior Agent, the Junior Lenders, and acknowledged by the Loan 
Parties, as amended, restated, supplemented and/or otherwise modified from time to time.	 	 	
 
	 	 	 “ Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
and the regulations promulgated and rulings issued thereunder.
 
	 	 	 “Inventory” means “inventory” as defined in the Code, including work in process and finished 
products intended for sale or lease or to be furnished under a contract of service, of every kind and description now 
or at any time hereafter owned by or in the custody or possession, actual or constructive, of a Loan Party, including 
such inventory as is temporarily out of its custody or possession or in transit and including any returns upon any 
accounts or other proceeds, including insurance proceeds, resulting from the sale or disposition of any of the 
foregoing and any documents of title representing any of the above, and such Loan Party’s Books relating to any of 
the foregoing.
 

“Investment” means any beneficial equity ownership in any Person (including stock, 
partnership interest or other securities), or any loan, advance or capital contribution to any Person.

 
 “ISR Debentures” means (i) a first ranking floating charge over all of the present and 

future assets of each Israeli Loan Party, whether now existing or hereafter created (including without limitation, 
Intellectual Property) and fixed charge over the registered and unissued share capital, its reputation and goodwill, 
dated as of the Closing Date executed and delivered by each Israeli Loan Party, as applicable in favor of the Agent,
 to 
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the ratable benefit of the Lenders, (as amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions thereof) substantially in the form of Exhibit J (“Debenture Floating Charge”); (ii) 
a first ranking fixed charge over certain assets of each Israeli Loan Party, including Intellectual Property, and other 
fixed assets and any tax benefit it may have, dated as of the Closing Date, executed and delivered by each Israeli 
Loan Party in favor of the Agent, to the ratable benefit of the Lender (as amended, restated, supplemented, or 
otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the provisions thereof) substantially in the form of Exhibit 
K (“Debenture Fixed Charge”); and (iii) Collateral Pledge Agreements which an Israeli Loan Party is a party to 
and/or its shares are being pledged and is governed by Israeli law, as amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise 
modified from time to time.

 
 “Israeli Loan Party” means any Loan Party organized under the laws of the State of 

Israel.
 
	 	 	 “ Joinder Agreement” means, for a Domestic Subsidiary, the agreement substantially in the form of 
Exhibit G-1 hereto, and for a Foreign Subsidiary, the agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit G-2 hereto. 
 
	 	 	 “ Junior Agent” means Alter Domus (US) LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as 
administrative agent and collateral agent for the Junior Lenders.  	
	 	 	
	 	 	 “ Junior Lenders” means the lenders party to the Junior Loan Documents, which as of the Closing 
Date are Highbridge Tactical Credit Master Fund, L.P., Highbridge Tactical Credit Institutional Fund, Ltd., 
Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P., Whitebox Relative Value Partners, L.P., Pandora Select Partners, L.P., 
Whitebox GT Fund, LP and Onex Capital Solutions Holdings, LP.
 
	 	 	 “ Junior Loan Agreement” means that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 
16, 2021, by and among, inter alios, Urgent.ly, certain Subsidiaries of Urgent.ly from time to time party thereto, the 
Junior Lenders and the Junior Agent, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time 
in accordance with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement. 
 
	 	 	 “ Junior Loan Documents” means (a) the Junior Loan Agreement and (b) each of the “Loan 
Documents” (as defined in the Junior Loan Agreement), in each case, as amended, restated, supplemented and/or 
otherwise modified from time to time after the date hereof in accordance with the terms of the Intercreditor 
Agreement.
 
	 	 	 “Landlord Subordination and Access Agreement”  means an agreement between a Loan Party’s 
landlord(s) and Agent that provides Agent access to the premises that such Loan Party leases from such landlord in a 
form satisfactory to Agent.
 
	 	 	 “Lender Expenses” means all reasonable and reasonably documented costs or expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by Agent or any Lender in connection with the preparation, 
negotiation, administration, and enforcement of the Loan Documents; reasonable Collateral audit fees incurred by 
Agent or any Lender; and Agent’s and any Lender’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred before, during 
and/or after an Insolvency Proceeding in maintaining, amending, enforcing, collecting, performing (including any 
workout or restructuring) or defending the Loan Documents, or incurred in any other matter or proceeding relating 
to the Loan Documents (including in all cases, without limit, court costs, legal expenses and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and expenses, whether or not suit is instituted, and, if suit is instituted, whether at trial court level, appellate 
court level, in a bankruptcy, probate or administrative proceeding or otherwise).  
 
	 	 	 “Lien”  means any pledge, bailment, lease, mortgage, hypothecation, conditional sales and title 
retention agreement, charge, claim, encumbrance or other lien in favor of any Person. 
 
	 “Liquidation Event” means the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) a merger of Urgent.ly or Otonomo 
with another entity pursuant to which Urgent.ly or Otonomo, as applicable, is not the surviving entity; (ii) the sale, 
lease, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Urgent.ly or Otonomo; or (iii) any Person 
or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, but 
excluding any employee benefit plan of such person or its Subsidiaries, and any person or entity acting in its 
capacity as trustee, agent or other fiduciary or administrator of any such plan) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as 
defined in 
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Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except that a person or group shall be deemed to 
have “beneficial ownership” of all securities that such person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is 
exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time (such right, an “option right”)), directly or indirectly, of 
fifty percent (50%) or more of the Equity Interests of Urgent.ly entitled to vote for members of its Board on a fully-
diluted basis (and taking into account all such securities that such person or group has the right to acquire pursuant 
to any option right).
 
	 	 	 “Loan Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the ACH Debit Consent, the Perfection 
Certificate, each Note, each Joinder Agreement, each Notice of Borrowing, each Intellectual Property Security 
Agreement, each Control Agreement, each Landlord Subordination and Access Agreement, each Notice and Access 
Agreement, each Collateral Pledge Agreement, each Subordination Agreement, each Guaranty, each Debenture and 
all other documents, instruments and agreements executed or delivered by Borrower and/or any Loan Party to or for 
the benefit of Agent and Lenders in connection with this Agreement (as amended from time to time pursuant with
the terms hereof); provided that the Loan Documents shall not include any stock purchase agreement, options, or 
other warrants (including, without limitation, the Warrants) or similar equity instruments to acquire, or agreements 
governing the rights of, any capital stock or other equity security, or any common stock, preferred stock, unit, or 
equity security issued to or purchased by any Lender or Lender Affiliate.
 

“Loan Party” means Borrower and any Person (other than Agent) that has executed a 
Joinder Agreement and delivered it to Agent. 

 
	 	 	 “Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, operations, 
performance, properties, Revenue, assets, liabilities, capitalization, results of operations (financial or otherwise), 
cash flows or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of 
Borrower to repay the Obligations or otherwise perform its obligations under the Loan Documents, (iii) the ability of 
any Loan Party to perform its obligations under any of the Loan Documents applicable to such Loan Party, or (iv) 
the validity or priority of, or any impairment to, Agent’s security interests in the Collateral or Agent’s right to 
enforce any of its rights or remedies with respect to the Obligations.
 
	 	 	 “Material Contracts” mean any contract or agreement (whether written or oral) to which the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is a party which is filed or required to be filed with the SEC under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934.
 
	 	 	 “Material Customers” has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.19(c).
 
	 	 	 “Maturity Date” means January 1, 2025.
 
	 	 	 “Minimum Return” shall mean the ratio equal to (a) the aggregate amount, without duplication, of (i) 
the principal and interest, (ii) the Facility Fee and (iii) the Final Payment Fee, in all cases actually paid in cash by the 
Loan Parties to Agent for the benefit of Lenders hereunder; divided by (b) the aggregate amount of all Advances.  
For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing clause (a) shall not include any amounts other than those listed, including, 
without limitation, the Success Fee, Amendment Fee, Restructuring Fee, fees paid directly to Agent for its own 
account, Lender Expenses and the value of any Equity Interests or any underlying securities. 
 
	 	 	 “Minimum Funding Amount” means the entire amount available under the Term Loan for which an 
Advance is requested.
 
	 	 	 “Multiemployer Plan” means any “multiemployer plan” (as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) 
to which the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate makes or is obligated to make contributions, 
or during the preceding six years has made or been obligated to make contributions.
 
	 	 	 “Negotiable Collateral” means all letters of credit of which a Loan Party is a beneficiary, notes, 
drafts, instruments, securities, documents of title, and chattel paper, and such Loan Party’s Books relating to any of 
the foregoing.
 
	 	 	 “Note” means a secured promissory note in favor of a Lender in the form of Exhibit B. 
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	 	 	 “Notice and Access Agreement”  means an agreement between a third party warehouse, fulfillment 
center, bailee or similar entity, on the one hand, and Agent on the other, that provides Agent access to the premises 
containing any Loan Party’s Inventory or other Collateral.
 
	 	 	 “ Notice of Borrowing” means a notice of borrowing of an Advance pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit C.
 
	 	 	 “Obligations”  means all debt, principal, interest, fees, charges, Lender Expenses and other amounts 
owing by any Loan Party to Agent or a Lender of any kind and description whether arising under or pursuant to or 
evidenced by the Loan Documents, and whether or not for the payment of money, whether direct or indirect, 
absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising, including the principal and interest 
due with respect to the Advances, and further including all Lender’s Expenses that any Loan Party is required to pay 
or reimburse by the Loan Documents, by law, or otherwise.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Obligations shall not 
include any obligations of Borrower in connection with a warrant or other equity security of Borrower held by Agent 
or a Lender or their Affiliates (including, without limitation, the Warrants) or any agreements governing the rights of 
Agent or any Lender or their Affiliates with respect to such warrant or other equity securities. 
 
	 	 	 “Otonomo” means Otonomo Technologies Ltd., an Israeli limited company.
 
	 	 	 “Otonomo Disposition” means the sale, Transfer or other disposition of assets of Otonomo; provided, 
however, that (a) the aggregate book value of the assets subject to such sale, Transfer or other disposition does not 
exceed $700,000 and (b) the net proceeds, if any, from such sale, Transfer or other disposition are remitted to an 
Account of a Loan Party that is subject to a Control Agreement.
	 	 	
	 	 	 “Patents” means all patents, patent applications and like protections including without limitation 
improvements, divisions, continuations, renewals, reissues, extensions and continuations-in-part of the same, 
whether or not filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office or any foreign equivalent.
 
	 	 	 “ Pension Plan” means any “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(2) of 
ERISA), other than a Multiemployer Plan, which is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Sections 412 of the Internal 
Revenue Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and which is or was, within the preceding six years, maintained by 
Borrower, any of its subsidiaries (except for an English Loan Party) or any ERISA Affiliate.
 
	 	 	 “Pensions Regulator” means the body corporate called the Pensions Regulator established under Part 
I of the Pensions Act 2004.
 
	 	 	 “Perfection Certificate” means the Perfection Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit F 
hereto.
 
	 	 	 “Permitted Indebtedness” means the following:
 

(a) Indebtedness in favor of Agent or a Lender arising under this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document;

(b) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules;

(c) Indebtedness consisting of: (i) accounts receivable financings on terms satisfactory to 
Agent in its sole discretion; (ii) capital leases; (iii) Permitted Investments allowed pursuant to Section (f) of the 
definition of Permitted Investments; and (iv) purchase money obligations for fixed or capital assets within the 
limitations set forth in clause (c) of the defined term “Permitted Liens,” provided such Indebtedness does not exceed 
the lesser of the cost or fair market value of the equipment and software financed with such Indebtedness; 

(d) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a 
check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently (except in the case of daylight overdrafts) drawn against insufficient 
funds in the ordinary course of business, provided that such Indebtedness is promptly extinguished;
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(e) Indebtedness arising in connection with endorsement of instruments for deposit in the 
ordinary course of business;

(f) Indebtedness that may be deemed to exist in connection with agreements providing 
for warranty obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business; 

(g) Indebtedness arising from customary cash management services or in connection with 
any automated clearinghouse transfer of funds in the ordinary course of business; 

(h) Indebtedness arising from Bank Services provided by SVB or any third party bank; 

(i) Indebtedness consisting of the financing of insurance premiums contemplated by 
clause (i) of the definition of “Permitted Liens”; 

(j) trade accounts payable and accrued obligations incurred in the ordinary course of 
business provided that except as disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules, any such trade accounts payable and accrued 
obligations in excess of $500,000 that are more than 60 days past due shall not be Permitted Indebtedness; 

(k) unsecured obligations of any kind not to exceed at any time outstanding more than 
$100,000; 

(l) Indebtedness of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to performance 
bonds, surety bonds, appeal bonds or customs bonds required in the ordinary course of business not to exceed in the 
aggregate more than $750,000 at any time; 

(m)Indebtedness of Borrower consisting of any 2022 Convertible Debt provided that 
none of the 2022 Convertible Debt shall be repaid (or prepaid) prior to the Maturity Date, it being understood that
the 2022 Convertible Debt may be converted into Equity Interests prior to the Maturity Date as expressly permitted 
under Section 7.7 hereof and that this clause (m) shall not restrict the payment of any amounts that are otherwise 
expressly permitted under Section 7.7;

(n) Indebtedness arising under the Junior Loan Documents not to exceed the principal 
amount of $40,000,000 pursuant to the Term Loans (as defined in the Junior Loan Agreement), not to be repaid (or 
prepaid) prior to the Maturity Date, it being understood that the Indebtedness arising under the Junior Loan 
Documents may be converted into Equity Interests prior to the Maturity Date as expressly permitted under Section 
7.7 hereof, plus interest payable under the Junior Loan Documents, plus any premium (if any), final payment, 
interest, fees, charges, expenses, costs, professional fees and expenses, and reimbursement obligations, in each case, 
arising under the Junior Loan Documents; and

 
(o) Subordinated Debt. 

	 “Permitted Investment” means: 
 

(a) Investments existing on the Closing Date disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules; 

(b) Investments constituting cash and Cash Equivalents, provided such cash and Cash 
Equivalents are in accounts which are subject to a Control Agreement in favor of Agent to the extent required under 
Section 7.11 of this Agreement;

(c) Investments accepted in connection with Permitted Transfers;

(d) Investments (i) by and among Loan Parties, and (ii) by Subsidiaries that are not Loan 
Parties in Loan Parties;
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(e) Investments (including debt obligations) received in connection with the bankruptcy 
or reorganization of customers or suppliers and in settlement of delinquent obligations of, and other disputes with, 
customers or suppliers arising in the ordinary course of the Loan Parties’ business; 

(f) Investments consisting of the purchase of capital assets in an amount not to exceed 
$500,000 per fiscal year; 

(g) Investments consisting of loans or advances to employees (i) for travel or expenses 
incurred in the ordinary course of business and not to exceed $25,000 in the aggregate at any time outstanding; or 
(ii) in connection with the exercise of any options or warrants granted under an equity compensation plan but not 
involving the net transfer on a substantially contemporaneous basis of cash proceeds;

(h) Approved Acquisitions; 

(i) Investments in Subsidiaries that have not signed a Joinder Agreement not to exceed 
an aggregate of $50,000 per fiscal year; and

(j) Investments consisting of the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or 
collection or similar transactions in the ordinary course of business.

“Permitted Licenses” mean non-exclusive licenses and similar arrangements for the use 
of the property of Borrower or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, but excluding any such license or 
arrangement pursuant to which Borrower or its Subsidiaries incurs any recurring or one-time payment obligations to 
any Person (excluding inchoate indemnity obligations).

“Permitted Liens” means the following:

(a) Liens existing on the Closing Date as disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules;

(b) Liens for taxes, fees, assessments or other governmental charges or levies that are 
delinquent and for which Borrower or any applicable Subsidiary maintains adequate reserves;

(c) Liens (i) upon or in any equipment acquired or held by a Loan Party or a Subsidiary 
to secure the purchase price of such equipment incurred solely for the purpose of financing the equipment not to 
exceed $650,000 outstanding at any time, or (ii) existing on such assets at the time of their acquisition, provided that 
with respect to clauses (i) and (ii), the Lien is confined solely to the property so acquired and improvements thereon, 
and the proceeds of such assets; provided further that the same have no priority over Agent’s Lien in the Collateral 
(other than with respect to such equipment) and do not encumber the Collateral (other than with respect to such 
equipment);

(d) Liens incurred in connection with the extension, renewal or refinancing of the 
indebtedness secured by Liens of the type described in clauses (a) through (c) above, provided that any extension, 
renewal or replacement Lien (i) shall be limited to the property encumbered by the existing Lien, (ii) shall not 
exceed the principal amount and interest rate of the indebtedness being extended, renewed or refinanced and (iii) 
term for payment, the maturity and weighted average life to maturity with respect to items listed in clause (a) above 
in this definition shall not decrease in connection with any such extension, renewal or refinancing;

(e) Non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted to third parties in the ordinary 
course of Borrower’s and/or its Subsidiaries (as applicable) business;

(f) Liens arising from judgments, decrees or attachments in circumstances not 
constituting an Event of Default under Section 8.5 or Section 8.7;

(g) Liens in favor of other financial institutions arising in connection with Borrower’s 
and/or its Subsidiaries’ deposit accounts or securities accounts held at such institutions to secure standard fees for 
services charged by, but not financing made available by such institutions; provided that Agent, for itself and the 
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benefit of Lenders has a perfected security interest in the amounts held in such accounts to the extent required under 
Section 7.11 of this Agreement;

(h) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure 
payments of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods;

(i) Liens on insurance proceeds in favor of insurance companies granted solely as 
security for financed premiums;

(j) Liens on deposits securing obligations with suppliers entered into in the ordinary 
course of business;

(k) statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and 
suppliers and other Liens imposed by law or pursuant to customary reservations or retentions of title arising in the 
ordinary course of business; provided that such Liens attach only to Inventory and secure only amounts not yet due 
and payable or, if due and payable, are unfiled and no other action has been taken to enforce the same, are not 
overdue by more than 15 days; 

(l) Liens securing Indebtedness described in subsection (h) of the definition of Permitted 
Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000; provided that such Liens are limited 
exclusively to cash deposited into Deposit Accounts the balance of which does not to exceed $2,500,000;  

(m)Liens to secure workers’ compensation, employment insurance, old-age pensions, 
social security and other like obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business; 

(n) Liens securing Indebtedness arising under the Junior Loan Documents, subject to the 
terms of the Intercreditor Agreement; 

(o) Liens securing the obligations of Borrower pursuant to the 2023 Convertible Notes; 
and

(p) Liens in favor of the Agent granted pursuant to a Loan Document.

	 	 	 “Permitted Transfer” has the meaning given to such term in Section 7.2.
 
	 “Person” means and includes any individual, any partnership, any corporation, any business trust, any joint 
stock company, any limited liability company, any unincorporated association or any other entity and any 
Governmental Authority.
 
	 	 	 “Prime Rate” means, for any day, the Prime Rate most recently published in the Money Rates section 
of the Western Edition of The Wall Street Journal but in no event less than 3.25%, provided however, if the Prime 
Rate increases during any given month, the Prime Rate shall be deemed to be such increased amount as of the first 
day of such month and the additional interest resulting from such increase shall be due and payable on the first 
Business Day of the following month. If the Wall Street Journal, Western Addition no longer reports the Prime Rate, 
then Agent shall select a reasonably comparable index or source to use as the basis for the Prime Rate, provided that 
in no event shall the Prime Rate be less than 3.25%. 
 

“Pro Rata Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender, a percentage equal to a 
fraction, the numerator of which is such Lender’s Commitment and the denominator of which is the aggregate of the 
Commitments of all Lenders.

	
	 	 	 “Property”  means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, 
whether tangible or intangible.
 
	 	 	 “PSC Registrable Person” means a “registrable person” or “registrable relevant legal entity”.
Third Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement – Urgent.ly Inc.
(January 2024)	 14



 
	 	 	 “Register” has the meaning given to such term in Section 13.1.
 
	 	 	 “Required Lenders” means Lenders holding a majority in interest of the Commitment. 
 
	 	 	 “Responsible Officer” means the President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of 
Finance, Controller or director of a Loan Party.
 
	 	 	 “Restructuring Fee” means $2,231,883.86.
 
	 	 	 “Revenue” means, for any Person, revenue received by such Person as determined in accordance 
with GAAP (consistently applied) from the sale of finished Goods, (as defined in the Code), Inventory or services, 
in all cases in the ordinary course of such entity’s business, less returns, credits and sales taxes, computed using the 
same methodology employed in Current Financial Statements to report such matter.
 
	 “Sanctions” means economic or financial sanctions, requirements or trade embargoes imposed, administered or 
enforced from time to time by U.S. Governmental Authorities (including, but not limited to, OFAC the U.S.
Department of State and the U.S. Department of Commerce), the United Nations Security Council, the European 
Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury or any other relevant Governmental Authority.
 
	 “Sanctions Target” means any Person: (a) that is the subject or target of any Sanctions; (b) named in any 
Sanctions-related list maintained by OFAC, the U.S. Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce or the 
U.S. Department of the Treasury, including the OFAC list of “Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons,” 
or any similar list maintained by the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury 
or any other relevant Governmental Authority (c) located, organized or resident in a country, territory or 
geographical region which is itself the subject or target of any Sanctions (including, without limitation, the Crimea 
region of Ukraine, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria and, prior to January 1, 2017, Sudan) or (d) owned or controlled 
by any such Person or Persons described in the foregoing clauses (a)-(c).
 
	 	 	 “Securities Account” means any “securities account” as defined in the Code.
 
	 	 	 “Small Business Administration” means the U.S. Small Business Administration.
 
	 	 	 “SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any governmental or regulatory authority 
succeeding to any of its principal functions.
 
	 	 	 “Subordinated Debt” means any Indebtedness incurred by a Loan Party that is subordinated to the 
Obligations pursuant to a Subordination Agreement on terms acceptable to Agent.
 

“Subordination Agreement” means any subordination, intercreditor, or other similar 
agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Agent entered into between Agent and the other creditor, on terms 
acceptable to Agent whereby a Person subordinates the Indebtedness of Borrower or any Loan Party to such Person 
to the Indebtedness of Borrower or any Loan Party to Agent and/or Lenders.
 
	 	 	 “Subsidiary” means any Person that is an entity of which a majority of the outstanding capital stock, 
membership interests or other equity interests entitled to vote for the election of directors, managers or the 
equivalent is owned by Borrower directly or indirectly through Subsidiaries including any Subsidiary formed after 
the date hereof. 
 
	 	 	 “Success Fee” means seventeen and one-half percent (17.5%) of the Commitment, fully earned as of 
October 19, 2023.
	 	
	 	 	 “Successor Borrower” has the meaning given to such term in Section 7.3.
 
	 	 	 “SVB” means Silicon Valley Bank.
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	 	 	 “Synthetic Lease Obligations” means, as to any Person, an amount equal to the capitalized amount of 
the remaining lease payments under any synthetic lease that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person in 
accordance with GAAP (consistently applied) if such obligations were accounted for as Capital Lease Obligations.	
 
	 	 	 “ Tax Returns” means any return, report, information return, report, statement, declaration, estimate, 
schedule, notice, notification, form, election, certificate or other document (including schedules or any related or 
supporting information) filed or required to be filed with any Governmental Authority or any other tax authority in 
connection with the determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or the administration, 
implementation or enforcement of or compliance of any laws or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.
 
	 “Term Loan” means the term loans made available from time to time by Lender to Borrower pursuant to the 
Tranche 1 Loan or the Tranche 2 Loan. 
 
	 	 	 “Trademarks” means any trademark and servicemark rights, whether registered or not, applications 
to register and registrations of the same and like protections, and the entire goodwill of the business of a Person 
connected with and symbolized by such trademarks, whether or not filed with the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office or any foreign equivalent.
 
	 	 	 “Tranche 1 Loan” means $17,500,000, the full amount of which was outstanding pursuant to the First 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. 
 
	 	 	 “ Tranche 2 Loan” means $10,000,000, the full amount of which was outstanding pursuant to the 
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
 
	 	 	 “Transfer” has the meaning given to such term in Section 7.2.
 
	 	 	 “UK Insolvency Act” means the Insolvency Act 1986.
 
	 	 	 “Unrestricted Cash” of any Person, means cash or Cash Equivalents of such Person, (a) that are not, 
and are not required to be, designated as “restricted” on the financial statements of such Person, (b) that are not 
contractually required, and have not been contractually committed by such Person, to be used for a specific purpose,
 (c) that are not subject to (i) any provision of law, statute, rule or regulation, (ii) any provision of the organizational 
documents of such Person, (iii) any order of any Governmental Authority or (iv) any contractual restriction 
(including the terms of any Equity Interests), in each case of (i) through (iv), preventing such cash or Cash 
Equivalents from being applied to the payment of the Obligations, (d) in which no Person other than the Agent has a 
Lien other than Permitted Liens as set forth in subsection (g) and/or (n) of the definition of Permitted Liens, and (e) 
that are held in a Deposit Account or Securities Account, as applicable, in which the Agent has a valid and 
enforceable security interest, perfected by “control” (within the meaning of the applicable Code or for any Deposit
Account or Securities Account located outside the United States, other controlling legal authority), but in all cases 
shall exclude the amount of such Person’s Indebtedness which is more than 10 Business Days overdue (or in the 
case of Indebtedness of the type described in clause (e) of the definition of Indebtedness, remains outstanding more 
than 10 Business Days from the date constituting Indebtedness)..
 
	 	 	 “ USA FREEDOM Act” means The Uniting and Strengthening America by Fulfilling Rights and
Ending Eavesdropping, Dragnet-collection and Online Monitoring (USA FREEDOM ACT) Act of 2015, Public 
Law 114-23 (June 2, 2015), as may be amended.
 
	 	 	 “USA PATRIOT Act” means The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools 
Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (Title III of Pub. L. No. 107-56 (signed into law October 
26, 2001)), as may be amended.
 
	 	 	 “Warrant” means the warrant (or warrants) in favor of a Lender or one or more Affiliates of a Lender 
issued in connection with (a) the First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, as such warrants may be amended 
or amended and restated from time to time, and (b) the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, as such 
warrants may be amended or amended and restated from time to time. 
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1.2 Other Interpretive Provisions.  References in this Agreement to “Articles,” “Sections,” “Exhibits,” 
“Schedules” and “Annexes” are to articles, sections, exhibits, schedules and annexes herein and hereto unless 
otherwise indicated.  References in this Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents to (a) any other 
document, instrument or agreement shall include all exhibits, schedules, annexes and other attachments thereto, and 
(b) any law, statute or regulation shall include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, 
replacing, supplementing or interpreting such law, statute or regulation, and (c) any reference herein to any Person 
shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns.  References to this Agreement or any 
of the other Loan Documents shall mean such document, instrument or agreement, or replacement or predecessor 
thereto, as amended, modified, restated and supplemented from time to time and in effect at any given time, 
provided that Borrower may amend the Perfection Certificate and Disclosure Schedules unilaterally only as 
expressly authorized in Section 5. The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when 
used in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall refer to this Agreement or such other Loan Document, as 
the case may be, as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement or such other Loan Document, as 
the case may be.  The words “include” and “including” and words or similar import when used in this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document shall not be construed to be limiting or exclusive.  Unless otherwise indicated in this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document, (d) all references to dollars, Dollars or $ shall mean United States Dollars, 
and (e) all accounting terms used in this Agreement or any other Loan Document (e.g. revenue) shall be construed, 
and all accounting and financial computations hereunder or thereunder shall be computed, in accordance with 
GAAP, consistently applied.  Any of the terms defined herein may, unless the context otherwise requires, be used in 
the singular or the plural, depending on the reference.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include 
the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.

2. Loan and Terms of Payment

2.1Commitment.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and relying upon the 
representations and warranties herein set forth as and when made or deemed to be made, each Lender 
agrees to lend to Borrower the Advances; provided that the aggregate principal amount of the Advances 
shall not exceed the Commitment, and no Lender shall be required to lend more than its Pro Rata 
Percentage of the Commitment as set forth on Schedule 2.1.  If prepaid, the principal of the Advances made 
pursuant to any Term Loan may not be reborrowed. As of the Closing Date, Seventeen Million Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($17,500,000) of the outstanding Advances shall be deemed to be Advances 
under the Tranche 1 Loan, and Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) of the outstanding Advances shall be 
deemed to be Advances under the Tranche 2 Loan.  

2.2 Use of Proceeds; The Advances.

(a) Use of Proceeds.  The proceeds of the Advances shall be used solely for the general 
corporate purposes of the Borrower, including without limitation growth related initiatives, refinancing of existing 
Indebtedness, acquisitions, and additional capex spending, in all cases subject to the terms of this Agreement.

(b) The Advances.  The Advances shall be repayable as set forth in Section 2.4.  Each 
Lender and Agent may, and are hereby authorized by Borrower to, endorse in Lender’s and Agent’s books and 
records appropriate notations regarding such Lender’s interest in the Advances; provided, however, that the failure to 
make, or an error in making, any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the Obligations.

2.3 Procedure for Making Advances; Interest.

(a) Notice and Eligibility. Other than the Advance for the Tranche 1 Loan, Borrower shall submit a Notice of 
Borrowing to Agent not less than three (3) Business Days prior to each Funding Date. The Notice of Borrowing for 
the Tranche 1 Loan has already been submitted. Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing, Agent shall immediately 
notify Lenders. Each Lender’s obligation hereunder to make the Advance on the initial Funding Date shall be 
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Sections 3.1 and 3.2. The amount of any requested  Advance 
shall be for at least the Minimum Funding Amount. Each Lender’s obligation hereunder to make a subsequent 
Advance shall be subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3.2. Upon satisfaction of the 
applicable conditions for any Advance requested by Borrower hereunder, each Lender agrees, severally and not 
jointly, to make such Advance to Borrower in an aggregate principal amount equal to such Lender’s Pro Rata 
Percentage of such Advance for the Term Loan being provided.

(b) Interest Rate.  Borrower shall pay interest to Agent for the benefit of Lenders on the unpaid principal amount 
of the Advances from the date of such Advance until such Advance has been paid in full in cash, at a per annum rate 
of interest equal to the Basic Rate. In addition, Borrower shall pay interest to Agent for the benefit of Lenders at the 
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Basic Rate for Advances made under the Tranche 2 Loan on any other Obligation from the time when such 
Obligation is due until such Obligation has been paid in full in cash.  All computations of interest shall be based on a 
year of three hundred sixty (360) days for actual days elapsed.  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the 
amount of interest payable hereunder shall not in any event exceed the maximum amount permitted by the law 
applicable to interest charged on commercial loans.

(c) Disbursement.  Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3.1 and Section 3.2, as 
applicable, with respect to any Advance, the Advances shall be disbursed by Agent after receipt from the responsible 
Lender via wire transfer of funds to one or more accounts designated in writing by Borrower in the Notice of 
Borrowing.   

(d) Termination of Commitment to Lend.  Notwithstanding anything in the Loan Documents to contrary, 
Lender’s obligation to provide any additional Advance has terminated as of the Closing Date.

2.4 Amortization of Principal and Interest; Final Payment.

(a) Interest Payments.  Interest on each Advance shall be due and payable to Agent for the benefit of Lenders in 
advance on the first Business Day of each month and continuing on the first Business Day of each month thereafter 
(each a “Payment Date”) during the term of such Advance; provided however, and in addition, that upon the funding 
of each Advance, interest on such Advance shall be withheld from the Advance on the Funding Date of the Advance 
for the period between the Funding Date of such Advance and the first Payment Date immediately following the 
Funding Date of such Advance. Once paid, interest is nonrefundable and shall be deemed earned as of the Payment 
Date for which such interest payment is due. Agent shall allocate and distribute all interest payments received from 
Borrower to the Lenders based on each Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage.

(b) Principal Payments. Borrower shall repay the entire outstanding principal amount of the Advances on the 
Maturity Date. Agent shall allocate and distribute all principal payments received from Borrower to the Lenders 
based on each Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage.

(c) Final Payment. Borrower shall pay the entire unpaid principal of Advances and accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon, and all other unpaid Obligations arising under the Term Loan, in full in cash on the Maturity Date, 
including the Final Payment Fee, the Success Fee, the Restructuring Fee, the Exit Fee and the Amendment Fee. 
Agent shall allocate and distribute all such payments to the Lenders based on each Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage.

2.5 Fees and Expenses.  Borrower shall pay to Agent the following:

(a)  Facility Fee.  On each Funding Date, a cash facility fee equal to one percent (1.0%) of the Advance (each, a 
“Facility Fee”), payable to Agent for the benefit of SCI. The Facility Fee will be deducted and withheld from such 
Advance.  The Facility Fee is nonrefundable and deemed fully earned as of the Funding Date related to the Advance 
for which the Facility Fee is due. As of the Closing Date, the Facility Fee in respect of the Tranche 1 Loan (equal to 
$175,000) and the Facility Fee in respect of the Tranche 2 Loan (equal to $100,000) have been paid to Agent for the 
benefit of SCI and no further payment is required with respect thereto. 

(b) Reserved.

(c) Lender’s Expenses.  On the initial Funding Date, all unreimbursed Lender Expenses, which Agent may 
deduct from the Advance. Thereafter, all unreimbursed Lender Expenses shall be due on demand.  Agent shall 
allocate and disburse such payments to the Person having incurred such Lender Expenses.

(d) Late Fee.  If any payment is not made when due, Borrower shall pay a late fee equal to the lesser of (i) five 
percent (5%) of the amount of such unpaid amount or (ii) the maximum amount permitted to be charged under 
applicable law. Agent shall allocate and distribute all such payments to the Lenders based on each Lender’s Pro Rata 
Percentage.

2.6 Prepayments.

(a) Mandatory Prepayment Upon an Acceleration.  If, at the election of Agent, repayment of the Advances is 
accelerated following the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, then Borrower shall immediately pay 
to Agent for the benefit of Lenders (i) all accrued and unpaid payments of interest with respect to the Advances due 
prior to the date of prepayment, (ii) the outstanding principal amount of the Advances, (iii) the Success Fee, (iv) the 
Final Payment Fee, (v) the Exit Fee, (vi) the Amendment Fee, (vii) the Restructuring Fee and (viii) all other sums, if 
any, that shall have become due and payable hereunder with respect to the Advances, including all Obligations due 
hereunder.
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(b) Mandatory Prepayment Upon a Liquidation Event.  If a Liquidation Event shall occur, then 
Borrower shall upon such Liquidation Event pay to Agent for the benefit of Lenders (i) all accrued and 
unpaid payments of interest with respect to the Advances due prior to such Liquidation Event, (ii) the 
outstanding principal amount of the Advances, (iii) the Success Fee, (iv) the Final Payment Fee, (v) the 
Exit Fee, (vi) the Amendment Fee, (vii) the Restructuring Fee and (viii) all other sums, if any, that shall 
have become due and payable hereunder with respect to the Advances, including all Obligations due 
hereunder.

 
(c) Voluntary Prepayment of Advances.  Borrower shall have the right upon not less than five (5) 
Business Days’ advance written notice to Agent, to prepay the Advances in whole and not in part. Upon 
such repayment or prepayment of the Advances, the Borrower hereby absolutely and unconditionally 
promises to pay to the Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, and there shall become absolutely due and 
payable on the date of each such repayment or prepayment, all of the unpaid interest, if any, accrued to such 
date on the amount of the principal of the Advances being repaid or prepaid on such date, together with (i) 
the Success Fee, (ii) the Final Payment Fee, (iii) the Exit Fee, (iv) the Amendment Fee, (v) the 
Restructuring Fee and (vi) all other sums, if any, that shall have become due and payable hereunder with 
respect to the Advances, including all Obligations due hereunder.

(d) Mandatory Prepayment on the Closing Date. On the Closing Date, Borrower shall prepay (i) the 
Tranche 1 Loan in the principal amount of $17,500,000, (ii) the Success Fee in the principal amount of 
$4,812,500, and (iii) the Final Payment Fee in the principal amount of $1,240,000. 

2.7 Other Payment Terms.

(a) Place and Manner.  Borrower shall authorize Agent to cause all payments due to Agent hereunder, whether 
such payments are on account of the Advances, Lender Expenses, fees or other payments due, to be made in lawful 
money of the United States, in good same day or immediately available funds to an account designated by Agent or 
to Agent’s address.  

(b) Date.  Whenever any payment due hereunder shall fall due on a day other than a Business Day, such payment 
shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such extension of time shall be included in the computation 
of interest or fees, as the case may be.

(c) Default Rate.  If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, at Agent’s election, Borrower shall pay 
interest on the Obligations from the date of such Event of Default until such Event of Default is cured, at a per 
annum rate equal to the Default Rate.  All computations of such interest shall be based on a year of three hundred 
sixty (360) days for actual days elapsed.

(d) Payments Free from Taxes.  All payments by or on account of any obligation of a Loan Party hereunder shall 
be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any present or future taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, 
assessments, fees, withholdings or similar charges imposed under U.S. federal, state, local or any foreign law 
(including additions to tax, penalties and interest), other than (i) taxes imposed on or with respect to a Lender or its 
assignee based on or measured with respect to overall net income or net profits (including any branch profits or 
franchise taxes imposed in lieu thereof), (ii) backup withholding taxes by the jurisdiction (or any political 
subdivision thereof) under the laws of the jurisdiction(s) in which a Lender or its assignee is resident or deemed to 
be resident, is organized, or carries on business or is deemed to carry on business (other than a jurisdiction in which 
a Lender or its assignee would not have been treated as carrying on business but for this Agreement) to which such 
payment relates, other than any such withholding taxes under Israeli or English law, (iii) withholding taxes imposed 
on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender or assignee with respect to an applicable interest in an 
Obligation or Advance pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which such Lender or assignee acquires such 
interest in the Obligation or Advance, other than any such withholding taxes under Israeli or English law, (iv) any 
U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA and (v) any taxes imposed solely as a result of a Lender’s or 
any of its assignee’s assignment of this Agreement (such taxes in clauses (i)-(v), “Excluded Taxes”). For the 
avoidance of doubt, any withholding taxes under Israeli or English law will not be considered as Excluded Taxes. If 
any taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, shall be deducted (as required by law or otherwise) from, or in respect of, any 
such payments (including any consent or similar fees), (x) the sum payable by a Loan Party shall be increased as 
necessary so that after making all deductions (including deductions on account of taxes that are applicable to 
additional sums payable under this Section 2.7(d)), a Lender or its assignee receives an amount equal to the sum it 
would have received had no such deductions been made, (y) the applicable withholding agent shall make such 
deductions, and (z) the applicable withholding agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation 
authority or other authority in accordance with applicable laws.  
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Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of amounts deducted to the appropriate taxing authority 
(or, if receipts or evidence are not available within thirty (30) days, as soon as possible thereafter), Borrower, or the 
Loan Party making payment, shall furnish to Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment 
thereof, or such other written proof of payment thereof that is reasonably satisfactory to Agent.  If a Loan Party fails 
to pay any taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) when due to the appropriate taxing authority or fails to remit to Agent 
for the benefit of the Lenders the required receipts or other required documentary evidence, the Loan Parties shall 
indemnify Agent and Lenders (and any assignee) for any taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) that may become 
payable by such person (or such person’s beneficial owners) arising out of such failure.  Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary contained herein, in the event that a Lender shall sell, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of 
any or all of its rights and/or obligations hereunder to a Person that is not a “United States Person” (as such term is 
defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended), such Lender (and not any Loan Party) 
shall be solely responsible for any withholding or other taxes assessed on account of such transfer, or on account of 
the payment of principal and/or interest to such Person under this Agreement.  As used herein, “FATCA” means 
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or 
successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or 
future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) 
of the Internal Revenue Code. 

(e) Crediting Payments.  Unless otherwise approved by Agent, all payments to be made by any Loan Party 
under any of the Loan Documents shall be made by same day wire transfer to Agent for the benefit of Lenders in 
accordance with the wire transfer instructions as provided in writing by Agent, as may be updated in writing from 
time to time by Agent. Unless otherwise determined by Agent, all payments received from any Loan Party shall be 
applied first to any outstanding fees and/or Lender Expenses, then to accrued and unpaid interest, then to principal.  
Any wire transfer or payment received by Agent after 12:00 noon Pacific Time may be deemed to have been 
received by Agent as of the opening of business on the immediately following Business Day. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Borrower authorizes Agent to process payment of all Obligations by debiting Borrower’s account as 
provided in the ACH Debit Consent, and notice shall be provided to Borrower should any payment be processed.    

2.8 Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the Closing Date, superseding the Second Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement, and shall continue in full force and effect for so long as any Obligations remain 
outstanding (other than inchoate indemnity obligations).  Notwithstanding termination, Agent’s Lien on the 
Collateral shall remain in effect for so long as any Obligations are outstanding (other than inchoate indemnity 
obligations) and upon payment in full in cash of all Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations which are 
not the subject of an indemnity claim), Agent’s Lien on the Collateral shall terminate automatically.

3. Conditions of Closing and Advances

3.1 Conditions Precedent to Initial Funding.  The obligation of each Lender to make the initial Advance on the 
Closing Date is subject to the condition precedent that Agent shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory 
to Agent, or that Agent shall have waived in writing the requirement to receive such item, all of the following:

(a) The Loan Documents duly executed by Borrower and its Subsidiaries required to sign a Joinder Agreement;

(b) A duly executed officer’s certificate of Borrower and any party signing a Joinder Agreement containing the 
following documents: (i) current certificate of incorporation (or equivalent document), (ii) bylaws, (iii) resolutions 
authorizing the Loan Documents, (iv) a good standing certificate from each party’s state of formation and from any 
state where such party is, or is required to be, qualified to do business and (v) incumbency and representative 
signatures;

(c) All necessary consents of stockholders or members and other third parties with respect to the execution, 
delivery and performance of the Loan Documents;

(d) All documentation and other information which Agent reasonably requests with respect to any Loan Party in 
order to comply with their ongoing obligations under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering 
rules and regulations, including the USA PATRIOT ACT, the USA FREEDOM Act, IRS Form W-9 and other 
applicable tax forms;

(e) The Current Financial Statements of Borrower shall have been delivered to Agent; 

(f) Evidence of the insurance coverage required by Section 6.8 of this Agreement; and 

(g) Such other documents, and completion of such other matters, as Agent may deem necessary or appropriate.
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3.2 Conditions Precedent to all Advances.  The obligation of Lender to make each Advance, including the initial 
Advance on the initial Funding Date, is further subject to the following conditions:

(a) Borrower shall have executed and delivered to Agent for the benefit of a Lender, the Note in the principal 
amount of such Advance including the initial Advance;

(b) Agent shall have received such documents, instruments and agreements, including certificates evidencing 
Collateral consisting of Equity Interests, UCC financing statements (other than in respect of the English Security 
Documents) or amendments to UCC financing statements, as Agent shall reasonably request to evidence the 
perfection and priority of the security interests granted to Agent pursuant to Section 4;

(c) Each Loan Party shall have delivered to Agent for the benefit of Lender a Subordination Agreement, release, 
or estoppel letter, as appropriate, from any Person having an existing Lien on any item of Collateral;

(d) The representations and warranties contained in Section 5 shall be true and correct on and as of effective date 
of each Advance as though made at and as of each such date, and no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred 
and be continuing, or would exist after giving effect to such Advance.  The making of each Advance shall be 
deemed to be a representation and warranty by each Loan Party on the date of such Advance as to the accuracy of 
the facts referred to in this Section 3.2. 

(e) The funding of such Advance shall be allowed pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement. 

(f) In Agent’s reasonable discretion, there has not been any material impairment in the Collateral, Loan Parties’ 
general affairs, management, results of operations, financial condition or the prospect for repayment of the 
Obligations.

(g) Such other documents, and completion of such other matters, as Agent may reasonably deem necessary or 
appropriate, including documentation necessary so that Administrative Agent can comply with applicable know-
your-client regulations.

3.3 Covenant to Deliver.  Each Loan Party agrees (not as a condition but as a covenant) to deliver to Agent each 
item required under this Agreement to be delivered to Agent as a condition to each Advance, if such Advance is 
made.  Each Loan Party expressly agrees that the extension of such Advance prior to the receipt by Agent of any 
such item shall not constitute a waiver by Agent of such Loan Party’s obligation to deliver such item. Upon Agent’s 
written request, Borrower shall promptly deliver an executed Note representing any Advance that is then 
outstanding. 

4. Creation of Security Interest

4.1 Grant of Security Interest. 

(a) To secure prompt repayment of any and all Obligations and prompt performance by the Loan Parties of each 
of its covenants and duties under the Loan Documents, the Loan Parties grants Agent, for itself and as agent for 
Lenders, a continuing security interest in all presently existing and hereafter acquired or arising Collateral.  Except 
as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, such security interest constitutes a valid, first priority security interest in the 
presently existing Collateral, and will constitute a valid, first priority security interest in Collateral acquired after the 
date hereof subject to Permitted Liens described in subsections (c), (g) or (l) of the definition of Permitted Liens. 
This Agreement is intended by the parties to be a security agreement for purposes of the Code.

(b) Each Israeli Loan Party undertakes to create, in favor of the Agents and for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, 
a first-ranking floating charge over all of the present and future assets of such Israeli Loan Party whether now 
existing or hereafter created (including without limitation,  Intellectual Property), and a first ranking fixed charge 
over its registered and unissued share capital, its reputation and goodwill, Intellectual Property and other fixed assets 
and any tax benefit it may have, in accordance with the Debenture Floating Charge and the Debenture Fixed Charge. 
In addition, each Israeli Loan Party undertakes to create, within 20 days of the end of each financial quarter, and 
more often if requested at the sole and absolute discretion of the Agent, a first ranking fixed charge over any 
additional applications for registration of Intellectual Property of such Israeli Loan Party or additional registered 
Intellectual Property of such Israeli Loan Party and any additional unregistered Intellectual Property developed by 
such Israeli Loan Party, if any, all in accordance with the Debenture Fixed Charge in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit K (or in the form of an amendment to the existing ISR Debenture, at the Agents’ discretion; each such new 
and/or amended debenture shall also be included in the definition of the term “ISR Debenture” herein). Each Israeli 
Loan Party warrants and represents that the charges of the ISR Debentures, upon the filing and due registration 
thereof, shall be first priority fixed and floating charges (as provided therein) in the Collateral (in respect of such 
assets that are pledged under the ISR Debentures).
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4.2 Duration of Security Interest.  Agent’s security interest in the Collateral shall continue until the payment in 
full in cash and the satisfaction of all Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations or other obligations that 
expressly survive termination), whereupon such security interest shall terminate and Agent shall, at Borrower’s sole 
cost and expense, promptly execute such further documents and take such further actions as may be necessary to 
effect the release contemplated by this Section 4.2, including duly executing and delivering termination statements 
for filing in all relevant jurisdictions under the Code. 

4.3 Possession of Collateral.  So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Loan Parties 
shall remain in full possession, enjoyment and control of the Collateral (except only as may be otherwise required by 
Agent for perfection of its security interest therein) and shall be entitled to manage, operate and use the same and 
each part thereof with all the rights and franchises appertaining thereto; provided, however, that the possession, 
enjoyment, control and use of the Collateral shall at all times be subject to the observance and performance of the 
terms of this Agreement.

4.4 Delivery of Additional Documentation Required.  The Loan Parties shall from time to time execute and 
deliver to Agent for the benefit of Lenders, at the request of Agent, all Negotiable Collateral (having a value in 
excess of One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000) in the aggregate) and other documents that Agent may 
reasonably request, in a form satisfactory to Agent, to perfect and continue the perfection of Agent’s security 
interests in the Collateral and in order to fully consummate all of the transactions contemplated under the Loan 
Documents. For the avoidance of doubt, if a Loan Party acquires a Commercial Tort Claim (having a value in excess 
of One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000)), such Loan Party shall promptly notify Agent in a writing 
signed by such Loan Party of the general details thereof and upon Agent’s request, such Loan Party shall promptly, 
but in no event more than three (3) Business Days after such request, agree to an amendment to the definition 
Collateral in Exhibit A hereto to include such Commercial Tort Claim, such amendment to be in form and substance 
as required by Agent. 

4.5 Right to Inspect.  Agent (through any of its officers, employees, or agents) shall have the right, upon 
reasonable prior notice, from time to time during usual business hours but no more than twice a year (unless an 
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing), to inspect a Loan Party’s and its Subsidiaries’ Books and to make 
copies thereof and to check, test, and appraise the Collateral in order to verify the Loan Parties’ and their 
Subsidiaries’ financial condition or the amount, condition of, or any other matter relating to, the Collateral.

5. Representations and Warranties

Each Loan Party represents, warrants and covenants to Agent and Lenders as follows, which 
representations, warranties and covenants shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
providing of Advances pursuant hereto: 

5.1 Due Organization and Qualification.  Each Loan Party is duly formed and existing under the laws of its 
state or other jurisdiction of formation as disclosed in the Perfection Certificate, and qualified and licensed to do 
business in any jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or its ownership of property requires that it be so 
qualified, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect.
Each of the Loan Parties’ Subsidiaries is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of its respective 
jurisdiction of formation as disclosed in the Perfection Certificate. With respect to any Israeli Loan Party, each 
Israeli Loan Party is duly organized and validly existing and not in the status of a 'breaching company' (as such term 
is defined under the Israeli Companies Law 5759), under the laws of the State of Israel and has the power to carry on 
its business as it is now being conducted and to owns its property and other assets. 

5.2 Authority.  The execution, delivery, and performance of the Loan Documents are within the Loan Parties’ 
powers, have been duly authorized, and are not in conflict with nor constitute a breach of any provision of a Loan 
Party’s certificate of incorporation (or equivalent). No Loan Party is in default under any Material Contract to which 
it is a party or by which it is bound and the execution and delivery by such Loan Party of the Loan Documents will 
not cause a breach of any Material Contract to which such Loan Party is a party or by which it is bound.

5.3 Subsidiaries.  As of the Closing Date, each Subsidiary (both direct and indirect) of Urgent.ly is disclosed on 
the Perfection Certificate. Except as disclosed on the Perfection Certificate, Borrower’s ownership interests in each 
Subsidiary is evidenced by a physical certificate which has been delivered to Agent in furtherance of its Lien on the 
Collateral.  Each Subsidiary is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of its respective jurisdiction as 
disclosed in the Perfection Certificate.

5.4 Conflict with Other Instruments, etc.  Neither the execution and delivery of any Loan Document to which a
Loan Party is a party nor the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated nor compliance with the terms, 
conditions and provisions thereof will (a) conflict with or result in a breach of any material law or any material 
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regulation, order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality or (b) result in the 
creation or imposition of any Lien on any assets of Borrower or any Subsidiary, other than Permitted Liens and 
Liens granted to Agent under this Agreement. 

5.5 Enforceability.  The Loan Documents have been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and/or any 
Loan Party that is a party thereto, and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Borrower or such Loan Party, 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights or by general principles of equity.

5.6 No Prior Encumbrances.  The Loan Parties have good, valid and marketable title to the Collateral, free and 
clear of Liens, except for the first priority Lien held by Agent and except for other Permitted Liens. The Loan Parties 
have all right to dispose of the Collateral free and clear of all Liens except for Permitted Liens. 

5.7 Name; Location of Chief Executive Office, Principal Place of Business and Collateral.  As of the Closing 
Date and each date that a Compliance Certificate is to be delivered, (a) in the most recent five (5) years, the Loan 
Parties have not done business under any name other than that specified on the signature page hereof or as disclosed 
on the Perfection Certificate, as may be amended, (b) the chief executive office (or in respect of an English Loan 
Party, its registered office), principal place of business, and the locations where the Loan Parties maintain their 
records concerning the Collateral are presently located at the address(es) set forth in the Perfection Certificate, as 
may be amended (c) the tangible property included in the Collateral is presently located at the address(es) set forth 
in the Perfection Certificate, as may be amended, and (d) the Perfection Certificate is accurate and complete.  Except 
as disclosed in Section 2.f of the Perfection Certificate, as may be amended, no Collateral is in the possession of a 
bailee or any third party.

5.8 Litigation; Governmental Action.  Except as set forth in Section 6 of the Perfection Certificate, there are no 
actions or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers, threatened by or against Borrower 
or any of its Subsidiaries involving (i) more than, individually or in the aggregate, Two Hundred Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($250,000), (ii) fines, penalties or other sanctions by any Governmental Authority, or (iii) claims for 
injunctive or equitable relief. Except as set forth in Section 6 of the Perfection Certificate, there is no action or 
proceeding pending by or against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries where Borrower or any Subsidiary has 
incurred in excess of $250,000 in legal expenses, including without limitation, attorneys’ fees, for which Borrower 
has not been reimbursed by third party insurance (i.e., not self-insurance) within 60 days of Borrower’s written 
request for reimbursement.

5.9 Financial Statements.  All consolidated financial statements related to Borrower and its Subsidiaries fairly 
present in all material respects Borrower’s consolidated financial condition as of the date thereof and consolidated 
results of operations for the period then ended.  There has not been a material adverse change in the financial 
condition of the Loan Parties since the date of the most recent of such financial statements and submitted to Agent 
and Lenders and most recently filed by the Borrower with the SEC as of the Closing Date (the “Current Financial 
Statements”). 

5.10 Solvency.  From and after the Closing Date, Borrower and each other Loan Party is not Insolvent.

5.11 Taxes.  Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, Borrower and each Subsidiary has filed or caused to 
be filed all Tax Returns required to be filed, and has paid, or has made adequate provision for the payment of, all 
taxes before the same become delinquent, other than payments of taxes in an outstanding aggregate amount not to 
exceed $25,000 or except to the extent such taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings 
promptly instituted and diligently conducted, so long as such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall 
be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made therefor. Except as set forth in the Disclosure 
Schedules, no Loan Party is aware of any claims or adjustments proposed for any of Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s 
prior tax years which could result in additional taxes in excess of $25,000 becoming due and payable. Borrower and 
each Subsidiary have paid all amounts necessary, if any, to fund all present pension, profit sharing and deferred 
compensation plans in accordance with their terms, and neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary have withdrawn from 
participation in, and have not permitted partial or complete termination of, or permitted the occurrence of any other 
event with respect to, any such plan which could reasonably be expected to result in any liability of Borrower or any 
Subsidiary in excess of $250,000, including any such liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its 
successors or any other governmental agency. No Israeli Loan Party has instituted, negotiated, signed or become a 
party to any arrangement (including (“hesder prisa”), settlement, compromise or any similar agreement of any kind 
or nature whatsoever with any Israeli tax authority, the National Insurance Institute of Israel or any other 
Governmental Authority, according to which the payments or obligations of an Israeli Loan Party towards such 
entities will be rescheduled, deferred or otherwise paid in instalments.
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5.12 Consents and Approvals.  No approval, authorization or consent of any trustee or holder of any Indebtedness 
or obligation of any Loan Party or of any other Person under any material agreement, contract, lease or license or 
similar document or instrument to which Borrower or any Subsidiary is a party or by which Borrower or any 
Subsidiary is bound, is required to be obtained by any Loan Party in order to make or consummate the transactions 
contemplated under the Loan Documents.  All consents and approvals of, filings and registrations with, and other 
actions in respect of, all Governmental Authorities required to be obtained by any Loan Party in order to make or 
consummate the transactions contemplated under the Loan Documents have been, or prior to the time when required 
will have been, obtained, given, filed or taken and are or will be in full force and effect.

5.13 Intellectual Property.  Borrower and each Subsidiary is the sole owner of its Intellectual Property, except for 
(i) over the counter software and non-customized mass market licenses that are commercially available to the public, 
(ii) non-exclusive licenses granted by Borrower and/or its Subsidiaries (as applicable) to its customers or other third 
parties in the ordinary course of business, (iii) exclusive licenses as to a single territory (other than the United States, 
Israel or England) or market segment (outside the United States, Israel or England) in the ordinary course of 
Borrower’s and/or its Subsidiaries business not to exceed eighteen months of duration and approved in advance in 
writing by Agent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, and (iv) Intellectual Property licensed to Borrower 
or its Subsidiaries. Section 4 of the Perfection Certificate, as may be amended, lists all of Borrower’s and each 
Subsidiary’s registered Intellectual Property together with all other Intellectual Property that is material to 
Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s business (except for over the counter software and non-customized mass market 
licenses that are commercially available to the public). No Intellectual Property material to Borrower’s business is 
owned by any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party. Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules and the Perfection 
Certificate, as amended as provided herein, (a) each of the Copyrights, Trademarks and Patents owned by Borrower 
or any Subsidiary that is material to its business is valid and enforceable, (b) no part of the Intellectual Property 
owned by Borrower or any Subsidiary that is material to its business has been judged invalid or unenforceable, in 
whole or in part, (c) no claim has been made to Borrower or any Subsidiary that any material Intellectual Property 
violates or infringes the rights of any third party, and (d) neither Borrower, nor any Subsidiary is a party to, or bound 
by, any material inbound license or other agreement that restricts the grant by Borrower or any Subsidiary of a 
security interest in Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s rights in such license or agreement or any other Intellectual 
Property.  Each Loan Party has a valid license agreement for the use of Intellectual Property rights of third parties 
known to Borrower to be necessary to the conduct of Borrower’s business.

5.14 Accounts.  All of Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ Deposit Accounts and Securities Accounts are listed on the 
Disclosure Schedules, as may be amended. Each of such accounts is subject to a Control Agreement in favor of 
Agent to the extent required under Section 7.11 of this Agreement. Prior to opening any new account after the 
Closing Date, the Loan Parties shall first notify Agent and not deposit any funds or securities into such account until 
such account is subject to a Control Agreement in favor of Agent to the extent required under Section 7.11 of this 
Agreement, whereupon, the Loan Parties shall be deemed to have updated the Disclosure Schedules to include such 
new account. 

5.15 Environmental Condition.  None of Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s material properties or assets has ever 
been used by Borrower or any Subsidiary or, to any Loan Party’s knowledge, by previous owners or operators, in the 
disposal of, or to produce, store, handle, treat, release, or transport, any hazardous waste or hazardous substance 
other than in material compliance with applicable law; to any Loan Party’s knowledge, no Loan Party’s material 
properties or assets has ever been designated or identified in any manner pursuant to any environmental protection 
statute as a hazardous waste or hazardous substance disposal site, or a candidate for closure pursuant to any 
environmental protection statute; no lien arising under any environmental protection statute has attached to any 
material Revenue or to any material real or personal property owned by Borrower or any Subsidiary; and neither 
Borrower nor any Subsidiary has received a summons, citation, notice, or directive from the Environmental 
Protection Agency or any other federal, state or other governmental agency concerning any material action or 
omission by Borrower or any Subsidiary resulting in the releasing, or otherwise disposing of hazardous waste or 
hazardous substances into the environment.

5.16 Government Consents.  The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries have obtained all material consents, 
approvals and authorizations of, made all declarations or filings with, and given all notices to, all Governmental 
Authorities that are necessary for the continued operation of the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ business as 
currently conducted.

5.17 Full Disclosure.  No representation, warranty or other statement made by any Loan Party in any Loan 
Document, certificate or written statement furnished to Agent or any Lender, taken together with all such 
certificates, Loan Documents and written statements, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to 
state a material 
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fact necessary in order to make the statements contained in such Loan Documents, certificates or statements 
not misleading, it being recognized by Agent and Lenders that the projections and forecasts provided by the Loan 
Parties in good faith and based upon reasonable assumptions are not to be viewed as facts and that actual results
during the period or periods covered by any such projections and forecasts may differ from the projected or 
forecasted results.

5.18 Inventory. All Inventory is in all material respects of good and marketable quality, free from all material 
defects, spoilage, non-conformance, or payment dispute, except for Inventory for which adequate reserves have been 
made.

5.19 Material Contracts; Material Customers.  

(a) As of the July 12, 2022, Borrower has delivered to Agent true and correct copies of all Material Contracts (or, 
with respect to oral contracts or agreements, written descriptions of the material terms thereof).

(b) If any Material Contract is entered into after the July 12, 2022, Borrower will provide a copy of such Material 
Contract with the next scheduled Compliance Certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.4 and will identify it 
as such in the Compliance Certificate. Borrower shall also amend the Perfection Certificate and Disclosure 
Schedules to include such Material Contract. Neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary is in default under any Material 
Contract to which it is a party or by which it is bound and the execution and delivery by the Loan Parties of the Loan 
Documents will not cause a breach of any Material Contract.

(c) Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ seven (7) largest customers for each of the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2021, and for the fiscal year to date (“Material Customers”) are listed in the Disclosure Schedules, as may be 
amended. Except as contemplated in the Approved Budget, all Material Customers continue to be customers of the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, as the case may be, and none of such Material Customers has reduced 
materially its business with the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, from the levels achieved 
during the year ended December 31, 2021 or during the fiscal year to date, and neither the Borrower nor any of its 
Subsidiaries has any knowledge that such reduction will occur. No Material Customer has terminated its relationship 
with the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, as the case may be, or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or such 
Subsidiary, has threatened in writing to do so. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary thereof is involved in any 
material claim, dispute or controversy with any Material Customer. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary thereof 
is involved in any claim, dispute or controversy with any of its other customers that could reasonably be expected to 
have a Material Adverse Effect.

5.20 Sanctioned Persons.  None of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, and to each Loan Party’s knowledge, any 
of their directors, officers, agents, employees or Affiliates is currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by 
the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Treasury Department (“OFAC”) or any sanctions administered by 
any Israeli or English Governmental Authority.  The Loan Parties will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of 
any Advance or otherwise make available such proceeds to any Person, for the purpose of financing the activities of 
any Person currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC or any Israeli or English Governmental 
Authority .

5.21 Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. 

(a) Neither the borrowing of any Advance by Borrower hereunder nor its use thereof will violate (i) the United 
States Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, (ii) any of the foreign assets control regulations of the United 
States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter V, as amended) or any enabling legislation or executive 
order relating thereto, (iii) Executive Order No. 13,224, 66 Fed Reg 49,079 (2001), issued by the President of the 
United States (Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, 
Threaten to Commit or Support Terrorism) (the “Terrorism Order”), (iv) USA PATRIOT ACT, or (v) USA 
FREEDOM ACT.  No part of the Advance will be used, directly or indirectly, for any payments to any governmental 
official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting 
in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of 
the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.

(b) Neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary (i) is or will become a “blocked person” as described in Section 1.01 of 
the Terrorism Order or (ii) engages or will engage in any dealings or transactions, or is otherwise associated, with 
any such blocked person.

(c) Each of Borrower and any Subsidiary and their Affiliates are in compliance, in all material respects, with the 
USA PATRIOT ACT and the USA FREEDOM ACT.
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(d) Each of Borrower and any Subsidiary and their Affiliates is and will remain in compliance in all
material respects with all European, US and UK economic sanctions laws (including, but not limited to (x) 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Crime and Courts Act 2013 and the Serious Crime Act 
2015), (y) the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on Payer) 
Regulations 2017 (as amended), and (z) the Terrorism Act 2000 (as amended by the Anti-Terrorism, Crime 
and Security Act 2001, the Terrorism Act 2006 and the Terrorism Act 2000 and Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 (Amendment) Regulations 2007).

(e) Each of Borrower and any Subsidiary and their Affiliates is and will remain in compliance in all
material respects with all European, US and UK economic sanctions laws (including, but not limited to (x) 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Crime and Courts Act 2013 and the Serious Crime Act 
2015), (y) the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on Payer) 
Regulations 2017 (as amended), and (z) the Terrorism Act 2000 (as amended by the Anti-Terrorism, Crime 
and Security Act 2001, the Terrorism Act 2006 and the Terrorism Act 2000 and Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 (Amendment) Regulations 2007).

5.22 Eligible Accounts. All sales and other transactions underlying or giving rise to each Eligible Account shall 
comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and governmental rules and regulations. To the best of each 
Loan Party’s knowledge, all signatures and endorsements on all documents, instruments, and agreements relating to 
any Eligible Account are genuine, and all such documents, instruments and agreements are legally enforceable in 
accordance with their terms. Borrower shall promptly notify Agent of all material disputes or claims relating to any 
Eligible Account. Borrower may forgive (completely or partially), compromise, or settle any Eligible Account for 
less than payment in full, or agree to do any of the foregoing so long as (i) Borrower does so in good faith, in a 
commercially reasonable manner, in the ordinary course of business, in arm’s-length transactions, and reports the 
same to Agent in the regular reports provided to Agent; and (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing.

5.23 Status. Neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries (other than Otonomo and any of its Subsidiaries) ever has 
been, is, or, upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, by any other Loan Document or any 
related agreements, will be a “passive foreign investment company” within the meaning of Section 1297 of the 
Internal Revenue Code.

5.24 Other Permitted Amendments to Perfection Certificate and Disclosure Schedules.  In addition to those 
provisions in the Perfection Certificate which Borrower is permitted to amend as expressly set forth in this Section 
5, Borrower may also amend the following provisions of the Perfection Certificate: Part A, sections 1, 2, 3, 4 
(provided that subsection f. may only be amended to add, and not to delete, Material Contracts (except for those 
Material Contracts that have terminated in accordance with their terms)), and 5;  Part B, sections 7, 8, 9 and 10 
(provided that this section may only be so amended to delete items therefrom or to add Liens which fall within, and 
meet the requirements of, clause (c) of the definition of Permitted Liens), 11, 12 and 13. Borrower may also amend 
the following provisions of the Disclosure Schedules: Permitted Liens (provided that this Disclosure Schedule may 
only be amended to delete items therefrom or to add Liens which fall within, and meet the requirements of, clause 
(c) of the definition of Permitted Liens), Material Customers (provided that this Disclosure Schedule may only be 
amended in accordance with Section 5.19(c)), and a Loan Party’s Accounts. All such amendments to the Perfection 
Certificate or Disclosure Schedules may be made without Agent’s or Lenders’ consent, and shall be made by 
delivery of an amended Perfection Certificate or Disclosure Schedule (together with, in each case, a copy marked to 
show changes from the previous version) by email to Agent.  For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding any
contrary timing, any provisions in the Perfection Certificate or the Disclosure Schedules which Borrower is 
permitted to amend from time to time hereunder may be amended upon any joinder of a Person under Section 6.10.

5.25 Cares Debt. Borrower’s CARES Debt, which Indebtedness was $1,726,352, was repaid on May 14, 2020, and 
Borrower has no further obligations with regard to its CARES Debt.

5.26 IIA. As of the Closing Date, no Israeli Loan Party has received any grants, funds or benefits (including, but 
not limited to, tax benefits) from the IIA (formerly known as, the National Authority for Technological Innovation) 
or any other Governmental Authority except as provided in Schedule 5.26. No Israeli Loan Party is obligated to pay 
any royalties or any other payments to the IIA or any other Governmental Authority, except as provided in Schedule 
5.26. The transactions contemplated under this Agreement, the Collateral Pledge Agreements and any other Loan 
Documents (including the realization of any Collateral) are not subject to any right and do not require the approval 
of the IIA or any other Governmental Authority, except as provided in Schedule 5.26. 
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5.27 United Kingdom Pension Plans Compliance.

(a) Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has at any time been an employer (for the purposes of 
sections 38 to 51 of the Pensions Act 2004 (United Kingdom)) of an occupational pension scheme which is not a 
money purchase scheme (both terms as defined in the Pensions Schemes Act 1993 (United Kingdom)).

(b) Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has at any time been “connected” with or an “associate” 
of (as those terms are used in sections 38 and 43 of the Pensions Act 2004 (United Kingdom)) such an employer.

(c) The pension schemes in respect of which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is principal employer or in 
which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries has any participation are funded in accordance, in all material respects, 
with applicable law and regulation and materially in accordance with local practice.

(d) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each of the English Loan Party 
and each other Loan Party is in material compliance with all applicable laws and contracts relating to the pension 
schemes (if any) operated by it or in which it participates.

5.28 Centre of Main Interests and Establishment. With respect to each Loan Party organized under the laws of 
an EEA Member Country, for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2015/848 of the European Parliament and the 
Council of 20 May 2015 on insolvency proceedings (recast) (the “Regulation”) (or equivalent), its centre of main 
interest (as that term is used in Article 3(1) of the Regulation) (or equivalent) is situated in the jurisdiction in which 
it was incorporated and it has no “establishment” (as that term is used in Article 2(h) of the Regulation) (or 
equivalent) in any other jurisdiction.

6. Affirmative Covenants

The Loan Parties covenant and agree that, until the full and complete payment of the Obligations 
(other than inchoate indemnity obligations) in cash, the Loan Parties shall do all of the following:

6.1 Good Standing.  Each Loan Party shall maintain its corporate, limited liability company, or private limited 
company as applicable, existence and good standing (where applicable) in its jurisdiction of formation and maintain 
qualification in each other jurisdiction in which the failure to so qualify could reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect.  Each Loan Party shall maintain in force all licenses, approvals and agreements, the loss of 
which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

6.2 Government Compliance.  Borrower and each Subsidiary shall comply with all applicable foreign, federal 
and state statutes, laws, ordinances and government rules and regulations to which it or its operations is subject, 
noncompliance with which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

6.3 Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates.  Borrower shall deliver the following to Agent by email to the 
address specified pursuant to Section 11, and Agent and Lenders shall be entitled to rely on the information 
contained therein:  (a) as soon as available, but in any event within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar 
month, Borrower’s consolidated financial statements including a cash flow statement, income statement and balance 
sheet for the period reported, and certified by a Responsible Officer; (b) as soon as available, but in any event within 
one hundred fifty (150) days after the end of Borrower’s fiscal year, audited consolidated financial statements of 
Borrower in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, together with an unqualified opinion on the financial 
statements from an independent certified public accounting firm reasonably acceptable to Agent; (c) as soon as 
available, but in any event within sixty (60) days after the end of Borrower’s fiscal year, an annual operating budget 
and financial projections (including income statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements) for such fiscal 
year, presented in a quarterly format, as approved by the Board and Agent (with such Agent’s approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld) (as updated in accordance with the provisions in this Agreement, the “Approved Budget”); 
(d) a copy of Borrower’s and Subsidiary’s bank or brokerage statements delivered monthly with the current month’s 
Compliance Certificate reflecting the prior month’s activity from all institutions, whether or not in the U.S., where 
Borrower or a Subsidiary maintains deposit or securities accounts; (e) copies of all statements, reports and notices 
sent or made available generally by Borrower to its security holders and debt holders when made available to such 
holders, as well as promptly after Borrower’s receipt thereof, a copy of all notices of default received by Borrower 
from (i) the holders of 2022 Convertible Debt, or (ii) the Junior Agent or any Junior Lender; (f) at any time when 
Agent does not have a board observer on the Board, copies of all notices, minutes, consents, and other materials that 
Borrower provides to its Board contemporaneously with delivery to members of the Board, provided, however, that 
any materials protected 
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from discovery by the attorney-client privilege or the attorney work product privilege, any materials necessary 
or advisable in the good faith determination of the Board to avoid a conflict of interest between Borrower, on the one 
hand, and Agent and Lenders, on the other hand, and any trade secrets may be excluded, (g) promptly upon receipt 
of notice thereof, a report of any legal actions pending or threatened against Borrower or any Subsidiary that could 
result in damages to Borrower or any Subsidiary exceeding $250,000, fines, penalties or other sanctions by any 
Governmental Agency, or claims for injunctive or equitable relief; (h) other financial information as Agent may 
reasonably request from time to time promptly after such request; and (i) notice to Agent within 5 days of any 
calendar month in which Unrestricted Cash is less than $22,500,000, and upon Agent’s request following receipt of 
such notice, Borrower will provide 13 week cash flow statements in form and substance satisfactory to Agent.  
Borrower shall provide Agent with a copy of any Board approved changes to any Approved Budget within five (5) 
days of such approval, provided that any such changes must also be reasonably acceptable to Agent in order for such 
changes to constitute part of the Approved Budget. Notwithstanding the foregoing, other than documents to be 
delivered pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) of this Section 6.3, documents required to be delivered pursuant to the 
terms of this Section 6.3 (to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC) 
may be delivered electronically and if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which 
Borrower posts such documents on its website, or provides a link thereto, and notifies Agent by email at 
financials@structuralcapital.com,  solomon@structuralcapital.com and nitin@structuralcapital.com that such 
materials have been posted with a link to such documents. 

6.4 Certificates of Compliance; Perfection Certificate Updates.  Each time financial statements are required to 
be furnished pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or (b) above, there shall be delivered to Agent a certificate signed by a 
Responsible Officer of Borrower (each a “Compliance Certificate”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E 
certifying that as of the end of the reporting period for such financial statements, the Loan Parties were in full 
compliance with all of the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents, and setting forth such other information as 
Agent shall reasonably request. At any time while any Advance is outstanding, Borrower shall include with each 
monthly Compliance Certificate an aged listings of accounts receivable and accounts payable (by invoice date). If 
any information contained in the Perfection Certificate or Disclosure Schedules changes after the Closing Date and 
if that information relates to a subsection of Section 5 which specifically allows for information in the Perfection 
Certificate and/or Disclosure Schedules to be updated after the Closing Date, Borrower shall update such 
information in an amended Perfection Certificate and/or Disclosure Schedule (if applicable), to be delivered with the 
next Compliance Certificate then due. Borrower shall deliver the Compliance Certificate and updated Perfection 
Certificate and/or Disclosure Schedules (if any) by email to financials@structuralcapital.com, 
solomon@structuralcapital.com and nitin@structuralcapital.com, or any other email address as Agent directs in 
writing, and Agent and Lenders shall be entitled to rely on the information contained therein.

6.5 Notice of Defaults.  As soon as possible, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after the discovery 
of a Default or an Event of Default, notify Agent of the facts relating to or giving rise to such Default or Event of 
Default and the action which Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto.  Borrower shall deliver such notice to
Agent by email to the address specified pursuant to Section 11, and Agent and Lenders shall be entitled to rely on 
the information contained therein.

6.6 Taxes.  Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, Borrower shall make, and cause each Subsidiary to 
make, due and timely payment or deposit of all Taxes, assessments, or contributions required of it by law or imposed 
upon any properties belonging to it; and each Loan Party will make due and timely payment or deposit of all 
material related tax payments and withholding taxes required of it by applicable laws, including those laws 
concerning F.I.C.A., F.U.T.A., and state disability, and will, upon request, furnish Agent with proof satisfactory to 
Agent indicating that such Loan Party has made such payments or deposits; provided that no Loan Party need  make 
any payment if the amount or validity of such payment is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and is 
fully reserved against by such Loan Party.

6.7 Maintenance.  Each Loan Party at its expense, shall maintain the Collateral in good condition, normal wear 
and tear and casualty and condemnation excepted, and will comply in all material respects with all laws, rules and 
regulations to which the use and operation of the Collateral may be or become subject.  Such obligation shall extend 
to repair and replacement of any partial loss or damage to the Collateral, regardless of the cause, except where the 
failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

6.8 Insurance. 

(a) Each Loan Party shall maintain, at its sole cost and expense, with financially sound and reputable insurance 
companies not affiliates of such Loan Party, insurance with respect to the Collateral, its and its Subsidiaries’ 
properties 
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and businesses against loss or damage of the kinds customarily insured against by Persons engaged in the 
same or similar business, of such types and in such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances 
by such other Persons. All such policies of insurance shall be in such form, with such companies, and in such 
amounts as are reasonably satisfactory to Agent.

(b) All such policies of property insurance shall contain a lender’s loss payable endorsement, in a form 
satisfactory to Agent, showing Agent for itself and the benefit of Lender as an additional loss payee thereof, and all 
liability insurance policies shall show Agent for itself and the benefit of Lender as an additional insured (and with
respect to any such insurance policy of an Israeli Loan Party, the Agent shall be designated as a ‘Motav’ in the 
meaning and for the purposes of the Israeli Insurance Contract Law 5741-1981) and shall specify that the insurer 
must give at least thirty (30) days’ notice to Agent before canceling its policy for any reason (except for 
nonpayment, which shall be ten (10) days prior notice).  Borrower shall promptly deliver to Agent a current copy of 
all such policies of insurance, evidence of the payments of all premiums therefor and insurance certificates and 
related endorsements thereto, it being understood that any time there is a change or renewal of insurance, it is 
Borrower’s obligation to promptly deliver such materials to Agent.

(c) Each Loan Party shall bear the risk of the Collateral being lost, stolen, destroyed, damaged beyond repair, 
rendered permanently unfit for use, or seized by a Governmental Authority for any reason whatsoever at any time. 
Proceeds payable under any insurance policy shall, at Agent’s option, be payable to Agent on account of the 
Obligations.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing 
Borrower shall have the option of applying the proceeds of any casualty policy up to Two Hundred Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($250,000) toward the replacement or repair of destroyed or damaged property; and (b) after the occurrence 
and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all proceeds payable under such casualty policy shall, at the 
option of Agent, be payable to Agent on account of the Obligations.

6.9 Intellectual Property Rights.

(a) Concurrently with the delivery of each Compliance Certificate for the months ending March 31, June 30, 
September 30 and December 31 pursuant to Section 6.4, Borrower shall give Agent written notice of:  (i) any 
registration or filing of any Trademark, Copyright or Patent by Borrower or any Subsidiary including the date of 
such registration or filing, the registration or filing numbers, the location of such registration or filing, and a general 
description of such registration or filing; (ii) any material change to Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s material 
Intellectual Property, but excluding changes to source code, operating manuals and the like made in the ordinary 
course of business, and (iii) Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s knowledge of an event that could reasonably be 
expected to materially and adversely affect the value of its or any Subsidiary’s material Intellectual Property. To the 
extent any Israeli Loan Party shall acquire any rights in any Israeli Intellectual Property the subject of any such 
notification, that Loan Party shall, within 30 days of any such acquisition, create a duly perfected first ranking
perfected fixed security over such Intellectual Property in such form as Agent may require and make all such 
registrations as Agent may require in order to secure, as an additional security, the payment and performance of the 
Obligations and shall, in addition, provide customary legal opinions in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to 
Agent in respect thereof.  For this purpose “Israeli Intellectual Property” means any Trademark or Patent filed (or
applications for the filing thereof) or registered in Israel or any Copyright created in Israel which, in respect of the 
foregoing, is the subject of any notice delivered to Agent as aforesaid

(b) Agent may audit the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ Intellectual Property to confirm compliance with 
this Section, provided such audit may not occur more often than once per year, unless an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing.  Agent shall have the right, but not the obligation, to take, at Borrower’s sole expense, 
any actions that any Loan Party is required under this Section to take but which such Loan Party fails to take, after 
15 days’ notice to Borrower.  Borrower shall reimburse and indemnify Agent for all Lender Expenses incurred in the 
exercise of its rights under the previous sentence.

6.10 Formation or Acquisition of Subsidiaries.  Notwithstanding anything in the Loan Documents to the contrary 
(including without limitation Section 7.6), within ten (10) Business Days of the date that any Loan Party forms any 
direct or indirect Subsidiary (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) or acquires any direct or indirect Subsidiary 
(other than any Immaterial Subsidiary), such Loan Party shall:

(a) cause such new Subsidiary to provide to Agent a Joinder Agreement, together with such other Loan 
Documents, all in form and substance satisfactory to Agent (including being sufficient to grant Agent, for itself and 
for the benefit of Lenders, a first priority Lien (subject to Permitted Liens described in subsections (c), (g) or (l) of 
the definition of Permitted Liens) in and to the assets of such newly formed or acquired Subsidiary), 
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(b) provide to Agent appropriate certificates and powers and financing statements, pledging all of the direct or 
beneficial ownership interest in such new Subsidiary (to the extent the same constitutes Collateral), in form and 
substance satisfactory to Agent, 

(c) (c) provide to Agent all other documentation in form and substance satisfactory to Agent that in its opinion is 
appropriate with respect to the execution and delivery of the applicable documentation referred to above, including 
all documentation and other information which Agent may reasonably request with respect to any new Subsidiary 
that signs and delivers a Joinder Agreement in order to comply with its ongoing obligations under applicable “know 
your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the USA PATRIOT ACT, the USA 
FREEDOM Act, an IRS Form W-9 or other applicable tax forms,

(d) in respect to assets located in England and Wales or an English Loan Party, provide customary fixed and 
floating charges over all the assets and undertaking (subject to agreed exclusions to the extent agreed by the Agent) 
of the relevant company pursuant to the appropriate English law governed security documents.  In connection with 
each pledge of Equity Interests and Investments and the fixed and floating charges over all the assets and 
undertaking under the English law governed security document, the relevant Loan Party shall deliver, or cause to be 
delivered, to the Agent, (i) irrevocable proxies and stock powers, stock transfer forms and share certificates, and/or 
assignments, as applicable and/or relevant, duly executed in blank and (ii) in relation to an English Loan Party, 
customary documents and other evidence listed in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, including (A) 
resolutions of its board of directors or other appropriate governing body approving authorizing the execution, 
delivery and performance of each Loan Document to which it is a party (B) resolutions of the sole member of the
company approving and authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of each Loan Document which it is a 
party and amending the articles of association of the relevant company (if appropriate) (C) a formalities certificate 
(signed by a director) dated the date of the relevant Loan Document certifying various matters, (such formalities 
certificate to be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent) (D) the register of members of the 
company whose shares are the subject of the Collateral (E) customary legal opinions in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and (F) such other deliverables, including share certificates, stock transfer forms 
(duly executed in blank) and notices and acknowledgements required under such security documents, and 

(e) (d) in respect to assets located in the State of Israel or an Israeli Loan Party, provide customary fixed and 
floating charges over all the assets and undertaking (subject to exclusions to the extent agreed by the Agent) of the 
relevant company pursuant to the appropriate Israeli law governed security documents. In connection with each 
pledge of Equity Interests and Investments and the fixed and floating charges over all the assets and undertaking 
under Israeli law governed security document, the relevant Loan Party shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to 
Agent, (i) irrevocable proxies and stock powers, stock transfer forms and share certificates, and/or assignments, as 
applicable and/or relevant, duly executed in blank and (ii) in relation to an Israeli Loan Party, customary documents 
and other evidence in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, including (A) resolutions of its board of 
directors or other appropriate governing body approving authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of 
each Loan Document to which it is a party (B) resolutions of the sole shareholder of the company approving and 
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of each Loan Document which it is a party and amending the 
articles of association of the relevant company (if appropriate) (C) a formalities certificate (signed by a director) 
dated the date of the relevant Loan Document certifying various matters, (such formalities certificate to be in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent) (D) the register of shareholders of the company whose shares are the 
subject of the Collateral (E) customary legal opinions in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent and (F) 
such other deliverables, including, unless already delivered to the Agent, share certificates, stock transfer forms 
(duly executed in blank) and notices and acknowledgements required under such security documents.    

6.11 Financial / Equity Covenants. 

(a) Borrower shall maintain at all times after the Closing Date Unrestricted Cash of at least Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000). Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to Agent of compliance with this subsection 6.11(a) 
with its monthly Compliance Certificate or within three (3) Business Days on upon Agent’s written request.

(b) The Contribution Margin for Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis shall be positive at all 
times after the Closing Date, measured and tested monthly at as of the end of each calendar month. 

6.12 Further Assurances.  At any time and from time to time the Loan Parties shall execute and deliver such 
further instruments and take such further action as may reasonably be requested by Agent to effect the purposes of 
this Agreement.

6.13 UK Pensions.
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(a) Each of the Foreign Subsidiaries of the Borrower shall ensure that all pension and superannuation schemes 
operated by or maintained for the benefit of members of each of its Foreign Subsidiaries and/or any of their 
employees are at all times fully funded in accordance, in all material respects, with applicable law and regulation 
and the rules of the schemes, on the basis of reasonable, good faith actuarial assumptions (including, based on the 
statutory funding objective under sections 221 and 222 of the Pensions Act 2004) and that no action or omission is 
taken by any such Foreign Subsidiaries in relation to such a pension or superannuation scheme, in each case, except 
as would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Each of the Foreign Subsidiaries of the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent, at such times as those reports are 
prepared in order to comply with the then current statutory or auditing requirements (as applicable either to the 
trustees of any relevant schemes or to the Borrower), actuarial reports in relation to all pension and superannuation 
schemes mentioned in paragraph (a) above.

(c) Each of the Foreign Subsidiaries of the Borrower shall promptly notify the Agent of any material change in 
the rate of contributions to any pension or superannuation schemes mentioned in paragraph (a) above paid or agreed 
with the scheme actuary to be paid or required (by law or otherwise).

(d) The Borrower shall ensure that none of its Foreign Subsidiaries is or has been at any time an employer (for the 
purposes of sections 38 to 51 of the Pensions Act 2004 (United Kingdom)) of an occupational pension scheme 
which is not a money purchase scheme (both terms as defined in the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (United Kingdom)) 
or “connected” with or an “associate” of (as those terms are used in sections 38 or 43 of the Pensions Act 2004 
(United Kingdom)) such an employer.

(e) Each Loan Party shall promptly notify the Agent of any investigation or proposed investigation by the 
Pensions Regulator which is reasonably likely to result in the issue of a Financial Support Direction or a 
Contribution Notice which would constitute an Event of Default.

(f) Each Loan Party shall promptly notify the Agent if it receives a Financial Support Direction or a Contribution 
Notice from the Pensions Regulator which constitutes an Event of Default.

6.14 Board Observation Rights. 

(a) Agent shall have the right to have a single representative attend all meetings of the board of directors (or
equivalent) of Borrower and any Subsidiary, as an observer without the right to vote (the “Observer”).  Borrower 
reserves the right to withhold any information and to exclude the Observer from any meeting of the Board or portion 
thereof if the Borrower reasonably determines that (a) the access to such information or attendance at such meeting 
would adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between Borrower and its counsel, (b) the access to such 
information or attendance at such meeting would result in disclosure of trade secrets or a conflict of interest to 
Observer, (c) or the Observer is a competitor of the Company or an Affiliate of a competitor of the Company. 
Initially, the Observer shall be Solomon Park. Observer shall be provided written notice (which may be via email) of 
all regular meetings of such entities’ board of directors at the same time as provided to any other director, and at 
least two full business days’ prior written notice (which may be via email) of all special meetings of such entities’ 
board of directors thereof unless due to the emergency nature of the matters to be addressed at the meeting 48 hours’ 
written notice is not reasonably practical. Borrower or Subsidiary, as applicable, shall concurrently provide Observer 
with copies of all notices, minutes, consents and other materials it provides to any member of such Board or any 
committee, provided that any materials protected from discovery by the attorney-client privilege or the attorney 
work product privilege, any materials necessary or advisable in the good faith determination of such board of 
directors to avoid a conflict of interest between Borrower, on the one hand, and Agent and Lenders, on the other 
hand, and any trade secrets may be excluded. All Confidential Information provided to Observer pursuant to this 
Section 6.14 shall be subject to the confidentiality obligations under Section 13.12. Borrower will reimburse 
Observer for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Observer in connection with attendance at any such 
meetings. 

(b) In addition to any other rights or remedies to which the Agent may be entitled, the Loan Parties agree to and 
will indemnify and hold harmless Agent, Lenders, Observer, their Affiliates and all of their respective successors, 
assigns, officers, directors, employees, attorneys, and agents from and against any and all losses, claims, obligations, 
liabilities, deficiencies, diminutions in value, penalties, causes of action, damages, costs, and expenses (including, 
without limitation, costs of investigation and defense, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) that they, or any of 
them, may suffer, incur, or be responsible for, arising or resulting from the exercise of rights pursuant to Section 
6.14(a) and/or service or status as an “Observer”.

6.15 Inventory, Returns. Each Loan Party shall keep all Inventory in good and marketable condition, free from all 
material defects except for Inventory for which adequate reserves have been made.  Returns and allowances, if any, 
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as between any Loan Party and its Account Debtors shall be on the same basis and in accordance with GAAP, 
consistently applied, or with the usual customary practices of the Loan Parties, as they exist at the time of the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement.  Each Loan Party shall promptly notify Agent of all returns and recoveries 
and of all disputes and claims, where the return, recovery, dispute or claim involves more than Two Hundred and 
Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000).

6.16 Delivery of Third-Party Agreements.  

(a) Within sixty (60) days following the Agent’s written request therefor, Borrower shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain and deliver to Agent a Landlord Subordination and Access Agreement (with respect to 
the Borrower’s headquarters at 8609 Westwood Center Drive, Suite 810, Vienna VA 22182), in form and substance 
satisfactory to Agent.  In addition, in the event that any Loan Party shall enter into a new lease with respect to a new 
or additional operating location after July 12, 2022 where $150,000 or more of assets will be located, then such 
Loan Party shall, within sixty (60) days following the execution of such lease, obtain and deliver to Agent a 
Landlord Subordination and Access Agreement with respect to such new lease, in form and substance satisfactory to 
Agent.

(b) Within sixty (60) days following Agent’s written request, each Loan Party shall obtain and deliver to Agent a 
Notice and Access Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Agent in Agent’s sole, but reasonable discretion, 
for any location that contains or any Person that holds greater than the greater of (x) $150,000 in Inventory or (y) 5%
of  Inventory.

6.17  Accounts Receivable. The Loan Parties shall promptly notify Agent of all material disputes or claims 
relating to Accounts. The Loan Parties may forgive (completely or partially), compromise, or settle any Account for 
less than payment in full, or agree to do any of the foregoing so long as (i) such Loan Party does so in good faith, in 
a commercially reasonable manner, in the ordinary course of business, in arm’s-length transactions, and reports such 
forgiveness, compromises and settlements in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate to Agent in the next regular report 
to be provided to Agent; (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and (iii) the amount 
forgiven, compromised or otherwise not collected does not represent more than 15% of the Eligible Accounts. Agent 
may, from time to time and in consultation with Borrower, verify directly with the respective Account Debtors of 
any Loan Party the validity, amount and other matters relating to the Accounts, either in the name of Borrower or 
Agent or such other name as Agent may choose. Agent shall not be responsible or liable for any shortage or 
discrepancy in, damage to, or loss or destruction of, any goods, the sale or other disposition of which gives rise to an 
Account, or for any error, act, omission, or delay of any kind occurring in the settlement, failure to settle, collection 
or failure to collect any Account, or for settling any Account in good faith for less than the full amount thereof, nor 
shall Agent be deemed to be responsible for any of the Loan Parties’ obligations under any contract or agreement
giving rise to an Account. 

6.18 Management Rights.  Subject to Section 4.5, each Loan Party shall permit any representative that Agent or 
any Lender authorizes, including attorneys and accountants, to inspect the Collateral and examine and make copies 
and abstracts of the books of account and records of such Loan Party at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice 
during normal business hours.  In addition, any such representative shall have the right to meet with management 
and officers of such Loan Party to discuss such books of account and records.  In addition, Agent or Lenders shall be 
entitled at reasonable times and intervals to consult with and advise the management and officers of each Loan Party 
concerning significant business issues affecting such Loan Party.  Such consultations shall not unreasonably 
interfere with such Loan Party’s business operations.  The parties intend that the rights granted Agent and Lenders 
shall constitute “management rights” within the meaning of 29 C.F.R. Section 2510.3-101(d)(3)(ii), but that any 
advice, recommendations or participation by Agent or Lender with respect to any business issues shall not be 
deemed to give Agent or Lender, nor be deemed an exercise by Agent or Lender of, control over a Loan Party’s 
management or policies.

6.19 Privacy and Data Security. The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries shall, at all times, remain in compliance 
in all material respects with all applicable United States and international privacy and data security laws and 
regulations including GDPR. 

6.20 Deposit Accounts/Securities Accounts. Prior to opening any Deposit Account or Securities Account after 
July 12, 2022, the Loan Parties shall first notify Agent, and except with respect to Deposit Accounts and Securities 
Accounts permitted without a Control Agreement pursuant to Section 7.11 of this Agreement, the Loan Parties shall 
not deposit any funds or securities into such account until such account is subject to a Control Agreement in favor of 
Agent, whereupon, the Loan Parties shall update the Disclosure Schedules to include such new account.  

6.21 Israeli Deliverables. Each Israeli Loan Party shall:
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(a) deliver on the Closing Date duly executed original (i) signatures of the ISR Debentures (together with the 
applicable Israeli Loan Party stamp) to the Agent, and (ii) notices to the Israeli Registrar of Companies and/or Israeli 
Registrar of Pledges, as applicable, for the registration of the ISR Debentures (together with the applicable Israeli 
Loan Party stamp, as required for the registration of the ISR Debentures);

(b) within fourteen (14) Business Days after the Closing Date, provide Agent evidence of the filing, registration,
and recordation of the originally executed copies of the ISR Debentures in respect of each Israeli Loan Party, in each 
case; and

(c) on the Closing Date, provide Agent written approval from the IIA with respect to the creation of the security 
interest by each Israeli Loan Party over Intellectual Property in favor of the Agent.

6.22 Grants. Each Israeli Loan Party shall obtain the prior written consent of the Agent before receiving any new 
grants, funds or benefits, or filing for an application to receive funding from the IIA or the Investment Center or the 
Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation or any other Governmental Authority.

6.23 Post-Closing Matters / Post-Closing Schedule. The Loan Parties agree to complete, or cause all of the items, 
matters and documents set forth in the Post-Closing Schedule to be completed, executed and delivered (as 
applicable) not later than the dates and times set forth in the Post-Closing Schedule.

6.24 PSC Regime. With respect to each English Loan Party whose shares are subject to Collateral:

(a) each such Loan Party shall (i) within the relevant timeframe, comply with any notice it receives pursuant to 
Part 21A of the Companies Act 2006 from any company incorporated in the United Kingdom whose shares are the 
subject of the Collateral and (ii) promptly provide the Agent with a copy of that notice;

(b) to the extent, in each case, where failure to comply, issue, provide, permit or notify would have or would 
reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and invalidate or prejudice the validity, legality or enforceability 
of such Collateral each such Loan Party shall promptly: (i) notify the Agent of its intention to issue, or its receipt of, 
any warning notice or restrictions notice under Schedule 1 B of the Companies Act 2006 in respect of any shares 
which are subject to Collateral; and (ii) provide to the Agent a copy of any such warning notice or restrictions 
notice, in each case before it issues, or after it receives, any such notice;

(c) shall not do anything, or permit anything to be done, which could result in any other person becoming a PSC 
Registrable Person in respect of a company whose shares are subject to Collateral or require that company to issue a 
notice under sections 790(D) or 790E, or a warning or restrictions notice under Schedule 1 B, of the Companies Act 
2006; and

(d) for the purposes of withdrawing any restrictions notice or for any application (or similar) to the court under 
Schedule 1 B of the Companies Act 2006, each such Loan Party shall provide such assistance as the Agent may 
reasonably request in respect of any shares which are subject to Collateral and provide the Agent with all 
information, documents and evidence that it may reasonably request in connection with the same.

7. Negative Covenants

Each Loan Party covenants and agrees that until the full and complete payment of the Obligations 
(other than inchoate indemnity obligations) in cash and termination of the Commitment, each Loan Party will not do 
any of the following:

7.1 Chief Executive Office; Location of Collateral.  During the continuance of this Agreement, change the 
country or state of formation, chief executive office (or in respect of an English Loan Party or an Israeli Loan Party, 
its registered office) or principal place of business or remove or cause to be removed, except in the ordinary course 
of the Loan Parties’ business, the Collateral or the records concerning the Collateral from the premises listed in the 
Perfection Certificate without twenty (20) days prior written notice to Agent, provided that any such Collateral 
owned by (i) Urgent.ly or a Domestic Subsidiary may not be moved to a location outside of the United States 
without Agent’s prior written consent (except to the extent expressly contemplated by Section 7.2 or the definition 
of “Permitted Investments”), and (ii) a Foreign Subsidiary that is a Loan Party may not be moved to a location 
where Agent’s Lien will cease to be a fully perfected first Lien on such Collateral (except to the extent expressly 
contemplated by Section 7.2 or the definition of “Permitted Investments”). Agent acknowledges that Urgent.ly has 
more than one Foreign Subsidiary with operations and Collateral outside the United States, and Urgent.ly 
acknowledges that all such 
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Collateral located outside of the United States and owned by such a Loan Party will be required to be at all 
times subject to a fully perfected first Lien in favor of Agent (subject to Permitted Liens described in subsections (c), 
(g) or (l) of the definition of Permitted Liens) (other than with respect to Otonomo GmbH as long as it remains an 
Immaterial Subsidiary). 

7.2 Extraordinary Transactions and Disposal of Assets.  

(a) Convey, sell, lease, license, transfer or otherwise dispose of (collectively, a “Transfer”), or permit any of its 
Subsidiaries to Transfer, all or any part of its business or property (including Equity Interests in Subsidiaries), other 
than:  (i) Inventory in the ordinary course of business (including with respect to consignment arrangements with 
respect to such Inventory); (ii) Permitted Licenses; (iii) non-exclusive licenses and similar arrangements for the use 
of the property of Borrower or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business; (iv) exclusive licenses as to a 
single territory (other than the United States, Israel or England) or market segment (outside the United States, Israel 
or England) in the ordinary course of such Loan Parties’ business not to exceed eighteen months of duration and 
approved in advance in writing by Agent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld; (v) Transfers of surplus, 
worn-out or obsolete Equipment (as defined in the Code); (vi) uses of cash and Cash Equivalents not prohibited 
under this Agreement, (vii) Transfers between or among Loan Parties; (viii) Transfers consisting of Permitted Liens 
and Permitted Investments, (ix) the Floow Disposition, (x) the Otonomo Disposition or (xi) other assets of Borrower 
or its Subsidiaries that do not in the aggregate exceed $250,000 in any fiscal year (collectively, the “Permitted 
Transfers”).  

(b) Enter into any agreement, or series of related agreements, that could require the direct or indirect payment 
(excluding inchoate indemnity obligations) to any Person in excess of $250,000, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to 
do the same (other than (x) as contemplated in the Approved Budget, (y) in the ordinary course of such Loan Party’s 
business, and (z) pursuant to any agreements governing Permitted Indebtedness.

(c) Issue any Equity Interests if to do so would cause a wholly owned Subsidiary to no longer be a wholly owned 
Subsidiary.

7.3 Restructure.  Each Loan Party shall not: (i) without providing not less than twenty (20) days advance written 
notice to Agent, change its name or jurisdiction of formation, or permit any Subsidiary to do the same, (ii) other than 
the Floow Disposition, suspend operation of such Loan Party’s business or permit any Subsidiary to suspend 
operations of its business, (iii) engage in any business, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to engage in any business, 
other than the businesses currently engaged in by Borrower and its Subsidiaries, and any business substantially 
similar or related thereto; (iv) other than as contemplated in the Approved Budget, experience a departure of a 
Responsible Officer, without providing Agent a written notice within 10 days after the occurrence of such departure; 
or (v) without Agent’s prior written consent, change the date on which its fiscal year ends. No Israeli Loan Party 
shall negotiate, sign or become a party to any arrangement, settlement, compromise or any similar agreement of any 
kind or nature whatsoever (including a “hesder prisa”) with the Israeli tax authority, the National Insurance Institute 
of Israel or any other Governmental Authority, according to which the payments or obligations of an Israeli Loan 
Party towards such entities may be rescheduled, deferred or otherwise paid in instalments

7.4 Liens/Negative Pledge.  Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien with respect to any of Borrower’s or 
any Subsidiary’s property, including Intellectual Property and Inventory held at warehouse or fulfilment centers, or 
assign or otherwise convey any right to receive income, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, except for 
Permitted Liens, or enter into any agreement with any Person other than Lender that prohibits any Loan Party from 
granting a security interest in, or otherwise encumbering, any of its property, or permit any Subsidiary to do so, 
except for restrictions set forth in the Junior Loan Documents as of February 9, 2023, and restrictions set forth in the 
2022 Convertible Notes relating to encumbrances on Intellectual Property; provided that such restrictions do not 
prohibit or otherwise restrict the granting of a security interest in Borrower’s or any such Subsidiary’s assets in favor 
of Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders.

7.5 Indebtedness.  Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness other than Permitted Indebtedness. 

7.6 Investments.  Make any Investment other than a Permitted Investment in any Person without Agent’s prior 
written consent.

7.7 Distributions; Payments of 2022 Convertible Debt. Pay any dividends or make any other distribution or 
payment on account of or in redemption, retirement or purchase of any Equity Interests of a Loan Party, or permit 
any of its Subsidiaries to do so, except that (a) Borrower may repurchase the capital stock of former employees, 
officers, directors or other service providers pursuant to repurchase agreements (i) if Borrower’s Board has approved 
such repurchase, (ii) if applicable, by the cancellation of Indebtedness owed by such former employees, officers, 
directors or other service providers to a Loan Party regardless of whether an Event of Default exists, and (iii) in an 
amount not 
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to exceed $250,000 per fiscal year, (b) Subsidiaries may pay dividends or make any other distribution or 
payment to a Loan Party (either directly or indirectly), (c) Urgent.ly may convert any of its convertible Equity 
Interests into other Equity Interests, (d) (A) each Loan Party may pay dividends solely in capital stock, (B) Urgent.ly 
may make any cash payments with respect to the 2022 Convertible Debt (whether scheduled, mandatory or 
voluntary) at any time on or prior to the date on which the Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations) 
are paid in full in cash, (C) Urgent.ly may make de minimis payments of cash in lieu of fractional shares in 
connection with the conversion or exchange of 2022 Convertible Debt into, or for, Equity Interests, not to exceed 
$100,000 per calendar year. For clarity, nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall restrict the 
conversion or exchange of the 2022 Convertible Debt into, or for, Equity Interests. 

7.8 Transactions with Affiliates.  Directly or indirectly enter into or permit to exist any material transaction with 
any Affiliate of a Loan Party after July 12, 2022, except for (i) ordinary course compensatory transactions and 
agreements (including employment agreements and benefit plans) with officers and directors, (ii) transactions that 
are in the ordinary course of the Loan Parties’ business, on terms no less favorable to such Loan Party than would be 
obtained in an arm’s length transaction with a non-affiliated Person, (iii) transactions between or among Loan 
Parties or (iv) equity financings, the 2022 Convertible Debt or Subordinated Debt with Borrower’s investors, as 
permitted hereunder, (v) transactions expressly permitted under Section 7.7, (vi) the Floow Disposition and (vii) 
other transactions approved by Agent in writing.  

7.9 Stock Certificates. For any Subsidiary for which a Loan Party’s ownership interest is not evidenced by a 
certificate, such Loan Party shall not allow such Subsidiary to certificate such ownership interest without Agent’s 
prior written consent, which consent may be conditioned upon requiring (a) Borrower to execute and deliver a 
Collateral Pledge Agreement satisfactory to Agent, and (b) such Subsidiary to deliver directly to Agent the 
certificate evidencing such ownership.

7.10 Compliance.  Become an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or undertake as 
one of its important activities extending credit to purchase or carry margin stock, or use the proceeds of any 
Advance for that purpose; except as could not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, fail to meet 
the minimum funding requirements of ERISA with respect to any Pension Plan or permit a Reportable Event (within 
the meaning of Section 4043(c) of ERISA) or a Prohibited Transaction (as such term is defined in Section 4975 of 
the Internal Revenue Code) to occur; fail to comply with the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act or violate any other 
law or regulation, if the violation could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or permit any of 
its Subsidiaries to do so.

7.11 Deposit Accounts.  Maintain any Deposit Accounts or Securities Accounts except accounts respecting which 
Agent has obtained a Control Agreement, provided however, that the Loan Parties may maintain the following 
accounts without them being subject to a Control Agreement:

(a) a single account with Braintree (ApplePay) provided that the balance does not exceed $50,000 and that funds 
are transferred from such account to a Deposit Account subject to a Control Agreement at least once a week;

(b) a single account with Stripe or PayPal provided that the aggregate balance in such accounts does not exceed 
$350,000 and that funds are transferred from such account to a Deposit Account subject to a Control Agreement at 
least once a week;  

(c) one or more accounts with Silicon Valley Bank or any other financial institution to collateralize its corporate 
credit card line of credit and the provision of Bank Services, not to exceed $2,500,000 in the aggregate; 

(d) zero balance deposit accounts established solely for taxes, payroll and payroll taxes provided that the balance 
in such accounts shall never exceed by more than 5% the amount necessary to fund the Loan Parties’ then current 
payroll and related tax liabilities;

(e) one or more accounts of Urgently Canada Technologies ULC, provided that such entity is in compliance with 
the terms of paragraph 9 of that certain Joinder Agreement dated as of the date hereof among such entity and Agent;

(f) deposit accounts located in the State of Israel and subject to a floating charge provided that the balance does
not exceed $5,000,000 in the aggregate;

(g) deposit accounts located in the United States provided the balance does not exceed $500,000 in the aggregate; 

(h) deposit accounts located in the United Kingdom, provided that the balance does not exceed £500,000 in the 
aggregate; and
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(i) deposit accounts located outside of the United States that are owned by Foreign Subsidiaries that are not Loan 
Parties provided that the balance in such accounts do not exceed $250,000 in the aggregate. 

7.12 Inventory. Store Inventory and/or other tangible Collateral with a bailee, warehouseman, or other third party 
where the aggregate amount of Inventory and/or other tangible Collateral with such bailee, warehouseman or other 
third party shall be in excess of 15% of such Loan Parties’ Inventory for a period of ninety (90) days or longer (other 
than those entities for which such Loan Party has delivered a Notice and Access Agreement pursuant to Section 
6.16). 

7.13 Restrictions on Use of Proceeds. The Loan Parties’ shall not nor shall they allow any Subsidiary (a) to use 
any part of any Advance to make any payments to a Sanctions Target, to fund any investments, loans or 
contributions in, or otherwise make such proceeds available to, a Sanctions Target, to fund any operations, activities 
or business of a Sanctions Target, or in any other manner that would result in a violation of Sanctions applicable to 
any party hereto or (b) to use any Advance in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of 
the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws 
or Anti-Money Laundering Laws.

7.14 	 Government Grants. No Loan Party shall receive or apply for any Government Grant on or after the 
Closing Date without the prior consent of the Agent.

8. Events of Default

Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this 
Agreement:

8.1 Payment Default.  If Borrower or any Loan Party fails to pay, when due, any of the Obligations required 
under the terms of the Loan Documents; provided, however, that Borrower shall not be deemed to be in default on 
account of any late payment to be made through an ACH Debit Consent if and for so long as such late payment was 
caused by a failure by Agent to initiate an ACH transaction; and provided further, if any payment to be made 
through an ACH Debit Consent cannot be processed by ACH Debit Consent other than due to a failure by Agent to 
initiate an ACH transaction or the unavailability of funds, then Agent shall notify Borrower in writing, which notice 
shall contain wire transfer instructions, and Borrower shall make or cause another Loan Party to make payment by 
wire transfer within one (1) Business Day of delivery of such notice (and any such payment shall be deemed to have 
been paid when due).

8.2 Certain Covenant Defaults.  If any Loan Party fails to perform any obligation under Section 4.4, Section 
6.3, Section 6.4, Section 6.5, Section 6.8, Section 6.9(a), and Section 6.11 or violates any of the covenants 
contained in Section 7 of this Agreement, or of any provision under the ISR Debentures or English Security 
Documents. 

8.3 Other Covenant Defaults.  If any Loan Party fails or neglects to perform or observe any other material term, 
provision, condition, or covenant, or if any representation or warranty made by any Loan Party becomes untrue, in 
each case contained in this Agreement, in any of the Loan Documents, or in any other present or future agreement 
between Borrower or any Loan Party and Agent or Lenders and as to any default under such other term, provision, 
condition, covenant, representation or warranty that can be cured, has failed to cure such default within ten (10) days 
after Borrower receives notice thereof or any Responsible Officer of a Loan Party becomes aware thereof.

8.4 Material Adverse Effect.  On or after July 15, 2022, there occurs any circumstance or circumstances that 
could have a Material Adverse Effect.  

8.5 Attachment.  If any material portion of the Collateral is attached, seized, subjected to a writ or distress 
warrant, or is levied upon, or comes into the possession of any trustee, receiver or Person acting in a similar capacity 
and such attachment, seizure, writ or distress warrant or levy has not been removed, discharged or rescinded within 
ten (10) days, or if Borrower or any Subsidiary is enjoined, restrained, or in any way prevented by court order from 
continuing to conduct all or any material part of its business affairs, or if a judgment or other claim becomes a lien 
or encumbrance upon any material portion of Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s assets, or if a notice of lien, levy, or 
assessment is filed of record with respect to any of Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s assets by any Governmental 
Authority or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, or by any state, county, municipal, or governmental 
agency, and the same is not paid within ten (10) days after any Loan Party receives notice thereof; provided that 
none of the foregoing shall constitute an Event of Default where such action or event is stayed or an adequate bond 
has been posted pending a good faith contesting by Borrower or its Subsidiary.

8.6 Other Agreements.  If there is a default in any agreement to which Borrower or a Subsidiary is a party with a 
third party or parties (other than the Junior Loan Documents) resulting in a right by such third party or parties, 
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whether or not exercised, to demand payment of or accelerate the maturity of any Indebtedness in excess of 
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000).

8.7 Judgments.  If there is entry of a judgment or judgments against Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than a 
judgment or judgements covered by independent third-party insurance as to which liability has been acknowledged 
by such insurance carrier) for the payment of money in an amount, individually or in the aggregate, of at least Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000).

8.8 Misrepresentations.  If any material misrepresentation or material misstatement exists now, when made or 
when deemed made in any written warranty, representation, statement, certificate, or report made to Agent or any 
Lender by Borrower, any Subsidiary or any Responsible Officer of Borrower or any Subsidiary.

8.9 Enforceability.  If any Loan Document shall in any material respect cease to be, or any Loan Party asserts that 
any Loan Document is not a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Loan Party that is a party thereto, enforceable 
in accordance with its terms except for the termination of such Loan Document pursuant to its terms. If any 
Subordination Agreement relating to Subordinated Debt shall in any material respect cease to be a legal, valid and 
binding obligation, or the holder of any Subordinated Debt challenges the legality, validity or binding nature of the 
Subordination Agreement to which such Subordinated Debt relates except for the termination of such Subordination 
Agreement pursuant to its terms. 

8.10 Involuntary Bankruptcy.  If a proceeding (including any Insolvency Proceeding) shall have been instituted 
in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking a decree or order for relief in respect of Borrower or any 
Subsidiary (other than an English Loan Party) in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or 
other similar law (including, in respect of any Israeli Loan Party, the Israeli Insolvency Law) now or hereafter in 
effect and in respect of an English Loan Party, pursuant to the UK Insolvency Act, or for the appointment of a 
receiver, liquidator, assignee, administrative receiver, administrator, compulsory manager, custodian, trustee (or 
similar official including a ne’eman (as such term is understood under the Israeli Insolvency Law) of Borrower or 
any Subsidiary or for any substantial part of their property, or for the winding‑up or liquidation of any of their 
affairs, and such proceeding shall remain undismissed or unstayed and in effect for a period of forty-five (45) 
consecutive days or such court shall enter a decree or order granting the relief sought in such proceeding.

8.11 Voluntary Bankruptcy or Insolvency.  If Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than an English Loan Party) 
shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law (including, in 
respect of any Israeli Loan Party, the Israeli Insolvency Law) now or hereafter in effect and in respect of an English 
Loan Party, pursuant to the UK Insolvency Act, shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case 
under any such laws, or shall consent to, or apply to the court for, the appointment of or taking possession by a 
receiver, liquidator, assignee, administrative receiver, administrator, compulsory manager, trustee (whether 
temporary or otherwise), custodian (or other similar official) of any Loan Party or for any substantial part of its 
property, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors (including, for any Israeli Loan Party, 
entering into any debt arrangement (“hesder hov”, as such term is defined in the Israeli Insolvency Law), or shall 
take any corporate action in furtherance of any of the foregoing.

8.12 Insolvency.  If on or after the Closing Date, Borrower and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) becomes 
Insolvent.

8.13 Cross Default. If an “Event of Default” has occurred and is continuing under (and as defined in) the Junior 
Loan Documents (for clarification, to the extent any event of default under the Junior Loan Documents shall be 
cured or waived it shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement).

9. Agent and Lenders’ Rights and Remedies

9.1 Rights and Remedies.  Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Agent shall 
have the rights, options, duties and remedies of a secured party as permitted by, and in accordance with, applicable 
law and, in addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, Agent may (and not any Lender without Agent’s 
written consent), at its election, without notice of election and without demand, do any one or more of the following, 
all of which are authorized by each Loan Party:

(a) Declare all Obligations, whether evidenced by this Agreement, or by any of the other Loan Documents, 
including the outstanding principal amount of, and accrued interest on, each Advance, immediately due and payable 
(provided that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in Section 8.11 or 8.12 all Obligations shall 
become immediately due and payable and the Commitment shall terminate without any action by Agent);
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(b) Make such payments and do such acts as Agent considers necessary or reasonable to protect its security 
interest in the Collateral.  Each Loan Party agrees to assemble the Collateral in its possession, custody or control if 
Agent so requires, and to make the Collateral available to Agent as Agent may designate.  Each Loan Party 
authorizes Agent to enter the premises where the Collateral is located, to take and maintain possession of the 
Collateral, or any part of it, and to pay, purchase, contest, or compromise any Lien which in Agent’s determination 
appears to be prior or superior to its security interest and to pay all expenses incurred in connection therewith; with 
respect to any of the Loan Party’s owned premises, each Loan Party hereby grants Agent, subject to any rights of 
third parties, a license to enter into possession of such premises and to occupy the same, without charge in order to 
exercise any of Agent’s rights or remedies provided herein, at law, in equity, or otherwise;

(c) Set off and apply to the Obligations any and all Indebtedness at any time owing to or for the credit or the 
account of any Loan Party;

(d) Ship, reclaim, recover, store, finish, maintain, repair, prepare for sale, advertise for sale, and sell (in the 
manner provided for herein) the Collateral.  Agent is hereby granted a license or other right, solely pursuant to the 
provisions of this Section 9.1 (subject, in the case of Trademarks, retention by the Loan Party owner of such 
Trademark of the minimum rights required for quality control and inspection to avoid invalidation of such 
Trademarks), to use or sublicense the use of, without charge the Loan Parties’ labels, Patents, Copyrights, rights of 
use of any name, trade secrets, trade names, Trademarks, service marks, and advertising matter, or any Property of a 
similar nature, as it pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale, selling any Collateral 
and allowing for any resale of such Collateral, and, otherwise, in connection with Agent’s exercise of its rights under 
this Section 9.1.  Each Loan Party’s rights under all licenses and all franchise agreements shall inure to Agent’s 
benefit;

(e) Deliver a notice of exclusive control, any entitlement order, or other directions or instructions pursuant to any 
Control Agreement or similar agreement providing control of any Collateral:

(f) Sell the Collateral at either a public or private sale, or both, by way of one or more contracts or transactions, 
for cash or on terms, in such manner and at such places (including any Loan Party’s premises) as Agent determines 
are commercially reasonable; and

(g) Agent may credit bid and purchase at any public sale.

Any deficiency that exists after disposition of the Collateral as provided above will be paid immediately by the Loan 
Parties.

9.2 Waiver by each Loan Party.  Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to the 
extent permitted by law, each Loan Party covenants that it will not at any time insist upon or plead, or in any manner 
whatever claim or take any benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension of law now or at any time hereafter in 
force, nor claim, take nor insist upon any benefit or advantage of or from any law now or hereafter in force 
providing for the valuation or appraisement of the Collateral or any part thereof prior to any sale or sales thereof to 
be made pursuant to any provision herein contained, or to the decree, judgment or order of any court of competent 
jurisdiction; nor, after such sale or sales, claim or exercise any right under any statute now or hereafter made or 
enacted by any state or otherwise to redeem the Property so sold or any part thereof, and, to the full extent legally 
permitted, except as to rights expressly provided herein, hereby expressly waives for itself and on behalf of each and 
every Person, except decree or judgment creditors of each Loan Party acquiring any interest in or title to the 
Collateral or any part thereof subsequent to the date of this Agreement, all benefit and advantage of any such law or 
laws, and covenants that it will not invoke or utilize any such law or laws or otherwise hinder, delay or impede the 
execution of any power herein granted and delegated to Agent, but will suffer and permit the execution of every 
such power as though no such power, law or laws had been made or enacted.

9.3 Effect of Sale.  Subject to applicable law, any sale, whether under any power of sale hereby given under this 
Article 9 or by virtue of judicial proceedings, shall operate to divest all right, title, interest, claim and demand 
whatsoever, either at law or in equity, of each Loan party in and to the Property sold, and shall be a perpetual bar, 
both at law and in equity, against such Loan Party, its successors and assigns, and against any and all Persons 
claiming the Property sold or any part thereof under, by or through such Loan Party, its successors or assigns. The 
timing of any foreclosure sale of Collateral shall be deemed reasonable provided that Agent gives at least 10 days 
advance notice of the initial date set for such foreclosure sale.

9.4 Power of Attorney in Respect of the Collateral. Each Loan Party does hereby irrevocably appoint Agent 
(which appointment is coupled with an interest) effective only on the occurrence and during the continuance of an 
Event of Default, the true and lawful attorney in fact of such Loan Party with full power of substitution, for it and in 
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its name:  (a) to ask, demand, collect, receive, receipt for, sue for, compound and give acquittance for any and 
all rents, issues, profits, avails, distributions, income, payment draws and other sums in which a security interest is 
granted under Section 4 with full power to settle, adjust or compromise any claim thereunder as fully as if Agent 
were such Loan Party itself, (b) to receive payment of and to endorse the name of such Loan Party to any items of 
Collateral (including checks, drafts and other orders for the payment of money) that come into Agent’s possession or 
under Agent’s control, (c) to make all demands, consents and waivers, or take any other action with respect to, the 
Collateral, (d) in Agent’s discretion to file any claim or take any other action or proceedings, either in its own name 
or in the name of such Loan Party or otherwise, which Agent may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate to 
protect and preserve the right, title and interest of Agent in and to the Collateral, (e) to sign an amendment to any 
Loan Document if such Loan Party is obligated, but fails, to do so, or (f) to otherwise act with respect thereto as 
though Agent were the outright owner of the Collateral.

9.5 Lender Expenses.  If any Loan Party fails to pay any amounts or furnish any required proof of payment due 
to third persons or entities as required under the terms of this Agreement, then Agent (or a Lender with Agent’s 
consent) may do any or all of the following:  (a) make payment of the same or any part thereof; (b) set up such 
reserves as Agent or such Lender, as applicable, deems necessary to protect Agent and Lender from the exposure 
created by such failure; or (c) obtain and maintain insurance policies of the type discussed in Section 6.8 of this 
Agreement, and take any action with respect to such policies as Agent or such Lender, as applicable, deems prudent.  
Any amounts paid or deposited by Agent or such Lender, as applicable, shall constitute Lender Expenses, shall be 
immediately due and payable, and shall bear interest at the then applicable rate hereinabove provided, and shall be 
secured by the Collateral.  Any payments made by Agent or such Lender shall not constitute an agreement by Agent 
or any Lender to make similar payments in the future or a waiver by Agent of any Event of Default under this 
Agreement.

9.6 Remedies Cumulative.  Agent’s and each Lender’s rights and remedies under this Agreement, the other Loan 
Documents, and all other agreements shall be cumulative.  Agent and Lenders shall have all other rights and
remedies not inconsistent herewith as provided under the Code, by law, or in equity, provided however, that Lender 
must first obtain Agent’s written consent before exercising any such rights and remedies.  No exercise by Agent or 
Lenders (to the extent authorized by Agent) of one right or remedy shall be deemed an election, and no waiver by 
Agent, for itself or on behalf of Lenders, of any Event of Default on any Loan Party’s part shall be deemed a 
continuing waiver.  No delay by Agent or Lenders shall constitute a waiver, election, or acquiescence by such party.

9.7 Reinstatement of Rights.  If Agent (or a Lender with Agent’s written consent) shall have proceeded to 
enforce any right under this Agreement or any other Loan Document by foreclosure, sale, entry or otherwise, and 
such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined 
adversely, then and in every such case (unless otherwise ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction), Agent and 
Lenders shall be restored to their former position and rights hereunder with respect to the Property subject to the 
security interest created under this Agreement.

9.8 Share Collateral.  The Loan Parties recognize that Agent may be unable to effect a public sale of any or all 
the Collateral comprising pledged shares or ownership interests (the “Shares”), by reason of certain prohibitions 
contained in federal securities laws and any other applicable securities laws or otherwise, and may be compelled to 
resort to one or more private sales thereof to a restricted group of purchasers which will be obliged to agree, among 
other things, to acquire such securities for their own account for investment and not with a view to the distribution or 
resale thereof or other applicable restrictions.  The Loan Parties acknowledge and agree that any such private sale 
may result in prices and other terms less favorable than if such sale were a public sale and, notwithstanding such 
circumstances, agrees that any such private sale shall be deemed to have been made in a commercially reasonable 
manner.  Agent or any other holder of the Shares shall be under no obligation to delay a sale of any of the Shares for 
the period of time necessary to permit the issuer thereof to register such securities for public sale under federal 
securities laws or under applicable state or foreign securities laws.

10. Waivers; Indemnification

10.1 Demand; Protest.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Loan Party waives demand, protest, 
notice of protest, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and nonpayment, notice of any default, and any 
other notices relating to the Obligations or Agent’s and/or Lenders’ rights and remedies hereunder.

10.2 Liability for Collateral.  So long as Agent complies with its obligations, if any, under Section 9207 of the 
Code, neither Agent nor any Lender in any way or manner shall be liable or responsible for:  (a) the safekeeping of 
the Collateral; (b) any loss or damage thereto occurring or arising in any manner or fashion from any cause; (c) any 
diminution in the value thereof; or (d) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee, forwarding agency, or 
other Person whomsoever.  All risk of loss, damage or destruction of the Collateral shall be borne by the Loan 
Parties.
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10.3 Indemnification. 

(a) General Indemnity.  Each Loan Party shall pay, indemnify, and hold Agent and each Lender, and each of 
their officers, directors, employees, partners, agents, counsel and attorneys‑in‑fact (each, an “Indemnified Person”) 
harmless from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, 
costs, charges, expenses or disbursements (including Lender Expenses and reasonable attorney’s fees) of any kind or 
nature whatsoever with respect to the execution, delivery, enforcement, performance and administration of this 
Agreement and any other Loan Documents, or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and with respect to 
any investigation, litigation or proceeding (including any case, action or proceeding before any court or other 
Governmental Authority relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or relief of 
debtors or any appellate proceeding) related to this Agreement or the Advances or the use of the proceeds thereof, 
whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party thereto (all the foregoing, collectively, the “Indemnified 
Liabilities”); provided, that no Loan Party shall have an obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Person with respect 
to Indemnified Liabilities arising from solely the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person 
as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final, non-appealable judgment. 

(b) Defense.  At the election of Agent, Borrower and/or another Loan Party selected from time to time by Agent 
for such purpose shall defend such Indemnified Persons in connection with the Indemnified Liabilities, using a 
single legal counsel satisfactory to Agent (and, in the event of a conflict of interest acknowledged by such legal 
counsel between the Indemnified Persons, additional legal counsel), at the sole cost and expense of Borrower and 
the other Loan Parties.  All indemnity amounts owing under this Section 10.3 shall be paid within thirty (30) days 
after written demand.

11.Notices  Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices or demands by any party relating to 
this Agreement or any other agreement entered into in connection herewith shall be in writing and (except for 
financial statements and other informational documents which shall be sent by e-mail) shall be personally delivered 
or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, by e-mail or by prepaid facsimile to Borrower, to
Agent or to Lender, as the case may be, at their respective addresses set forth below:

If to Borrower or        Urgent.ly Inc.
any other Loan Party: 8609 Westwood Center Drive, Suite 810
	                        Vienna VA 22182
	                        Attn:  Tim Huffmyer, Chief Financial Officer

EMAIL: thuffmyer@urgent.ly
 

If to Agent:	          Ocean II PLO LLC 
800 Menlo Avenue # 210 
Menlo Park, CA 94025
Attn: Solomon Park and Nitin Chandra
EMAIL:  solomon@structuralcapital.com and nitin@structuralcapital.com 

 

If to a Lender:	At such address provided immediately below such Lender’s signature to this 
Agreement 

	

The parties hereto may change the address at which they are to receive notices hereunder, by notice in writing in the 
foregoing manner given to the other.

12. 	 AGENT PROVISIONS

12.1  	 Appointment and Authorization. 

(a) Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints Agent to act on its behalf as the administrative agent and collateral 
agent under the Loan Documents, and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such 
powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms of any of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and 
powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Should any Lender obtain possession or control of any such Collateral, 
such Lender shall be deemed to hold such Collateral for the benefit of Agent and each other Lender, shall notify 
Agent thereof, and, promptly upon Agent’s request therefor shall deliver possession or control of such Collateral to 
Agent.
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(b) Each Lender hereby authorizes Agent, on behalf of and for the benefit of Lender, to enter into any of the Loan 
Documents as secured party, and as Agent for and representative of Lender thereunder, and each Lender agrees to be 
bound by the terms of each such document; provided that Agent shall not (i) enter into or consent to any material 
amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision contained in any such document or (ii) release any 
Collateral (except as otherwise expressly permitted or required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or the 
applicable Loan Document), in the case of each of clauses (i) and (ii) without the prior consent of Required Lenders 
(or, if required pursuant to Section 13.4, all Lenders); provided further, however, that, without further written 
consent or authorization from Lenders, Agent may execute any documents or instruments necessary to (a) release 
any Lien encumbering any item of Collateral that is the subject of a Transfer of assets permitted by this Agreement 
or to which Required Lenders have otherwise consented, (b) release any party from a Joinder Agreement if all of the
Equity Interests of such party are Transferred to any Person (other than an Affiliate of a Loan Party) pursuant to a 
Transfer permitted hereunder or to which Required Lenders have otherwise consented, or (c) subordinate the Liens 
of Agent, on behalf of Lenders, to any Permitted Liens or (d) release all Liens in accordance with Section 2.4.  
Anything contained in any of the Loan Documents to the contrary notwithstanding, each Loan Party, Agent and each 
Lender hereby agree that (1) no Lender shall have any right individually to realize upon any of the Collateral under 
or otherwise enforce any Loan Document, it being understood and agreed that all powers, rights and remedies under 
the Loan Documents may be exercised solely by Agent for the benefit of Lenders and Agent in accordance with the 
terms thereof, and (2) in the event of a foreclosure by either on any of the Collateral pursuant to a public or private 
sale, either Agent or any Lender may be the purchaser of any or all of such Collateral at any such sale and Agent, as 
agent for and representative of Lenders (but not any Lender or Lenders in its or their respective individual capacities
unless Required Lenders shall otherwise agree in writing) shall be entitled, for the purpose of bidding and making 
settlement or payment of the purchase price for all or any portion of the Collateral sold at any such public sale, to 
use and apply any of the Obligations as a credit on account of the purchase price for any Collateral payable by Agent 
at such sale. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Agent is hereby expressly authorized to execute any 
and all documents (including releases) with respect to (i) the Collateral and the rights of Lenders with respect 
thereto, as contemplated by and in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Documents, and (ii) any other 
Subordination Agreement with respect to any junior or Subordinated Debt.

12.2  	 Agent in Individual Capacity; Lender as Agent. The Person serving as the Agent hereunder shall have 
the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it 
were not the Agent and the term “Lender” shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise 
requires, include each such Person serving as Agent hereunder in its individual capacity. The exculpatory provisions 
contained in this Section 12 shall not relieve a Person acting as Agent from its obligations as a Lender to the extent 
that such Agent is also a Lender. 

12.3  	 Exculpatory Provisions.  The Agent shall have no duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in 
the Loan Documents.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent shall not:

(a) be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether any Default or any Event of Default 
has occurred and is continuing;

(b) have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary 
rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Agent is required to exercise as directed 
in writing by the Lender, provided that the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the 
opinion of its counsel, may expose the Agent to liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document or applicable law; 
and 

(c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, have any duty to disclose, and the Agent shall not be 
liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to a Loan Party or any of its Affiliates that is 
communicated to or obtained by any Person serving as the Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity.

Agent shall (i) provide Lenders a copy of material written information its receives from a Loan Party promptly on 
receipt, it being understood that Agent anticipates that there will be a significant amount of email correspondence, 
much of which will not be material and therefore will not be relayed to Lenders, and (ii) endeavor to keep Lenders 
generally apprised of important non-written information a Loan Party communicates to Agent.

12.4 	 Limitation of Liability. 

(a) Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it (i) with the consent or at the request of the 
Required Lenders or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary, under the circumstances or (ii) in the 
absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.
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(b) Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or 
representation made in or in connection with the Loan Documents, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other 
document delivered under any of the Loan Documents, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, 
agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any of the Loan Documents, (iv) the validity, enforceability, 
effectiveness or genuineness of any of the Loan Documents or any other agreement, instrument or document or (v) 
the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Section 3 or elsewhere in the Loan Documents, other than to confirm 
receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent. 

(c) Agent may rely, and shall be fully protected in acting, or refraining to act, upon, any resolution, statement, 
certificate, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond or other paper or document that it has no 
reason to believe to be other than genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties or, in 
the case of emails, cables, telecopies and telexes, to have been sent by the proper party or parties.  In the absence of 
its gross negligence or willful misconduct, Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the 
correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificates or opinions furnished to Agent and conforming 
to the requirements of any of the Loan Documents.  Agent may consult with counsel, and any opinion or legal 
advice of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, not 
taken or suffered by Agent under any of the Loan Documents in accordance therewith.  Agent shall have the right at 
any time to seek instructions concerning the administration of the Collateral from any court of competent 
jurisdiction.  Agent shall not be under any obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers granted to Agent by the 
Loan Documents at the request or direction of any Lender unless Agent shall have been provided by such Lender 
with adequate security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by it in 
compliance with such request or direction, and then, only to the extent that such Lender has the right under the 
applicable Loan Document to direct Agent to act.

12.5    Exculpation. Each Lender acknowledges that neither Agent nor any other Lender has made any 
representation or warranty to it, and that no act by any Agent or other Lender hereafter taken, including any consent 
to and acceptance of any assignment or review of the affairs of Borrower or any Affiliate thereof, shall be deemed to 
constitute any representation or warranty by any Agent or such Lender to any other Lender as to any matter, 
including whether there has been disclosure of material information in their possession. Each Lender acknowledges 
that it has, independently and without reliance upon Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement.  
Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon Agent or any other Lender and 
based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own 
decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon the Loan Documents, any related agreement or any 
document furnished thereunder. 

12.6 Indemnification. The Lenders agree to indemnify Agent in its capacity as such (to the extent not reimbursed 
by the Loan Parties and without limiting the obligation of the Loan Parties to do so), ratably according to their 
respective Commitment, from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever that may at any time (whether before or 
after the payment of the Obligations) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against such Agent in any way relating 
to or arising out of, the Commitments, this Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents, or any documents 
contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or any action 
taken or omitted by such Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided that no Lender shall be 
liable for the payment of any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, 
suits, costs, expenses or disbursements that are found by a final and non-appealable decision of a court of competent 
jurisdiction to have resulted from such Agent’s gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct. The agreements in 
this Section 12.6 shall survive the payment of the Obligations.

12.7 Successor Agents. Agent may resign upon twenty (20) days’ notice to the Lenders and Borrower. If Agent 
shall resign in its capacity under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, then the Required Lenders shall 
appoint a successor agent, whereupon such successor agent shall succeed to the rights, powers and duties of Agent in 
its capacity, and the term “Agent” shall mean such successor agent effective upon such appointment and approval, 
and the former Agent’s rights, powers and duties as Agent in its capacity shall be terminated, without any other or 
further act or deed on the part of such former Agent or any of the parties to this Agreement or any Lender. If no 
applicable successor agent has accepted appointment as such Agent in its capacity by the date that is twenty (20) 
days following such retiring Agent’s notice of resignation, such retiring Agent’s resignation shall nevertheless 
thereupon become effective and the Lenders shall assume and perform all of the duties of such Agent hereunder 
until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor agent as provided for above. After any retiring 
Agent’s resignation 
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as Agent, the provisions of this Section 12 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be 
taken by it while it was an Agent under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

12.8 Agents Generally. Except as expressly set forth herein, Agent shall not have any duties or responsibilities 
hereunder in its capacity as such.

13. General Provisions

13.1 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and 
permitted assigns of each of the parties; provided, however, that neither this Agreement nor any rights hereunder 
may be assigned by any Loan Party without Agent’s prior written consent, which consent may be granted or 
withheld in Agent’s sole discretion.  Each Lender shall have the right without the consent of and without written 
notice to any Loan Party to sell, transfer, negotiate, or grant participations in all or any part of, or any interest in 
Lender’s rights and benefits hereunder and under any Loan Document to an Affiliate of Lender, provided that any 
other sale, transfer or participation of a Lender’s interest in any Loan Document shall require Agent’s prior written 
consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and is continuing, no 
Lender shall assign its interest in the Loan Documents to any Person who in the reasonable estimation of such 
Lender is a direct competitor of Borrower, whether as an operating company or direct or indirect parent with voting 
control over such operating company or to a “vulture” hedge fund. The Agent, acting solely for its purpose as an 
agent of any Loan Party to the extent required by the Internal Revenue Code, but in any event without liability to 
Borrower in such capacity as an agent, shall maintain a copy of each assignment and assumption, sale, transfer 
negotiation or participation document delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of 
the Lenders and participants from time to time, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts of (and stated 
interest on) the Advances owing to each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”).  The 
entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Loan Parties, the Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person 
whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this 
Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.  The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower 
and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. For clarification, this 
Section 13.1 shall not apply with respect to the Warrant, as to which assignment, transfer and other such actions are 
governed by the terms thereof.

13.2 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for the performance of all obligations set forth in this Agreement.

13.3 Severability of Provisions.  Each provision of this Agreement shall be severable from every other provision 
of this Agreement for the purpose of determining the legal enforceability of any specific provision.

13.4 Entire Agreement; Construction; Amendments and Waivers.  

(a) This Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents and the Warrants, taken together, constitute and contain 
the entire agreement between the Loan Parties, Agent and Lenders and supersede any and all prior agreements, 
negotiations, correspondence, understandings and communications between them, whether written or oral, 
respecting the subject matter hereof, including that certain term sheet dated September 17, 2021 issued by SCI to 
Borrower.

(b) This Agreement is the result of negotiations between and has been reviewed by each of the Loan Parties, 
Agent and Lenders as of the date hereof and their respective counsel; accordingly, this Agreement shall be deemed 
to be the product of the parties hereto, and no ambiguity shall be construed in favor of or against any Loan Party, 
Agent or any Lender as a result of such provision having been written by such party.  Loan Parties, Agent and 
Lenders agree that they intend the literal words of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and that no parol 
evidence shall be necessary or appropriate to establish their Loan Parties’, Agent’s or Lenders’ actual intentions.

(c) Any and all amendments, modifications, discharges or waivers of, or consents to any departures from any 
provision of this Agreement or of any of the other Loan Documents shall not be effective without the written 
consent of Agent, the Required Lenders and Borrower, provided however, that any amendment to the Commitment 
or any decrease in the principal amount of any Advance shall also require the written consent of the Lender whose 
Commitment or principal amount of any Advance is being amended and, provided, further, that Borrower may 
amend the Perfection Certificate and the Disclosure Schedules without the consent of the Agent or the Required 
Lenders only as provided in Article 5. Each Loan Party agrees that any amendments, modifications, discharges or 
waivers of, or consents to any departures from any provision of this Agreement or of any of the other Loan 
Documents signed by Borrower shall be binding on all other Loan Parties even if such other Loan Parties do not 
provide their signature.  Any waiver or consent with respect to any provision of the Loan Documents shall be 
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given.  No notice to or demand 
on a Loan Party in any case shall entitle any Loan Party to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other 
circumstances.  Any amendment, 
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modification, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this Section 13.4 shall be binding upon Agent, 
Lenders and Loan Parties.

13.5 Reliance.  All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made herein by any Loan Party shall, 
notwithstanding any investigation by Agent and Lenders, be deemed to be material to and to have been relied upon 
by Agent and Lenders.

13.6 No Set‑Offs by Loan Parties.  All Obligations payable by a Loan Party pursuant to this Agreement or any of 
the other Loan Documents shall be payable without notice or demand and shall be payable in United States Dollars 
without set‑off or reduction of any manner whatsoever.

13.7 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 
to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement and any 
signed agreement or instrument entered into in connection with this Agreement, and any amendments or waivers 
hereto or thereto, to the extent signed and delivered by means of facsimile, photocopy, scan by e-mail delivery of a 
“.pdf” format data file, or any electronic signature valid under the Electronic Signatures in Global and National 
Commerce Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001, et. seq. such as DocuSign shall be treated in all manner and respects as an
original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the 
original signed version thereof delivered in person, provided that the Borrower shall provide manually executed 
“wet ink” signatures (including company’s stamp) to the ISR Debentures and the notices to the Israeli Registrar of 
Companies and/or Israeli Registrar of Pledges, as applicable, by the relevant parties, in connection with the 
registration thereof. No party hereto or to any such agreement or instrument shall raise the use of signature delivered 
or provided in that manner as a defense to the formation of a contract and each party hereto forever waives any such 
defense.

13.8 Survival.  All covenants, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall continue in full force 
and effect so long as any Obligations remain outstanding.  The obligation of the Loan Parties to indemnify each 
Indemnified Person with respect to the expenses, damages, losses, costs and liabilities described in Section 10.3 
shall survive until all applicable statute of limitations periods with respect to actions that may be brought against an 
Indemnified Person have run.  Further, Sections 2.4(c), 6.16, 13.9, 13.12 and Article 14 shall survive the 
termination of the Commitment or this Agreement as will any other provision which by its terms extend beyond the 
payment in full in cash of the Obligations. Without limiting the foregoing, except as otherwise provided in Section 4, 
the creation of a security interest by any Israeli Loan Party and the charges granted under the ISR Debentures shall 
survive the termination of this Agreement and any other Loan Documents until payment of the Obligations in full in 
cash.

13.9 Publicity.  Agent and Lenders may use any Loan Party’s name and logo, and include a brief description of the 
relationship between the Loan Parties, Borrower, Agent and Lenders, in Agent’s and Lenders’ marketing materials.

13.10 Correction of Loan Documents.  Agent may correct patent errors and fill in any blanks in the Loan 
Documents consistent with the agreement of the parties so long as Agent provides Borrower and Lenders with 
written notice of such correction and allows Borrower and Lenders at least ten (10) days to object to such correction.  
In the event of such objection, such correction shall not be made except by an amendment signed by Agent, the 
Required Lenders and Borrower.

13.11 Relationship of Parties.  Loan Parties, Agent and Lenders acknowledge, understand and agree that the 
relationship between the Loan Parties, on the one hand, and Agent and Lenders, on the other, is, and at all times 
shall remain solely that of borrower or guarantor, on the one hand, and lender on the other.  Neither Agent nor 
Lenders shall under any circumstances be construed to be a partner or joint venturer of any Loan Party or any of its 
Affiliates; nor shall Agent or any Lender under any circumstances be deemed to be in a relationship of confidence or 
trust or a fiduciary relationship with any Loan Party or any of its Affiliates, or to owe any fiduciary duty to any Loan 
Party or any of its Affiliates.  Agent and Lenders do not undertake or assume any responsibility or duty to any Loan 
Party or any of its Affiliates to select, review, inspect, supervise, pass judgment upon or otherwise inform any Loan 
Party or any of its Affiliates of any matter in connection with its or their Property, any Collateral or the operations of 
such Loan Party or any of its Affiliates.  Loan Parties and each of their Affiliates shall rely entirely on their own 
judgment with respect to such matters, and any review, inspection, supervision, exercise of judgment or supply of 
information undertaken or assumed by Agent or Lenders in connection with such matters is solely for the protection 
of Agent and Lenders, and neither any Loan Party nor any of its Affiliates is entitled to rely thereon.

13.12 Confidentiality.  Neither Agent, Lenders nor any of their employees, agents or representatives shall disclose 
to any third party any Confidential Information that Borrower or any Affiliate of Borrower discloses to it pursuant to 
the Loan Documents, except that Agent and Lenders (i) may disclose Confidential Information to a third party to the 
extent required by law, subpoena, civil investigative demand, interrogatories or similar legal process, upon giving 
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Borrower reasonable advance notice of such disclosure if allowed pursuant to applicable law to permit 
Borrower to seek a protective order or otherwise prevent such disclosure, (ii) may disclose Confidential Information 
to a potential assignee or transferee of or participant in the Loan Documents; provided that the potential assignee, 
transferee or participant agrees to be bound by substantially similar confidentiality obligations as Agent and Lenders 
under this Section 13.12, (iii) may disclose Confidential Information to their legal counsel, accountants and other 
professional advisors provided they are bound by law or contract by the substantially similar confidentiality 
obligations as Agent or Lender as set forth in this Section, (iv) may disclose Confidential Information to regulatory 
authorities having jurisdiction over Agent or Lender or any assignee, transferee or participant, and (v) may disclose 
Confidential Information in connection with the exercise of its rights and remedies during the continuance of an 
Event of Default, to the extent Agent or Lenders reasonably deems necessary.  For purposes hereof, “Confidential 
Information” is information that Borrower or an Affiliate of Borrower discloses to Agent or Lenders pursuant to the 
Loan Documents that is not information which (i) becomes generally available to the public, other than as a result of 
disclosure by Agent or Lenders, (ii) was available on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure to Agent or 
Lenders by Borrower or such Affiliate, as applicable, (iii) becomes available to Agent or any Lender on a non-
confidential basis from a source other the Borrower or such Affiliate, as applicable; provided that neither Agent nor 
any Lender have actual knowledge that such third party is prohibited from disclosing such information, or (iv) is 
independently developed by Agent or any Lender without reference to confidential information provided by 
Borrower or an Affiliate of Borrower.

13.13 Patriot Act/Freedom Act.  Agent and Lenders hereby notify Borrower and its Subsidiaries that pursuant to 
the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act and USA FREEDOM Act and other applicable laws, they are required 
to obtain, verify and record information that identifies Borrower and its Subsidiaries, which information includes the 
name and address of Borrower and its Subsidiaries and other information that will allow them to identify Borrower 
and its Subsidiaries in accordance with the USA PATRIOT Act, the USA FREEDOM Act and other applicable laws.

13.14 Governing Law.  California law governs this Agreement without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Each 
of the Loan Parties, Agent and Lenders submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal courts in the 
County of San Mateo, California; provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to operate to 
preclude Agent from bringing suit or taking other legal action in any other jurisdiction to realize on the Collateral or 
any other security for the Obligations, or to enforce a judgment or other court order in favor of Agent. Each Loan
Party expressly submits and consents in advance to such jurisdiction in any action or suit commenced in any such 
court, and such Loan Party hereby waives any objection that it may have based upon lack of personal jurisdiction, 
improper venue, or forum non conveniens and hereby consents to the granting of such legal or equitable relief as is 
deemed appropriate by such court. Each Loan Party hereby waives personal service of the summons, complaints, 
and other process issued in such action or suit and agrees that service of such summons, complaints, and other 
process may be made by registered or certified mail addressed to such party at the address set forth in, or 
subsequently provided by such party in accordance with, Section 11 of this Agreement and that service so made 
shall be deemed completed upon the earlier to occur of a party’s actual receipt thereof or three (3) days after deposit
in the U.S. mails, proper postage prepaid.

13.15  Waiver of Jury Trial. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH LOAN 
PARTY, AGENT AND LENDERS WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF 
ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY CONTEMPLATED 
TRANSACTION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING CONTRACT, TORT, BREACH OF DUTY AND 
ALL OTHER CLAIMS. THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE PARTIES TO ENTER 
INTO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL. 

13.16  Judicial Reference.  WITHOUT INTENDING IN ANY WAY TO LIMIT THE PARTIES’ AGREEMENT 
TO WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY, if the above waiver of the right to a trial by 
jury is not enforceable, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders agree that any and all disputes or controversies of any 
nature between them arising at any time shall be decided by a reference to a private judge, mutually selected by 
Urgent.ly and Agent (or, if they cannot agree, by the Presiding Judge of San Mateo County, California Superior 
Court) appointed in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure Section 638 (or pursuant to comparable 
provisions of federal law if the dispute falls within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts), sitting without a 
jury, in San Mateo County, California; and each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders hereby submit to the jurisdiction of 
such court. The reference proceedings shall be conducted pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of 
California Code of Civil Procedure §§ 638 through 645.1, inclusive. The private judge shall have the power, among 
others, to grant provisional relief, including without limitation, entering temporary restraining orders, issuing 
preliminary and permanent injunctions and appointing receivers. All such proceedings shall be closed to the public 
and confidential and all records relating thereto shall be permanently sealed. If during the course of any dispute, a 
party desires to seek 
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provisional relief, but a judge has not been appointed at that point pursuant to the judicial reference 
procedures, then such party may apply to the San Mateo, California Superior Court for such relief. The proceeding 
before the private judge shall be conducted in the same manner as it would be before a court under the rules of 
evidence applicable to judicial proceedings. Each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders shall be entitled to discovery 
which shall be conducted in the same manner as it would be before a court under the rules of discovery applicable to 
judicial proceedings. The private judge shall oversee discovery and may enforce all discovery rules and orders 
applicable to judicial proceedings in the same manner as a trial court judge.

13.17  Scope of Authority. Each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders agree that the selected or appointed private judge 
shall have the power to decide all issues in the action or proceeding, whether of fact or of law, and shall report a 
statement of decision thereon pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 644(a). Nothing in this paragraph 
shall limit the right of any party at any time to exercise self-help remedies, foreclose against Collateral, or obtain 
provisional remedies. The private judge shall also determine all issues relating to the applicability, interpretation, 
and enforceability of this paragraph.

13.18 Amendment and Restatement. This Agreement amends and restates in its entirety, and replaces, the Second 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The amendment and restatement of the Second Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement pursuant to this Agreement is not intended to amend the existing terms of any other Loan 
Document delivered in connection with the Original Loan Agreement, the First Amended and Restated Credit 
Agreement or the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, nor to terminate any such Loan Document, and 
no amendment or termination of any such Loan Document shall be deemed to have occurred unless set forth in a 
separate agreement or other document between the Loan Parties, the Agents and the Lenders.

14. Release

14.1 Each Loan Party, for itself and on behalf of their respective heirs, legal representatives, and successors and 
assigns, as applicable, hereby release Agent and Lenders and all of their Affiliates, shareholders, partners, 
predecessors, employees, officers, directors, attorneys, parent corporations, subsidiaries, agents, participants, 
assignees, servicers and receivers (collectively, the “Released Parties”), except for claims, disputes, differences, 
liabilities and obligations arising after the Closing Date, from any and all known and unknown claims, disputes, 
differences, liabilities and obligations of any and every nature whatsoever that they or any of them may have or 
claim, as of the date hereof or as of any prior date, against any one or more of the Released Parties arising from, 
based upon or related to the Loan Documents or any predecessor document or agreement, or any other agreement, 
understanding, action or inaction whatsoever with regard to the Loan Documents, such other predecessor documents 
or agreements, or any transaction or matter related thereto, including, without limitation, the origination and 
servicing of the loan made under the Loan Documents, such other predecessor documents or agreements and the 
enforcement or attempted enforcement of any rights or remedies for default or asserted default under the Loan 
Documents or such other predecessor documents or agreements (collectively, the “Released Claims”).

14.2 Each Loan Party further acknowledges and agrees that the Released Claims include, among other things, all 
claims arising out of or with respect to any and all transactions relating to the Loan Documents or such other 
predecessor documents or agreements based on any fact, act, inaction, or other occurrence or nonoccurrence on or
prior to the date hereof, including, without limitation, any breach of fiduciary duty or duty of fair dealing, breach of 
confidence, breach of loan commitment, undue influence, duress, economic coercion, conflict of interest, 
negligence, bad faith, malpractice, violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, violation of 
any other statute, ordinance or regulation, intentional or negligent infliction of mental or emotional distress, tortious 
interference with contractual relations or prospective business advantage, tortious interference with corporate 
governance, breach of contract, bad practices, unfair competition, libel, slander, conspiracy or any claim for 
wrongfully accelerating the loan made under the Loan Documents or such other predecessor documents or 
agreements or attempting to foreclose on, or obtain a receiver for, any collateral for the loan made under the Loan
Documents or such other predecessor documents or agreements and all statutory claims and causes of action of 
every nature.

14.3 In connection with the release contained in this Section 14 (the “Release”), each Loan Party acknowledges 
that it is aware that it may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those that it now knows or 
believes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but that it is each of their intention hereby fully, finally and 
forever to settle and release all claims, disputes, differences, liabilities and obligations, known or unknown, 
suspected or unsuspected, that now exist, may exist or heretofore have existed by any of them against any one or 
more of the Released Parties.  In furtherance of that intention, the Release contained in this Amendment shall be and 
remain in 
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effect as a full and complete release notwithstanding the discovery of the existence of any such additional or 
different facts.

14.4 The Release contained in this Agreement shall be effective and irrevocable upon the execution of this 
Agreement or any Joinder Agreement by the parties hereto or thereto without any further documentation or the 
satisfaction of any other conditions.

14.5 EACH LOAN PARTY AGREES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE RELEASED CLAIMS ARE NOT 
LIMITED TO MATTERS THAT ARE KNOWN OR DISCLOSED TO ANY OF THEM AND THAT THE 
RELEASED CLAIMS INCLUDE ALL CLAIMS, DISPUTES, DIFFERENCES, LIABILITIES AND 
OBLIGATIONS THAT ANY OF THEM DO NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST AS OF THE DATE HEREOF 
(OTHER THAN CLAIMS, DISPUTES, DIFFERENCES, LIABILITIES AND OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER 
THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AFTER THE DATE HEREOF).  EACH LOAN 
PARTY UNDERSTANDS THAT IT IS GIVING UP ALL RIGHTS AND CLAIMS AGAINST AGENT AND 
LENDERS AND THE OTHER RELEASED PARTIES, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, THAT ARE IN ANY WAY 
RELATED TO THE COLLATERAL OR THE ADVANCES. 

14.6 THE PARTIES SPECIFICALLY ALLOCATE THE RISK OF ANY MISTAKE IN ENTERING INTO THE 
RELEASE TO THE PARTY OR PARTIES CLAIMING TO HAVE BEEN MISTAKEN.

14.7 Each Loan Party acknowledges having read and understood and hereby waive the benefits of Section 1542 of 
the California Civil Code, which provides as follows (and hereby waive the benefits of any similar law of any other 
state or jurisdiction that may be applicable):

“A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to 
exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have 
materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.”

 
[Signature page follows]
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	 In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above 
written.
 

BORROWER:	       	 	 	 	         Urgent.ly Inc.

 
By:    /s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer
Name: Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first 
above written.

   

 

LENDERS:

Structural Capital Investments III, LP,
a Delaware limited partnership
 
By:  Structural Capital GP III, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company
its General Partner

 
By:    /s/ Lawrence Gross
Name: Lawrence Gross
Title: Managing Member
 
 
Series Structural DCO II Series of Structural
Capital DCO, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By:  Structural Capital GP III, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
its Manager
 
By:    /s/ Lawrence Gross
Name: Lawrence Gross
Title: Managing Member
Address:
800 Menlo Avenue # 210 
Menlo Park, CA 94025
Attn: Solomon Park and Nitin Chandra
Email:  solomon@structuralcapital.com
nitin@structuralcapital.com

 
 
CEOF HOLDINGS LP
a Delaware limited partnership
 
BY:  CORBIN CAPITAL PARTNERS, L.P.
         its Investment Manager
 
 
By:    /s/ Daniel Friedman
Name: Daniel Friedman
Title: General Counsel
Address:
Corbin Capital Partners 
590 Madison Ave, 31st floor 
New York NY 10022 
EMAIL: Fof-ops@corbincapital.com
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In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first 
above written.
	 AGENT:

Ocean II PLO LLC
a California limited liability company
 
By:  Structural Capital Management Company II, LP, 
a Delaware limited partnership
Its Manager
 
By:  Structural Capital GP, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
Its General Partner

 
                	

By:    /s/ Lawrence Gross
Name: Lawrence Gross 
Title: Managing Member
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List of Schedules and Exhibits

	
Schedule 2.1	 Commitments
Schedule 5.26   	 IIA Grants, Funds or Benefits
Exhibit A	 Collateral Description
Exhibit B	Form of Secured Promissory Note
Exhibit C	Form of Notice of Borrowing
Exhibit D	 Form of Intellectual Property Security Agreement
Exhibit E	Form of Compliance Certificate
Exhibit F	Perfection Certificate
Exhibit G-1	 Form of Domestic Subsidiary Joinder Agreement
Exhibit G-2	 Form of Foreign Subsidiary Joinder Agreement
Exhibit H	 Form of ACH Debit Consent
Exhibit I	 	 Form of 2022 Convertible Notes
Exhibit J	 	 Form of Debenture Floating Charge
Exhibit K	 Form of Debenture Fixed Charge 
 
Disclosure Schedules
 
Post-Closing Schedule
 
 
[EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES HAVE BEEN OMITTED PURSUANT TO ITEM 601(a)(5) OF REGULATION 
S-K AND WILL BE FURNISHED SUPPLEMENTALLY TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION UPON REQUEST.]
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Exhibit 10.17

Execution Version

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, dated as of 
January 19, 2024 (this “Amendment”), is made by and among Urgent.ly Inc., a Delaware corporation 
(“Urgent.ly”, or “Borrower”), each Subsidiary of Urgent.ly party hereto as a Borrower or Loan Party, as 
the case may be, Alter Domus (US) LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as administrative and 
collateral agent for Lenders (“Agent”), and each of the Lenders from time to time party hereto 
(collectively, the “Lenders” and each, a “Lender”). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall 
have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Loan Agreement (defined below) referred to 
below. 

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, Lenders, Agent and each Loan Party have heretofore entered into that certain Loan 
and Security Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2021 (as amended by the Waiver and First 
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2022, as amended by the Second 
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2023, as amended by the Third 
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2023, and as amended, restated, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Loan 
Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Lenders and the Agent are willing, on the terms and subject to the conditions set 
forth below, to provide the consent set forth herein and consent to the amendments to the Existing Loan 
Agreement set forth herein; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein 
contained, Agent, the Lenders and each Loan Party hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING LOAN AGREEMENT AND CONSENT

SECTION 1.1Subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in Article II, the 
Existing Loan Agreement is hereby amended as set forth in the Loan Agreement attached as Annex I 
hereto (the Existing Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, the “Loan Agreement”).

SECTION 1.2Each of the parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that the terms of this 
Amendment do not constitute a novation but, rather, an amendment of, and consent under, the terms of a 
pre-existing Indebtedness and related agreement, as evidenced by the Existing Loan Agreement.  

ARTICLE II 

CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS

The amendments contained in Article I shall be effective on the date of the satisfaction or waiver 
of each of the conditions contained in this Article II (the “Effective Date”).

SECTION 2.1Execution of Counterparts.  The Agent shall have received counterparts of this 
Amendment duly executed and delivered by (i) each Loan Party,  (ii) Agent, and (iii) the Lenders.
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SECTION 2.2Legal Opinion. The Agent shall have received a customary legal opinion of Wilson 
Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, in its capacity as special counsel to the Loan Parties, dated as of the Effective 
Date and addressed to the Agent and the Lenders. 

SECTION 2.3Fees and Expenses.  Borrower shall have paid to Agent and Lenders all expenses 
due and payable pursuant to the Loan Agreement which have accrued on or prior to the Effective Date to 
the extent summary invoices therefor have been provided at least one Business Day prior to the Effective 
Date.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

SECTION 3.1Representations and Warranties.  In order to induce the Lenders and Agent to enter 
into this Amendment, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants to the Lenders and Agent, as of the 
date hereof, as follows:

(a) all  representations  and  warranties contained in this Amendment, the Loan 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects 
(except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and 
warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof) on and 
as of the Effective Date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties are true 
and correct in all material respects (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be 
applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by 
materiality in the text thereof) as of such earlier date); 

(b) no injunction, writ, restraining order, or other order of any nature 
prohibiting, directly or indirectly, the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
herein shall have been issued and remain in force by any Governmental Authority against 
any Loan Party, Lender or Agent; and

(c) no Default or Event of Default exists, or will result from the execution of 
this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby.

SECTION 3.2Non-Impairment, etc.  After giving effect to this Amendment, neither the 
modification of the Existing Loan Agreement nor the execution, delivery, performance or effectiveness of 
this Amendment or any other Loan Document delivered in connection with this Amendment impairs the 
validity, effectiveness or priority of the Liens granted pursuant to the Loan Documents, and such Liens 
continue unimpaired with the same priority to secure repayment of all Obligations, whether heretofore or 
hereafter incurred. 

ARTICLE IV 

RELEASE

SECTION 4.1Each Loan Party for itself and on behalf of its heirs, legal representatives, and 
successors and assigns, as applicable, hereby releases Agent and Lenders and all of their Affiliates, 
shareholders, partners, predecessors, employees, officers, directors, attorneys, parent corporations, 
subsidiaries, agents, participants, assignees, servicers and receivers (collectively, the “Released Parties”), 
except for claims, disputes, differences, liabilities and obligations arising under this Amendment, the 
Loan 
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Agreement and/or the other Loan Documents after the date hereof, from any and all known and unknown 
claims, disputes, differences, liabilities and obligations of any and every nature whatsoever that they or 
any of them may have or claim, as of the date hereof or as of any prior date, against any one or more of 
the Released Parties arising from, based upon or related to the Loan Documents, or any other agreement, 
understanding, action or inaction whatsoever with regard to the Loan Documents or any transaction or 
matter related thereto, including, without limitation, the origination and servicing of the loan made under 
the Loan Documents and the enforcement or attempted enforcement of any rights or remedies for default 
or asserted default under the Loan Documents, except for any matter related to a breach of a
confidentiality undertaking or a matter related to applicable securities laws (collectively, the “Released
Claims”).

SECTION 4.2Each Loan Party further acknowledges and agrees that the Released Claims 
include, among other things to the extent so released under Section 4.1, all claims arising out of or with 
respect to any and all transactions relating to the Loan Documents based on any fact, act, inaction, or 
other occurrence or nonoccurrence on or prior to the date hereof, including, without limitation, any breach 
of fiduciary duty or duty of fair dealing, breach of confidence, breach of loan commitment, undue
influence, duress, economic coercion, conflict of interest, negligence, bad faith, malpractice, violation of 
the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, violation of any other statute, ordinance or 
regulation, intentional or negligent infliction of mental or emotional distress, tortious interference with 
contractual relations or prospective business advantage, tortious interference with corporate governance, 
breach of contract, bad practices, unfair competition, libel, slander, conspiracy or any claim for 
wrongfully accelerating the loan made under the Loan Documents or attempting to foreclose on, or obtain 
a receiver for, any collateral for the loan made under the Loan Documents and all statutory claims and 
causes of action of every nature.

SECTION 4.3In connection with the release contained in this Article IV (the “Release”), Each 
Loan Party acknowledges that it is aware that it may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different 
from those that it now knows or believes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but that it is each 
of their intention hereby fully, finally and forever to settle and release all such claims, disputes, 
differences, liabilities and obligations, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, that now exist, may 
exist or heretofore have existed by any of them against any one or more of the Released Parties.  In 
furtherance of that intention, the Release contained in this Amendment shall be and remain in effect as a
full and complete release with respect to the Released Claims notwithstanding the discovery of the 
existence of any such additional or different facts.

SECTION 4.4The Release contained in this Amendment shall be effective and irrevocable upon 
the execution of this Amendment by the parties hereto without any further documentation or the 
satisfaction of any other conditions (but subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date).

SECTION 4.5EACH LOAN PARTY AGREES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE 
RELEASED CLAIMS, TO THE EXTENT SO RELEASED UNDER ARTICLE IV, ARE NOT 
LIMITED TO MATTERS THAT ARE KNOWN OR DISCLOSED TO ANY OF THEM AND THAT 
THE RELEASED CLAIMS INCLUDE ALL CLAIMS, DISPUTES, DIFFERENCES, LIABILITIES 
AND OBLIGATIONS THAT ANY OF THEM DO NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST AS OF THE 
DATE HEREOF (OTHER THAN CLAIMS, DISPUTES, DIFFERENCES, LIABILITIES AND 
OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS AMENDMENT, THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND/OR THE 
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AFTER THE DATE HEREOF).  EACH LOAN PARTY 
UNDERSTANDS THAT IT IS GIVING UP ALL RIGHTS AND CLAIMS AGAINST AGENT AND 
LENDERS AND THE OTHER RELEASED PARTIES, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, THAT ARE IN 
ANY WAY RELATED TO THE COLLATERAL OR THE TERM LOANS. 
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ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 5.1Full Force and Effect; Amendment and Restatement.  Except as expressly provided
herein and in the Loan Agreement, this Amendment shall not by implication or otherwise limit, impair, 
constitute a waiver of, or otherwise affect the rights and remedies of the Agent  or Lenders under the 
Existing Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document, and shall not alter, modify, amend or in any way 
affect any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Existing Loan 
Agreement or any other Loan Document, all of which are ratified and affirmed in all respects and shall 
continue in full force and effect.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to entitle any Loan Party to a consent to, 
or a waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, conditions, obligations, 
covenants or agreements contained in the Existing Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document in 
similar or different circumstances. The waivers, consents and modifications set forth herein are limited to 
the specifics hereof (including facts or occurrences on which the same are based), shall not apply with 
respect to any facts or occurrences other than those on which the same are based, shall neither excuse any 
future non-compliance with the Loan Documents nor operate as a waiver of any Default or Event of 
Default, shall not operate as a consent to any further waiver, consent or amendment or other matter under 
the Loan Documents, and shall not be construed as an indication that any future waiver or amendment of 
covenants or any other provision of the Loan Agreement will be agreed to, it being understood that the 
granting or denying of any waiver or amendment which may hereafter be requested by any Loan Party 
remains in the reasonable discretion of Agent and Lenders.

SECTION 5.2Loan Document Pursuant to Loan Agreement.  This Amendment is a Loan 
Document executed pursuant to the Loan Agreement and shall be construed, administered and applied in 
accordance with all of the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement. To the extent that any of the 
terms and conditions in any of the Loan Documents shall contradict or be in conflict with any of the terms 
or conditions of the Loan Agreement, after giving effect to this Amendment, such terms and conditions 
are hereby deemed modified or amended accordingly to reflect the terms and conditions of the Loan 
Agreement as amended by this Amendment. 

SECTION 5.3Headings.  The various headings of this Amendment are inserted for convenience 
only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Amendment or any provisions hereof.

SECTION 5.4Amendments.  This Amendment cannot be altered, amended, changed or modified 
in any respect except in accordance with Section 13.4 of the Loan Agreement. 

SECTION 5.5Execution in Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument. This Amendment and any signed agreement or instrument entered into in
connection with this Amendment, and any amendments or waivers hereto or thereto, to the extent signed 
and delivered by means of facsimile, photocopy, scan by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file, or 
any electronic signature valid under the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, 15 
U.S.C. § 7001, et. seq such as DocuSign shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original 
agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the 
original signed version thereof delivered in person. No party hereto or to any such agreement or 
instrument shall raise the use of signature delivered or provided in that manner as a defense to the 
formation of a contract and each party hereto forever waives any such defense.

SECTION 5.6Entire Agreement. This Amendment, and the terms and provisions hereof, the Loan 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute the entire understanding and agreement between 
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the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all prior or 
contemporaneous amendments or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof, whether 
express or implied, oral or written.

SECTION 5.7Cross-References.  References in this Amendment to any Article or Section are, 
unless otherwise specified or otherwise required by the context, to such Article or Section of this 
Amendment.

SECTION 5.8Severability.  Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such provision and such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the 
extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this 
Amendment or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 5.9Successors and Assigns.  This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns.

SECTION 5.10GOVERNING LAW/WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL/JUDICIAL 
REFERENCE/SCOPE OF AUTHORITY.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE 
PROVISIONS REGARDING GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION AND WAIVER OF JURY 
TRIAL SET FORTH IN SECTION 13.14 OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT, AND SUCH   
PROVISIONS  SHALL APPLY HERETO BY REFERENCE, MUTATIS MUTANDIS.

SECTION 5.11Reaffirmation of Obligations. Each Loan Party hereby (a) acknowledges and 
reaffirms its Obligations under each Loan Document to which it is a party, and (b) agrees that each of the 
Loan Documents to which it is a party is and shall remain in full force and effect. Each Loan Party hereby 
(i) further ratifies and reaffirms the validity and enforceability of all of the Liens and security interests 
heretofore granted, pursuant to and in connection with the Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document 
to Agent, on behalf and for the benefit of each Lender, as collateral security for the Obligations under the 
Loan Documents in accordance with their respective terms, and (ii) acknowledges that all of such Liens 
and security interests, and all Collateral heretofore pledged as security for such obligations, continue to be 
and remain collateral for such Obligations from and after the date hereof (including, without limitation, 
from after giving effect to this Amendment). 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders have duly executed and
delivered this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

URGENT.LY INC.

Signature:	 /s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	 Chief Financial Officer	

 
ROADSIDE INNOVATION INC.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	 Chief Financial Officer	

 

URGENTLY CANADA TECHNOLOGIES 
ULC

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	  Chief Financial Officer

 

OTONOMO, INC.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	 Treasurer and Secretary
 
OTONOMO MERGER US INC.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	  Treasurer and Secretary
 
THE FLOOW NORTH AMERICA INC.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	  Treasurer and Secretary
 
NEURA INC.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	  Treasurer and Secretary
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OTONOMO TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	 Director
 
NEURA LABS LTD.

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	 Director
 
THE FLOOW LIMITED

Signature:	 /s/Timothy C. Huffmyer 
Print Name:	 Timothy C. Huffmyer
Title:	 	  Director
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders have duly executed and
delivered this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

AGENT:

ALTER DOMUS (US) LLC

Signature:	 /s/ Matthew Trybula
Print Name:	 Matthew Trybula
Title:	 	 Associate Counsel
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders have duly executed and
delivered this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 
 

HIGHBRIDGE TACTICAL CREDIT MASTER 
FUND, L.P. 

By: Highbridge Capital Management, LLC, as 
Trading Manager and not in its individual 
capacity

By: /s/ Steve Ardovini
Name: 	 Steve Ardovini
Title: Managing Director

HIGHBRIDGE TACTICAL CREDIT 
INSTITUTIONAL FUND, LTD 

By: Highbridge Capital Management, LLC, as 
Trading Manager and not in its individual 
capacity

By: /s/ Steve Ardovini
Name: 	 Steve Ardovini
Title: Managing Director
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders have duly executed and 
delivered this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
 
Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P.
 
By: /s/ Andrew Thau
Name: Andrew Thau
Title: Senior Legal Analyst

 
 
Whitebox Relative Value Partners, L.P.
 
By: /s/ Andrew Thau
Name: Andrew Thau
Title: Senior Legal Analyst

 

Pandora Select Partners, L.P.
 
By: /s/ Andrew Thau
Name: Andrew Thau
Title: Senior Legal Analyst

 
Whitebox GT Fund, LP
 
By: /s/ Andrew Thau
Name: Andrew Thau
Title: Senior Legal Analyst
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party, Agent and Lenders have duly executed and 
delivered this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
ONEX CAPITAL SOLUTIONS HOLDINGS, 
LP
 
By: Onex Capital Solutions GP, LP, its general 
partner
 
By: Onex Capital Solutions, GP, LLC, its 
general partner
 
By:    /s/ Andrew Walker
Name: Andrew Walker
Title: Vice President, Finance
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ANNEX I

LOAN AGREEMENT

[ANNEX I HAS BEEN OMITTED PURSUANT TO ITEM 601(a)(5) OF REGULATION S-K AND WILL BE 
FURNISHED SUPPLEMENTALLY TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION UPON 
REQUEST.]
 



 
Exhibit 21.1

 
SUBSIDIARIES OF URGENT.LY INC.

 
                 
Name of Subsidiary   Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Roadside Innovation Inc.   Delaware, U.S.
Roadside Innovation (Arkansas) Inc.   Arkansas, U.S.
Urgently Canada Technologies ULC   Canada
Otonomo Technologies Ltd.   Israel
Otonomo, Inc.   Delaware, U.S.
Otonomo GmbH   Germany
Otonomo Merger US Inc.   Delaware, U.S.
Neura, Inc.   Delaware, U.S.
Neura Labs Ltd.   Israel
The Floow Limited   United Kingdom
The Floow North America Inc.   Delaware, U.S.
 
 
 



Exhibit 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-275081) of our report 
dated March 29, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Urgent.ly Inc. included in this Annual 
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2023. Our audit report includes an explanatory paragraph 
relating to Urgent.ly Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 
/s/ CohnReznick LLP 
 
Tysons, Virginia
March 29, 2024
 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew Booth, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Urgent.ly Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Matthew Booth
   Matthew Booth

   
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Timothy C. Huffmyer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Urgent.ly Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer
   Timothy C. Huffmyer

   
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Urgent.ly Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

 
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Matthew Booth
   Matthew Booth

   
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
 
 

 



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Urgent.ly Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

 
Date: March 29, 2024  By: /s/ Timothy C. Huffmyer
   Timothy C. Huffmyer

   
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 
 

 



 

Exhibit 97.1

URGENT.LY INC.

COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

(Effective October 19, 2023)

Urgent.ly Inc. (the “Company”) is committed to strong corporate governance. As part of this 
commitment, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has adopted this clawback policy called the 
Compensation Recovery Policy (the “Policy”). The Policy is intended to further the Company’s pay-for-
performance philosophy and to comply with applicable law by providing for the reasonably prompt recovery of 
certain executive compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement. Capitalized terms used in the Policy 
are defined below, and the definitions have substantive impact on its application so reviewing them carefully is 
important to your understanding.

The Policy is intended to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 
“Exchange Act”), with Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 and with the listing standards of the national securities 
exchange (the “Exchange”) on which the securities of the Company are listed. The Policy will be interpreted in a 
manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 
and with the listing standards of the Exchange, including any interpretive guidance provided by the Exchange.

In summary, the Policy provides rules related to the reasonably prompt recovery of certain incentive-
based compensation received by Executive Officers. The application of the Policy to Executive Officers is not 
discretionary, except to the limited extent provided below, and applies without regard to whether an Executive 
Officer was at fault. 

Persons Covered by the Policy

The Policy is binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers. “Executive Officer” means each 
individual who is or was ever designated as an “officer” by the Board in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 16a-
1(f). Each Executive Officer will be required to sign and return to the Company an acknowledgement that such 
Executive Officer will be bound by the terms and comply with the Policy. The failure to obtain such 
acknowledgement will have no impact on the applicability or enforceability of the Policy.

Administration of the Policy

The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board has full delegated authority to administer 
the Policy. The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe the Policy and to make all determinations 
necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of the Policy. In addition, if determined in the 
discretion of the Board, the Policy may be administered by the independent members of the Board or another 
committee of the Board made up of independent members of the Board, in which case all references to the 
Committee will be deemed to refer to the independent members of the Board or the other Board committee. All 
determinations of the Committee will be final and binding and will be given the maximum deference permitted by 
law.

Events Requiring Application of the Policy

If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the 
Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting 
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued 
financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current 
period 

 



 

or left uncorrected in the current period (an “Accounting Restatement”), then the Committee must determine 
what compensation, if any, must be recovered. 

Compensation Covered by the Policy

The Policy applies to certain Incentive-Based Compensation (certain terms used in this Section are 
defined below) that is Received on or after October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), during the Covered Period 
while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange. Such Incentive-Based 
Compensation is considered “Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based Compensation” if the Incentive-Based 
Compensation is Received by a person after such person became an Executive Officer and the person served as an 
Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for the Incentive-Based Compensation. The 
Incentive-Based Compensation that must be recovered is the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based 
Compensation that exceeds the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would 
have been Received had such Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based Compensation been determined based on the 
restated amounts (such compensation, as computed without regard to any taxes paid, the “Excess 
Compensation,” is referred to in the listings standards as “erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation”).

To determine the amount of Excess Compensation for Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock 
price or total shareholder return, where it is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the 
information in an Accounting Restatement, the amount must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the 
Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based 
Compensation was Received and the Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that 
reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the Exchange.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based 
wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. For the avoidance of doubt, no 
compensation that is potentially subject to recovery under the Policy will be earned until the Company’s right to 
recover under the Policy has lapsed. The following items of compensation are not Incentive-Based Compensation 
under the Policy: salaries, bonuses paid solely at the discretion of the Compensation Committee or Board that are 
not paid from a bonus pool that is determined by satisfying a Financial Reporting Measure, bonuses paid solely 
upon satisfying one or more subjective standards and/or completion of a specified employment period, non-equity 
incentive plan awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures or operational measures, and 
equity awards for which the grant is not contingent upon achieving any Financial Reporting Measure performance 
goal and vesting is contingent solely upon completion of a specified employment period (e.g., time-based vesting 
equity awards) and/or attaining one or more non-Financial Reporting Measures. 

“Financial Reporting Measures” are measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the 
accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived 
wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also Financial Reporting 
Measures. A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a 
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Incentive-Based Compensation is “Received” under the Policy in the Company’s fiscal period during 
which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if 
the payment, vesting, settlement or grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Policy does not apply to Incentive-Based Compensation for which the Financial 
Reporting Measure is attained prior to the Effective Date.

“Covered Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Accounting 
Restatement Determination Date. In addition, Covered Period can include certain transition periods resulting from 
a change in the Company’s fiscal year. The Company’s obligation to recover Excess Compensation is not 
dependent on if or when the restated financial statements are filed.

-2-



 

“Accounting Restatement Determination Date” means the earliest to occur of: (a) the date the Board, a 
committee of the Board, or one or more of the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board 
action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare 
an Accounting Restatement; and (b) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the 
Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

Repayment of Excess Compensation

The Company must recover such Excess Compensation reasonably promptly and Executive Officers are 
required to repay Excess Compensation to the Company. Subject to applicable law, the Company may recover 
such Excess Compensation by requiring the Executive Officer to repay such amount to the Company by direct 
payment to the Company or such other means or combination of means as the Committee determines to be 
appropriate (these determinations do not need to be identical as to each Executive Officer). These means may 
include:

(a) requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid; 

(b) seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer, or other 
disposition of any equity-based awards; 

(c) offsetting the amount to be recovered from any unpaid or future compensation to be paid by the 
Company or any affiliate of the Company to the Executive Officer; 

(d) cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and/or 

(e) taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Committee. 

The repayment of Excess Compensation must be made by an Executive Officer notwithstanding any 
Executive Officer’s belief (whether legitimate or non-legitimate) that the Excess Compensation had been 
previously earned under applicable law and therefore is not subject to clawback. 

In addition to its rights to recovery under the Policy, the Company or any affiliate of the Company may 
take any legal actions it determines appropriate to enforce an Executive Officer’s obligations to the Company or 
to discipline an Executive Officer, including (without limitation) termination of employment, institution of civil 
proceedings, reporting of misconduct to appropriate governmental authorities, reduction of future compensation 
opportunities or change in role. The decision to take any actions described in the preceding sentence will not be 
subject to the approval of the Committee and can be made by the Board, any committee of the Board, or any duly 
authorized officer of the Company or of any applicable affiliate of the Company.

Limited Exceptions to the Policy

The Company must recover the Excess Compensation in accordance with the Policy except to the limited 
extent that the conditions set forth below are met, and the Committee determines that recovery of the Excess 
Compensation would be impracticable:

(a) The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount 
to be recovered. Before reaching this conclusion, the Company must make a reasonable attempt 
to recover such Excess Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and 
provide that documentation to the Exchange; or

(b) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are 
broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the legal requirements as such.
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Other Important Information in the Policy

The Policy is in addition to the requirements of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that are 
applicable to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as well as any other applicable 
laws, regulatory requirements, rules, or pursuant to the terms of any existing Company policy or agreement 
providing for the recovery of compensation.

Notwithstanding the terms of any of the Company’s organizational documents (including, but not limited
to, the Company’s bylaws), any corporate policy or any contract (including, but not limited to, any 
indemnification agreement), neither the Company nor any affiliate of the Company will indemnify or provide 
advancement for any Executive Officer against any loss of Excess Compensation. Neither the Company nor any 
affiliate of the Company will pay for or reimburse insurance premiums for an insurance policy that covers 
potential recovery obligations. In the event the Company is required to recover Excess Compensation from an 
Executive Officer who is no longer an employee pursuant to the Policy, the Company will be entitled to seek such 
recovery in order to comply with applicable law, regardless of the terms of any release of claims or separation 
agreement such individual may have signed. 

The Committee or Board may review and modify the Policy from time to time.

If any provision of the Policy or the application of any such provision to any Executive Officer is 
adjudicated to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will 
not affect any other provisions of the Policy or the application of such provision to another Executive Officer, and 
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions will be deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to 
render any such provision or application enforceable.

The Policy will terminate and no longer be enforceable when the Company ceases to be listed issuer 
within the meaning of Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

-4-



 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

• I acknowledge that I have received and read the Compensation Recovery Policy (the “Policy”) of 
Urgent.ly Inc. (the “Company”).

• I understand and acknowledge that the Policy applies to me, and all of my beneficiaries, heirs, executors, 
administrators or other legal representatives and that the Company’s right to recovery in order to comply 
with applicable law will apply, regardless of the terms of any release of claims or separation agreement I 
have signed or will sign in the future.

• I agree to be bound by and to comply with the Policy and understand that determinations of the 
Committee (as such term is used in the Policy) will be final and binding and will be given the maximum 
deference permitted by law.

• I understand and agree that my current indemnification rights, whether in an individual agreement or the 
Company’s organizational documents, exclude the right to be indemnified for amounts required to be 
recovered under the Policy.

• I understand that my failure to comply in all respects with the Policy is a basis for termination of my 
employment with the Company and any affiliate of the Company as well as any other appropriate 
discipline.

• I understand that neither the Policy, nor the application of the Policy to me, gives rise to a resignation for 
good reason (or similar concept) by me under any applicable employment agreement or arrangement.

• I acknowledge that if I have questions concerning the meaning or application of the Policy, it is my 
responsibility to seek guidance from the Compliance Officer, Human Resources or my own personal 
advisers.

• I acknowledge that neither this Acknowledgement nor the Policy is meant to constitute an employment
contract.

Please review, sign and return this form to Human Resources.

Executive

 
(print name)

 
(signature)

 
(date)

 

 




